



DISFUNÇÃO VASCULAR NOS DOENTES COM COARCTAÇÃO DA AORTA TRATADA

JOSÉ DIOGO RAMALHO ORTIGÃO FERREIRA MARTINS

Dissertação de Candidatura ao Grau de Doutor em Medicina na Especialidade de Ciências Funcionais e Alvos Terapêuticos (Fisiotologia) apresentada à Faculdade de Ciências Médicas NOVA Medical School

Setembro 2018



VASCULAR DYSFUNCTION AFTER REPAIR OF COARCTATION OF THE AORTA

Para o meu Pai.

"O conhecimento nasce da maravilha suscitada pela da contemplação da criação. (...) Sem tal assombro, o homem tornar-se-ia repetitivo e, pouco a pouco, incapaz de uma existência verdadeiramente pessoal."

São João Paulo II

In Fides et Ratio

This PhD dissertation has resulted in the following publications:

Two papers published in peer reviewed journals:

- Martins JD, Thomas B, Jalles N, Pinto FF. Aortic arch geometry in repaired coarctation: systematic review of a consecutive series by magnetic resonance imaging. *Rev Port Cardiol.* 2012;31(5):403-404.
- Martins JD, Zachariah MD, Selamet Tierney ES, Truong U, Morris SA, Kutty S, MD, PhD, de Ferranti SD, Guarino M, Thomas B, Oliveira D, Marinho A, António M, Gauvreau K, Jalles N, Geva T, Lock JE, Carmo MM, Prakash A, for the LOVE-COARCT Study.
 Rationale and Design of LOVE-COARCT study: Long-term Outcomes and Vascular Evaluation After Successful Coarctation of the Aorta Treatment. *Ann Pediatr Cardiol.* 201811(3):282-296

One paper, submitted to a peer review journal, currently under revision:

Martins JD, Zachariah MD, Selamet Tierney ES, Truong U, Morris SA, Kutty S, MD, PhD, de Ferranti SD, Guarino M, Thomas B, Oliveira D, Marinho A, António M, Gauvreau K, Jalles N, Geva T, Lock JE, Carmo MM, Prakash A, for the LOVE-COARCT Study. Impact of Treatment Modality on Vascular Function in Coarctation of the Aorta: the LOVE-COARCT study. The results of this paper were accepted for oral presentation at the American Heart Association's Scientific Sessions 2018 (Chicago, Illinois, Noc 10-12) in the roundtable "Multi-center Studies: Latest Updates in CHD".

One paper in preparation for publication:

 Martins JD, Zachariah MD, Selamet Tierney ES, Truong U, Morris SA, Kutty S, MD, PhD, de Ferranti SD, Guarino M, Thomas B, Oliveira D, Marinho A, António M, Gauvreau K, Jalles N, Geva T, Carmo MM, Prakash A, Lock JE for the LOVE-COARCT Study. Comparison of Vascular Function Between Transcatheter Treatments for Coarctation of the Aorta. Two chapters published in textbooks:

- Martins JD, Prakash A, Pereira CT, Fragata J, Geva T. **Coarctation of the Aorta.** In: da Cruz EM, Ivy DD, Jagger J, eds. *Pediatric and Congenital Cardiology, Cardiac Surgery and Intensive Care*. 2nd ed. London: Springer-Verlag; 2019 (estimated release date).
- Martins JD, Pereira CT, Pinto FF. **Coartation of the Aorta.** In: Videira-Amaral JM, ed. *Tratado de Clínica Pediátrica.* Vol 2. 3rd ed. Lisbon: Abbott; 2019.

One chapter published in an exclusively on-line medical encyclopedia:

• Martins JD. **Coarctation of the Aorta.** In: Ferreira-Martins FM, Neto T, Videira-Amaral JM, Rosa FC, eds. Pepipédia, a *Enciclopédia Pediátrica Online. In* http:// www.pedipedia.org/pro/artigo-profissional/coarctacao-da-aorta. 2018. The PhD candidate was responsible for obtaining funding, conception of the research project, study design, logistic implementation and steering, database management, analysis of results, and first author of all publications.

LOVE-COARCT was a multicenter cross-sectional collaborative study. Throughout the study duration, there were 70+ regular monthly conference calls and three yearly in-person meeting with all the center principal investigators, who contributed significantly to all the items above.

All study tests were performed at each participating. LOVE-COARCT established core laboratories for each of the study tests. These were (a) Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Core Lab (responsible: Ashwin Prakash; Department of Cardiology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA); Preventive Cardiology Core Lab (responsible: Sarah de Ferranti; Department of Cardiology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA); Tonometry and BP Assessment Core Lab (Responsible: Justin Zachariah; Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Texas Children's Hospital, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, USA); Endothelial Function Core Lab (Responsible: Elif Seda Selamet Tierney; Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Department of Pediatrics, Lucile Packard Children's Hospital, Stanford University, Palo Alto, USA); Biomarkers Core Lab (Responsible: Maria Guarino; CEDOC Chronic Diseases, Nova Medical School, Lisbon, PORTUGAL); Biostatistics Core Lab (Responsible: Kimberlee Gauvreau; Department of Cardiology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA). The full list of the 29 LOVE-COARCT investigators is acknowledged in **Table 31** in the Appendix.

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board or Institutional Ethics Committee at each participating center, and informed consent and assent was obtained, depending on age, from patients and their parents/legal guardians, before study enrollment.

Thesis Mentor: Miguel Mota Carmo, MD, PhD, CEDOC Chronic Diseases, Nova Medical School, Lisbon PORTUGAL

Thesis Co-Mentor: Tal Geva, MD, Cardiologist-in-Chief, Department of Cardiology, Professor of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School

This study was made possible with grants from the Millennium Foundation BCP (signed Dec 18, 2012) and Fundação Luso-Americana para o Desenvolvimento (Proj A-1 287/2012), awarded to the thesis author.

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AAO	Ascending aorta
ABPM	Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring
ADMA	Asymmetric dimetilarginine
Alx	Augmentation index
Alx@75	Augmentation index at 75 beats per minute
BD	Balloon dilation
BMI	Body mass index
BSA	Body surface area
BP	Blood pressure
CAP	Central aortic pressure
CCISC	Congenital Cardiovascular Interventional Study Consortium
CHD	Congenital heart disease
CHLC	Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central
CMR	Cardiac magnetic resonance
СоА	Coarctation of the aorta
СТ	Computed tomography
CV	cardiovascular
CVD	cardiovascular disease
DAO	Descending aorta
Dept	Department
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure
ECG	Electrocardiogram
Endo-PAT	Endothelial pulse amplitude testing
EST	Exercise stress test
FMD	Flow-mediated dilation
f/u	Follow up
HSM	Hospital de Santa Marta
HR	Heart rate
hs-CRP	High sensitivity C-reactive protein
HTN	Hypertension
ICVH	Ideal cardiovascular health
IL-1β	Interleukin-1 beta
IL-6	Interleukin-6
LV	Left ventricle
LVOT	Left ventricular outflow tract

MMP	Matrix metalloproteases
NO	Nitric oxide
NOx	Nitrite and nitrate
PP	Pulse pressure
PWV	Pulse wave velocity
RAA	Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone
ReCoA	Recurrent coarctation
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SSFP	Steady state free precision
TGF-β1	Transforming growth factor beta-1
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
VACA	Valvuloplasty and Angioplasty of Congenital Anomalies
VCAM	Vascular cell adhesion molecule

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Congenital heart disease (CHD) affects approximately 1% of liveborns and accounts for the largest proportion of infant mortality in developed countries. Coarctation of the aorta (CoA), the 6th most common CHD, consists of a narrowing of the proximal descending aorta. If left untreated, it has an unfavorable natural history. Surgery, balloon dilation (BD) or stent implantation are all current treatments that can achieve a successful long-term removal of the stenosis, and the choice is based on age, CoA anatomy, and personal or institutional preference. Coarctation is not a mere mechanical disease that is treated by removing the increased afterload. In fact, a good anatomic result does not avoid long-term cardiovascular (CV) morbidity and mortality, with late systemic hypertension (HTN) in approximately half of the patients, and reduced life expectancy, mostly due to CV complications and stroke. The abnormal blood pressure (BP) phenotype suggests that the suboptimal results are likely due to abnormal vascular function, which has been well documented in patients with repaired CoA. There are inherent changes in the arterial structure and function, impaired neuronal sensitivity or endocrinal auto-regulation, and acquired features, such as age at treatment, that contribute to vascular dysfunction in CoA. The poor long-term vascular outcome may also be impacted by the different types of repair, which likely have differing effects on the stiffness of the repaired segment and potentially compromise both the conduit and cushioning functions of the aorta. The effects of treatment modality on long-term vascular function remain uncharacterized.

Aims and Hypothesis: The goal of this study is to assess vascular function in this patient population for comparison among the treatment modalities. The central hypothesis of this study was that patients who have undergone successful BD will have better vascular function than patients who have undergone successful surgical repair or stenting since this modality is least likely to damage the integrity and biomechanical properties of the aortic wall.

Methods: Prospective assessment of vascular function using multiple non-invasive modalities, and compare the results among the three groups of CoA patients previously treated using surgery, BD or stent implantation after frequency matching for confounding variables. In successfully repaired CoA patients, we prospectively compared aortic stiffness by applanation tonometry and cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR); endothelial function by endothelial pulse amplitude testing; pulse waveform analysis by applanation tonometry and endothelial pulse amplitude testing; BP phenotype by office BP, ambulatory BP monitoring, and BP response to exercise; left ventricular (LV) mass and aortic morphometrics by CMR; blood biomarkers

IX

of endothelial function, inflammation, vascular wall function, and extracellular matrix; and ideal cardiovascular health. In the statistical analysis, we adjusted for potential confounders.

Results: This study was done in seven, large volume centers from Portugal and the United States of America. Participants included 75 patients treated with surgery (n=28), BD (n=23), or stent (n=24). Groups had similar age at enrollment, CoA severity, residual gradient, and metabolic profile but differed by age at treatment. Systemic HTN, aortic stiffness, endothelial function, and LV mass were similar among groups. However, BD had more distensible ascending aortas, lower peak systolic BP during exercise, less impairment in diurnal BP variation, and lower inflammatory biomarkers. The results were unchanged after adjustment for potential confounders, including age at treatment.

Conclusions: Treatment modality was not associated with major vascular outcomes such as systemic HTN, global aortic stiffness, and endothelial function. However, BD patients had a better vascular phenotype profile characterized by higher ascending aorta distensibility, lower night-time BP, lower peak exercise BP and lower levels of inflammatory markers. Further studies are required to confirm if our results may contribute to refining the CoA treatment paradigm by adding to the goals of therapy the preservation of vascular function when two or more treatment techniques are applicable.

RESUMO

Introdução: As cardiopatias congénitas (CC) afetam aproximadamente 1% dos recémnascidos e são responsáveis pela maior proporção de mortalidade infantil nos países desenvolvidos. A coarctação da aorta (CoA), a 6ª CC mais frequente, consiste numa estenose da aorta descendente proximal. Se não for tratada, tem uma história natural desfavorável. A cirurgia, dilatação com balão e a implantação de stent são atualmente técnicas que podem atingir o objetivo de uma remoção eficaz e duradoura da estenose ístmica, sendo a decisão baseada na idade doente, anatomia da CoA e preferência do operador ou da instituição. Contudo, um bom resultado anatómico não evita morbilidade e mortalidade de longo prazo, apresentando cerca de metade dos doentes hipertensão arterial (HTA), e registando-se mortalidade precoce, maioritariamente devido a complicações cardiovasculares e acidentes vasculares cerebrais. O perfil tensional anómalo sugere que os resultados subótimos possam ser secundários a disfunção vascular, cuja existência foi bem documentada em doentes com CoA tratada. Existem anomalias intrínsecas da estrutura arterial e função, alterações da sensibilidade neuro-hormonal ou da regulação endócrina, e fatores adquiridos, como a idade do tratamento, que contribuem para esta disfunção vascular. Os maus resultados a longo prazo podem resultar igualmente do tipo de tratamento efetuado, que provavelmente impactam de modo diverso a rigidez do istmo aórtico e potencialmente comprometem as funções da aorta. Este efeito da modalidade terapêutica não foi até ao momento estudado. A CoA não é uma simples doença mecânica que fica resolvida quando é removido o obstáculo.

Objetivos e Hipóteses: O objetivo deste estudo é comparar a função vascular entre diferentes modalidades terapêuticas de CoA. A hipótese principal é a de que os doentes submetidos a dilatação com balão têm melhor função vascular que os doentes submetidos a cirurgia ou implantação de stent, pois aquela modalidade terapêutica tem menor potencial para danificar a integridade e propriedades biomecânicas da parede da aorta do que estas.

Métodos: Avaliação prospetiva da função vascular usando múltiplas modalidades não invasivas, de modo a comparar os resultados de três grupos de doentes com CoA, tratados com dilatação com cirurgia, balão ou implantação de stent, após controle das variáveis de confusão. Em doentes com CoA tratada com sucesso, comparámos prospectivamente a rigidez da aorta com tonometria de aplanação e ressonância magnética cardíaca; função endotelial com tonometria arterial periférica endotelial; analise da onda de pulso com tonometria de aplanação e tonometria arterial periférica endotelial; massa ventricular esquerda e anatomia do arco aórtico com ressonância magnética cardíaca; marcadores

XI

séricos de função endotelial, inflamação, função da parede arterial e matriz extracelular; e saúde cardiovascular ideal. A análises estatística incluiu ajuste para as variáveis de confusão.

Resultados: O estudo foi realizado em sete grandes centros, de Portugal e Estados Unidos da América. Foram incluídos 75 doentes, tratado por cirurgia (n=28), dilatação com balão (n=23) e implantação de stent (n=24). Os grupos tiveram idade semelhante à data de inclusão, gravidade da CoA, gradiente residual e perfil metabólico, mas eram diferentes quanto à idade à data do tratamento. A HTA, rigidez da aorta, função endotelial e massa ventricular eram semelhantes entre os grupos. Contudo, o grupo da dilatação com balão tinha mais distensibilidade regional da aorta ascendente, menor tensão arterial (TA) sistólica durante o exercício, menos alteração da variação noturna da TA, e dose menor de biomarcadores inflamatórios. Os resultados permaneceram inalterados após ajuste das potenciais variáveis de confusão, incluindo idade à data do tratamento.

Conclusões: A modalidade terapêutica não estava associada à presença de HTA, rigidez arterial global e função endotelial. Contudo, os doentes com dilatação com balão tinham um perfil de função vascular mais favorável, caracterizado por maior distensibilidade da aorta ascendente, TA noturna mais baixa, menor resposta hipertensiva no esforço e menores marcadores séricos de inflamação. São necessários mais estudos para confirmar se os nossos resultados poderão contribuir para o refinamento do paradigma de tratamento da CoA, ao adicionar ao objetivo de remoção da estenose, a preservação da função vascular, quando dois ou mais tratamentos são aplicáveis.

Ι.	INTRODUCTION	1
<i>II.</i>	BACKGROUND	5
	1. Coarctation of the Aorta	7
	1.1. Introduction	7
	1.2. Epidemiology	8
	1.3. Etiology	8
	1.3.1. Genetics	8
	1.3.2.Embryology	8
	1.4. Natural History	10
	1.5. Anatomy	11
	1.5.1. Morphology	11
	1.5.2. Histopathology	12
	1.6. Pathophysiology	12
	1.6.1. Hemodynamics	12
	1.6.2. Gene modulation	13
	1.6.3. Neuro-endocrine system	13
	1.6.4. Autonomic nervous system	14
	1.7. Diagnosis	14
	1.7.1. Clinical Presentation	14
	1.7.2. Electrocardiogram	15
	1.7.3. Chest X-Ray	15
	1.7.4. Echocardiography	16
	1.7.5. Magnetic resonance imaging	18
	1.7.6.Computed tomography	19
	1.7.7.Diagnostic catheterization	19
	1.8. Treatment	20
	1.8.1. Indications	20
	1.8.2. Medical Management	20
	1.8.3. Surgical Management	21
	1.8.4. Balloon Dilation	28
	1.8.5. Stent implantation	31
	1.8.6. Decision Making	34
		37
	1.9.1. Morbidity and Mortality	3/
	1.9.2. Pregnancy	38
	2. Vascular function	38
	2.1. Introduction	38
	2.2. The function of Arteries	40
	2.3. Indices of Vascular Function	41
	2.3.1. Arterial Stiffness	41
	2.3.2. Central Pulse Wave Analysis	44
	2.3.3. ENGOTNEIIAI FUNCTION	45
	2.3.4. CIrculating Biomarkers	48
		50
	3. Vascular Dystunction in CoA	50

	 3.1. Treatment Does Not Equal Cure 3.2. Vascular Dysfunction is Common after CoA Treatment 3.3. Inherent Pre-Treatment Features May Contribute to Vascular Dysfunction . 3.4. Acquired and Treatment-Related Factors may also Contribute to Vascular 	50 51 52
	Dysfunction 3.5. Treatment Modality may Affect Vascular Function	53 54
<i>III.</i>	AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS	55
	1. Primary Aim and Hypothesis	58
	2. Secondary AIMS and Hypothesis	58
IV.	METHODS	61
	1. Study Overview	63
	1.1. LOVE-COARCT Participant Centers	63
	1.2. LOVE-COARCT Core Laboratories	64
	2. Selection Criteria	65
	2.1. Inclusion Criteria	65 65
	2.2. EXClusion Criteria	65 67
	3 Overview of the Study Workflow	67
	A Recruitment	68
	5 Medical History	68
	6 Study Procedures	60
	6.1. Arterial Stiffness	69
	6.2. Endothelial Function	73
	6.3. Pulse Waveform Analysis	74
	6.4. BP Phenotype	75
	6.5. LV Mass and Aortic Morphometrics	79
	6.6. Biomarkers	80
7	6.7. Cardiovasculai Healtii Assessitietti	02
7.	7.1 Adjustment for Confounders	83 83
	7.2. Analytic Plan	84
	7.3. Choice of the Primary Outcome Variable	85
	7.4. Choice of the Secondary Outcomes Variables	85
<i>V</i> .	RESULTS	87
	1. Study Subjects	90
	2. Aortic Stiffness	92
	3. Endothelial Function	94
	4. Pulse Waveform Analysis	94
	5. BP Phenotype	94
	6. LV and Aortic Morphometrics	97
	7. Blood Biomarkers	99

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	8.	Ideal CV Health	99
	9.	Adjustment for potential confounders	101
VI.	DI	SCUSSION	105
	1.	Study Subjects	107
	2.	Aortic Stiffness	109
		2.1. Global Assessment of the Aortic Wall	109
		2.2. Segmental Assessment of the Aortic Wall	112
	3.	Endothelial Function	113
	4.	Pulse Waveform Analysis	115
	5.	BP Phenotype	116
		5.1. Office BP	116
		5.2. ABPM	118
		5.3. EST	118
	6.	LV Mass and Aortic Morphometrics	119
		6.1. LV Mass.	119
	_	6.2. Aortic Morphometrics	120
	7.	7.1 Endethelial function	121 121
		7.1. Endothenal function	121 171
		7.3. Vascular remodeling.	121
	8.	Ideal CV Health	123
	9.	Study Limitations	124
VII.	СС	ONCLUSIONS	127
VIII	R	FEERENCES	121
• • • • •			171
IX.	AC	KNOWLEGMENTS	1/1
Х.	AF	PENDIXES	177
	1.	Published Papers	179
	2.	Papers Accepted for Publication	181
	3.	Papers Submitted for Publication	196
	4.	List of LOVE-COARCT investigators	223

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1.	The distribution of deaths by age, excluding deaths in the first year of life
Fig. 2.	Suprasternal notch view showing a CoA17
Fig. 3.	Subcostal view with pulsed-wave interrogation of the abdominal aorta
Fig. 4.	3D reconstruction of gadolinium-enhanced CMR angiography of the aorta18
Fig. 5.	End-to-end coarctectomy
Fig. 6.	Extended end-to-end coarctectomy
Fig. 7.	Subclavian flap coarctectomy
Fig. 8.	Patch reconstruction technique for CoA
Fig. 9.	Extra-anatomical conduit technique for CoA25
Fig. 10.	Balloon dilation of a native CoA. Balloon dilation of CoA
Fig. 11.	Stent implantation in native CoA
Fig. 12.	The cardiovascular disease continuum
Fig. 13.	The frequency of 'arterial stiffness' in the title PubMed publications
Fig. 14.	Measurement of carotid-femoral PWV with the foot to foot method
Fig. 15.	Carotid pressure waveform
Fig. 16.	Reactive hyperemia peripheral arterial tonometry recordings
Fig. 17.	Single-center follow-up of 819 patients for over 60 years
Fig. 18.	LOVE-COARCT study workflow
Fig. 19.	ECG-gated through-plane phase-contrast flow assessment71
Fig. 20.	Process to obtain central aortic pressure from SphygmoCor75
Fig. 21.	Comparison of key vascular function parameters between groups (Central
	Illustration)
Fig. 22.	Arterial tonometry with NIHem
Fig. 23.	Arterial tonometry with SphygmoCor
Fig. 24.	Endo-PAT of a LOVE-COARCT patient

Table 1. Incidence of congenital cardiac anomalies associated with CoA	11
Table 2. Indices of arterial stiffness	43
Table 3. Methods to measure endothelial function	47
Table 4. LOVE-COARCT Inclusion Criteria	65
Table 5. LOVE-COARCT exclusion criteria	66
Table 6. Medical history variables	68
Table 7. Applanation tonometry variables	69
Table 8. CMR variables	69
Table 9. Endo-PAT variables	73
Table 10. BP profile variables	76
Table 11. Classification of BP phenotype by ABPM	78
Table 12. Biomarkers variables	80
Table 13. Lifestyle questionnaire questions	82
Table 14. Family history questionnaire	83
Table 15. Sample size calculation	85
Table 16. Patient Characteristics at treatment	90
Table 17. Patient characteristics at enrollment	91
Table 18. Aortic Stiffness results by CMR	92
Table 19. Aortic Stiffness results by applanation tonometry	93
Table 20. Endo-PAT results	94
Table 21. Office BP results	95
Table 22. ABPM results	96
Table 23. EST results	97
Table 24. LV measurements by CMR	98
Table 25. Aortic dimensions and shape by CMR	98
Table 26. Blood biomarkers results	99
Table 27. Ideal CV Health	100
Table 28. Assessment for confounding by age at treatment	102
Table 29. Assessment for confounding by presence of BAV	103
Table 30. Adjustment for potential confounders	104
Table 31. LOVE-COARCT investigators	222

I. INTRODUCTION

I. INTRODUCTION

The most common, severe congenital anomalies are heart defects. In Portugal, the specialty of Pediatric Cardiology was established in 1969. These five decades have seen remarkable progress in the prevention, diagnosis, treatment, and rehabilitation of patients with congenital heart disease (CHD). The overall mortality has dropped from about 35% to about 3% per year and survival into adulthood is now common, even for the most complex CHD. This increasing population of adults with CHD, which already outnumber children, have given rise to new challenges. Some are specific to CHD (such as the management of the long-term complications after single-ventricle palliation or neurodevelopmental outcomes after neonatal cardiopulmonary bypass), but others are merely the effect of age on a maturing population that happens to have had been treated for CHD in infancy, including pregnancy, atherosclerosis, and acquired heart disease. The quality of a treatment is not merely obtaining survival but achieving a good long-term outcome. **The focus in CHD has shifted from mortality to morbidity**.

Improvements in CHD outcomes were based on few robust scientific data. Congenital cardiology has suffered from a lack of indisputable evidence. There have been less than 30 prospective randomized trials worldwide, and some did not reveal a clear benefit of one approach over the other. Many decisions result from individual or institutional preference, anecdotal cases or specific institutional protocols. Clinical practice guidelines for CHD are mostly class II recommendations (treatments are reasonable or may be considered) based on type C evidence (experts' consensus, case studies or standard of care). In sum, evidence-based medicine is lacking in CHD. These shortcomings result from the CHD being a group of rare diseases with diverse presentations, mostly treated in small and autonomous practices and lack of suitable research end-points. In recent years, this problem has been well recognized, and the development of evidence-based practice based on multicenter consortia is considered one of the most important future trends for CHD in the next decade.² **Clinical research is critical for evidence-based medicine.**

Coarctation of the aorta (CoA) is one of the most common CHD. It consists of a narrowing of the proximal descending aorta. If left untreated, most symptomatic neonates die shortly after, and even if the presentation is later and more benign, patients rarely survive beyond age 50. The repair of CoA was one of the first successful surgeries performed in CHD. Several current surgical and percutaneous treatments can achieve a successful long-term removal of the stenosis, and the choice is based on age, CoA anatomy, and personal or institutional preference. Importantly, a good anatomical result does not avoid long-term cardiovascular

3

morbidity and mortality remain high with late systemic hypertension (HTN) in approximately half of the patients and reduced life expectancy, mostly due to cardiovascular complications and stroke. **CoA can be "fixed but not cured".**³

The mechanisms responsible for the suboptimal outcomes in CoA are unclear. Patients who have been successfully treated have evidence of pre-treatment genetic modulation and neurohormonal disturbances, mild residual stenosis or arch hypoplasia that may be of more significance than it is usually accepted, and especially the persistence of vascular dysfunction in treated patients. Vascular structure and function are now recognized as a central pathological feature of cardiovascular disease (CVD). Vascular function can be described by many different functional indices, some of which are now available for use outside of a research setting and include arterial stiffness, endothelial function, pulse waveform analysis and circulating biomarkers of vascular function. One factor that compromises vascular function is the existence of stiff arteries. Preliminary evidence and biological plausibility suggest that different CoA treatment modalities may have a distinct impact on the stiffness of the isthmus. Treatment may affect vascular function and long-term outcome.

This thesis was designed to assess the impact of treatment modality on vascular function. To answer our study question and overcome the research challenges, we designed the Longterm Outcomes and Vascular Evaluation After Successful Coarctation of the Aorta Treatment: the **LOVE-COARCT Study** prospectivelly used multiple non-invasive modalities to perform a comprehensive assessment of vascular function and cardiovascular health. We assembled a multi-disciplinary group of investigators with established expertise in epidemiology, the conduct of clinical trials, study design, CHD, vascular function assessment, preventive cardiology and statistical analysis. A collaborative team allowed us to recruit patients at multiple centers to ensure sufficient statistical power in evaluating our hypothesis. **This study may help to refine the treatment paradigm by adding to the goals of therapy the preservation of vascular function.**

The following chapters of this PhD dissertation thesis, "Vascular Dysfunction after Repair of Coarctation of the Aorta", develop the concepts briefly aluded in this Introduction and present in detail the **LOVE-COARCT Study**.

II. BACKGROUND

1. COARCTATION OF THE AORTA

1.1. Introduction

CoA is a congenital malformation characterized by narrowing of the aorta, most commonly involving the isthmus. The term "CoA" comes from the Latin word *coarctatio*, which means narrowing.

It's first known description is in a letter written by the famous Prussian anatomist Johann Friedrich Meckel to his mentor Albrecht von Haler in 1750, reporting a case of an 18 year old patient who had an aorta in the post-mortem examination that was "so narrow that its diameter seems to be hardly one third that of the pulmonary artery".⁴ Another early description of CoA can be seen in Morgagni's renowned treaty of autopsies "The Records and Causes of Death Investigated by Anatomy", written in 1760.⁵ For a long time, CoA remained a mere anatomical rare curiosity discovered at autopsy. In 1928, all 200 cases known at the time were published in Abbott's classic article.⁶ After surgical correction was experimentally demonstrated to be feasible,^{7,8} CoA became of clinical importance when Crafoord successfully surgically corrected the lesion with an end-to-end anastomosis, in 1944.⁹ Patch aortoplasty was introduced in 1961,¹⁰ and Waldhausen introduced the subclavian flap technique to address the then high rate of reCoA.¹¹ The first report of a transcatheter procedure to treat CoA was balloon dilation (BD) in a neonate with a post-surgical reCoA, in 1982.¹² In the following year, BD was used to treat native CoA.¹³ The first investigations with intravascular stents were done in 1986, in the aorta of animal models,¹⁴ and preceded the widespread use of stents in coronary arteries. In 1993, animal experimental CoA was treated by stent implantation,¹⁵ and the first human cases were published in 1995.¹⁶

After seven decades of treatment, Lindesmith's quote in "Review of CoA of the Thoracic Aorta", written in 1971, is still true in many aspects:¹⁷ "Although operation for CoA has long been an accepted practice, many questions regarding this defect remain at best incompletely answered. These include indications for operation, the type of operation which should be performed, the age at which operation should be carried out, the problems of recurrence and persisting HTN, the occurrence and management of paradoxical HTN following correction, and the incidence and management of complications of operative treatment."

7

1.2. Epidemiology

CHD is the most common type of severe congenital malformations. It occurs in approximately 1% of liveborns and in 10% of aborted fetuses.¹⁸ It also accounts for the largest proportion of deaths due to birth defects, which is the leading cause of infant mortality in the Western World.^{19, 20} CoA is the sixth most common CHD, representing 6-8% of all cases.²¹⁻²³ In 1980, the New England Regional Infant Cardiac Program (1975-1977), a consortium of regional hospitals that pooled their data concerning ill infants admitted with heart disease, reported an incidence of 1.7 per 100,000 live births.²¹ However, this study underestimated the true incidence of this disease, because it preceded the widespread use of echocardiography and did not account for patients who were not diagnosed until later in life. According to a recent review that pooled the data from 39 studies, CoA has an incidence of 4.0 per 100.000 live births and is the 6th most common congenital cardiac defect.²⁴ This same figure was confirmed in an on-going registry, the Metropolitan Atlanta Congenital Defects Program.²⁵ As with other left-sided obstructive diseases, CoA is more common (1.3 to 1.7:1) in males.^{21, 26}

1.3. Etiology

1.3.1. Genetics

Most cases are sporadic, but there is substantial that left-sided obstructive lesions have a strong genetic component, especially when they occur in association.²⁷⁻²⁹ Data supports a complex but most likely oligogenic pattern of inheritance,²⁸ but the underlying genetic etiologies are mostly unknown.²⁹ Recently, a few candidate genes have been described, including TBL1Y,³⁰ MCTP2,³¹ MATR3,³² and variants of the NOTCH1 gene,³³ thus supporting the theory that genes play an important role in CoA.³⁴

There are several syndromes that have been associated with CoA. It is well-known that CoA has a high prevalence (10–20%) in Turner syndrome.³⁵ Other syndromes include Williams–Beuren, PHACES, congenital rubella syndromes, neurofibromatosis, and Takayasu arteritis.

1.3.2. Embryology

The aorta and its branches develop between the sixth to eighth week of gestation. They arise from the aortic arches, which are six paired and symmetrical embryological arteries. During development, these aortic arches lose their original symmetry, and while some enlarge and become a part of the final aortic arch and branches, others regress and disappear: the ascending aorta arises from the ventral aorta, the aortic arch between the left common carotid artery and the left subclavian artery is formed from the left 4th aortic arch and the 3rd through the 7th segments of the left dorsal aortic root, and the thoracic descending aorta from that point onwards arises from the 6th aortic arch.³⁶ The precise mechanism by which CoA is produced is not clearly understood and there are two main proposed theories, which may be complementary.

1.3.2.1. Ductal Theory

The ductus arteriosus has long been recognized to play a critical role in CoA. Craigie proposed a theory in 1841,³⁷ later popularized by and known as Skoda Theory in 1855,³⁸ in which an abnormal extension of ductal tissue into the aorta created a stenosis after postnatal ductal closure. This explanation was commonly disregarded in the mid 20th century, since "such an extension of peculiar issue has never been demonstrated microscopically".³⁹ However, this theory has since then been abundantly demonstrated. In the 70s, histological studies confirmed that there is migration of the ductal tissue to the aortic isthmus.^{40, 41} The prostaglandin E receptor EP4, a receptor in the ductus arteriosus, is abundantly expressed in human CoA segments.⁴² Three-dimensional extent of ductal tissue was shown in resected human CoA segments using synchrotron radiation-based X-ray phase contrast tomography.⁴³ And finally, the in-vivo demonstration of this theory occurred in 1998,⁴⁴ by successfully infusing prostaglandin E1, a drug that dilates the ductus, with echocardiographic demonstration of the CoA relief in what has become a mainstay of pre-surgical neonatal medical management. It is now widely accepted the concept that CoA is associated with excessive distribution of tissue of the ductus arteriosus.

1.3.2.2. Hemodynamic Theory

However, the ductal theory does not explain all cases of CoA, especially when there is accompanying hypoplasia of the aortic arch. Early reports suggested that a reorientation of the angle at which the ductus arteriosus meets the aorta, abnormal fetal ductal flow patterns, or hemodynamic compromise of fetal aortic outflow, could be responsible for CoA.⁴⁵ In fact, the high incidence of CoA in patients with congenital heart defects that have in utero diminished antegrade aortic flow is a well-recognized association. Conversely, the paucity of CoA in patients with right-sided heart obstructions suggests that prenatal altered hemodynamics also plays a significant role in the development of CoA. The hemodynamic theory has been demonstrated in chick embryos, where alterations in intracardiac blood

flow that compromised left ventricle (LV) flow, disrupted both early cardiac morphogenesis and aortic arch development.⁴⁶ In summary, the hemodynamic theory has also become an accepted explanation of the most severe forms of CoA and arch hypoplasia. It is likely that ductal tissue migration and hemodynamic changes co-occur to produce the varied spectrum of CoA.

1.4. Natural History

Most of the patients that present in the neonatal period or infancy do not survive beyond the critical period if left untreated. The remaining patients, who present after the first year of life, have a more benign course and mostly reach adult life. However, the mean age of death for this subset of patients is 35 years old.⁴⁷ A necropsy study of patients that died beyond infancy showed that untreated patients rarely survive beyond age 50: 25% die before they reach 20yo, 50% by 32yo, 75% by 46yo, and 90% by age 58 (**Fig. 1**):



Fig. 1. The distribution of deaths by age, excluding deaths in the first year of life. In CoA on the left and in normal subjects on the right, there is relatively little overlapping. (Reprinted from Campbell,⁴⁸ with permission from BMJ Publishing Group Ltd)

In that same study, the most frequently reported causes of death were congestive heart failure (26%), aortic dissection (21%), bacterial endocarditis (18%), and intracranial hemorrhage (12%).

1.5. Anatomy

1.5.1. Morphology

CoA is an aortic narrowing nearly always localized in the isthmus, the aortic segment comprised between the origin of the left subclavian artery and the emergence of the ductus arteriosus. Rarely, it may be located after the emergence of the brachiocephalic trunk, in the descending thoracic or abdominal aorta, the latter commonly designated as abdominal CoA, and which may represent a different disease entity. The CoA itself may be a discrete and focal stenosis or shaped as a long segment isthmic hypoplasia. Additionally, there may be a wide spectrum of accompanying aortic arch hypoplasia, that can be manifested up to the extreme of aortic arch interruption. Currently, Pediatric Cardiology centers use the measurements of the arch indexed to the body surface area (BSA) and describe them in terms of z scores, where one z score which represents one standard deviation for the appropriate sex, height, and weight. Z scores less than-2 are considered to represent arch hypoplasia. Other approaches are considering that the segment between left carotid and subclavian artery 50% of ascending aorta, the segment between left carotid and subclavian artery 50% of ascending aorta, and the isthmus not inferior to 40% of the ascending aorta. Another rule is to consider hypoplastic arch which size is smaller than baby's weight plus one.⁴⁹

CoA occurs in concomitance with other congenital heart defects, including ventricular septal defects and other left-sided obstructions, especially bicuspid aortic valve (BAV), which may be present in up to 60% of CoA cases (**Table 1**):⁵⁰

Associated anomalies	Incidence
Patent ductus arteriosus	77%
Bicuspid aortic valve	46%
Ventricular septal defect	26%
Subaortic stenosis	25%
Atrial septal defect	13%
Mitral valve stenosis	10%
Transposition of great arteries	8%
Shone complex	3%

Table 1. Incidence of congenital cardiac anomalies associated with CoA

One common association is Shone syndrome, that includes supravalvar mitral ring, parachute mitral valve, discrete subaortic stenosis and CoA or other complex congenital heart diseases, such as the Taussig-Bing anomaly, univentricular heart, often with systemic outflow obstruction, and hypoplastic left heart syndromes.⁵¹ The most important noncardiac associated anomaly is intracerebral aneurysm (berry aneurysm), present in up to 10% of all cases.⁵²

1.5.2. *Histopathology*

In the site of the CoA, there is usually an infolding of aortic wall tissue. Although the aorta and ductus arteriosus are in continuity and exposed to the same hemodynamics, the ductus arteriosus has structural properties similar to those of muscular arteries rather than those of elastic arteries. A similar intimal thickening is one of the prominent histopathological changes of CoA.^{53, 54} In the medial layer, light and electron microscopy of necropsy and surgical specimens showed histopathological changes including increased collagen and reduced smooth muscle content in the ascending but not the descending aorta.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ The expression of the smooth muscle cell phenotype in CoA is similar to that is found in the ductus arteriosus.⁵⁸ It is interesting to note that similar changes histopathological changes are found in the ascending aorta of patients with BAV without CoA.⁵⁹ These observations suggest that CoA is not a localized disease but a diffuse arteriopathy.

1.6. Pathophysiology

In the last years, it has become apparent that CoA is not a mere focal stenosis but an inborn systemic vascular disease. The isthmic stenosis is associated not only with altered hemodynamics but also with gene modulation of the vascular phenotype, impaired neuronal sensitivity, and endocrinal auto-regulation. All these contribute to HTN and vascular dysfunction that are currently well recognized to characterize the long-term follow up of CoA.

1.6.1. *Hemodynamics*

CoA creates an obstacle that increases LV afterload and leads to a rise in BP proximal, and hypoperfusion distal to the isthmus. The hemodynamic consequences depend on the rapidity of the ductus arteriosus closure, the severity of the obstruction, the level of pulmonary vascular resistance, and associated cardiac lesions. In the neonatal and infantile presentation, post-natal ductus closure leads to an acute narrowing of the aortic lumen that results in systolic dysfunction and cardiogenic shock. In the more insidious childhood or
adolescent presentation, the closure of the ductus is better tolerated and elicits an adaptive pathophysiological adaptation that results in upper body HTN, compensatory LV hypertrophy, systolic dysfunction, and development of collateral blood flow.

The presence of collateral vessels allows for BP below the CoA to be only slightly decreased or even within normal limits.⁶⁰ However, the pulse pressure (PP) is markedly reduced below the CoA, as a result of the attenuation of the pulse in travel through the long, tortuous and narrow collateral vessels. When present in native CoA, the collateral vessels provide almost complete replacement for the abnormal aortic conduit function, but little or none for altered cushioning reservoir function and only one-third of the whole arterial system is able to act as cushion to LV ejection.⁶¹

Exercise further accentuates the differences described above. Previous studies have shown that physical exertion is associated with a more accentuated increase in BP above the CoA than in patients that have severe essential HTN.⁶²

1.6.2. Gene modulation

Changes in gene expression due to the mechanical stimuli of the CoA may explain these histopathological changes. The stenosis caused by experimental CoA results in the development of differentially expressed genes that are associated with altered vascular structure or function.⁶³⁻⁶⁵ In a rabbit model of CoA, immunohistochemical results showed a shift from smooth muscle to non-muscle myosin heavy chain isoform expression in the medial smooth muscle cells that reflects a long-standing change in the vascular phenotype since these changes persisted after removal of the induced CoA.⁶⁶ Human studies also revealed genetic polymorphisms in CoA patients that are associated with HTN.⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹ Interestingly, these polymorphisms are different from those seen in patients with essential HTN⁶⁷ or abnormal BP regulation during exercise.⁶⁸ This finding reinforces the different ethiopathogenic mechanism for HTN in CoA.

1.6.3. Neuro-endocrine system

The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone (RAA) system may be involved in the ethiopathogenesis of CoA, especially in the systemic HTN. However, its role is unclear: while some studies provided evidence of increased RAA activity in patients with CoA,⁷⁰⁻⁷² others did not confirm these findings.⁷³⁻⁷⁵ It may be that the RAA is important in the early development of, but not in the maintenance of HTN in CoA.⁷⁶

1.6.4. Autonomic nervous system

The autonomic system and baroreceptor function may be altered, including enhanced sympathetic tone set to a higher value, reduced spontaneous baroreceptor reflex sensitivity and heart rate (HR) variability, and diminished sensitivity to changes in arterial pressure.⁷⁷⁻⁷⁹ Some authors suggest that these abnormalities in neuronal mediation may be involved only in the pre-treatment HTN, which is then reset after repair.^{80, 81}

1.7. Diagnosis

1.7.1. Clinical Presentation

1.7.1.1. Neonates and Infants

Most of the CoA cases present in neonates and infants.⁸² The acute closure of the ductus arteriosus will lead to left heart failure or, in the most dramatic cases, cardiogenic shock with metabolic acidosis. Patients present with tachycardia, tachypnea, pale skin, and diaphoresis. They have radio-femoral pulse delay with diminished or absent femoral pulses and poor peripheral perfusion. The cardiac auscultation is sometimes unremarkable, but there may be a harsh systolic ejection murmur, best heard in the suprasternal notch or the interscapular area, in the back. The arm-leg BP gradient is pathognomonic of CoA but may be difficult to obtain in a moving infant or when cardiac output is diminished. The hypoperfusion of the lower body may lead to end-organ damage, including renal failure and necrotizing enterocolitis. This clinical presentation may be difficult to distinguish from neonatal sepsis without cardiovascular imaging. Rarely, there will be some infants that present with dilated cardiomyopathy.

1.7.1.2. Children, Adolescents and Adults

10-25% of patients will present later in life.⁸² CoA is then suspected due to complaints related to HTN (such as headache or epistaxis), reduced exercise capacity, claudication or cold feet. Often, the diagnosis is incidental and made during routine office visits such as a physical examination that shows cuff HTN or absent femoral pulses, or pre-exercise sports assessment such as changes in the electrocardiogram (ECG) that will prompt a cardiac evaluation. Cardiac auscultation is most often normal, but an uncharacteristic systolic ejection murmur best heard in the suprasternal notch or continuous murmurs in the interscapular area or thorax (due to collateral vessels) may occur. Atypical clinical presentations that may lead to the diagnosis of CoA include retinopathy in eye assessments, infective endocarditis, aortic dissection or rupture, and intracranial hemorrhage.

II. BACKGROUND

This relatively uncharacteristic, mostly benign clinical picture, and the absence of a clearly abnormal cardiac auscultation are often responsible for late diagnosis. It is well documented in pediatric studies that the diagnosis is often missed by the referring doctor and this has had little improvement over the past 20 years.⁸³⁻⁸⁵ Consequently, it remains critical to stress the importance of femoral pulse palpation and brachial cuff measurement of BP in routine child visits to the pediatrician or family doctor.

1.7.2. Electrocardiogram

In the neonatal period, the ECG of CoA patients may be indistinguishable from the findings in the normal newborn, with right ventricular dominance with positive R, and T waves in the right precordial leads and QRS angle in the right lower quadrant.⁸⁶ After ductal closure, the ECG in the neonate and infant with CoA persists with right axis deviation of the QRS axis in the frontal-plane, right ventricular hypertrophy and upright T waves in the right precordial leads, contrary to the normal newborn in whom the T wave becomes negative.⁸⁷ These ECG changes associated with CoA persist throughout infancy and, if present beyond, may suggest pulmonary HTN associated with other congenital heart diseases.

In older children, there may not be any ECG changes if there is a mild CoA. As age and severity progress, the ECG findings will reflect the HTN and LV hypertrophy, such as increased R wave amplitude in the left-sided ECG leads (I, aVL and V4-6) and increased S wave depth in the right-sided leads (III, aVR, V1-3) and ST and T-wave abnormalities in the lateral leads.⁸⁸

1.7.3. Chest X-Ray

In the neonate, the chest X-ray in CoA is non-specific. If there is heart failure, there will be cardiomegaly and congested pulmonary vasculature, due to passive congestion and active fluid overload due to left-to-right shunt.

In older children and adolescents, the CoA patients have a normal or slightly enlarged heart and two characteristic findings: (a) figure-3 sign, that results from the combination of a localized indentation in the site of the isthmic stenosis with dilated proximal subclavian artery and distal descending aorta; and (b) rib notching, that results from the erosion of the inferior surface of the ribs by the prominent collateral circulation of the enlarged of intercostal arteries. Rib notching involvement is bilateral with distal coarctation, right- sided with proximal coarctation, and left-sided with distal coarctation with anomalous right subclavian artery.⁸⁹

1.7.4. Echocardiography

1.7.4.1. Prenatal

Despite all the advances in fetal echocardiography, prenatal diagnosis of CoA remains a challenging diagnosis even in tertiary centers, with high false positive and false negative rates.⁹⁰⁻⁹³ A recent, a large cohort study showed that CoA is one of the most commonly missed prenatal congenital heart diseases⁹² and another study showed that this detection can occur in less than one third of patients.⁹³

Early studies noted that most patients have indirect 2D echocardiographic signs, such as a disproportionally larger right ventricle and pulmonary artery, but only half had a direct visualization of the stenotic aortic arch.⁹⁴ Several parameters have been proposed to assist in the 2D fetal diagnosis of CoA including a ratio of the left common carotid artery to transverse aorta > 0.73 compared with < 0.62 for the normal fetuses,⁹⁵ the isthmic diameter z-scores <-2 and the ratio of isthmus to duct diameters < 0.74,⁹⁶ and the visualization of CoA shelf. Finally, the presence of other commonly associated left heart obstructive lesions may help to raise the suspicion for the presence of CoA. The Doppler assessment helps in the prenatal diagnosis of CoA, including the presence of continuous isthmic flow, detected in 50% of the patients,⁹¹ and the inversion of flow in the ascending aorta is a pathognomonic sign.

Despite the difficulties, the prenatal diagnosis is critically important since it allows the birth to occur in an adequate institution. The timely early administration of proper neonatal care and has been shown to be associated with lower mortality and morbidity.⁹⁷

1.7.4.2. Postnatal

Transthoracic echocardiography is the primary imaging modality for CoA. The crucial diagnostic steps are the establishment of the presence, degree, and shape of the isthmic stenosis; the size of the aortic arch; the anatomy of the aortic arch branches, namely the involvement of the left subclavian artery in the CoA and the presence of an aberrant right subclavian artery; and the patency of the arterial duct and associated cardiac lesions.

In the newborn, the presence of the ductus may mask the presence of the CoA. However, the bidirectional ductal flow with right-to-left shunt associated with hypoplasia of the isthmus is indicative of the presence of a CoA. Once the ductus closes, the echocardiographic features will be more apparent. The best echocardiographic view is the suprasternal notch view and, occasionally in newborns, the subcostal view.⁹⁸ In 2D, there will become evident a stenosis of

the aortic isthmus, and often a posterior shelf will be seen in the proximal descending aorta, opposite to the aortic end of the ductus (**Fig. 2**). In isolated CoA, the measurements of the arch show variable degrees of hypoplasia of the aortic arch.



Fig. 2. Suprasternal notch view showing a CoA. The CoA (marked with an arrow) is seen as a narrowing in 2D imaging (left panel), where there is color Doppler flow aliasing (right panel).

Doppler assessment is an important adjunct for the diagnosis and severity assessment of CoA.⁹⁹ The best correlation between the Doppler-estimated gradients and the invasive peakto-peak hemodynamic gradient is to use the Bernoulli equation with the post-CoA velocity minus the pre-CoA velocity.⁹⁹ The persistence of antegrade flow in diastole or diastolic run-off assessed by continuous wave Doppler is the most specific (100%) and sensitive (79%) in the diagnosis of CoA.¹⁰⁰ The continuous and low velocity pulsed Doppler flow in the abdominal aorta also indicates the presence of CoA (**Fig. 3**).



Fig. 3. Subcostal view with pulsed-wave interrogation of the abdominal aorta. Note the typical low velocity and continuous flow of CoA.

The color-coded Doppler study is helpful in localizing a CoA when the 2D images is suboptimal, and shows a persistence of color flow signal throughout the whole cardiac cycle. A complete echocardiographic study is also important to detail possible associated congenital heart defects.

1.7.5. Magnetic resonance imaging

Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR) is the preferred advanced non-invasive diagnostic tool for assessment of CoA since it allows both good anatomic and functional data of the aortic arch, which is clinically useful for both preoperative planning and post-interventional monitoring.^{101, 102}

Regarding anatomy, CMR can provide excellent and detailed visualization of the entire aortic arch, the site, degree, and extent of the aortic narrowing, as well as aneurysms. Anatomic imaging allows for imaging the arch in multiple custom-made planes that assist in the accurate quantification of the vessel size along its path and quantify the LV hypertrophy, function, and fibrosis (with T1 mapping). The utilization of gadolinium-enhanced CMR permits three-dimensional reconstruction of the aortic arch as well as depicting the presence and extent of collateral vessel formation (**Fig. 4**).



Fig. 4. 3D reconstruction of gadolinium-enhanced CMR angiography of the aorta.

II. BACKGROUND

CMR can also provide valuable information regarding pathophysiology.^{60, 103} The severity of CoA can be inferred by quantification of hemodynamic parameters such as flow velocity and volume and estimation of pressure gradients across the CoA. The quantification of the amount of collateral flow has been shown to be associated with the degree of CoA. Recent technological developments in CMR that involve a comprehensive analysis of flow direction and its interaction with the aortic wall has been used as 4D CMR to the study the wall shear stress that is exerted in the aorta,¹⁰⁴ and to accurately predict the invasive hemodynamic gradient.¹⁰⁵

Compared to the other techniques, CMR is limited by (a) its relatively longer time for image acquisition and need for patient cooperation, which may require sedation for patients under 6 to 8 years old; (b) its higher cost; and (c) the artifacts associated with metal stents used to treat CoA, which impede isthmus visualization. Therefore, CMR is not routinely used in infants but is recommended in in the diagnosis initial diagnosis and follow up of children, infants, and adults.

1.7.6. *Computed tomography*

Computed tomography (CT) scan provides the best non-invasive anatomic imaging, by 2D and 3D reconstructions of the aortic arch. The most important limitations of CT scan are the requirement of iodinated contrast that may worsen renal failure and the associated ionizing radiation, especially deleterious in children who may require several consecutive exams. However, the radiation risk is minimized with the recent availability of third-generation dual-source scanners, which provide high-quality imaging in a single heartbeat, thus avoiding the need for breath holding and minimizing artifact.^{106, 107}

1.7.7. Diagnostic catheterization

It is currently very rare the need to perform an invasive cardiac catheterization with the sole purpose of a diagnostic catheterization. First, the hemodynamic significance of a CoA is well established by clinical and non-invasive methods. Second, the angiographies provide excellent imaging of the aortic arch but don't have a favorable risk/ benefit ratio compared to the non-invasive imaging modalities described above.

1.8. Treatment

1.8.1. Indications

All hemodynamically significant CoA should be treated once the diagnosis is made. The American Heart Association and the American College of Cardiology, the European Society of Cardiology, and the Canadian Cardiovascular Society have all issued guidelines for adults and agree that what defines a significant CoA is a gradient greater than 20 mm Hg (Class I; *Level of Evidence*: C).¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ There are, however, some important nuances between these recommendations: while the United States of America guidelines specify that the 20 mm Hg value corresponds to the invasive, peak-to-peak CoA gradient, the European guidelines consider that a non-invasive BP between upper and lower limbs greater than 20 mm Hg is an indication for intervention if there is associated HTN, pathological BP response during exercise, or significant LV hypertrophy.

Treatment may also be indicated in hemodynamically non-significant CoA (with a gradient less than 20 mm Hg) if there is an imaging evidence of significant CoA (defined as a greater than 50% narrowing relative to the aortic diameter at the diaphragm level) and significant collateral flow, which may mask the severity of the CoA (Class I; *Level of Evidence*: C),¹⁰⁹ or if the patients are hypertensive (Class IIa; *Level of Evidence*: C).¹⁰⁸ The guidelines above recommend that these treatment indications be the same for native CoA and reCoA.

There are no specific guidelines for asymptomatic older children, but the indications noted above are widely accepted in clinical practice and, as for adults, the timing of treatment should be after the diagnosis of significant CoA is made.¹¹¹

In neonates and infants, even if only mildly symptomatic or asymptomatic, there is an urgent indication for treatment since they are at risk of developing heart failure. This is particularly true in the neonate with a patent ductus, that may not have a significant gradient due to the patent ductus supplying the descending aorta or ventricular dysfunction resulting in low cardiac output.

1.8.2. Medical Management

The mainstay of medical treatment in the neonate with CoA is prostaglandin E1 (PGE_1). Since the in vitro description of its role in the regulation of the intrinsic muscular tone of the ductus arteriosus,¹¹² pharmacologic manipulation of the ductus has become an important first line palliation in ductus-dependent CHD such as the critical CoA of the newborn. If there is a prenatal diagnosis or postnatal early diagnosis, prompt institution of a PGE₁ infusion will avoid the overt heart failure that may develop in neonates with CoA. Even when a newborn presents critically ill, this drug can still effectively re-opens the ductus and improves flow into the descending aorta, which may reduce the risk of metabolic acidosis and end-organ ischemia such as necrotizing enterocolitis and renal failure.¹¹³ Medical management of the decompensated newborn may also require other measures such as mechanical ventilation, inotropic support, and other general supportive intensive care measures. Once clinical stability is achieved, the patient should proceed to repair the CoA, as soon as possible.

1.8.3. Surgical Management

1.8.3.1.Introduction

The majority of patients are managed by a left posterior thoracotomy through either the 3rd or 4th intercostal space, sparing both trapezius and serratus muscles whenever possible. However, for cases with severe aortic arch hypoplasia or concomitant correction of other associated anomalies, median sternotomy is preferred. Collaterals in neonate and infants are usually not profuse, but some patients, particularly beyond infancy, and in adolescents and adults, dealing with profuse collaterals, during thoracotomy and aorta mobilization might be challenging.

At surgery, care is taken to identify nearby nerves, thoracic lymph duct area, and collaterals. Mediastinal pleura is incised longitudinally over the aorta, from thoracic operculum to mid thoracic descending aorta and structures are identified and mobilized. Typically, left subclavian, aortic arch and supra aortic trunks, aortic isthmus, ductus and descending aorta are dissected circumferentially, mobilized and encircled with silicone loops. Particular care is taken with collaterals, posteriorly and laterally placed, and some medial esophageal arterial branches. Collaterals should be gently controlled with loops, rarely being sacrificed. This mobilization process is standard, but must be individualized to each surgical technique, as simple aortoplasty and patch corrections will need far less extensive mobilization of structures, than the extended end-to-end type of procedures. Once the structures are properly dissected and fully mobilized, the surgeon will need to make technical choices based on both anatomical coarctation patterns and his surgical preference. Arch hypoplasia is probably best dealt with extended end-to-end technique, and extreme cases will best be treated under cardiopulmonary bypass, through a sternotomy. For cases with a long hypoplastic isthmus, the subclavian flap aortoplasty may still be an alternative.

LOVE-COARCT Study

1.8.3.2. End-to-End (and Extended End-to-End) Anastomosis

Resection and end-to-end anastomosis (Fig. 5) is the technique most commonly used.⁸²



Fig. 5. End-to-end coarctectomy. (The description of the surgery is in the text)

It implies significant mobilization of the aortic arch and descending aorta, without sacrificing any collaterals, and ductus resection, to achieve a tension free anastomosis. An oblique anastomotic line with fine continuous or interrupted nylon sutures is typically used, to minimize circumferential stenosis at the anastomotic site, when children will grow into adolescence.

The extended end-to-end technique is the preferred method in cases when the arch is considered hypoplastic and needing augmentation (**Fig. 6**).



Fig. 6. Extended end-to-end coarctectomy. (The description of the surgery is in the text)

It consists in bringing the thoracic descending aorta to the undersurface of the aortic arch, reaching a proximal level just distal to the innominate artery. This technique requires extensive aorta and aortic arch mobilization and a critical placement of aortic arch clamp, letting

innominate artery perfusing the brain, while the arch is being excluded. The anastomosis is beveled down to increase its circumference, suturing being similar to the technique used for classical end-to-end anastomosis.^{114, 115}

1.8.3.3. Subclavian Flap and Reverse Flap

This is a classical technique (Fig. 7), now rarely used.⁸²



Fig. 7. Subclavian flap coarctectomy. (The description of the surgery is in the text)

It can be particularly suitable for neonatal coarctation with isthmus hypoplasia, as it patch enlarges the narrowed segment with a vital subclavian flap, but it implies the sacrifice of arterial supply to the arm (with few relevant consequences). Despite potentially leaving active ductus tissue in the inner wall, the propensity to reCoA is low.

This is an easy operation, also easy to learn. Structures need to be mobilized in the usual way, extending subclavian dissection to the thoracic outlet, where the vertebral artery must be ligated to prevent steal syndromes to the cerebral circulation. Using two clamps, sometimes only one curve clamp, a vertical aortotomy is performed, and a long subclavian flap is slit open, reversed and sewn over the aortotomy, taking care to bring it down, well below the coarctation shelf by at least one centimeter. Concerns regarding the growth and potential ischemic syndromes (rarely described), whenever subclavian artery was sacrificed, would lead to the introduction of some clever sliding techniques, as the one introduced by Meier,¹¹⁶ that preserves the left arm blood flow, as it detached the proximal subclavian artery from the arch and slide it down to use as the aortoplasty flap.¹¹⁶ Subclavian flaps have also been used, in combination with end-to-end repair, to augment the distal arch, with the advantage of using strictly autologous vital patch material, that grows with age.¹¹⁷

1.8.3.4. Patch Reconstruction

Patch reconstruction for coarctation repair was introduced earlier, to overcome two problems (**Fig. 8**). Firstly, the concerns that circumferential sutures used with end-to-end techniques would prevent growth, particularly when used in children. Secondly, to overcome issues of inadequate or non-existent conduits for interposition.¹¹⁸



Fig. 8. Patch reconstruction technique for CoA. (The description of the surgery is in the text)

Patch repair for coarctation of the aorta is a technically simple procedure, typically used in older children and adults, consisting on enlarging the coarctation area with a patch of Dacron[®], Gore-Tex[®] or heterograft pericardium. The ideal patch material has not been found, as aneurysms develop contra-laterally, particularly with classical Dacron[®] patches, due to the uneven rigidity of the aortic wall or direct surgical injury.^{119, 120} Therefore, the use of this technique has faded down.⁸² Some have used heterograft pericardium with the expectation that there is less aneurysm formation, but the patch reconstruction technique has faded in favor of other surgical approaches.¹¹⁸

1.8.3.5. Conduit Interposition

When coarctation of aorta repair was introduced, the ideal technique was end-to-end anastomosis. However, for some patients, predominantly adults, the extension of coarctation and the incapacity to mobilize adjacent aorta, warranted the use of an interposed conduit. Initially, homograft material was used, but soon synthetic material would be introduced, Dacron[®] or Gore-Tex[®], with excellent results.¹²¹ The use of conduits is limited by patient size, as growth is naturally limited. The use of conduits less than half of the normal adult aorta should not be used, for the risk of becoming stenotic.

Technically, the operation is simple. However, in patients with extensive collateral networks, the interposition of a graft may impose their dissection and sacrifice, with the risks of hemorrhage and eventually paraplegia, and it is rarely used today.⁸²

1.8.3.6. Extra-Anatomical Conduits

Coarctation repair should, whenever possible, privilege both the physiology and the anatomy, however, the objective of a nice anatomical repair should not preclude safety, and the primary aim of getting a good hemodynamic result. Therefore, whenever local anatomical challenges, namely collaterals, a long narrow segment, or in case of any complex re-do, the option for an extra-anatomical conduit should be considered (**Fig. 9**).



Fig. 9. Extra-anatomical conduit technique for CoA. (The description of the surgery is in the text)

Para-anatomical conduits are an alternative to anatomical reconstructions, whenever the direct correction is not possible or is considered too risky. Ipsilateral jump grafts, from the aortic arch or left subclavian artery to the descending aorta beyond coarctation, are easy to perform and pose few problems. However, truly extra-anatomical conduits will offer a more effective alternative to bypassing the coarctation. Typically, they are performed through a median sternotomy, the heart is luxated to the left shoulder (not rarely, extracorporeal support is recommended), exposing the aorta in a midline position before it will cross the diaphragm.¹²² Mediastinal pleura is incised, the aorta is encircled and a by using a side-biting clamp, a large Dacron tube (16 or 18 mm) is anastomosed terminal-laterally to the descending aorta. The graft is brought, typically, in between the IVC and the inferior right pulmonary vein, to lie laterally in the pericardial sac, in a position that will facilitate a terminal-lateral anastomosis to the right aspect of the ascending aorta.

1.8.3.7. Postoperative Management

Post-operative strategies should be oriented taking into account the preoperative course and patient age. A newborn who presents with low-cardiac output, metabolic acidosis and renal failure should undergo a different medical approach than an older child with preoperative HTN.

As a rule, patients are usually monitored with an arterial line and an indwelling catheter to quantify urinary output. Noninvasive BP measurements in the upper and lower limbs are vital to identifying residual CoA, and somatic near-infrared spectroscopy is used to assess the systemic perfusion. Fluid management in older children is not restricted, but newborns and infants should have two-thirds restrictive fluid administration. Neonates with severe CoA and poor systolic function frequently need inotropic support. Milrinone and dopamine are the most commonly used.

Post-operative paradoxical HTN is a common feature, can present with abdominal pain, mesenteric arteritis and even bowel ischemia and requires strict BP control to prevent anastomosis leaks and bleeding. Possible explanations are neuro-hormonal elevated sympathetic nervous system activity (early HTN) and the activation of the RAA system (second phase or later HTN). There isn't a consensus about the best medical strategies to achieve that goal and variability in patient care is seen, and different pharmacological agents can be used.¹²³⁻¹²⁵ Betablockers (β-blockers) act by sympathetic blockade and should be the agents of choice. Esmolol is a selective short-acting β-blocker with predominant β1-receptor selectivity, safe and effective in CoA, and the most frequent choice in the postoperative HTN.¹²⁵ It should be started with a 100 to 500µg/Kg bolus followed by a continuous infusion starting at 50 µg/ Kg/m titrated as needed. Labetalol has $\alpha 1$ and non-selective β -blocker effect and can also be safely used. Sodium nitroprusside acts as a direct and potent vasodilator (continuous infusion 0,5-1 µg/Kg/m), and in spite of the risk of thiocyanate toxicity, it is still currently used.^{123, 125} In cases of severe HTN, as seen in older children, sodium nitroprusside and β -blockers can be considered in association. Other agents can be considered as adjunctive therapy, like dexmedetomidine in a continuous infusion (0,2-0,7 μ g/Kg/h). This agent is a selective α 2 receptor agonist acting directly through it symphaticolytic effect, reducing HR and BP and indirectly by achieving pain control and sedation and therefore preventing HR and BP to rise.124, 126

Older children do not generally need ventilator support and are quickly extubated after CoA repair. Newborns that presented preoperatively with cardiogenic shock and dilated left ventricle with poor systolic function may require mechanical ventilation for longer periods of time, at least for 24-48 hours. Ventilation weaning and extubation should be done after the cardiac output is reestablished (normal lactate levels, urinary output greater than 1 mL/ Kg/h) and echocardiographic signs of LV function recovery are evident.

1.8.3.8. Acute Results

Coarctation surgical repair is a standardized procedure, known for achieving excellent outcomes.^{82, 127, 128} Results for neonatal correction have been extensively reported: Two decades ago, two-year survivals were of 84%.¹²⁷ A review of the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Congenital Heart Surgery Database reported contemporary results for 2705 patients, with a mortality of 1% and complications in 25%.⁸² Another recent review (343 patients; 42% neonates, 36% infants, and 23% older children) showed that mortality was only neonatal (3%), independent from surgical technique and acute outcomes were superior when coarctation was repaired earlier.¹²⁸

The most feared but rare complication (0-0.4%) is paraplegia.⁸² Risk factors are CoA with minimal collaterals, prolonged cross-clamp times, long excluded aorta segments, division of collaterals, hypotension, and hyperthermia. Protective measures such as shunt bypass or extracorporeal circulation, local hypothermia, systemic pressures in the high range, and short aortic cross-clamp periods will minimize the risk for this much-feared complication.

Recurrent laryngeal nerve injury (1.6%) with unilateral vocal cord paralysis, stridor and airway obstruction or phrenic nerve injury (0.4%) with hemidiaphragmatic paralysis, can occur and may lead to extubation failure.⁸² The clinical presentation depends on the severity of the nerve damage (transient or permanently damaged) and on patient age (newborns tend to do worst). Nasal continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) can be tried in less severe cases. Hemidiaphragmatic paralysis can spontaneously resolve but occasionally requires diaphragmatic plication, especially in cases of failure of a second extubation attempt. Chylothorax (2.1%),⁸² is usually management conservatively with dietary lipid manipulation (restriction of long-chain fatty acids and supplementation with medium-chain fatty acids) or total parenteral nutrition and octreotide infusion. Surgical approach with thoracic duct ligation may be considered if the chylothorax recurs or if the previous measures do not achieve resolution.

Post-coartectomy syndrome generally occurs two or three days after surgery, rarely in neonates, and is characterized by HTN, severe abdominal pain with abdominal tenderness, vomiting, ileus and even melena. It is most likely caused by necrotizing arteritis of the small mesenteric arteries probably related to the sudden increase of BP in the mesenteric territory. It can be prevented by BP control and avoiding early enteral feeding, which should be started very slowly and after bowel sounds are present and abdominal exam normal.

1.8.3.9. Long-term Outcomes

The incidence of reCoA is 4-25% and occurs in all surgical techniques.^{129, 130} Neonates have higher reintervention rates, which is not associated with the type of repair, surgical era, or arch hypoplasia.¹⁰⁷ In a recent study, freedom for reCoA was 93% when end-to-end anastomosis in a neonatal population (median f/u 6 years).¹²⁸

Another concern is local aortic wall complications. Aneurysms have a high incidence after patch repair, even with more distensible patches.¹¹⁹ The incidence of aneurysms after surgical repair is reported between 2-24%.¹³¹⁻¹³⁸ The 2017 update from the Congenital Cardiovascular Interventional Study Consortium (CCISC) prospective registry showed an aneurysm incidence of 4% with end-to-end, 17% with patch, and 9% with tube graft (results for subclavian flap not reported).¹³⁷ The incidence of aneurysms is associated with BAV and longer follow up.¹³⁸ Late complications will affect survival, including systemic HTN and cardiovascular morbidity.

1.8.4. Balloon Dilation

1.8.4.1. Introduction

BD has been used to treat CoA for more than three decades. Conceptually, it is a simple procedure that consists in inflating a balloon located at the tip of a catheter, advanced over a guide-wire, in the CoA (**Fig. 10**).

II. BACKGROUND



Fig. 10. Balloon dilation of a native CoA. Balloon dilation of CoA. In panels A and B (above), biplane aortography (right anterior oblique 30°, and left anterio oblique 70°) shows a native CoA. In panels C and D (below), after balloon dilation of the CoA, there is no residual stenosis. A small endothelial tear is seen (arrow, in panel C). (image from a LOVE-COARCT patient cardiac catheterization).

The inflation of the balloon produces a controlled tear of the aorta's intima and part of the media, meant to achieve a relief of the stenosis when the vessel heals in the newly created diameter.^{139, 140} In experimental lamb coarctation, it was found that there was complete intimal healing two months after the dilation.¹⁴¹

1.8.4.2. Technique

BD is done most frequently in a retrograde fashion, via femoral artery access. It can also be performed via an antegrade approach, through a venous access, a technique useful in infants with single ventricle-type malformations that allow the aorta to be accessed in such a fashion. There are many options for balloons, including some that were purposefully designed for CHD. The balloon diameter should be two to three times the minimum diameter of the lesion without exceeding 1.2 times the diameter of the surrounding aorta. The balloon length should be long enough to completely cover the area of the coarctation and provide stability during inflation and, at the same time, short enough not to extend too far in either direction away from the coarctation in which the natural curvature of the aortic arch impedes full inflation. If the diameter of the balloon is adequately chosen, it should be inflated until full resolution of the waist or the maximum inflation pressure is achieved. The contrast should be relatively diluted to ensure fast deflation.

1.8.4.3. Results for native CoA

Several papers report that BD for native CoA is an acutely successful procedure in 80-94% of the cases.^{131-134, 136, 142-145} The Valvuloplasty and Angioplasty of Congenital Anomalies (VACA) registry published several important multicenter studies on procedural outcomes of BD of coarctation of the aorta, including one that reported the short-term results of BD in 140 patients with native CoA that showed the procedure to be safe (0.7% mortality, 17% morbidity) and effective (86% immediate procedural success) in relieving CoA.¹³²

In the mid- and long-term follow up, the incidence of reCoA is variable (8-32%) and depends on the patients age.^{131, 133, 134, 136, 142-144} A mid-term follow-up (median f/u 36.2 months; range 12-117 months) study of 102 patients with native CoA had an immediate success of 91% but 23% required re-intervention due to reCoA. In that study, 88% of infants > 7 months old and older children required no additional intervention but, in contrast, 71% of the neonates required reintervention, suggesting that balloon angioplasty of native CoA is effective in infants and older children but provides only effective palliation in neonates.¹³³ Another mid-term (mean f/u 31 ± 18 months; 67 patients) confirmed a higher incidence of reCoA in neonates (83%), compared to infants (39%) and older children (8%).¹³⁴ On the opposite end, a long-term study (median f/u 13,4 years; range 1-22 years) of older patients (58 patients; mean age 24+/-9 years) reported an immediate success of 92%, no early mortality and only 8% of the patients with initial immediate success developed reCoA and required reintervention.¹³¹

The risk of aneurysm formation is a significant concern after BD but its true incidence is unknown, and reported between 2 and 24%.^{131-136, 142, 143} This is likely due to different definitions of an aneurysm, distinct methodologies of looking for this diagnosis, and the historical impact of the evolution of technique in retrospective series (low-pressure, progressive or stepwise BD and smaller balloon sizes). When there is late integrated imaging, the aneurysms appear to remain stable or regress and rarely require intervention.^{135, 143, 146} One recent paper looked at the long-term (mean f/u 8.5 years, range 2.2-13 years) aneurysm formation in 29 adult patients who had BD of a native CoA. An angiographic intimal tear was detected in 8 (28%), without signs of dissection, and remained unchanged or diminished in a three-month follow-up angiography. MR or CT excluded late aneurysm formation, and in the latest follow-up, only 3/8 still showed a persistent irregular aortic contour without progression or an aneurysm formation.¹⁴⁶

1.8.4.4. Results for reCoA

BD has an immediate success in 88-93% and 0-1% major complications in reCoA (including mortality or need for urgent surgery due to aortic rupture).¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁵² The VACA registry reported the multicenter prospective results on 200 patients (mean age 7.0 years, range 1 month to 26 years) and reported an immediate success in 79%, with a 2.5% procedure-related deaths and 8.5% vascular morbidity.¹⁵² In the long-term follow up, different studies (with median f/u between 3.5 to 8.1 years) showed that reCoA occurred between 10 and 27% of patients, and aneurysm formation between 0 and 4%.¹⁴⁸⁻¹⁵¹ The surgical technique did not have an impact on acute or long-term outcomes and older age at the angioplasty was associated with a higher incidence of reinterventions.¹⁵⁰

Despite the promising initial results that showed BD of native and recurrent CoA as safe and effective techniques, especially after the neonatal period, the concern about aneurysm formation inhibited BD of achieving wide popularity as a first-choice treatment for the native CoA, while it was accepted as the first choice for relief of reCoA. To address this discrepancy, a review of the VACA registry compared acute BD results of native CoA vs. reCoA from 970 procedures (422 native and 548 recurrent lesions) performed between 1982 and 1995 in 907 patients from 25 centers. The procedural success was significantly higher in native (81%) vs. reCoA (75%), and complications overall were similar for both groups, except for more reported intimal tears or flaps in the native coarctation group (native CoA 5.2% vs. reCoA 1.6%). The authors concluded that acute results and complications of balloon angioplasty of native coarctation appeared to be equivalent or slightly superior to those of recurrent aortic obstructions.¹⁵³ In that same study, there was an overall significant trend for failure with increasing age and a slightly increased risk in neonates.

1.8.5. Stent implantation

1.8.5.1. Introduction

After its introduction in the mid-90s, stenting of CoA (**Fig. 11**) has rapidly gained popularity,¹⁵⁴ because, contrary to the BD, the rigid endovascular prosthesis avoids vessel recoil, provides a sustained gradient relief and allows a more controlled dilation of the aortic wall that avoids over dilation and the potential risk of aortic rupture.



Fig. 11. Stent implantation in native CoA. In panel A (left), the aortography in a left anterior oblique projection shows the anatomy of the CoA. In panel B (right), the aortography is performed after the stent has been implanted, showing adequate stent position and no residual stenosis. In both pictures, a venous catheter is seen, in the pulmonary artery. (image from a LOVE-COARCT patient cardiac catheterization).

Patient weight is a major limitation for stent placement in CoA due to the risk of femoral artery injury and the aorta needs to be large enough to accommodate a stent that can be dilated up to an adult sized aorta, even if it is done in subsequent staged interventions. Although it can be feasible,^{155, 156} most authors agree that it is generally not recommended to implant stent for CoA treatment in patients weighting less than 25kg.^{101, 111, 154, 157}

1.8.5.2. Technique

The vast majority of CoA stenting is done retrogradely since there is a fairly direct route from the femoral artery. Stent implantation is a little more cumbersome than balloon angioplasty of the CoA but currently done as a routine procedure in most Pediatric Cardiology catheterization laboratories. The stent is mounted over a balloon-tipped catheter and advanced over a guiding-wire through a long delivery sheath. When the stent is in the optimal position, the sheath is retracted, and the balloon inflated up to the diameter of the width of the surrounding aorta. Angiographic and hemodynamic assessment are done to decide whether there is a need for further stent inflation to achieve an optimal result. If the initial CoA is very tight, staged dilation may be preferable instead of expanding the stent to the full diameter.

There are many technical tips and tricks that include the type and location were the guidewire tip is placed, the strategy to mount the balloon and loading into the sheath (front vs. back-loading), the use or not of balloon predilation, the use of maneuvers to diminish the blood flow and assure a proper positioning (adenosine or rapid ventricular pacing) and the way to make control angiographies during the procedure (through the sheath vs. additional venous or arterial access). The current Cath Lab armamentarium is wide in terms of stents and balloons, and operators have to choose the type stent (different brands that have different sizes, metal alloys, pre- vs. unmounted, and open vs. closed cell, balloon and also sheath and guidewire. These choices are mostly based on personal and institutional experience, and many are not guided on evidence-based medicine.

1.8.5.3. Acute Results

Numerous publications reported that stent implantation for CoA is acutely safe and effective, for both in native and reCoA.¹⁵⁷⁻¹⁶⁹ The success of the procedure is achieved in 95-99% and most patients have a very good angiographic and hemodynamic result, with a final gradient ≤ 5 mm Hg. The mortality rate is 0-1.4% and the adverse event rate of 0-7.3%. The largest study to date reported the acute results of coarctation stenting (52% native) in 555 consecutive patients from 17 institutions.¹⁶⁸ The median balloon to coarctation ratio was 2 (1.1–18). A successful procedure (defined as a final gradient < 20 mm Hg or increase in post stent coarctation to descending aorta ratio (CoA:DAo) of > 0.8 was achieved in 97.9%. There were two procedure-related deaths, and 14.3% of the procedures had complications, including 3.9% aortic wall lesions (intimal tears in eight, aortic wall dissection/rupture in nine, and aortic aneurysm in six), 2.3% injury to access vessels and 8.1% technical-related complications (stent migration, balloon rupture). The risk of aortic dissection increased significantly in patients over the age of 40 years. More recently, the Coarctation of the Aorta Stent Trial (COAST), a prospective, multi-center, single-arm clinical study involving 19 pediatric cardiology centers in the United States reported their acute results of CoA bare-metal stenting (57% native CoA).¹⁶⁹ All procedures started with simple BD and if the balloon waist was less than 80% of the maximum balloon diameter, the aorta was labeled noncompliant and the patients ineligible for inclusion in the trial. Stent implantation diameter did not exceed 1.4 times the diameter of the balloon waist during compliance testing and was not greater than 1.1 times the lesser diameter of the distal transverse arch or the descending aorta at the level of the diaphragm. All patients achieved successful stent implantation (final gradient < 20 mm Hg and CoA:DAo 0.84 ± 0.18). There were no deaths and 7% adverse events (aortic aneurysms in 4, localized dissection in 1, stent migration in 1, injury to access vessels in 2). Covered stents were first described to treat aortic wall complications,^{170, 171} but have since been used prophylactically in selected cases, to prevent the occurrence of such complications.¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁵

1.8.5.4. Mid-term Results

There are a few mid-term results,^{158, 161, 164-167, 176} and the long-term implications of stent placement in the aorta are mostly unknown.¹⁷⁷ CCISC reported the mid- (3-18 months, 124 patients) and long-term (> 18-60 months, 46 patients) results of their 34-center cohort.¹⁷⁷ Procedural success (defined as arm-to-leg systolic gradient < 20 mm Hg, lack of significant recurrent obstruction, and freedom from unplanned repeat intervention) evolved from 96% after the procedure, to 86% in the intermediate follow-up and 77% in the long-term followup. Advanced integrated imaging including CT scan, CMR, or catheterization, showed that 20% had reCoA and 1% had aortic wall complications, which were associated with balloon: coarctation ratio of > 4 and performance of pre-stent BD. Other adverse events occurred mainly acutely and included technical complications such as stent malposition. A significant number of the interventions (64%) were elective staged procedures. However, unplanned repeat interventions were required in 4%, due to intimal hyperplasia, stent re-stenosis, fracture, and arterial wall complications. The prospective COAST study also reported their mid-term (12- and 24-month) results: 11% had reCoA in the context of planned staged dilation or somatic growth and required stent re-dilation; some degree of stent fracture was observed in 22% but with no embolization, loss of stent integrity or necessity for reintervention; and 4% had de novo aneurysm, rarely requiring re-intervention. The overall re-intervention rate in this cohort was 14%.

1.8.6. *Decision Making*

There are no randomized, prospective trials comparing the results of balloon angioplasty, surgery, and stent placement for the treatment of CoA. A Cochrane Collaboration[®] review was deemed impossible due to a lack of randomized controlled trials comparing CoA treatments and highlighted the need for prospective randomized controlled clinical trial with an emphasis on primary outcomes such as quality of life and long-term survival. The current treatment decisions are based on mostly retrospective single-treatment and a few retrospective comparison studies and metanalysis, that have selection bias concerning anatomy, age at repair, personal, and institutional preference.^{178, 179} Therefore, there remains controversy and uncertainty about the best treatment modality in coarctation of the aorta.

1.8.6.1. Native CoA in the Neonate and Young Infant

In these patients, with weight usually < 10 Kg, stent treatment is not technically feasible in most, due to the size of the aorta and access vessels and is only considered as a palliative approach in exceptional circumstances. Most studies that reported a comparison between BD

and surgery in this age group showed that the acute outcomes are not significantly different, but surgery is associated with fewer re-interventions and aortic aneurysm formation than BD.^{178, 180-184} Only a recent, retrospective comparison (92 patients) of BD vs. surgical repair for short-segment coarctation, found no difference in the acute and mid-term outcome.¹⁸⁵ Surgical repair is considered by most to be the best approach for these age groups, and BD should be reserved as a palliative strategy in high-risk patients to stabilize their condition prior to definitive correction.^{178, 180, 183} Many cohort studies over 35 years comparing surgical techniques favor the choice of aortic resection and end-to-end anastomosis,¹⁸⁶⁻¹⁹¹ when possible, but few large cohorts still advocate the use of subclavian flap as a reliable and straightforward approach, particularly in cases with a long hypoplastic isthmus.^{192, 193} Arch hypoplasia is probably best dealt by extended end-to-end technique, and extreme cases will best be treated under cardiopulmonary bypass, through a sternotomy.

1.8.6.2. Native CoA in the Older infant and Young Children

In these patients, with weight comprised between 10 and 25 Kg, the aorta's small size still constitutes a technical limitation for stent implantation, and the two viable treatment options remain BD and surgery. There are few direct comparison studies of surgery vs. BD in these ages. One interesting prospective, randomized, small single-center trial compared BD and surgery for native CoA. The acute,¹⁹⁴ and long-term¹⁹⁵ results showed no difference in gradient reduction and reCoA, but the incidence of aortic wall injury (35% vs. 0%) and need for re-intervention (50% vs. 13%) were significantly higher with BD vs. surgery. Two small, single center retrospective studies showed similar results between BD and surgery, but the former had a higher incidence of re-CoA and need for re-intervention.^{183, 184} The available comparative studies favor the surgical approach vs. BD, but a review of studies, taking into consideration the favorable BD individual series results,¹⁹⁶ consider this technique as a primary option in this age group, which is regarded as a reasonable option in patients beyond 4 to 6 months of age (Class, *Level of Evidence*: C).¹⁹⁷

1.8.6.3. Native CoA in Older Children, Adolescents and Young Adults.

In patients with weight > 25 Kg, all three treatment modalities are technically feasible. There are a few studies that compare treatment modalities, but all^{135, 183, 186, 198-200} except one compare only two of the three techniques. A clinical, randomized, 5-center trial with 58 pediatric patients comparing surgery and BD showed no acute differences but a higher reCoA rate in the BD group in the short-term follow-up.¹⁸⁶ One multicenter retrospective study (80 patients, four centers)¹⁸³ compared the three treatments acute and mid-term results and found similar

LOVE-COARCT Study

effectiveness in acute gradient relief and again that BD was associated with a higher rate of re-intervention and aneurysm formation.¹³⁵ Smaller single center studies comparing the three modalities (9 patients),¹⁸³ surgery vs. stent (28 patients),¹⁹⁸ and surgery vs. BD (46 patients),¹⁹⁹ found no difference in acute outcome, re-intervention, and incidence of aneurysm.

The largest and most significant study is based on the Congenital Cardiovascular Interventional Study Consortium (CCISC) prospective registry, started in 2005 as an attempt to answer the lack comparative data for the three treatment modalities, for patients \geq 10Kg. Their results comparing the treatment outcomes for native CoA were initially published in 2011¹³⁰ and recently updated (BD 85 patients, stent 422 patients, surgery 102 patients; mean f/u 36 months; 18-92).¹³⁷ The three techniques did not differ in the acute and intermediate success in achieving an adequate resolution of the stenosis. However, the stent group has significantly fewer complications in the acute and intermediate follow-up, and the complications differed in nature: the stent group has more vascular and technical-related complications, the BD group has more aortic wall injuries and the surgical group has more severe post-operative HTN, atrial fibrillation, pleural effusion, neurological/spinal cord injury and vocal cord paralysis. In the intermediate follow-up, a sub-group that had advanced aortic imaging (CT scan, CMR or catheterization) demonstrated that BD (39%) had more aortic wall injury (dissection/ intimal tear or aneurysm) than surgery (10%) or stent (5%). In contrast to surgical patients, late aneurysm formation in BD and stent patients is rare and typically occurs within the first year after the transcatheter procedure,^{145, 168} and rarely requires treatment.

Despite the favorable acute BD results, only a minority of authors advocate its use as a first choice.¹⁴⁵ Its association with a higher rate of recurrent obstruction and aortic wall injury made the treatment choice in most centers for CoA to be between surgery or stent therapy.^{111, 154, 200-202} Regarding surgical technique, the requirement for tube graft interposition or patch augmentation of the coarctation segment increased significantly, particularly in long segment CoA and only 42% of the patients > 8 years of age, 25% of patients > 12 years of age, and none > 16 years of age were able to undergo end-to-end repair of their CoA segment.¹³⁰ The European guidelines make no specific treatment recommendations but assert that in many centers, stenting has become the treatment of first choice in adults of native CoA with appropriate anatomy¹⁰⁸ while the North American guidelines state that the choice between the treatment techniques should be a team decision based on a case-by-case, institutional, practitioner, and patient preference. (Class I; *Level of Evidence* B¹¹⁰ or C¹⁰⁹). Some authors advocate specific treatment techniques but, given the lack of strong data, the decision is

ultimately based on age and weight, anatomic details, practitioners and institutional results and patient's preference.

1.8.6.4. ReCoA

Despite the lack of prospective, randomized studies, the results and complications of percutaneous treatment for reCoA compare favorably with surgical therapy, and this is accepted as the preferred treatment for all reCoA. The only Class I (level of evidence C) indications in clinical practice guidelines regarding CoA treatment are to indicate that it is reasonable to use percutaneous therapy for reCoA in children¹⁹⁷ and adults.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ There are no studies comparing surgical vs. transcatheter approaches, and these recommendations are based in evidence that shows that mortality for surgical reoperation is higher than for primary repair (1 to 3 % versus 1%) and can be as high as 5–10% if there are significant comorbidities or LV dysfunction.¹¹¹ The choice between BD and stent is based on the same considerations made for native CoA.

1.9. Follow Up

1.9.1. *Morbidity and Mortality*

Currently available surgical and percutaneous techniques are equally effective at eliminating the gradient across the aortic isthmus in CoA patients.^{130, 137, 154} However, even after a good anatomical result, patients remain to have late morbidity with high rates of late systemic HTN detected during routine office visits (12-65%),^{130, 154, 166, 177, 203-215} at peak exercise (10-47%),^{211-213, 216, 217} or during ABPM (30-59%).^{72, 75, 213, 216-225} A recent study highlighted that mild aortic arch hypoplasia, a common finding in treated CoA patients usually considered benign in the absence of reCoA, is associated with office and exercise-induced HTN.²²⁶ Elevated BP has long been recognized as an indicator of disease and contributes to the suboptimal long-term prognosis. There is a worldwide consensus on the need to identify and treat people with HTN before vascular or cardiac damage occurs. The abnormal BP profile may contribute to the suboptimal long-term prognosis successfully observed in repaired CoA patients.

The increased pressure afterload after repair has been shown to increase LV mass, both by echocardiogram^{217, 221, 227-232} and CMR,^{75, 231, 233-236} which may explain the normal or increased LV systolic function based on M-Mode or 2 Dimensional echocardiography,^{221, 237-241} but not

accurately reflect myocardial performance. Recent studies, including tissue Doppler, speckle tracking and strain imaging show abnormal regional fiber shortening,^{225, 229, 230, 232, 234, 235, 238, 242-246} and diastolic dysfunction.^{230, 232, 238, 244, 247, 248} According to a recent study, a combination of clinical assessment and CMR is the most cost-effective approach to long-term surveillance of patients with repaired CoA.²⁴⁹

Treated patients with no clinically significant gradient have reduced life expectancy, mostly due to cardiovascular complications (such as coronary heart disease, sudden cardiac death, end-stage heart failure, and rupture of aortic aneurysms),^{207, 250-253} and stroke (reported to be seen up to 13 times more frequently in patients with coarctation).^{254, 255}

1.9.2. Pregnancy

Pregnancy is usually well tolerated in treated patients with no residual stenosis, aortic wall aneurysms and none or well controlled HTN.²⁵⁶⁻²⁵⁸ The presence of HTN before pregnancy should prompt close monitoring of the BP, avoiding medication that is known to be teratogenic such as angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers.²⁵⁹ A recent review of pregnancy outcomes in women with CoA (50 patients; 38% with hemodynamically significant coarctation; 118 pregnancies) reported one maternal death (due to aortic dissection in a Turner syndrome patient), 9% of miscarriages and 3% premature deliveries; the neonates had CHD in 4%, and there was one neonatal death; 30% had HTN during their pregnancy, and related to the presence of significant isthmic stenosis.²⁵⁷ Therefore, timely treatment of reCoA and aneurysms is vital to ensure a safe pregnancy.

2. VASCULAR FUNCTION

2.1. Introduction

CVD represents the visible ending of a pathophysiological process called the cardiovascular continuum.^{260, 261} This starts with many risk factors and progresses through numerous physiological pathways and processes to the development of end-stage heart disease. Several large studies from previous decades have identified what are now known as the traditional risk factors for CVD: age, gender, dyslipidemia, HTN, diabetes, smoking, obesity and family history (**Fig. 12**):

II. BACKGROUND



Fig. 12. The cardiovascular disease continuum. (Reprinted from Dzau et al,²⁶² with permission from Elsevier).

It is interesting that the first studies on high BP were based on recordings of the shape of the arterial pulse wave obtained with a sphygmograph, a mechanical device invented in the mid-XIX century by the German physiologist Karl von Vierordt.²⁶³ It was only in the early XX century that the sphygmomanometer, a device that measures the BP, gained popularity as the most common approach to measure BP. In recent years, the analysis of the arterial pulse waveform regained popularity and, together with many other measurements that reflect the function of the arteries, have been grouped and are now known as indices of vascular function. These biomarkers reflect the biomechanical properties of the vascular wall and circulating biomarkers (vasoactive mediators, inflammatory responses, and vascular remodeling modulators that affect the biomolecular arterial response) and act together in a cascade of events that culminates in end-organ pathology. Man studies showed a clear association between increased arterial stiffness and risk of major cardiovascular events.²⁶⁴

The interest of vascular function to researchers and clinicians is depicted in **Fig. 13**, that shows the significant increase in publications that occurred in the XXI century that report arterial stiffness:



Fig. 13. The frequency of 'arterial stiffness' in the title PubMed publications. (reprinted from Townsend¹ with permission from Karger Publications)

2.2. The function of Arteries

The function of the systemic arterial system is to deliver blood at high pressure and in a continuous stream to peripheral vascular beds, and can be simplistically divided into three regions:²⁶⁵ large arteries serve predominantly as a cushioning reservoir that stores blood during systole and expels it during diastole; muscular arteries act predominantly as conduits that distribute blood to the organs and actively modify wave propagation by changing its smooth muscle tone and diameter; and arterioles change their caliber and control peripheral resistance and affect mean arterial pressure.

Changes in the properties of large elastic arteries make them stiffer and is called arteriosclerosis (derived from the Greek word sclerosis which means hardening) and modifications in the small muscular arteries properties lead to abnormal vascular reactivity. All these biomarkers can be objectively measured and evaluated as indicators of this pathological process.

2.3. Indices of Vascular Function

The publication of the 2006 European consensus document on arterial stiffness²⁶⁶ and the 2015 American Heart Association scientific statement on arterial stiffness measurements²⁶⁷ have guided researchers and clinicians in the choice of methods, standardization of measurement and appraisal of results of vascular function. Most of the indices of vascular function are standardized for adults, however, measuring them in children is feasible but presents some age-related challenges and limitations, such as heart rate and body habitus.²⁶⁸

2.3.1. Arterial Stiffness

Arterial stiffness refers to the biomechanical properties of the arterial wall, which, in turn, affect the way pressure, blood flow, and arterial diameter change with each heartbeat. Arterial stiffness reflects the vessel resistance to deformation. A complete list of arterial indices of arterial stiffness can be found in **Table 2**.

2.3.1.1. Pulse Wave Velocity

Arterial stiffness is most often determined by measuring the velocity of pulse-wave travel in a segment of the vessel, where a higher pulse wave velocity (PWV) signifies increased aortic stiffness.²⁶⁹ The arterial wall fiber elements are stretched and recoil with each ventricular contraction, and an arterial stiffening will increase the velocity of blood.

PWV can be measured in many segments of the arterial tree.^{266, 267} However, **carotid-femoral PWV (cfPWV)** is the one that has been extensively validated in large studies as an independent predictor of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.^{266, 267, 270-275} cfPWV is considered the gold standard of arterial stiffness but PWV measured in other arterial segments also possesses research and clinical interest.^{266, 267}

There are several methods to undertake PWV measurements, namely: (a) devices that use a probe or tonometer to record the pulse wave with a transducer;²⁷⁶ devices using cuffs placed around the limbs or the neck that record arrival of the pulse wave oscillometrically;²⁷⁷ ultrasonography approaches;²⁷⁸ and CMR-based approaches.²⁷⁹ Any of these allow the measurement of the time delay or transit time (T) between the feet of the carotid artery and femoral artery waveforms. The distance (D) between the two sites is then measured. This measurement should be done precisely and in a standardized fashion, since it may introduce a human error that affects the results. Several ways have been used to estimate the distance between the two sites, but both

LOVE-COARCT Study

the European consensus document²⁶⁶ and the American Heart Association scientific statement²⁶⁷ recommend measuring the suprasternal notch to the carotid pulsation site, and the suprasternal notch to the femoral pulsation site, and then subtracting the carotid from the femoral distance. PWV is calculated as PWV = D (meters) / T (seconds). (**Fig. 14**)





PWV is influenced by the mean arterial pressure and therefore its measurement requires the patient to lie supine in a quiet and stable environment for at least 10-15 minutes to ensure hemodynamic stability and eviction of alcohol, smoking, caffeine-containing food and drinks or bouts of vigorous exercise, ideally for 12 hours. HR exerts a minimal influence on PWV in the lower range of mean pressure values and only a small but significant effect in higher values.²⁸⁰ There are reference values published for cfPWV in both children²⁸¹ and adults.²⁸²⁻²⁸⁴ Because of distinct measurement approaches, it should be emphasized that these values are applicable predominantly to measurements performed with the same methodologies.

2.3.1.2. Local Elastic Properties of the Arterial Wall

There are a host of indices that have been introduced to assess the elasticity of the aortic wall, by measuring changes in vessel diameter as a response to changes in pressure and

include aortic **strain** (relative change in diameter), **compliance** (absolute change in diameter in response to a change in pressure), **distensibility** (relative change in diameter in response to a change in pressure), and the **aortic stiffness** β **index** (distensibility using the logarithmic conversion of the relative pressure). These indices are measurements of local elastic properties of the arterial wall, and not measurements of regional stiffness such as PWV (**Table 2**):

Table 2. Indices of arterial stiffness

Term	Definition	Methods of measurement
Elastic modulus**	The pressure change required for theoretical 100% stretch from resting diameter (Δ <i>P</i> X <i>D</i>)/Δ <i>D</i> (mmHg)	Ultrasound* MIRI
Young's modulus**	Elastic modulus per unit area (ΔΡΧD)/(ΔDXh) (mmHg/cm)	Ultrasound* MRI
Arterial distensibility**	Relative change in diameter (or area) for a given pressure change; inverse of elastic modulus $(\Delta D)/(\Delta PXD)$ (mmHg ⁻¹)	Ultrasound* MRI
Arterial compliance**	Absolute diameter (or area) change for a given pressure step $\Delta D/\Delta P$ (cm/mmHg) (or cm ² /mmHg)	Ultrasound* MRI
Pulse wave velocity	Velocity of travel of the pulse along a length of artery Distance/ Δt (cm/s)	Pressure waveform* Volume waveform Ultrasound MRI
Augmentation index	The difference between the second and first systolic peaks as a percentage of pulse pressure	Pressure waveform*
Stiffness index (β)**	Ratio of In (systolic/diastolic pressures) to (relative change in diameter) $\beta = \frac{\ln (P_s/P_d)}{(D_s - D_d)/D_d}$	Ultrasound*
Capacitative compliance	Relationship between pressure change and volume change in the arteries during the exponential component of diastolic pressure decay $\Delta V / \Delta P$ (cm ³ /mmHg)	Pressure waveform*
Oscillatory compliance	Relationship between oscillating pressure change and oscillating volume change around the exponential pressure decay during diastole $\Delta V / \Delta P$ (cm ³ /mmHg)	Pressure waveform*

D = diameter; d = diastolic; P = pressure; t = time; s = systolic; v = velocity; V = volume. * Most common method of measurement; ** Also requires pressure measurements (Reproduced from Mackensie et al.²⁸⁵ with permission from Oxford University Press)

An advantage of these indices is that the local arterial stiffness is directly determined, from the change in pressure driving the change in volume. However, because it requires a high degree of technical expertise and takes longer than measuring PWV, they are mostly used for research purposes instead of epidemiological studies or daily clinical work. In a recent review of published studies, it was noted that several of these indices are biomarkers of CVD, but in 8 out of 11 studies at least one of the arterial parameters listed had no relationship with outcome.²⁶⁷

The imaging of the artery dimensions can be done with ultrasound and more recently with magnetic resonance imaging. Ideally, the distending pressures should be measured invasively in the same point as the dimensions were obtained, but this is often not possible, and the pressures are usually obtained non-invasively by cuff measurement.

2.3.2. Central Pulse Wave Analysis

The afterload imposed on the LV is determined by the arterial stiffness, arteriolar caliber and wave reflection morphology of the arterial tree.²⁸⁶ No single index represents ventricular afterload. **Central aortic pressure** (CAP) and **PP** are two variables that express elements of this arterial afterload.²⁶⁷ Reflected pressure waves arriving in the ascending aorta are quantified by the augmentation index (**Alx**), which is the ratio of the amplitude of the reflected wave and the PP (**Fig. 15**):





II. BACKGROUND

Normal peripheral pulse amplification means that brachial pressure should not be confused with central SBP and PP.²⁶⁶ CAP is physiologically more relevant and better related to future cardiovascular events than brachial pressure.²⁸⁷ Despite being more operator-dependent than PWV, the analysis of the central BP and waveform are well documented as important clinical tools for monitoring of vascular function and has an independent predictive value for CV events.²⁶⁷ A recent meta-analysis of 11 longitudinal studies showed a significant increase of total CV events with a 10 mm Hg rise in CAP (1.1 relative risk), PP (1.2 relative risk) and AIx (1.3 relative risk).²⁶⁴ Despite this, AIx should not be considered an absolute surrogate marker of arterial stiffness.²⁶⁷ It is true that a stiffer vasculature has a higher PWV and results in reflected waves arriving earlier in systole that produces a higher AIx. However, the degree of augmentation is also related to the intensity of peripheral wave reflection, which depends on associated hemodynamic confounders and it is highly sensitive to HR.²⁸⁸ For this reason, AIx is also commonly normalized for a HR of 75 beats per minute, to allow comparison between patients (**AIx@75**). This is particularly important in children, who

CAP is obtained invasively with cardiac catheterization. However, several non-invasive methods have been developed to estimate CAP and waveform. These include pulse waveform recordings from sites distal to the aorta, such as the carotid, radial or brachial arteries. There is a lack of consensus regarding the optimal method to estimate the CAP curve using tonometry and each has its strengths and weaknesses. The brachial and radial artery derive the CAP using a general transfer function, which has not been validated in children. Carotid pressure is most often used as the surrogate for CAP because of the close proximity of these two arterial sites.²⁸⁹ Carotid pressure waveforms are recorded by applanation tonometry and then calibrated to the brachial mean and diastolic pressures obtained by sphygmomanometry, based on the principle that - unlike systolic pressure mean and diastolic pressure do not vary markedly throughout the arterial tree.²⁶⁷

2.3.3. Endothelial Function

Vascular endothelium is the largest organ in the body and plays a major role in the homeostasis of the vascular tone, inflammation, and thrombosis. Endothelial function results from the balance between vasodilators and vasoconstrictors produced by (or acting on) endothelial cells. Nitric oxide (NO) is produced in the endothelium from L-arginine by the enzyme endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS). NO has a very short half-life, and it is continually produced as a signaling mechanism to the arterial wall, serving to inhibit the

LOVE-COARCT Study

adhesion of platelets and leukocytes to the vessel wall and to relax the smooth muscle cells to maintain vascular patency and distensibility.^{290, 291} The production of NO is stimulated by flow shear stress exerted directly on the vessel endothelium²⁹²⁻²⁹⁴ and receptordependent agonists such as bradykinin, acetylcholine and adenosine triphosphate.²⁹¹ In the smooth cells, NO activates the enzyme guanyl cyclase, which produces cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) that results in smooth muscle cells relaxation and vasodilation.²⁹⁰

Endothelial dysfunction occurs when there is impairment of the endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation caused by a decline of NO bioavailability. Several human studies have shown that traditional risk factors for atherosclerosis such as HTN, diabetes, cigarette smoking, and heart failure predispose to endothelial dysfunction.²⁹⁵

Endothelial dysfunction can result from decreased NO production but is largely due to increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide that occur in the context of oxidant stress, which will accelerate NO degradation and decrease its bioavailability.^{295, 296} A growing body of evidence suggests that endothelial dysfunction is associated with cardiovascular events and that it has prognostic implications in patients with established stable coronary artery disease, essential HTN, and in patients with acute coronary syndromes and peripheral artery disease.²⁹⁷

There are several methods to quantify endothelial function (**Table 3**):

Table 3. Methods to measure endothelial function.

Technique (Outcome measure)	Noinvasive	Repeatable	Reproducible*	Reflects Biology	Reversible	Predicts Outcome†
Cardiac catheterization (change in diameter, change in coronary blood flow)	-	-	+/	+	+	+
Venous occlusion plethysmography (change in forearm blood flow)	-	+/-	+/	+	+	+
Ultrasound FMD (change in brachial artery diameter)	+	+	+/	+	+	+‡
PWA (change in augmentation index)	+	+	+/	+	-	-
PCA (change in refletive index)	+	+	+/	+	-	-
PAT (change in pulse amplitude)	+	+	+/	+	_	-

+ indicates supportive evidence in literature; – insufficient evidence; FMD - flow-mediated dilatation; PWA - pulse wave analysis; PCA - pulse contour analysis; and PAt - pulse amplitude tonometry.

*Reproducibility or PWA, PCA, and PAT has been less extensively investigated than FMD.

⁺Studies that link PWA, PCA, and PAT to outcome have not yet been reported.

‡FMD is currently the standart for noninvasive assessment of conduit artery endothelial function because there is considerable clinical trial experience, validation, a firm link to biology, and association with cardiovascular events.

Reprinted from Deanfield et al,²⁹⁸ with permission from Wolters Kluwer Health

Endothelial dysfunction can be assessed invasively by intracoronary injection of agonists of endothelium-dependent vasodilator acetylcholine²⁹⁹ and brachial artery catheterization with venous occlusion plethysmography. In 1992, Celermajer was the first to report the use of a non-invasive ultrasound test, flow-mediated dilation (FMD), to assess vascular function in the brachial artery.³⁰⁰ Since then, several additional non-invasive modalities have been described to assess vascular endothelial function, such as pulse wave analysis, pulse contour analysis, digital thermal monitoring, and peripheral artery tonometry.³⁰¹ Finger pulse amplitude tonometry (Endo-PAT)³⁰² has emerged as a promising technique because it is a simple method, in contrast to the more cumbersome FMD (**Fig. 16**):

LOVE-COARCT Study





It requires insertion of one finger of each hand in peripheral tonometers and inflation of a cuff in the arm to achieve a 5-minute occlusion on one arm while the contralateral arm serves as control. The probe measures the reactive hyperemia index (RHI) that ensues after cuff deflation by measuring the increase in pulse amplitude and comparing it with the contralateral finger. Endothelial function measured by Endo-PAT can be easily performed with high reproducibility in the ambulatory clinical setting,^{304, 305} has been validated as a surrogate for coronary endothelial function,³⁰³ and is a risk factor for CVD.^{303, 306, 307}

2.3.4. Circulating Biomarkers

There are many biochemical and molecular processes involved in vascular dysfunction. There is a growing research interest in these circulating biomarkers pathways, which constitute possible 'active' mechanisms that lead to increased arterial stiffness. Our understanding is growing but still limited.
2.3.4.1. Endothelial Function

NO is a key modulator of endothelium-dependent vasodilation, but it's rapid metabolism, and short half-life poses a considerable obstacle for the analytical assessment. However, several biochemical mediators of the NO pathway can be measured. These include L-arginine (NO's precursor), endothelial NO synthase (eNOS; NO's enzyme), asymmetric dimetilarginine (ADMA; NO's inhibitor),³⁰⁸ and nitrite and nitrate (NOx, stable by-product of NO). Endothelial dysfunction leads to decreased l-arginine and increases in all other metabolites of the NO pathway.

2.3.4.2. Inflammation

Systemic and local inflammation is an important key in the process of atherosclerosis and vascular dysfunction.³⁰⁹

Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-1 beta (IL-1β), interleukin-6 (IL-6), and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-α) trigger the production systemic inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein.³¹⁰ A large body of literature shows that high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) may help to estimate risk for initial cardiovascular events and may be used most effectively in people at intermediate risk for vascular events, offering moderate improvement in reclassification of cardiovascular risk.³¹¹⁻³¹³ hs-CRP is associated with other biomarkers of vascular dysfunction such as PWV.³¹⁴ Studies also show that the inflammatory cytokines may also be also markers and predictors of CVD.³¹⁵

The pro-inflammatory cytokines also act on vascular endothelium to up-regulate the expression of several adhesion molecules such as selectins, vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM-1), intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) and other adhesion molecules such of the selectin family, that play a crucial role in atherogenesis, since these are the receptors who mediate the cell adhesion and migration that triggers atherogenesis.³⁰⁹

2.3.4.3. Vascular Remodeling

Another critical area of understanding is the molecular mechanisms of aortic wall remodeling to hemodynamic changes. These include the role of transforming growth factor beta-1 (TGF- β 1), a smooth cell growth-modulating factor, that is involved in the arterial wall response to HTN,³¹⁶ and has been suggested as having a prognostic value regarding the degree of dilation of the aorta in Marfan syndrome³¹⁷ and other dilatative pathology of ascending aorta.³¹⁸ Another aspect is the role of the matrix metalloproteases such as MMP-2

and MMP-9, a family of proteolytic enzymes responsible for protein degradation and vascular remodeling,³¹⁹ and are well documented biomarkers for the presence and risk of rupture of aortic aneurysm.³²⁰

2.3.5. Ventriculo-Arterial Coupling

The cardiovascular physiology concept of the ventricle and the arteries functioning as a coupled system is not recent,³²¹ is called ventriculo-arterial coupling,³²² and has been the focus of recent attention.³²³An optimal ventriculo-arterial coupling occurs when the highest energy is transferred from the LV to the aorta with a minimum amount of energy wasted to overcome resistance to ejection and blood flow. Long standing arterial stiffness leads to LV hypertrophy and stiffness, and an altered ventriculo-arterial coupling. In such circumstances, heart and arteries interact in a complex interplay to limit the cardiovascular performance and generate symptoms.^{324, 325} Earlier analysis were based on detailed invasive instantaneous measurements that were used to plot pressure-flow curves. Recently, the ventriculo-arterial stiffness assessment can be done with echocardiography or CMR, by measuring the LV contractility (representing the slope of the end-systolic pressure-volume relation, the end-systolic elastance, Ees), the arterial vascular load as the ratio of ventricular end-systolic pressure to stroke volume (elastance of the arterial system, Ea), and the relationship between Ea/ Ees.³²⁶

3. VASCULAR DYSFUNCTION IN COA

3.1. Treatment Does Not Equal Cure

Currently available surgical and percutaneous techniques are equally effective at eliminating the gradient across the aortic isthmus in CoA patients,^{130, 154} (except in infants and young children, in whom surgery is preferred). However, even after a good anatomical result, patients remain to have late morbidity with high rates of late systemic HTN detected during routine office visits (12-65%),^{130, 154, 166, 177, 203-215} at peak exercise (10-47%),^{210-217, 220, 327-332} or during ABPM (30-59%).^{72, 75, 213, 216-225} Patients show signs of premature atherosclerotic lesions in the retina,³³³ internal mammary or coronary arteries.³³⁴

Furthermore, treated patients have reduced life expectancy (**Fig. 17**), mostly due to cardiovascular complications^{187, 250-253, 335-341} and stroke,²⁵⁵ reported to be seen up to 13 times more frequently in patients with coarctation, compared to the general population.²⁵⁴



Fig. 17. Single-center follow-up of 819 patients for over 60 years. (*reprinted from Brown et al*,²⁰⁷ *with permission from Elsevier*)

A metanalysis showed that CoA had the highest incidence of all CHD of long-term vascular complications such as 3.2% with stroke or transient ischemic attack and 5.1% with myocardial infarction.³⁴² The most recent study still showed a late mortality of 5.7% at a median f/u after treatment of 31.4 years (range 14.1–39.9 years) corresponding to a lethality of 0.3% per year and estimated survival rates of 97%, 94%, 91% and 80% at 10, 20, 30 and 39 years after repair.³⁴³ Consequently, CoA should be regarded as a complex and systemic cardiovascular syndrome involving the aorta that may not be "cured" after relief of the localized mechanical obstruction. In light of the suboptimal long-term outcomes, an editorial has recently questioned if we need to redefine the current definition of successful treatment of aortic coarctation as a gradient < 20 mm Hg.³⁴⁴

3.2. Vascular Dysfunction is Common after CoA Treatment

The amply documented abnormal resting and exercise-induced BP profile suggest that vascular dysfunction may contribute to the suboptimal long-term prognosis successfully observed in repaired CoA patients. Indeed, it has long been recognized that successfully repaired CoA patients show abnormal vascular function.

LOVE-COARCT Study

Patients show increased arterial stiffness, with higher PWV,^{72, 233, 244, 345-349} and altered compliance, distensibility, or the elastic wall modulus.^{228, 229, 233, 235, 242, 244, 350-356} Concerning intima media-thickness, a measure of the presence and extent of arterial atherosclerosis, there have been conflicting results as to whether it is improved^{217, 230, 244, 350, 351, 354} or not^{347, 348, 357, 358} after CoA repair.

Most studies have shown compromised arterial reactivity,^{217, 224, 328, 345, 347, 348, 350, 359-361} while a minority failed to demonstrate impaired reactivity in retinal,³³³ peripheral^{362, 363} or coronary³⁶³ arteries of repaired CoA patients when compared to controls. Repaired CoA patients show altered pulse waveforms with higher AIx,^{224, 348, 364} PP,^{75, 358} and CAP.^{348, 358, 364}

There is imbalance of numerous biomarkers of vascular function, namely of the NO-mediated endothelial function, ^{347, 365, 366} systemic and local inflammation, ^{349, 360, 364, 367} and of the vascular wall function^{349, 360, 364, 368}

Finally, the increased BP phenotype and vascular function contribute to the increase LV mass,^{75, 217, 221, 227-236} impaired LV segmental systolic^{225, 229, 230, 232, 234, 235, 238, 242-246} or diastolic dysfunction.^{230, 232, 238, 244, 247, 248} Studies have also shown ambivalent results regarding the ventriculo-arterial coupling in CoA: some have shown that there is altered ventriculo-arterial coupling in patients with repaired CoA,^{234, 244} while others did not find that the presence of HTN affected the ventriculo-arterial coupling.³⁶⁹ The abnormal ventriculo-arterial stiffness may contribute to further HTN in repaired CoA.²¹⁸

3.3. Inherent Pre-Treatment Features May Contribute to Vascular Dysfunction

The damage to the vascular wall occurs before treatment, is present at birth,³⁵³ and persists despite neonatal treatment.³⁵² Inherent problems that may trigger this vascular dysfunction include genetic causes, changes in the arterial structure and function, impaired neuronal sensitivity or endocrinal auto-regulation.

The mechanical stimuli caused by an experimental CoA is responsible for the differential expression of genes associated with vascular function.⁶³⁻⁶⁵ Human studies also revealed such genetic polymorphisms in CoA patients.⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹ However, CoA patients do not show the most common genomic polymorphisms associated with essential HTN⁶⁷ or BP regulation during exercise,⁶⁸ thus suggesting a different ethiopathogenic mechanism.

Light and electron microscopy of pre-coarctation aorta surgical specimens showed histopathological changes including increased collagen and reduced smooth muscle content.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁷ Recent findings have demonstrated molecular mechanisms that elicit phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells, accumulation of excessive collagen and inborn impaired arterial elasticity in patients with CoA.³⁷⁰ The pattern of histopathological^{55, 57} or functional²³³ vascular changes localized in the ascending but not the descending aorta is also found in patients with BAV,⁵⁹ themselves present in half to two thirds of CoA patients.^{50, 252} Finally, some groups found that a gothic-shaped arch is associated with a worse BP profile.^{208, 350, 371-373}

The role of the RAA system is unclear in the high BP in CoA. Some studies provided evidence of the significance of increased RAA activity in patients with CoA,⁷⁰⁻⁷² while others did not.⁷³⁻⁷⁵ It may be that this neuroendocrine system is important in the early development but not in the maintenance of coarctation HTN.⁷⁶

The autonomic system and baroreceptor's function may be altered, including an enhanced sympathetic tone, reset of the baroreflex to a higher value and diminished sensitivity to changes in arterial pressure.^{77-79, 374} However, some evidence suggests that the neuronal mediation may be involved only in the pre-treatment HTN and then normalizes after repair.^{80, 81}

All the above suggest that CoA is not just a localized isthmic stenosis but also an inborn systemic vascular disease of the pre-CoA arteries.

3.4. Acquired and Treatment-Related Factors may also Contribute to Vascular Dysfunction

Age of repair is the best document treatment-related factor that affects vascular function.^{207,} ^{216, 227, 229, 230, 242, 345, 349, 356, 375-378} Length of follow-up,^{337, 343} and mild residual narrowing may also contribute to vascular dysfunction^{217, 379-381}

Medical management also impacts on vascular function, including studies that show the favorable impact of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors,³⁸² β -blockers,⁷³ and atorvastatin³⁸³ on endothelial function or vascular function biomarkers in patients with repaired CoA.

3.5. Treatment Modality may Affect Vascular Function

The hemodynamic impact of a focal vascular stiffness was shown five decades ago.³⁸⁴ Different types of treatment may have varying effects on the stiffness of the repaired arterial segment.¹⁵⁴ Surgical repair results in a focal scar in the site of the surgical anastomosis; stenting creates a short, rigid aortic segment; and BD produces a controlled tear of the aorta's intima and part of the media without affecting the adventitia. It is possible that different treatments translate into differences in vascular dysfunction. However, the effect of treatment modality on vascular function has not been systematically compared, and management is often guided by physician or institutional preference with the primary goal of alleviating the anatomic narrowing.

The largest (350 patients, 36 institutions), albeit observational and non-randomized, comparison between the three different modalities showed a significantly lower BP in patients treated with BD vs. those treated with a stent or surgery.¹³⁰ Similarly, another small retrospective study showed less frequent exercise-induced HTN in patients who underwent BD, compared with those who were treated with stent implantation or surgery.³⁷⁸ Among surgical techniques, those who undergo resection with end-to-end anastomosis have a lower prevalence of systemic HTN and arterial stiffness compared to other surgical techniques.³⁸⁵⁻³⁸⁷ Another small study demonstrated a lower carotid intima-media thickness in patients who had undergone subclavian flap repair compared to those who had stent implantation, but PWV was similar between groups.²³⁰ Conclusions drawn from these prior studies are hampered by methodological limitations, small sample size, heterogeneous population, and limited focus.

III. AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS

LOVE-COARCT Study

III. AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS

The current management paradigm of CoA is often guided by personal or institutional preference, with the primary goal of alleviating the stenosis by optimizing the anatomy. However, the suboptimal long-term outcomes in apparently successfully treated patients with CoA stresses the importance that further research is needed to improve the management of this common CHD. The evidence that (a) patients with treated CoA have long-term vascular dysfunction and the recognition that (b) vascular dysfunction leads to CV events in the general population motivated this study.

CoA may also be a useful physiological model of HTN that occurs exclusively in the upper body and lessons learned in this study may also contribute to the knowledge about the impact of segmental stiff arteries on BP and the pathophysiology of HTN in the general population.³⁸¹

There is a gap between clinical research and clinical practice has been well identified as one a critical challenge that requires addressing and fewer than half of all the medical treatments delivered today are supported by evidence.³⁸⁸ Furthermore, data shows that in the United States, only about half of the effective clinical practices are adopted.³⁸⁹ There are several challenges to clinical research, including cost, small incentives for physician participation, administrative and regulatory requirements, lack of clinically oriented institutions, diversity of clinical presentation of diseases and difficulty in recruitment and retention of patients. This is particularly true of CHD, that deals with rare diseases with a varied presentation, and especially in CoA patients, who feel mostly well and are seen in spaced clinical visits, despite having suboptimal long-term morbidity and mortality. LOVE-COARCT is an attempt to bridge this gap of knowledge, by exploring the causes of these late outcomes.

The aim of this study is to determine whether three different treatment modalities for CoA (surgery, BD, and stenting) are associated with differences in arterial stiffness. The central hypothesis of this study was that patients who have undergone successful BD will have better vascular function than patients who have undergone successful surgical repair or stenting since this modality is least likely to damage the integrity and biomechanical properties of the aortic wall.

1. PRIMARY AIM AND HYPOTHESIS

The primary aim of LOVE-COARCT's Study was to compare arterial stiffness assessed with carotid-femoral PWV (**cfPWV**) between BD, surgery and stent. We hypothesized that BD was superior to surgical repair and stenting in preserving vascular function measured by carotid-femoral PWV (**cfPWV**) after repair of CoA.

2. SECONDARY AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS

The secondary aims of LOVE-COARCT's Study were to use other well-established indices of vascular function to compare BD, surgery, and stent, namely:

- a. **Carotid-femoral PWV** measured with arterial tonometry and other segmental aortic PWV measured with CMR.
- b. **Indices of focal arterial stiffness measured with CMR:** aortic strain, distensibility, compliance and aortic stiffness β index.
- c. **Endothelial function** determined by endothelial pulse amplitude testing (Endo-PAT) and circulating biomarkers (NOx, ADMA).
- d. Central pulse wave analysis using arterial tonometry and Endo-PAT.
- e. **BP phenotype** at rest, during ambulatory measurement, and at peak exercise.
- f. Circulating Biomarkers of vascular function including high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) and interleukin 1 beta (IL-1β), local cytokines of vascular wall function (vascular adhesion molecule 1, VCAM-1) and vascular remodeling (matrix metalloproteases MMP-2 and MMP-9; and transforming growth factor beta-1, TGF-β1). NOx was determined by chemiluminescence (Sievers NOAnalyzer 280i), and all remaining measurements were performed with appropriate enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits
- g. LV mass and systolic function.
- h. Prevalence of ideal cardiovascular health (ICVH) in patients late after treatment of CoA overall and by treatment modality.

We hypothesized that BD was superior to surgical repair and stenting in preserving vascular function measured by other secondary indices of vascular function.

III. AIMS AND HYPOTHESIS

We have considered the alternative hypothesis, namely the possibility that the results of this study may not support our primary and secondary hypothesis. First, it is possible that no significant differences are seen in vascular function between the treatment groups. A second possibility is that either stenting or surgery results in less stiff arteries than BD. Both alternative scenarios would add important considerations to the literature and guide clinical practice for the choice of treatment modality.

LOVE-COARCT Study

IV. METHODS

LOVE-COARCT Study

1. STUDY OVERVIEW

LOVE-COARCT was a multicenter cross-sectional prospective observational study of patients with CoA previously treated using one of three treatment modalities to identify if treatment type is associated with differences in vascular function.

1.1. LOVE-COARCT Participant Centers

We assembled a multi-disciplinary group of investigators with established expertise in epidemiology, clinical trial design, CHD, non-invasive imaging, interventional cardiology, vascular function assessment, preventive cardiology and statistical analysis. The rationale for using a multicenter design was fourfold: (a) to ensure sufficient statistical power in evaluating our hypothesis; (b) recruiting at several high-volume pediatric cardiac centers allowed us to overcome anticipated recruitment challenges; (c) it helped mitigate the impact of center-specific preferences for particular treatment modalities, and (d) we were able to leverage the broad range of expertise available at the recruiting centers to help create Core Laboratories for each test.

There were seven recruiting centers in the LOVE-COARCT study, two from Portugal and five from the United States of America. Their choice was based on center quality, large volume, and availability for study participation:

- Department of Pediatric Cardiology, Hospital de Santa Marta CHLC, Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central, EPE, Lisbon, PORTUGAL (the dissertation author's center) (Centro de Referência para a área das Cardiopatias Congénitas em Portugal)
- Department of Cardiology, **Boston Children's Hospital**, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA
- Division of Pediatric Cardiology, **Texas Children's Hospital**, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, USA
- Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Department of Pediatrics, Lucile Packard Children's Hospital, Stanford University, Palo Alto, USA
- Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Children's Hospital Colorado, Aurora, USA
- Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Children's Hospital and Medical Center **University** of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA

• Pediatric Cardiology Department, **Hospital Pediátrico de Coimbra**, Coimbra, PORTUGAL (Centro de Referência para a área das Cardiopatias Congénitas em Portugal)

The LOVE-COARCT study was registered in the **Clinical Trial Registration** site (URL: <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov</u>) with the unique identifier NCT03262753

1.2. LOVE-COARCT Core Laboratories

To ensure data fidelity and minimize multicenter-derived errors, core laboratories (core labs) were established. This strategy allowed to leverage the broad range of expertise available at the recruiting centers. The core labs had the following tasks: (a) designing the formal Manual of Operations for the tests under its supervision, which was then strictly followed by all recruitment centers; (b) support data collection and provide counselling on procedural questions; (c) ensure quality control by reviewing all collected data; and (d) perform further data analysis, as per protocol. This was particularly true of the CMR core lab, where all CMR images were reviewed and further calculations were done. Here is the list of all core labs:

- Cardiac Magnetic Resonance Core Lab (responsible: Ashwin Prakash): Department of Cardiology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA
- **Preventive Cardiology Core Lab** (responsible: Sarah de Ferranti): Department of Cardiology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA
- **Biostatistics Core Lab** (Responsible: Kimberlee Gauvreau): Department of Cardiology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA
- Tonometry and BP Assessment Core Lab (Responsible: Justin Zachariah): Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Texas Children's Hospital, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, USA
- **Biomarkers Core Lab** (Responsible: Maria Guarino): CEDOC Chronic Diseases, Nova Medical School, Lisbon, PORTUGAL
- Endothelial Function Core Lab (Responsible: Elif Seda Selamet Tierney): Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Department of Pediatrics, Lucile Packard Children's Hospital, Stanford University, Palo Alto, USA

2. SELECTION CRITERIA

The medical records of potentially eligible patients were screened by a local study investigator using a pre-specified screening form to ensure that they satisfied our selection criteria.

2.1. Inclusion Criteria

We included patients with (a) diagnosis of isthmic CoA; (b) current age between 8 (to allow cooperation with study procedures, including EST test and non-sedated CMR) and 35 years (to avoid confounding by the age-related vascular dysfunction that ensues);³⁹⁰ (c) treatment for CoA after 1994 (after which all three modalities were in clinical use); and (d) treatment at least 6 months after enrollment (to allow completion of the healing and fibrosis associated with treatment) (**Table 4**):

Criteria	Definitions
СоА	Isolated, isthmic CoA
Current age 8-35 years	
Treatment for CoA after 1994	
Treatment > 6 months before enrollment	
CoA = coarctation of the aorta	

Table 4. LOVE-COARCT Inclusion Criteria

2.2. Exclusion Criteria

We excluded patients with (a) ReCoA defined by a systolic upper-to-lower extremity BP gradient > 20 mm Hg (which is a confounder since it impacts vascular function); (b) Co-morbidities that could independently affect vascular function, including associated significant CHD, history of known vasculopathy, genetic syndromes (such as Turner syndrome) or other cardiovascular risk factors; (c) History of two treatment types for CoA, or surgical techniques

other than the most commonly used end-to-end surgical anastomosis (to avoid confounding with other factors that may impact on the biomechanics of the isthmus); and (d) CoA types likely representing a different entity or patients amenable to one single treatment type (surgery), including atypical CoA site (such as mid-thoracic or abdominal), severe hypoplasia of the aortic arch, and an age of treatment < 1 year of age (which is a more severe disease subset that is essentially treated with only one of the three treatment types). The details of the exclusion criteria are shown in **Table 5**:

Criteria	Definitions
ReCoA	Systolic upper-to-lower extremity BP gradient> 20 mm Hg*
Atypical CoA	Mid-thoracic or abdominal CoA.
Severe transverse aortic arch hypoplasia	Transverse arch diameter z-score at initial echocardiogram <-4 [†]
Treatment of CoA at age <1y	
Clinically significant associated cardiac defects	Mitral stenosis (echocardiographic mean inflow Doppler gradient >6 mm Hg) aortic stenosis (echocardiographic mean Doppler gradient >20 mm Hg); ventricular septal defect (>3 mm in diameter); atrial septal defect (required surgical or percutaneous closure other than a patent foramen ovale); other cardiac lesions that required medical, surgical or interventional treatment
Use of two treatment modalities for CoA	This does not include BD and subsequent stent placement at the same catheterization procedure
History of known vasculopathy with vascular dysfunction	Examples: Kawasaki disease, Takayasu's arteritis, Raynaud's disease
Genetic syndromes with diffuse arteriopathy	Examples: Williams syndrome, juvenile rheumatoid arthritis
Known traditional cardiovascular risk factors	Severe obesity (body mass index >95% for age and sex in children and >40 Kg/m² for adults); diabetes (fasting plasma glucose ≥126mg/dl or random (non-fasting) glucose ≥200 mg/dl); hyperlipidemia (triglycerides ≥250 mg/dl; fasting LDL ≥190 mg/dl; HDL≤ 30 mg/dl, currently taking statins or first-degree relatives with familial hypercholesterolemia); smoking

Table 5. LOVE-COARCT exclusion criteria

BP = blood pressure; BD = balloon dilation; CoA = coarctation of the aorta; reCoA = residual coarctation of the aorta

2.3. Recruitment Challenges

Despite CoA being one of the most common congenital heart defects, we anticipated that recruitment for this study would be arduous due to three reasons. First, our focus on a comparison of treatment-associated vascular function outcome required restrictive inclusion and exclusion criteria and matching treatment groups for potential confounders. This meant establishing a lower treatment age limit of 1 year, therefore excluding a large majority of CoA patients, who present in infancy, and are almost always managed by surgery. We also used lower current age cutoff of 8 years to facilitate the completion of the study tests and a higher age limit of 35 years to avoid overlap with aging-related vascular dysfunction. Although treatment for CoA has been available for five decades, we would only include patients who had undergone treatment after 1994, after which all three treatment modalities became available. We would exclude patients who received treatment using more than one modality.

Second, recruitment could be challenging because treatment in our patient population occurred many years ago making loss to follow up more likely, especially when in asymptomatic patients without reCoA, as our enrollment criteria specified. And third, we anticipated that our one to two-day visit to the enrolling center could deter some patients to accept participate in the study for patients who feel mostly well and have spaced clinic visits.

3. OVERVIEW OF THE STUDY WORKFLOW

Study procedures occurred in a one- or two-day visit and were performed at each recruiting site, except for patients from Hospital Pediátrico de Coimbra, who were tested in Hospital de Santa Marta. All the CMR from both Portuguese centers were done in Caselas, Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, PORTUGAL (Responsible, Nuno Jalles, MD).

Upon arrival for testing, formal consent for participation were obtained. Assessment of arterial stiffness, endothelial function, and blood sampling for biomarkers was done while fasting. Cardiopulmonary stress test was performed on the same day. CMR and ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABMP) were arranged for the same or for the following day (**Fig. 18**). When the study tests could not be exceptionally completed on the first visit, they were completed within 3 months of the first visit.

LOVE-COARCT Study



Fig. 18. LOVE-COARCT study workflow. ABPM = ambulatory blood pressure monitoring; BP = blood pressure; CMR = cardiac magnetic resonance imaging; PWA = pulse wave analysis; PWV = pulse wave velocity; RHI = reactive hyperemia index.

4. RECRUITMENT

The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board or Institutional Ethics Committee at each participating center, and informed consent and assent were obtained, depending on age, from patients and their parents/legal guardians before trial enrollment. A retrospective review of the patient database at each participating institution was performed to assemble a cohort of patients with CoA who had previously undergone treatment with BD, surgery or stenting. The recruitment started in June 2013 and ended in March 2017. Study data were collected and managed using REDCap electronic data capture tools hosted at Boston Children's Hospital.³⁹¹

5. MEDICAL HISTORY

A retrospective chart review was performed to collect demographic and clinical data including severity of CoA, type and details of CoA treatment and presence of associated conditions. The main study variables from medical history are depicted in **Table 6**:

Variables	Comments or Definitions
Minimum transverse arch diameter Z-score on initial echo	Using published normative values ³⁹²
Isthmus z score on initial echo	Using published normative values ³⁹²
Initial Doppler CoA gradient	mm Hg
Bicuspid/Bicommisural Aortic Valve?	Yes/No
Initial arm-leg systolic BP gradient	mm Hg
BP = blood pressure: CoA = coarctation of the aorta	

Table 6. Medical history variables

6. STUDY PROCEDURES

6.1. Arterial Stiffness

6.1.1. Measurements

Carotid-femoral PWV (cfPWV) was measured using applanation tonometry. Segmental PWV was measured using CMR. Segmental measures of arterial distensibility were be measured using CMR. The full list of arterial stiffness variables are in **Table 7** and **Table 8**.

Table 7. Applanation tonometry variables

Variables	Units
Central systolic BP	mm Hg
Central PP	mm Hg
Carotid-femoral PWV	meters/second
Alx (%)	%
Alx@ 75	%

Alx = augmentation index; Alx@75 = augmentation indez at 75 beats per minute; BP = blood pressure; HR = heart rate, PP = pulse pressure; PWV = pulse wave velocity

Table 8. CMR variables

Variables	Formulas and units
LV mass indexed to BSA	g/m²
Ascending Ao- Descending Ao PWV (Ascending Ao to proximal, mid	meters/second
Type of arch	Romanesque; Gothic; Crenel
Diameter of ascending aorta, proximal and distal transverse arch,	mm; indexed to BSA
Aortic strain (Ascending, Proximal, Mid and Distal Ao)	
Aortic compliance (Ascending, Proximal, Mid and Distal Ao)	cm ² /mm Hg
Aortic Distensibility (Ascending, Proximal, Mid and Distal Ao)	mm Hg-1
Aortic beta stiffness index (Ascending, Proximal, Mid and Distal Ao)	

Ao = aorta; BSA = body surface area; LV = left ventricle; PWV = PWV

6.1.2. Manual of Operations for Tonometry

For applanation tonometry, some centers used the NIHem system (Cardiovascular Engineering, Inc., Norwood, MA USA) and others the SphygmoCor device (AtCor Medical, West Ryde, NSW, Australia). The technology is similar and the results comparable.²⁶⁷

The patient demographics and brachial BP were entered into the system. First, the tonometer was placed over the right carotid artery, just lateral to the thyroid cartilage. The location was adjusted, and pressure applied as needed to optimize waveform. After ensuring that the tracings are optimal, the tracing was recorded. The carotid site was marked. Then, the tonometer was placed over the right femoral artery, and the same process for obtaining an optimal curve recording was followed. The femoral site was marked. Finally, in the centers that used the SphygmoCor device, a third recording of the radial artery was performed, in the same fashion. A caliper was used to measure the distance from the suprasternal notch to the carotid site and from the suprasternal notch to the femoral site. Both distances were entered in the system.

For PWV and AIx calculation, both systems analyzed the curves and the data was supplied with the proprietary software package, without any input from the examiner.

For pulse wave analysis (CAP, PP) the analysis procedure differed slightly between systems. The system's software did the analysis from the NIHem system. In the centers that used SphygmoCor, the signal averaged carotid pulse wave was digitalized and calibrated (by the same operator, D.O.) according to a published approach:^{393, 394} The brachial diastolic and mean pressures was used, and the same diastolic and mean pressures were assigned to the averaged carotid pulse. Moreover, the radial pressure waveform was used to retrieve the correspondent time instants of diastolic and mean pressures. Given the two pressure values and the correspondent time instants, it is possible to calibrate each averaged carotid pressure waveform. This process allowed a quantitative analysis of the pulse waveform.

6.1.3. Manual of Operations for CMR

CMR was performed using commercially available whole-body 1.5 T scanners (Achieva; Philips Healthcare, Best, the Netherlands; Signa 1.5T or GE Medical Systems, Milwaukee, WI, USA). ECG-gated steady state free precision (SSFP) localizers were used in sagittal, coronal and axial planes during free breathing. Ventricular function was assessed from short axis stack to cover ventricles from base to apex, acquired using the following imaging parameters: slice

IV. METHODS

thickness 5-8 mm, slice gap 0-1 mm, slice number 12-14, cardiac phases 30, retrospective gating with breath-holding. In patients unable to breath-hold 3 signal averages during freebreathing were used. SSFP cine imaging was also performed in two orthogonal long-axis planes of the left ventricular outflow tract (during breath-hold), short axis of the ascending aorta (AAO), and in the long axis of the aortic arch (free-breathing, used as reference for PWV measurements), proximal descending aorta (DAO, 2-3 cm distal to the isthmus, sufficiently distal to dephasing jets), mid DAO (diaphragmatic level) and distal DAO (just above iliac bifurcation). ECG-gated through-plane phase-contrast flow measurements were performed at the AAO (5 mm distal to the sinotubular junction), and in proximal, mid and distal DAO segments (matched to location of the cine SSFP acquisitions) using the following imaging parameters: signal averages = 2, cardiac phases 100 (TFE factor/views per segment/ = 1 (to maximize temporal resolution), velocity encoding 200-250 cm/s (higher if needed to avoid aliasing (**Fig. 19**). ECG and respiratory navigator-gated 3-D SSFP MRA of the aortic arch was performed in the sagittal plane.



Fig. 19. ECG-gated through-plane phase-contrast flow assessment. The global PWV is measured from the AAo to prox DAO, and segmental PWV is measured for the arch (AAO to prox DAO), mid aorta (prox to mid DAO), and distal aorta (mid to dist DAO)AAO = ascending aorta; DAO = descending aorta.

The patient's right arm BP while on scanner table and length of time since last meal and content of last meal were recorded. Images were analyzed by a single observer (A.P.) in

LOVE-COARCT Study

the CMR core lab using a commercial computer workstation (Extended Workstation; Philips Healthcare) and using commercially available analysis software (QMass and QFlow, Medis, The Netherlands). We used CMR, by measuring area change during the cardiac cycle, paired with brachial and central BP measurements to allow quantification of local arterial **strain** (relative change in diameter), **compliance** (absolute change in diameter in response to a change in pressure), **distensibility** (relative change in diameter in response to a change in pressure). **distensibility** (relative change in diameter in response to a change in pressure). Ventricular function and mass were calculated using standard techniques. Crosssectional areas of the AAO, and proximal, mid and distal DAO were directly planimetered at peak systole and mid diastolic frames to calculate parameters of segmental aortic stiffness as previously described.³⁹⁵ PWV was measured using the transit-time method.²³³ PWV was calculated for the entire aorta (AAO to distal DAO), as well as in the following segments: AAO to proximal DAO, proximal DAO to mid DAO, and mid DAO to distal DAO. Aortic arch shape was classified, and the aortic arch index calculated as previously described.³⁷¹

6.1.4. Rationale

The CoA treatment affects the elasticity of the isthmus, and this may alter global aortic stiffness. Arterial stiffness is often assessed by PWV, which measures the speed of the arterial pulse propagation through the arterial system. There are several approaches to measuring PWV.

In LOVE-COARCT, we used two methods to measure PWV. The first was applanation tonometry, the most widely accepted method for estimating PWV, which uses a probe or tonometer to record the pulse wave with a transducer. Both the NIHem (Cardiovascular Engineering, Inc., Norwood, MA USA) and the SphygmoCor (AtCor Medical, West Ryde, NSW, Australia) devices have been validated in large cohort trials.²⁶⁷ We used both devices, based on local availability.

A potential pitfall of this technique is that it assumes a homogenous stiffness across the aortic length and does not take into consideration vessel stenosis or distortion causing incorrect estimation of true carotid to femoral artery length. Therefore, in LOVE-COARCT we also used CMR to measure PWV. This technique enables the detection of more subtle changes in segmental stiffness, above vs. below the CoA site and with the use of real aortic travel paths to circumvent these issues. CMR has been validated against noninvasive²⁷⁹ and invasive³⁹⁶ techniques to calculate PWV,³⁹⁷ including the ascending-to-descending aorta PWV.²³³

The measurement of the diameter vs. pressure relationships requires direct visualization of the artery, by echo-tracking or CMR. We chose the latter, since this was our chosen approach for PWV measurement. The choice of echography would require that our patients performed an additional exam in an already lengthy study protocol.

6.2. Endothelial Function

6.2.1. Measurements

Endothelium-dependent **RHI** and **AIx** were measured using the Endo-PAT 2000 system (Itamar Medical, Caesarea, Israel) (**Table 8**)

Table 9. Endo-PAT variables

Variables	Formulas and units
RHI	
Alx	%
AI@75	%

Alx = augmentation index; Alx@75 = augmentation index at 75 beats per minute; RHI = reactive hyperemia index

6.2.2. Manual of Operations for Endothelial Function

The testing room was arranged to provide a quiet, restful environment with a comfortable temperature of 22 to 24°C. Before testing, subjects were asked to fast overnight for 12 hours, except for the consumption of water. Unless the patients were taking a daily vitamin, they were asked to refrain from taking vitamin pills and over-the-counter medications; in the case that an over-the-counter medication was used, it was documented.

The Endo-PAT (Itamar Medical Ltd, Caesarea, Israel) testing protocol,³⁰⁴ was performed in the morning (starting time between 8 and 11:00 am) and fasting. Any restrictive clothing that could interfere with blood flow to the arms or fingers was removed, including heavy coats or clothes with thick sleeves, watches or rings or other jewelry on the hands and fingers, and long fingernails shortened with a fingernail clipper.

Non-invasive pneumatic probes were placed on the index fingers of both hands. The pulse wave amplitude was recorded continuously from both index fingers. Reactive hyperemia was performed by achieved by occlusion of the brachial artery of one arm with a BP cuff for 5 minutes (to 200-220 mm Hg). The tracing in the non-occluded arm will serve as a control for changes in overall physiologic state. The Endo-PAT data was analyzed with the proprietary software package, without any input from the examiner. The Endo-PAT index is defined as the ratio of the average pulse amplitude during the 1-minute period beginning after exactly 90 seconds of reactive hyperemia compared with the average pulse amplitude during the 210-second pre-occlusion baseline period.

6.2.3. Rationale

In LOVE-COARCT, we used Endo-PAT because analysis of the pulse waveform allows for an automated calculation of flow-dependent, endothelium-mediated vasodilation in one arm, while the contra-lateral serves as a control. Therefore, this is a patient standardized method, which is important in children, in whom normative are beginning to be established.³⁰¹ It is also an easy to perform method, with reliable results. Nevertheless, few studies have been performed in congenital heart disease.^{395,396} A potential pitfall of this technique is that the associated vasodilation is not entirely NO-dependent and there is an interaction with autonomic nervous system. Our research protocol included measures to minimize the influence of the autonomic nervous system, including fasting and avoidance of food with high NO content.

6.3. Pulse Waveform Analysis

6.3.1. Measurements

CAP and **PP** were measured using applanation tonometry). **Alx** was measured using applanation tonometry and Endo-PAT (**Table 7** and **Table 9**).

6.3.2. Manual of Operations

Please refer to Methods, sections 6.1.2 and 6.2.2.

6.3.3. Rationale

In CoA, the stiff ascending aorta and the repaired aortic isthmus may be important reflecting sites and thus impact the pulse waveform. The non-invasive analysis of the pulse waveform by tonometry and Endo-PAT have been shown to be reliable in prior studies.²⁶⁷ There is a lack

IV. METHODS

of consensus regarding the optimal method to estimate the CAP curve using tonometry. The NIHem system assumes that carotid artery pulse waveform accurately reflects the central aortic waveform and therefore, the pulsed wave analysis is automatically calculated from the carotid waveform. The SphygmoCor device uses a generalized transform function to generate a central aortic PP curve from the radial or carotid pressure tracings. This transfer function has not been validated in children. To maintain consistency between data acquired on each device in our largely pediatric group, we didn't use the transfer analysis and used the non-processed, signal-averaged carotid tracing as the central aortic tracing. This tracing was digitized to calculate the CAP, following a previously published approach (**Fig. 20**):^{393, 394}





6.4. BP Phenotype

6.4.1. Measurements

The BP phenotype was measured using several techniques including auscultatory **right arm BP measurement**, measurement of **BP gradient between arm and leg**, BP response during treadmill **exercise stress test** (EST) and **ABPM.** (Table 9)

Table 10. BP profile variables

Variables	Formulas and units
Office BP	
Residual SBP gradient	Supine and automated; mm Hg
Right arm BP	Seated and manual; mm Hg
ABPM	
24h average systolic and diastolic BP	mm Hg
Daytime average systolic and diastolic BP	mm Hg
Nighttime average systolic and diastolic BP	mm Hg
24h systolic and diastolic load	%
Diurnal systolic and diastolic dipping	%
Exercise test	
Exercise duration	minutes
Pre-Exercise SBP gradient	mm Hg
Pre-Exercise SBP gradient	mm Hg
Peak exercise BP	mm Hg
Exercise HTN	If systolic BP is ≥220 mm Hg

ABPM = ambulatory blood pressure monitor; BP = blood pressure; DBP = diastolic blood pressure; HTN = hypertension; SBP = systolic blood pressure

6.4.2. Manual of operations for BP Phenotype

For **measurement of the right arm, auscultatory BPs**, the patient was seated with the feet flat on the floor, with the knees at 90-degree angle and the back supported. After 5 minutes of resting quietly, with no conversation or television, the auscultatory BP was obtained in the right arm. For cuff choice, the length of the Bladder encircled no less than 80% and no more than 100%, of the bicep and the width of Bladder encircled no less than 40% and no more than 50%, of the circumference of patient's arm circumference, measured at the widest area of bicep, midway between the tip of the patient's shoulder and the tip of the patient's elbow. The patient's right arm was placed at heart level, supported at the level of the nipple by resting arm on a table or chair arm or propped on a pillow. The stethoscope's bell was

IV. METHODS

placed over the patient's brachial pulse. The cuff was inflated up to 140 mm Hg and deflated slowly while listening for the Korotkoff sounds, systole being number when the sound is first heard consistently and diastole when the last pulsation is heard, or when it muffles. If pulsations were immediately audible, the cuff was deflated entirely, and the patient allowed to sit quietly for one minute. Then, the cuff was again inflated to 160 mm Hg (or higher) and the steps above were followed. This procedure was repeated until the BP is not immediately audible. Three BP were obtained, allowing one minute between deflation and re-inflation of the cuff for each measurement. The average of the 2nd and 3rd measurements was considered the final right arm BP and interpreted according to the published guidelines for children⁴⁰⁰ and adults.⁴⁰¹

While the patient was supine, two sets of **four extremity, automated BPs, were measured with the automated BP monitor (Dinamap)**. The BP pressure gradient was registered, between the second systolic right arm measurement and the highest of the two legs systolic second measurements.

For the **ABPM measurement**, the choice of the cuff followed the same guidelines described for manual auscultation of right arm BP. Cuff inflation was programmed for 15 to 20-minute intervals. During nighttime, intervals were wider, but not fewer than one per hour and preferably more. The patient recorded the sleep time, wake time, and any periods of vigorous exercise. The patient was instructed to avoid direct contact of the monitor with water and participation in activities that could damage it. The study was considered adequate if there was a record of at least one reading per hour, i.e. no more than 1 hour between consecutive readings for a full 24-hour study. If less than 12 hours were recorded, the ABPM data was considered inadequate. The diurnal pattern was determined by the patient diary. Vigorous exercise periods were excluded. Patients were staged as having ambulatory HTN, masked HTN, white coat HTN or normotensive, according to the age-based normative tables based on statements for children and adolescents⁴⁰² and adults.⁴⁰³ Patients currently on antihypertensive medication were also classified into the hypertensive group (**Table 11**):

Classification	Office BP SBP or DBP *	24h Mean ABPM SBP or DBP †
Non-hypertensive	Pediatric: <95th %tile	Pediatric: <95th %tile
	Adults: <140/90 mm Hg	Adults: <135/85 mm Hg
White Coat HTN	Pediatric: ≥95th %tile	Pediatric: <95th %tile
	Adults: >140/90 mm Hg	Adults: <135/85 mm Hg
Masked HTN	Pediatric: <95th %tile	Pediatric: >95th %tile
	Adults: <140/90 mm Hg	Adults: >135/85 mm Hg
Ambulatory HTN	Pediatric: >95th %tile	Pediatric: >95th %tile
	Adults: >140/90 mm Hg	Adults: >135/85 mm Hg

Table 11. Classification of BP phenotype by ABPM

AMBP = Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring; BP = Blood Pressure; ABPM = Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring; Pediatric patients have age < 18yo and adult patients age \geq 18yo; %tile = percentile; BP = blood pressure; DBP = diastolic blood pressure; HTN = hypertension; SBP = systolic blood pressure.

* For pediatric patients, based on the National High Blood Pressure Education Program Task Force normative data⁴⁰⁰; for adult patients, based on the Joint National Committee on the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure report.⁴⁰¹

⁺ For pediatric patients, based on normative pediatric ABPM values from the American Heart Association Atherosclerosis, Hypertension and Obesity in Youth Committee of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young; ⁴⁰² for adult patients, based on the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research report.⁴⁰⁴

Before the **exercise stress test** (EST), for patient safety issues, medical history, medications, activity level and symptoms were reviewed, and the EST protocol explained. Antihypertensive medications were continued the day of testing. The patient was asked to lay supine, and a right arm and right or left leg BP measured using a commercial oscillometric and appropriately sized cuff-bladders were recorded as pre-exercise BP values and gradient. The patient then stepped onto the treadmill and instructed to hold the handlebar throughout the test. We used the standard Bruce treadmill protocol and, when available, a Met Cart. As the patient exercised, their symptoms and ECG were continuously monitored. At 2-mins of each stage, a BP was taken in the right arm by having the patient take their hand off the treadmill and hold onto the arm of the person performing the test. The test was terminated when the patient could longer continue the exercise, reached a systolic BP higher than 240mm Hg, had clinically relevant

symptoms or ECG changes. Immediately after the exercise ended, BP in the right arm and the left leg was recorded in a supine position. For the recovery period, the patient set upright in a chair, and right arm BP was recorded at 1, 3, 5, and 7 mins of recovery, at which time the test is ended. When available, cardiorespiratory physiological data was documented.

6.4.3. Rationale

It is well known that the BP phenotype is abnormal despite successful treatment of CoA. We were careful to implement a thorough assessment in LOVE-COARCT. Based on the auscultatory BP and ABPM results, we used the appropriate children and adult guidelines to classify our patients, according to **Table 11**. Patients currently on antihypertensive medication were also classified as hypertensive. Comparing BP values between children and adults is difficult, because the definition of HTN in the former is based on normative values that depend on somatic measurements, while the latter use pre-defined cutoff values. This challenge was present in the design of the LOVE-COARCT protocol, since there is a diverse current age in the enrolled patients. However, it was possible to create discrete categories for the office and ABPM HTN definitions, since the office pediatric⁴⁰⁰ and adult⁴⁰⁰ reports, and the ABPM pediatric⁴⁰² and adult⁴⁰⁴ reports are harmonized and use the same definitions. However, there are no such documents for the EST in children and adults, and we could not create discrete categories to compare exercise-induced HTN in different age groups, and therefore limited our analysis to the continuous variables.

6.5. LV Mass and Aortic Morphometrics

6.5.1. Measurements

LV mass, the size of the aorta and aortic arch shape were measured by CMR.

6.5.2. Manual of Operations fo LV Mass and Aortic Morphometrics

Please refer to Methods, section 6.1.3.

6.5.3. Rationale

The altered BP phenotype that persists after CoA treatment represents an increase in afterload that leads to LV hypertrophy. CMR is a well-established method for calculation of LV mass, volumes and function. Our CMR protocol included sequences that allowed this quantification. The aortic size and shape can also be accurately measured with CMR.

6.6. Biomarkers

6.6.1. Measurements

We measured biomarkers of endothelial function (total oxides of nitrogen- NOx and ADMA), inflammation (hs-CRP), vascular wall function (VCAM-1 and IL-1β) and vascular remodeling (MMP-2; MMP-9 and TGF-β1). NOx was determined by chemiluminescence (Sievers NOAnalyzer 280i) and all remaining measurements were performed with appropriate enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits: ADMA (Sunred Biological Technology, Shanghai, China); hs-CRP (BoosterBio, Pleasanton, USA); VCAM-1; IL-1β; MMP-9; MMP-2 and TGFβ-1 (RayBiotech, Inc. Norcross, USA) (Table 12):

Table 12. Biomarkers variables

Variable	Units
NOx	ug/ml
ADMA	ng/L
High Sensitivity CRP	mg/L
VCAM-1	ng/ml
IL-1β	pg/ml
TFG-β	ng/mL
MMP-2/Gelatinase A	ng/ml
MMP-9/Gelatinase B	ng/ml

ADMA = Asymmetric Dimetilarginine; HDL = High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; hs-CRP = High sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; IL-1 β = Interleukin 1 beta; LDL = Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; MMP-2 = Matrix Metalloproteinase-2; MMP-9 = Matrix Metalloproteinase-9; NOx = Nitric Oxide; TFG- β = Transforming Growth Factor beta; VCAM-1 = Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1

6.6.2. Manual of Operations for Biomarkers

The patients followed a low-nitrate diet for three days before the blood sample collection, which avoided of a list of foods with a high content in nitrites that influence nitric oxide determination, including bacon, beets, broccoli, canned food, cauliflower, celery, Chinese cabbage, corned beef, ham, hot dogs, lettuce, old cheese, radish, salami, sausages, smoked

IV. METHODS

fish, spinach and turnip. After an overnight fast (for 12h), samples were collected by venipuncture from catheters maintained with saline only, since heparin interferes with the accuracy of the biomarkers assessed. The first 5-10mL of blood were discarded and 2.7 ml of venous blood were collected into 3.2% sodium citrate (light-blue) tubes (BD Vacutainer[®]), and into plastic microtubes (Safe-Lock Eppendorf). Within 3 hours of collection, samples were centrifuged for 20 minutes at 3000g (4°C). Aliquots of 250µl of the supernatant were collected into 14 labeled microtubes of 1.5ml and immediately stored at-80°C until shipping to the Biomarkers Core Laboratory.

Aliquots for NOx analysis were deproteinized using cold ethanol precipitation methodology. Ethanol was refrigerated to 0°C and added to the plasma sample in a 1:3 proportion. After letting it stand at 0°C for 30 minutes, the sample was centrifuged at 14000rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was then removed for analysis. The quantification of plasma NO levels was carried out using a nitric oxide analyzer, the Sievers Instruments NOA 280i[™], a high sensitivity detector of that allows determination of NO based on a chemiluminescence reaction between NO and ozone.

Plasma ADMA; VCAM-1; hs-CRP; IL-1β; MMP-2 and MMP-9 were quantified using the following double-antibody sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay ELISA kits: Human asymmetrical dimethylarginine, ADMA (Sunred Biological Technology, Shanghai, China); high-sensitivity C Reactive Protein (hs-CRP, BoosterBio, Pleasanton, USA); vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1); interleukin-1-Beta (IL-1β); MMP-9/Gelatinase A ; MMP-2/Gelatinase B and transforming growth factor beta (TGFβ-1) (RayBiotech, Inc. Norcross, USA).

6.6.3. Rationale

We chose a wide variety of biomarkers, to encompass several pathways that may be involved in the genesis or maintenance of vascular dysfunction in patients with treated CoA, namely the NO-dependent endothelial function, systemic and local wall inflammation, and aortic wall remodelling. All of these tests were obtained from a single, fasting blood sample, that was collected at the beginning of the study visit, for patient convenience.

6.7. Cardiovascular Health Assessment

6.7.1. Measurements

We assessed health factors (BP, total cholesterol, plasma glucose), behaviors (smoking, body mass index BMI, physical activity and diet) and family history of cardiovascular disease and risk factors.

6.7.2. Manual of Operations for Cardiovascular Health Assessment

The following questionnaires were used as a lifestyle questionnaire (**Table 12**) and family history questionnaire (**Table 13**):

Table 13. Lifestyle questionnaire questions

Lifestyle Questionnaire

On an average weekday, how many hours do you watch TV?

On an average weekday, how many hours do you play video/computer games or use a computer for something that is not school/work related?

In the past week, how many days were you/was your child physically active for a total of at least 30 minutes per day?

In the past week, how many days did you/your child eat breakfast? In the past week, how many days did you/your child eat food from a fast food restaurant?

In the past week, how many days did all or most of your family sit down and eat dinner at home?

On an average weekday, how many hours of sleep do you get a night?

Have you smoked one or more cigarettes in the past month? If yes, please quantify.

Were you previously a smoker?

Do you live in a household with a smoker?

Table 14. Family history questionnaire

Family History Questionnaire

Biological relatives of you/your child with Overweight/Obesity

Biological relatives of you/your child with Type 2 Diabetes

Biological relatives of you/your child with High Blood Pressure

Biological relatives of you/your child with High Cholesterol

Biological relatives of you/your child with Heart Disease/Stroke

(all answers had the following options: No/ Parents/ Siblings/ Grandparents/ Aunts)

6.7.3. Rationale

Cardiovascular health is very important in patients with CoA, who experience early CVD (please refer to Background, section 1.9.1). We implemented a simple questionnaire to assess family history of CV disease and ICVH according to the procedures and recommendations of the American Heart Association.⁴⁰⁵

7. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The statistical analysis was done in the Biostatistics Core Lab (Responsible: Kimberlee Gauvreau) from the Department of Cardiology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA. Analyses were performed in SAS (version 9.4, Cary, NC, USA).

7.1. Adjustment for Confounders

Since several known factors other than treatment modality can influence vascular function, we will frequency-match our treatment groups for documented confounders. The confounding variables included: (a) age at treatment; (b) current age; and (c) BAV as it is associated with impaired aortic elasticity.⁴⁰⁶ Because of the relatively large number of matching variables and three treatment groups, matching individual subjects was not feasible. During recruitment,

we attempted to frequency match the three treatment groups. During analysis, the treatment groups were compared for each of these confounding variables and appropriate adjustments were made using multivariable modeling, as needed. Age at treatment and presence of a BAV were thought to be possible confounding variables and were observed to differ by treatment group; therefore, linear and logistic regression models were used to adjust for confounding when comparing selected outcome variables across treatment groups. In these models, the surgical group was used as the reference category against which BD and stent were compared. Each model adjusted for age at treatment as a continuous variable, and presence of a BAV as a binary variable.

7.2. Analytic Plan.

Categorical patient characteristics, clinical variables, and outcomes were summarized as frequencies and percentages and compared across the three treatment groups using Fisher's exact test. Continuous variables that which were approximately normally distributed were summarized using means and standard deviations and compared using one-way analysis of variance; continuous variables which were not normally distributed were summarized using medians and compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test.

Our primary outcome variable was cfPWV assessed by tonometry. Differences in cfPVW across groups were explored using one-way analysis of variance. When differences in matching variables were detected among the groups, adjustments were made using analysis of covariance. Post-hoc analyses were performed as necessary.

Sample size estimates were obtained based on prior data that showed that ascendingdescending PWV measured by CMR is 3.3±0.6 m/s in normal subjects and 4.7±1.1 m/s after CoA surgery.^{233, 407} Sample size estimates for comparison of PVW between three equal-sized treatment groups (assuming overall significance level=0.05 and power=0.8) are shown in **Table 15**. We planned on recruiting 24 to 30 patients in each group for a total sample size of 72 to 90:
Smallest Mean PWV (m/s) Among Groups	Largest Mean PWV (m/s) Among Groups	Standard Deviation	Sample Size for Each Group	Total Sample Size
4.0	4.8	1.0	30	90
4.0	4.8	1.1	36	108
4.0	4.8	1.2	43	129
4.4	5.3	1.0	24	72
4.4	5.3	1.1	29	87
4.4	5.3	1.2	34	102

Table 15. Sample size calculation

PWV = pulse wave velocity; m/s = meters per second

7.3. Choice of the Primary Outcome Variable

There is no single, universally accepted marker of vascular dysfunction. Therefore, we chose cfPWV as our primary outcome variable because: (a) it has been validated as a simple, accurate and reproducible measure of arterial stiffness with a proven association to hard cardiovascular outcomes and (b) it can be reliably measured by two different techniques, applanation tonometry, and CMR.

7.4. Choice of the Secondary Outcomes Variables

No single parameter encompasses all aspects of vascular function. Therefore, including other parameters such as other measures of arterial stiffness, endothelial function, pulse waveform analysis, BP phenotype, blood biomarkers and LV mass allowed us to perform a comprehensive assessment of vascular function in small and large arteries.

LOVE-COARCT Study

V. RESULTS

LOVE-COARCT Study

V. RESULTS



Below is **Fig. 21 (central illustration)**, that shows in one figure a comparison of the key vascular function parameters from the LOVE-COARCT study between the three groups:

Fig. 21. Comparison of key vascular function parameters between groups (Central Illustration).

BD in blue; Surgery in red; and Stent in green. AAO = ascending aorta; BSA = body surface area; CMR = cardiac magnetic resonance; Endo-PAT = endothelial pulse amplitude testing; hs-CRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein; IL-1 β = interleukin 1 beta; LV = left ventricle; MMP-9 = matrix metalloprotease 9; PWV = pulse wave velocity; SBP = systolic blood pressure; TGF- β 1 = transforming growth factor beta-1

A detailed presentation of the LOVE-COARCT results is presented in the follow pages.

1. STUDY SUBJECTS

Patient characteristics by treatment group are summarized in Table 16.

Table 16. Patient characteristics at treatment

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p Value
Age at treatment (years)	6 (1, 26)	5 (1, 17)	15 (7, 26)	<0.001
SBP gradient (mm Hg)	43.7 ± 19.3	34.6 ± 15.0	38.4 ± 21.0	0.29
TAA diameter z-score	-1.9 ± 1.0	-1.5 ± 1.4	-1.9 ± 0.8	0.38
Isthmus diameter z-score	-3.59 ± 1.21	-3.92 ± 0.89	-3.31 ± 1.37	0.32
Initial Doppler gradient (mmHg)	48.0 ± 14.7	47.9 ± 14.8	52.5 ± 20.3	0.60
Male sex	79%	74%	75%	0.94
Bicuspid aortic valve	71%	45%	50%	0.13

Values are mean \pm standard deviation, median (minimum, maximum), or percent. SBP = systolic blood pressure; TAA = transverse aortic arch

Among pre-treatment characteristics, the treatment groups were similar with respect to CoA severity, sex distribution, and the prevalence of BAV. However, patients treated with a stent were older at the time of treatment compared to those treated with surgery or BD.

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p Value
Age at enrollment (years)	15 (8, 33)	17 (11, 26)	20 (9, 33)	0.12
BMI at enrollment	22 (15, 32)	21 (16, 33)	23 (16, 38)	0.69
SBP gradient at enrollment (mm Hg)	-7.1 ± 14.0	-3.0 ± 12.3	-3.7 ± 14.5	0.52
NYHA class at enrollment				0.37
Class I	89%	100%	92%	
Class II	11%	0%	8%	
Metabolic profile at enrollment				
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	159 (112, 210)	153 (123, 229)	152 (108, 227)	0.59
LDL, mg/dL	86 (53, 145)	81 (59, 179)	85 (44, 130)	0.66
HDL, mg/dL	53 (34, 90)	48 (31, 90)	51 (32, 88)	0.99
Triglycerides, mg/dL	76 (29, 224)	52 (29, 149)	74 (29, 167)	0.07
Plasma glucose, mg/dL	82 (74, 98)	81 (59, 93)	86 (63, 108)	0.15
Insulin, uIU/mL	6 (3, 44)	6 (3, 17)	7 (2, 20)	0.86
Hemoglobin A1c, %	5.3 (4.1, 5.7)	5.3 (4.4, 5.7)	5.3 (4.8, 5.9)	0.60
Anti-HTN Medication	14%	26%	33%	0.14
β-blockers	2 (7)	5 (22)	4 (17)	0.12
ACE inhibitors	5 (18)	2 (9)	3 (13)	0.88
ARBs	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (4)	0.94

Values are mean ± standard deviation, median (minimum, maximum), or percent. ACE inhibitors = angiotensin-convertingenzyme blockers; ARBs = angiotensin II receptor blockers; β-blockers = betablockers; BSA = body surface area; BMI = body mass index (weight (kg)/ height (m)2); HTN = hypertension; LDL = low density lipoprotein; HDL = high density lipoprotein; NYHA = New York Heart Association; SBP = systolic blood pressure; TAA = transverse aortic Arch

The mean age (min, max) of our entire cohort was 18 (8, 33) and 76% were male. At study enrollment, the treatment groups were similar with respect to baseline characteristics including age and body mass index at enrollment, reCoA severity, and metabolic profile.

2. AORTIC STIFFNESS

Results of aortic stiffness assessment by CMR and applanation tonometry are summarized in **Table 18**, **Table 19** and in the **Fig. 21**.

Table 18. Aortic stiffness results by CMR

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p Value
PWV (m/s)				
Global (AAO to Distal DAO)	4.0 ± 0.5	4.2 ± 0.9	4.2 ± 0.7	0.72
Arch (AAO to prox DAO)	4.7 ± 1.5	4.0 ± 1.2	5.5 ± 3.8	0.12
Prox to Mid DAO	3.8 ± 0.9	4.0 ± 1.3	3.9 ± 1.4	0.87
Mid to Distal DAO	4.4 ± 1.6	4.8 ± 1.7	4.5 ± 1.5	0.70
Strain				
AAO	0.38 ± 0.14	0.51 ± 0.25	0.36 ± 0.19	0.02
Proximal DAO	0.27 ± 0.09	0.31 ± 0.13	0.30 ± 0.15	0.47
Mid DAO	0.37 ± 0.11	0.36 ± 0.10	0.36 ± 0.16	0.97
Distal DAO	0.37 ± 0.14	0.40 ± 0.12	0.30 ± 0.12	0.04
Distensibility (10-3mm Hg-1)				
AAO	7.8 ± 3.6	9.8 ± 5.2	6.6 ± 4.3	0.05
Proximal DAO	5.6 ± 2.1	6.1 ± 3.3	5.6 ± 2.7	0.71
Mid DAO	7.5 ± 2.5	6.9 ± 3.3	6.8 ± 3.4	0.67
Distal DAO	7.8 ± 4.1	7.5 ± 3.1	5.9 ± 3.2	0.15
Compliance (mm2 mm Hg-1)				
AAO	2.23 (1.21, 4.08)	2.90 (1.61, 5.93)	2.35 (1.15, 7.35)	0.02
Proximal DAO	1.05 (0.65, 2.83)	1.24 (0.19, 2.82)	1.26 (0.64, 2.84)	0.15
Mid DAO	1.16 (0.54, 2.54)	0.91 (0, 2.28)	1.07 (0.50, 2.02)	0.58
Distal DAO	0.63 (0.27, 1.85)	0.74 (0, 1.66)	0.51 (0.08, 1.83)	0.09
β stiffness index				
AAO	1.76 ± 0.73	1.59 ± 1.15	2.49 ± 1.48	0.02
Proximal DAO	2.53 ± 1.59	2.63 ± 1.89	2.50 ± 0.96	0.96
Mid DAO	1.75 ± 0.76	1.93 ± 0.75	2.15 ± 1.11	0.26
Distal DAO	1.84 ± 0.91	1.72 ± 0.68	2.98 ± 3.70	0.11

Values are mean \pm standard deviation. AAO = ascending aorta; AI = augmentation index; aortic arch PWV = AAO to proximal DAO pulse wave velocity; DAO = descending aorta; Endo-PAT = endothelial pulse amplitude testing; HR = heart rate; m/s = meters per second; PP = Pulse pressure; SBP = Systolic blood pressure; total PWV = AAO to distal DAO pulse wave velocity.

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p Value
cfPWV (m/s)	5.2 ± 0.9	5.3 ± 1.1	5.0 ± 0.9	0.64
Alx at HR 75 bpm (%)	-14 ± 13	-13 ± 21	-6 ± 18	0.24
Central SBP (mm Hg)	114 ± 18	109 ± 14	112 ± 21	0.60
Central PP (mm Hg)	50 ± 20	46 ± 13	45 ± 19	0.49

Combining the three treatment groups, the results for PWV (in m/s) were 4.1 ± 0.7 for global PWV, 4.8 ± 2.5 for arch PWV, 3.9 ± 1.2 for mid aorta, and 4.5 ± 1.6 for distal aorta.

Table 19. Aortic stiffness results by applanation tonometry

Values are mean \pm standard deviation. Alx = augmentation index; cfPWV = carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity; DAO = descending aorta; HR = heart rate; PP = Pulse pressure; SBP = Systolic blood pressure

The combined cfPWV of the three treatment groups is 5.2 ± 1.0 m/s. At comparable distending pressures (**Table 20**), overall PWV was similar among the treatment groups by both CMR and applanation tonometry (**Fig. 21**). In segmental PWV measurements by CMR, aortic arch PWV was lowest in the BD group, but the difference did not reach statistical significance (**Fig. 21**). Among CMR segmental aortic stiffness parameters, BD patients had the most distensible AAO, while stent patients had the least distensible AAO, with surgical patients demonstrating intermediate values (**Fig. 21**). Compared to stent patients, BD patients showed 48% higher AAO distensibility and 27% lower aortic arch PWV. Segmental stiffness parameters were mostly similar across treatment groups at the DAO (proximal, mid, and distal), except for distal DAO strain, which was lowest in the stent group.

To assess for potential confounding by age at treatment or BAV (known to be associated with impaired aortic elasticity)⁴⁰⁶ on the relationship between treatment modality and aortic stiffness, we used multivariable modeling for key stiffness parameters. The univariate relationships shown in **Table 18** and **Table 19** remained unchanged in the multivariable models after adjustment for the potential confounding variables (age at treatment, and BAV) (details in **Table 30**).

3. ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION

Endothelial function assessed using the Endo-PAT index was similar across treatment groups (**Table 20** and **Fig. 21**).

Table 20. Endo-PAT results

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p Value
Endo-PAT index (RHI)	2.15 ± 0.77	2.00 ± 0.78	2.25 ± 0.68	0.51
Alx @ 75 bpm	-6 ± 12	-4 ± 14	2 ± 11	0.14

Values are mean \pm standard deviation. BPM = beats per minute; Endo-PAT = endothelial pulse amplitude testing; RHI = reactive hyperemia index.

The combined RHI of the three treatment groups was 2.14 ± 0.74 . The univariate relationships remained unchanged in the multivariable models after adjustment for the potential confounding variables (age at treatment, and BAV) (details in **Table 30**).

4. PULSE WAVEFORM ANALYSIS

The pulse waveform analysis (central SBP and PP measured with applanation tonometry, and Alx measured with both applanation tonometry and Endo-PAT) did not show any differences between the three treatment groups (**Table 19** and **Table 20**).

5. BP PHENOTYPE

Results of office BP measurements are summarized in **Table 21**, ABPM results are in **Table 22**, and EST results are in **Table 23**. There were no significant differences across treatment groups concerning the prevalence of HTN by office measurements or ABPM, and average systolic and diastolic BP by ABPM. However, the BD group showed lower nighttime BP and less impairment in diurnal variation, compared to the stent and surgery groups (**Fig. 21**).

Table 21. Office BP results

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
Office BP				0.20
Normal	15 (54%)	13 (57%)	7 (29%)	
Pre-HTN	10 (36%)	8 (35%)	15 (63%)	
Stage 1 HTN	3 (11%)	2 (9%)	1 (4%)	
Stage 2 HTN	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (4%)	

Values are mean ± standard deviation, or number (percent). BP = blood pressure; HTN = hypertension

Combining the three treatment groups, the office BP in LOVE-COARCT shows that 44% of the patients had pre-HTN and 9% had either stage 1 or stage 2 office HTN, and the ABPM results show that 36% have either HTN/masked HTN, or anti-HTN medication.

Table 22. ABPM results

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
24-hr average SBP (mm Hg)	123 ± 13	118 ± 9	124 ± 10	0.19
24-hr average DBP (mm Hg)	68 ± 8	66 ± 6	68 ± 8	0.77
Day average SBP (mm Hg)	125 ± 13	122 ± 10	127 ± 10	0.34
Day average DBP (mm Hg)	69 ± 9	69 ± 7	71 ± 9	0.82
Night average SBP (mm Hg)	116 ± 12	106 ± 10	113 ± 10	0.005
Night average DBP (mm Hg)	60 ± 7	56 ± 5	59 ± 4	0.05
% SBP readings above diurnal threshold	32 ± 29	19 ± 19	30 ± 27	0.19
% DBP readings above diurnal threshold	16 ± 20	13 ± 14	14 ± 16	0.72
Diurnal systolic variation (%)	7 ± 7	13 ± 6	11 ± 6	0.01
Diurnal diastolic variation (%)	13 ± 10	19 ± 6	16 ± 7	0.06
Non-dippers (%)	17 (65%)	7 (32%)	12 (55%)	0.08
Classification by ABPM				0.76
No HTN	16 (59%)	18 (82%)	15 (68%)	
White coat HTN	3 (11%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	
Masked HTN	6 (22%)	2 (9%)	5 (23%)	
HTN	2 (7%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	
Classification including medication use				
HTN/masked HTN, or anti-HTN medication	8 (30%)	9 (39%)	10 (45%)	0.49
No HTN/ white coat HTN	20 (70%)	14 (61%)	14 (55%)	

Values are mean ± standard deviation, or number (percent). ABPM = ambulatory blood pressure measurement; BP = blood pressure; DBP = diastolic blood pressure; Dippers = night-time BP dipping ≥10%, non-dippers = night-time BP dipping <10%; HTN = hypertension; SBP = systolic blood pressure

On EST, there were no significant differences between the treatment groups with respect to exercise duration, peak VO2, VE/VCO2 slope, or upper-lower extremity SBP gradient. (**Table 23**):

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
Exercise duration (minutes)	12 (7,21)	11 (9, 21)	13 (5,17)	0.45
Pre-exercise SBP gradient (mm Hg)	-3 ± 21	1 ± 9	6 ± 18	0.17
Peak-exercise SBP gradient (mm Hg)	32 ± 30	33 ± 22	26 ± 27	0.64
Peak right arm SBP (mm Hg)	177 ± 35	157 ± 27	177 ± 33	0.05
Peak right arm DBP (mm Hg)	71 ± 13	75 ± 9	73 ± 11	0.50
VO2 Max (ml/Kg/min)	41 ± 11	32 ± 27	41 ± 11	0.30
VE/CO2 slope	26 ± 4	26 ± 5	26 ± 6	0.98

Table 23. EST results

Values are mean \pm standard deviation, or median (minimum, maximum). DBP = diastolic blood pressure; SBP systolic blood pressure; VO2 Max = peak exercise oxygen consumption; VE/CO2 = relationship between ventilation and CO2 output

However, the peak SBP during exercise was lower in the BD group (**Fig. 21**) and this relationship persisted after adjustment for potential confounding variables (age at treatment, and BAV) (details in **Table 30**).

6. LV AND AORTIC MORPHOMETRICS

The treatment groups were similar with respect to LV size, ejection fraction, and mass (**Table 24** and **Fig. 21**):

Table 24. LV measurements by CMR

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
EDV indexed to BSA (ml/m ²)	71 ± 13	76 ± 17	73 ± 18	0.64
Ejection fraction (%)	63 ± 6	61 ± 5	62 ± 5	0.52
Mass indexed to BSA (g/m ²)	56 ± 13	58 ± 9	57 ± 13	0.83

Values are mean ± standard deviation. EDV = end-diastolic volume

Aortic dimensions, including those of the transverse aortic arch, were similar between the treatment groups. Isthmic dimensions were slightly smaller in the BD group compared to the surgical group but could not be measured in stented patients due to ferromagnetic artifact from the stent. Arch shape distribution was also similar between the treatment groups, assessed both qualitatively and quantitatively (using the arch shape index)⁴⁰⁸ (**Table 25**):

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
Aortic Diameters (mm indexed to BSA)				
Ascending aorta	19.1 ± 3.0	20.6 ± 3.2	20.7 ± 3.4	0.18
Proximal transverse arch	12.6 ± 1.2	12.8 ± 1.8	12.7 ± 2.9	0.96
Distal transverse arch	11.5 ± 1.7	11.2 ± 1.6	11.9 ± 2.1	0.45
Isthmus	12.6 ± 3.7	10.4 ± 2.8	N/A*	0.03
Descending aorta	12.4 ± 1.1	12.6 ± 1.8	12.5 ± 1.6	0.95
Arch Shape				0.33
Romanesque	11 (39%)	10 (43%)	10 (42%)	
Crenel	2 (7%)	5 (22%)	2 (8%)	
Gothic	14 (50%)	6 (26%)	12 (50%)	
Arch Shape Index	0.64 ± 0.14	0.65 ± 0.11	0.68 ± 0.13	0.64

Values are mean \pm standard deviation, or number (percent). * N/A = not available, due to presence of stent artifact. Arch shape index = aortic arch height divided by width; BSA = body surface area

7. BLOOD BIOMARKERS

Patients in the BD group had lower levels of hs-CRP, and higher levels of MMP-9 and TGF- β 1 (**Table 25** and **Fig. 21**):

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
NOx (ug/mL)	18 (12, 31)	20 (12, 37)	20 (10, 34)	0.18
ADMA (ng/L)	6 (1, 45)	7 (1, 51)	3 (0, 31)	0.20
hs-CRP (mg/L)	1.28 (0.74, 1.49)	1.26 (0.66, 1.41)	1.30 (0.95, 1.46)	0.02
VCAM-1 (ng/mL)	133 (66, 203)	134 (61, 206)	128 (66, 168)	0.42
IL-1β (pg/mL)	0.91 (0.04, 1.26)	1.06 (0.68, 1.98)	0.95 (0.06, 1.49)	0.1
TGF- β1 (ng/mL)	0.35 (0.12, 1.24)	0.64 (0.23, 3.21)	0.31 (0.05, 2.07)	0.006
MMP-2/gelatinase A (ng/mL)	1.14 (0.10, 3.37)	1.53 (0.00, 4.93)	0.62 (0.00, 3.62)	0.26
MMP-9/gelatinase B (ng/mL)	474 (91, 3157)	738 (158, 4453)	421(487, 1739)	0.01

Table 26. Blood biomarkers results

Values are median (minimum, maximum). ADMA = asymmetric dimethylarginine; hs-CRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein; $IL-1\beta$ = interleukin 1 beta; MMP = matrix metalloprotease; NOx = nitrite/nitrate; TGF- β 1 = transforming growth factor beta-1; VCAM-1 = vascular adhesion molecule 1

These differences persisted after adjustment for potential confounders (details in **Table 30**). Levels of other blood biomarkers were similar across the treatment groups.

8. IDEAL CV HEALTH

The only difference between the three treatment groups are in the number of days that the family ate dinner at home together (**Table 27**).

Table 27. Ideal CV Health

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
Hours of TV on average weekday	1.5 (0.5, 6)	2 (0, 5)	1.8 (0, 5)	0.58
Hours of video/computer games on average weekday	1 (0, 6)	2 (0, 5)	1 (0, 5)	0.34
Days physically active for ≥30 minutes in past week	5 (0, 7)	2 (0, 7)	4 (0, 7)	0.13
Days ate breakfast in past week	7 (0, 7)	7 (0, 7)	7 (0, 7)	0.30
Days ate food from a fast food restaurant in past week	0 (0, 7)	0 (0, 7)	1 (0, 7)	0.06
Days family ate dinner at home in past week	4 (0, 7)	7 (4, 7)	5 (0, 7)	0.001
Hours of sleep per night on average week	7.5 (5.5, 10)	8 (7, 11)	7.4 (4, 10)	0.07
Smoked ≥1 cigarette in past month	2 (7)	2 (9)	1 (4)	0.86
Previously a smoker	2 (7)	3 (13)	1 (4)	0.66
Live in household with smoker	7 (25)	6 (26)	2 (8)	0.21
Biological relatives overweight/obese				0.26
Parents/siblings	4 (14)	8 (35)	3 (13)	
Grandparents/aunts/uncles	6 (21)	4 (17)	2 (8)	
Both	5 (18)	2 (9)	4 (17)	
No	11 (39)	9 (39)	15 (63)	
Unknown	2 (7)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Biological relatives with type 2 diabetes				0.37
Parents/siblings	2 (7)	5 (22)	4 (17)	
Grandparents/aunts/uncles	10 (36)	8 (35)	5 (21)	
Both	1 (4)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
No	13 (46)	10 (43)	15 (63)	
Unknown	2 (7)	0 (0)	0 (0)	

V. RESULTS

Biological relatives with high blood pressure				0.18
Parents/siblings	5 (18)	3 (13)	7 (29)	
Grandparents/aunts/uncles	13 (46)	11 (48)	5 (21)	
Both	2 (7)	1 (4)	5 (21)	
No	6 (21)	8 (35)	7 (29)	
Unknown	2 (7)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Biological relatives of with high cholesterol				0.16
Parents/siblings	7 (25)	7 (30)	8 (33)	
Grandparents/aunts/uncles	6 (21)	4 (17)	5 (21)	
Both	5 (18)	6 (26)	0 (0)	
No	8 (29)	6 (26)	11 (46)	
Unknown	2 (7)	0 (0)	0 (0)	
Biological relatives with heart disease/stroke				0.85
Parents/siblings	1 (4)	2 (9)	1 (4)	
Grandparents/aunts/uncles	12 (43)	8 (35)	9 (38)	
Both	0 (0)	1 (4)	0 (0)	
No	13 (46)	11 (48)	14 (58)	
Unknown	2 (7)	1 (4)	0 (0)	

Values are median (minimum, maximum). CV = cardiovascular.

9. ADJUSTMENT FOR POTENTIAL CONFOUNDERS

As seen in **Table 16**, despite efforts at frequency matching, there were differences between the treatment groups with respect to potential confounding variables including age at treatment and the presence of a BAV (known to be associated with impaired aortic elasticity).⁴⁰⁶ Analyses to assess the impact of these confounding variables are summarized in **Table 28**, **Table 29** and **Table 30**.

As seen in **Table 28**, age at treatment was significantly associated with AAO strain, Endo-PAT index, right arm diastolic BP, and 24-hour diastolic BP but not with other key outcome variables:

	1-3	4-9	10-14	≥15	p Value
MRI proximal PWV (m/s)	4.8 ± 2.1	4.2 ± 1.1	5.6 ± 4.4	4.9 ± 1.3	0.35
AAO strain (%)	0.48 ± 0.24	0.44 ± 0.16	0.45 ± 0.24	0.28 ± 0.15	0.02
cfPWV (m/s)	5.4 ± 1.1	4.8 ± 0.8	5.4 ± 1.1	5.3 ± 0.9	0.13
AI (%)	-12 ± 14	-14 ± 20	-7 ±18	-3 ± 19	0.21
Endo-PAT index	1.85 ± 0.55	1.89 ± 0.72	2.50 ± 0.73	2.34 ± 0.75	0.02
Right arm SBP (mm Hg)	121 ± 14	117 ± 12	124 ± 13	123 ± 12	0.34
Right arm DBP (mm Hg)	61 ± 5	63 ± 9	69 ± 11	68 ± 11	0.05
24-hour average SBP (mm Hg)	119 ± 14	120 ± 11	124 ± 8	126 ± 10	0.20
24-hour average DBP (mm Hg)	66 ± 8	64 ± 7	69 ± 7	71 ± 8	0.04
HTN Classification					0.14
No HTN	7 (58%)	19 (70%)	9 (53%)	6 (35%)	
White coat HTN	1 (8%)	1 (4%)	2 (12%)	1 (6%)	
HTN/Masked HTN/Anti HTN meds	4 (33%)	7 (26%)	6 (35%)	10 (59%)	
Peak exercise right arm SBP (mm Hg)	161 ± 34	169 ± 35	170 ± 27	180 ± 33	0.47
hs-CRP (mg/L)	127 (104, 146)	127 (66, 143)	129 (86, 149)	128 (98, 146)	0.67
MMP-9/gelatinase B (ng/mL)	707	411 (91, 2004)	515 (487, 3157)	409 (150, 4453)	0.15

Table 28. Assessment for confounding by age at treatment

Values are mean ± standard deviation, number (percent), or median (minimum; maximum). AAO = Ascending aorta; AI = Augmentation index; cfPWV = carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity; DBP = Diastolic blood pressure; Endo-PAT = Endothelial pulse amplitude testing; hs-CRP = High sensitivity C-reactive protein; HTN = Hypertension; MMP = matrix metalloprotease; MRI = Magnetic resonance imaging; PWV = Pulse wave velocity; SBP = Systolic blood pressure.

As seen in **Table 29**, the presence of BAV was not significanly associated with any outcome variables:

Tuble 23. Assessment for conjounding by presence of bAV				
	BAV	No BAV	p Value	
MRI proximal PWV (m/s)	5.2 ± 3.1	4.2 ± 1.1	0.07	
AAO strain (%)	0.37 ± 0.19	0.46 ± 0.21	0.07	
cfPWV (m/s)	5.2 ± 0.8	5.1 ± 1.2	0.75	
AI (%)	-7 ± 18	-14 ± 19	0.14	
PAT index	2.13 ± 0.75	2.17 ± 0.75	0.79	
Right arm SBP (mm Hg)	122 ± 12	119 ± 13	0.21	
Right arm DBP (mm Hg)	66 ± 10	64 ± 9	0.47	
24-hour average SBP (mm Hg)	121 ± 12	123 ± 10	0.54	
24-hour average DBP (mm Hg)	68 ± 8	67 ± 7	0.68	
HTN Classification			0.86	
No HTN	22 (55%)	18 (58%)		
White coat HTN	3 (7%)	1 (3%)		
HTN/Masked HTN/Anti HTN meds	15 (38%)	12 (39%)		
Unknown	2	1		
Peak exercise right arm SBP (mm Hg)	174 ± 32	166 ± 34	0.29	
High sensitivity CRP (mg/L)	128 (74, 149)	128 (66, 146)	0.98	
MMP-9/gelatinase B (ng/mL)	488 (91, 4228)	546 (49, 4453)	0.45	

Table 29. Assessment for confounding by presence of BAV

Values are mean ± standard deviation, number (percent), or median (minimum; maximum). AAO = Ascending aorta; AI = Augmentation index; cfPWV = carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity; DBP = Diastolic blood pressure; Endo-PAT = Endothelial pulse amplitude testing; hs-CRP = High sensitivity C-reactive protein; HTN = Hypertension; MMP = matrix metalloprotease; MRI = Magnetic resonance imaging; PWV = Pulse wave velocity; SBP = Systolic blood pressure.

Table 28 summarizes the results of multivariable modeling comparing key outcome variables between treatment groups while adjusting for these confounding variables (age at treatment and presence of BAV). Adjusted and unadjusted models did not differ significantly for these key outcome variables, suggesting that the impact of these potential confounding variables on our study measurements was not significant.

Table 30. Adjustment for potential confounders

	Unadjusted Model		Adjusted N	1odel
	Coefficient	p value	Coefficient	p value
CMR proximal PWV (m/s)			1	
Balloon dilation	-0.76	0.29	-0.49	0.50
Stent	0.77	0.26	0.87	0.28
AAO strain (%)				
Balloon dilation	0.14	0.02	0.12	0.04
Stent	-0.02	0.73	0.03	0.68
cfPWV (m/s)				
Balloon dilation	0.05	0.84	0.07	0.79
Stent	-0.20	0.46	-0.54	0.09
Alx (%)				
Balloon dilation	8.65	0.08	10.6	0.04
Stent	18.3	0.001	18.0	0.003
Endo-PAT index				
Balloon dilation	-0.15	0.48	-0.12	0.59
Stent	0.11	0.62	-0.12	0.64
24-hour average SBP (mm Hg)				
Balloon dilation	-4.99	0.12	-5.24	0.11
Stent	0.42	0.89	-2.30	0.36
24-hour average DBP (mm Hg)				
Balloon dilation	-1.15	0.60	-0.26	0.91
Stent	0.48	0.83	-2.57	0.29
Peak exercise right arm SBP (mm Hg)				
Balloon dilation	-20.1	0.03	-19.3	0.04
Stent	-0.28	0.97	-3.28	0.76
Log hs-CRP (mg/L)				
Balloon dilation	-0.07	0.07	-0.07	0.10
Stent	0.02	0.65	0.03	0.54
Log MMP-9/gelatinase B (ng/mL)				
Balloon dilation	0.53	0.02	0.64	0.01
Stent	-0.27	0.22	-0.29	0.28

Multivariable linear models adjusted for age at treatment and presence of bicuspid aortic valve. For each comparison, the surgical group is the reference group. AAO = ascending aorta; AI = augmentation index; CMR = cardiac magnetic resonance imaging; DBP = diastolic blood pressure; hs-CRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein; MMP-9 = matrix metalloprotease 9; PWV = pulse wave velocity; SBP = systolic blood pressure

VI.DISCUSSION

LOVE-COARCT Study

In this multicenter, prospective comparison of optimally treated patients with CoA treated with surgery, BD, or stenting, we found that the treatment groups were similar with respect to several parameters of vascular function including the prevalence of systemic HTN, global aortic stiffness, CAP, endothelial function, and LV mass. However, despite adjustment for potential confounding variables (including age at repair), the BD group showed a better vascular phenotype characterized by a more distensible AAO, a lower peak SBP during exercise, and less impairment in diurnal BP variation.

1. STUDY SUBJECTS

Our study groups differed by age at treatment, with older stent patients than surgical and BD patients. This is not surprising, considering that LOVE-COARCT was designed to include patients with more than one year old (yo) at treatment, and that stent patients usually have more than 6 yo at this time (please refer to Background, section 1.8.6.). However, this was also likely unavoidable: an earlier draft of the study design specified that the lower limit for recruitment was patients older 6 yo at time of treatment, however a preliminary review of the participating center's databases showed that this would exclude a significant part of the BD and surgical patients and render recruitment nearly impossible. To address this, our approach was therefore to implement a careful adjustment for potential confounding by age at treatment and other variables and found to have no impact on our results (please refer to Methods, section 7.1).

Many retrospective studies showed a correlation between older age of treatment and worse BP phenotype and vascular function.^{207, 216, 227, 229, 230, 242, 251, 335, 338, 345, 349, 356, 375-378} Early studies reporting the outcome of large cohorts of surgical patients showed that late HTN and CV mortality were strongly related to age at surgery.^{251, 335, 338} The first study designed to specifically assess the impact of early surgery on BP showed that patients operated in infancy had less HTN (4%) than those treated later (27%).³⁷⁷ The first report demonstrating that the timing of operation has a selective impact on specific measures of vascular function was a cohort of 64 surgical patients (median age at operation 4 months old), where it was shown that patients who underwent surgical repair of CoA < 4 months of life had normal PWV (measured by photoplethysmography) but impaired brachial artery reactivity (measured by NO-dependent FMD and NO-independent nitroglycerin infusion).³⁴⁵ Another cohort of older surgical patients confirmed these findings, and showed that persistent

LOVE-COARCT Study

impairment of arterial reactivity after repair of coarctation was more likely to be present in patients treated > 9 yo, than in those treated < 9 yo, when compared to controls.³⁷⁵ Since these publications, other indices of vascular dysfunction have also been associated with older age of repair or transcatheter treatment.^{207, 216, 230, 242, 409}

A few papers that studied the impact of repair in vascular function prospectively, found that the elastic properties remain impaired after repair.^{66, 224, 228, 352, 354, 355} One interesting study reported the results of an experimental model of CoA in rabbits, that was created with silk (permanent) or Vicryl (degradable) suture. 12 weeks beyond the time for the biodegradable suture and hence the induced CoA to disappear, these animals remained with altered BP and endothelial function.⁶⁶ In humans, prospective assessment of vascular function was reported in three small studies, after stent implantation (one with 12 patients,²²⁴ and another with 13 patients)²²⁸ or BD (13 patients).³⁵⁵ The results showed that the ascending aortic elastic properties and other indices of vascular function remained abnormal after repair. Another small study (15 patients) reported similar finding in the mid-term follow up, after stent implantation.³⁵⁴ Finally, a study found that, even after neonatal repair (15 patients), patients remain with impaired elastic properties of the aorta, at a mean age of 3.0 ± 1.0 years.³⁵²

All these studies concurred to demonstrate that age at operation is a strong, independent variable associated with impaired vascular properties of the aorta. To address this difference in age at treatment between the three treatment groups- which we anticipated that could occur, in the study design phase- our approach was two-fold: at the recruitment stage, we attempted to frequency match the three treatment groups for what we considered the main confounding variables, age at treatment, current age and BAV; at the analysis stage, we implemented a careful adjustment for potential confounding by age at treatment (please refer to Methods, section 7.1). Our statistical analysis for the possible effect of confounding by age (and the other variables, which did not differ) showed that this had no impact on our results.

Importantly, LOVE-COARCT's three treatment groups had no difference in any other confounding variables. Current age did not differ between the three treatment groups. The mean age of our cohort is 18. Length of follow up is an important determinant of late vascular dysfunction and abnormal BP profile, as is demonstrated by a large study in which an immediate decrease of BP after treatment was followed by an increasing incidence

VI. DISCUSSION

of HTN after five years of follow up.³³⁷ In our cohort, there were no differences in the severity of native CoA (BP gradient, echocardiographic dimensions of arch and isthmus, and Doppler estimated gradient). Several studies showed that the severity of the CoA, the presence of reCoA or even a mild residual narrowing at the site of CoA repair predisposed to late HTN^{379, 380} and impaired vascular function,^{217, 381} but this was not confirmed in other studies, who found no impact of reCoA on vascular function.^{214, 348}

There were no differences between the incidence of BAV between the three treatment groups. As previously stated in the Background (please refer to Background, section 1.5.1), about half of the patients with CoA have this associated anomaly, which has been associated with impaired arterial stiffness.⁴⁰⁶ Despite observing no differences, we performed a statistical analysis, and found that the presence of BAV had no impact in LOVE-COARCT results.

76% of our cohort were male patients, which is in accordance to what has been described in previous studies of patients with CoA.^{21, 26}

2. AORTIC STIFFNESS

2.1. Global Assessment of the Aortic Wall

In LOVE-COARCT, global aortic stiffness assessed using cfPWV by applanation tonometry with the NIHem system (**Fig. 22**), or the SphygmoCor (**Fig. 23**), and using AAO to distal DAO PWV by CMR, did not show any differences between the three treatment groups. Segmental aortic stiffness of the aortic arch (AAO to prox DAO), mid (prox to mid DAO), and distal (mid to dist DAO) aorta did not also reveal any differences between treatment groups.



Fig. 22. Arterial tonometry with NIHem. Both carotid and femoral curves are superimposed in the same graphic, calibrated with blood pressure and time. The proprietary software analyses the pulse wave contour and automatically marks the critical points with a spike and measures the distances, to calculate the carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (purple), pulse pressure (red) and augmentation index (green). (Image from a LOVE-COARCT patient)..

It is of note that, despite the non-significance of any of these results, the values of the arch PWV, the segmental measure that is mostly focused on the treated segment of the aorta, are the ones that suggest a potential difference (BD 4.0 ± 1.2 m/s, surgery 4.7 ± 1.5 m/s, and stent 5.5 ± 3.8 m/s) but do not reach statistical significance in our sample (0.12). This difference is effaced when healthier segments of the aorta are involved in the PWV estimation.

VI. DISCUSSION





There are no previous studies that compared the three different treatments for CoA with regard to global or segmental PWV, and three papers reported comparisons of arterial stiffness outcomes between different surgical techniques. One publication compared a small sample of 20 patients treated with end-to-end anastomosis and subclavian flap surgical, and found that right arm PWV was higher in the subclavian flap compared to end-to-end anastomosis patients, while the latter did not differ from controls.³⁸⁶ Another study, with 39 patients, found similar results.³⁸⁷ However, a third study, comparing these same two surgical techniques, found no difference in carotid to radial PWV.

There are several publications that reported comparisons between patients with CoA and healthy controls, which show that PWV is increased in arterial segments above (carotid-radial or brachial-radial)^{233, 345-349} but not across (carotid-femoral or brachial-ankle)^{72, 244, 349} or below (femoral-dorsalis pedis)³⁴⁵ the coarctation site. These studies have used different

techniques, including photoplethysmography,³⁴⁵⁻³⁴⁷ applanation tonometry^{244, 348, 349} or, more recently, by CMR.²³³

Regarding the healthy population, there are now a few pediatric studies, and a large number of large studies with adult populations that have reported data on applanation tonometry assessment of cfPWV.^{283, 410-412} Nevertheless, considering the number of covariates that are known to influence PWV in children, it is recommended that these 'normal' values be interpreted only for the specific device used.²⁶⁷ Therefore, we did not pursue any comparisons between the combined results of our three treatment groups as a whole, and those values.

CMR has an excellent spatial and temporal resolution, and low interobserver error,⁴¹³ but only a few studies have used it to characterize AAO to DAO PWV. Therefore, despite the well standardized protocols that were used for measuring CMR PWV, we did not have a control group and therefore these comparisons need be read carefully.

2.2. Segmental Assessment of the Aortic Wall

In LOVE-COARCT, this was done with CMR. The segmental assessment of the aortic wall with PWV and other distensibility measures of arterial stiffness that relate arterial dimensions vs. pressure by CMR (strain, distensibility, compliance and β stiffness index), differences emerged between treatment groups. Proximal aortic (AAO and aortic arch) stiffness was lowest in BD patients and highest in stent patients. Surgical patients had intermediate values of stiffness. AAO distensibility in BD patients was similar to values reported in normal controls, while patients in the stent and surgery groups had lower values.⁴¹⁴

There are no studies that compare the treatment techniques with regard to the assessment of segmental arterial function, but there are a few albeit small reports that compare patients with CoA and healthy controls, and this assessment was made using vascular ultrasound,^{228,} ^{244, 350-354} transthoracic,²²⁹ intracardiac,³⁵⁵ or transesophageal echocardiogram,^{242, 356} and, more recently, with CMR.^{233, 235} The older of these studies (23 patients), used transesophageal echocardiography, and found that patients with CoA treated with surgery have less distensible ascending aortas but normal descending aorta.³⁵⁶ More recently, two studies used CMR (one with 50 patients,²³⁵ another with 40 patients)²³³ to report that strain, distensibility, or β stiffness index were altered in the pre, but not the post-CoA aorta. A recent study used

VI. DISCUSSION

M-mode echocardiography to described similar findings in 17 neonates, who presented with impaired elastic properties of the ascending aorta.³⁵³ Finally, an increased proximal aortic stiffness evidenced by an elevated PWV and lower distensibility was reported in the largest study of the lot (64 patients) that were focused on surgical treatment for CoA, in comparison to healthy controls.³⁵³ We were careful to use simultaneous BP measurements with the CMR, for the calculations of compliance and other variables. We acknowledge the limitation of using brachial artery BP instead of invasive aortic pressure measurements, but, for ethical and practical reasons, this was not feasible.

Segmental values of normal arch PWV obtained by CMR for adolescents have been published.⁴¹⁴ The combined result of our three treatment groups have values that appear higher than those.

All of these previous data point to the presence of an altered vascular function in the segments above, but not below, CoA. This is even more significant when one considers that in normal subjects, the elastic properties of the aorta decrease as distance from the aortic root increases,⁴¹⁵ which is precisely the inverse of what we and the previous studies found. LOVE-COARCT's results are in line with these works.

However, our study is the first to systematically compare aortic stiffness across treatment modalities and, more importantly, observing a difference between them. This significant result supports the LOVE-COARCT's study hypothesis. However, the mechanism leading to a more distensible proximal aorta in BD patients remains unclear and our study was not designed to answer that question. It is possible that the absence of a surgical scar or rigid stent at the isthmus contributes to a lower stiffness at the CoA site. We acknowledge that the BD group underwent treatment at a younger age, however differences in AAO stiffness persisted after adjustment for age at treatment.

3. ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION

In LOVE-COARCT, we measured endothelial function with Endo-PAT, which is a novel noninvasive and reproducible technique that assesses changes in pulsatile arterial volume with a fingertip probe (**Fig. 24**):

LOVE-COARCT Study



Fig. 24. Endo-PAT of a LOVE-COARCT patient. The upper tracing is control finger and the lower tracing depicts the test finger, in the contralateral arm. After a baseline period, there is a temporary cuff occlusion, followed by cuff deflation. The dilation in pulse amplitude is measured automatically by the proprietary software, to calculate the reactive hyperemia index, shown in the lower tracing. (Image from a LOVE-COARCT patient).

Our results did not show a difference between the three treatment groups with regard Endo-PAT's index, RHI. To the best of our knowledge, the effect of treatment type on endothelial function has not been previously studied in CoA. Our results are therefore the first to report Endo-PAT's RHI index in patients with CoA, similar across treatment groups.

There are, however, a significant number of studies that reported the arterial reactivity in patients with CoA and compared it to normals. The majority of these studies show that both vascular flow-mediated (endothelium-mediated) and glyceryltrinitrate-mediated (endothelium-independent) dilation are impaired in successfully repaired CoA patients.^{217, 224, 328, 345, 347, 348, 350, 359-361} The oldest of these studies is a 25 yo study, that is remarkable for having been done only two years after the first clinical report of the FMD technique, by the same group, merely two years before.³⁰⁰ It is of note that, only a minority of studies failed to demonstrate impaired reactivity in retinal,³³³ peripheral^{362, 363} or coronary³⁶³ arteries of repaired CoA patients when compared to controls. The majority of these studies were done with either photoplethysmography or echo-measured changes in the brachial artery mediated by flow (FMD), but a minority was done with Endo-PAT.^{362, 374}

Our RHI results, either individually for each treatment type, or combining them as a single group, suggest that endothelial function is preserved after CoA treatment in our LOVE-COARCT patients. This comparison is done with the seminal study that established normal

VI. DISCUSSION

values in healthy children and adolescents, which is less than a decade-old.³⁰⁴ Our protocol was designed and implemented by the authors of this study. In CoA, the loss of central aortic pulsatility, which buffers systole, generates chronic shear stress downstream in smaller arteries, adversely affecting endothelial function. Therefore, we expected to measure an impaired endothelial function with Endo-PAT. There are only two publications that used Endo-PAT to study endothelial function in CoA.^{362, 374} And, interestingly, the values obtained in our cohort are comparable to those reported using a similar technique in a small cohort (20 patients), comprised of mostly end-to-end surgically repaired CoA.³⁶² However, the other existent study (23 patients) described an impaired endothelial function in another group of surgical patients, the majority repaired by subclavian flap. The age and follow up is similar in these two studies and one possible, but speculative explanation, could be the different surgical techniques.

4. PULSE WAVEFORM ANALYSIS

In LOVE-COARCT, there were no differences in the results of pulse waveform analysis between treatment groups, both with applanation tonometry and Endo-PAT results. The lack of difference in calculated central aortic pressure is in line with our findings of BP profile, presented in the following section 5. We anticipated that the presence of an undistendable metallic stent could translate into more reflected waves and higher Alx than in the other two treatment groups. However, despite a tendency for a higher Alx@75 calculated with both applanation tonometry and Endo-PAT in the stent group, this did not reach statistical significance in our results.

The analysis of the pressure waveform is an important clinical tool for monitoring of vascular function and its indices are independent markers, and predictors of cardiovascular events.²⁸⁷ It is also an important instrument to assess response to treatment, as the large Conduit Artery Function Evaluation (CAFE) study showed that the differential impact of BP–lowering drugs was only detected on pulse wave analysis and not on office BP measurements.⁴¹⁶ Peripheral reflected pulse waves return to the aortic root rapidly via stiffer arteries, which can augment systolic pressure leading to increased central pulse pressure. There are no previous studies that compared results of pulse wave analysis between treatment types. There are, however, several studies showing that repaired CoA patients have altered functional parameters of the pressure waveform, such as a higher Alx,^{224, 348, 364} a wider PP,^{75, 358} or an increased central aortic pressure.

LOVE-COARCT Study

the pulse waveform morphology, showed an increased PP but not a higher AIx in 46 surgical patients, as compared to healthy controls.³⁵⁸ There is one study that has mostly surgical but a few stent patients,³⁶⁴ one reporting only stent patients,³⁴⁸ and the remainder are based on patients with CoA that were treated with different surgical techniques.

There are several reasons for a careful comparison between these studies and our LOVE-COARCT results: all of these studies were done in adults, and the mean age of their patients (from 25 to 41 yo) is higher than in our LOVE-COARCT cohort (18 yo); all of the above were done with tonometry and ours included both tonometry and Endo-PAT; it is well known that the pulse waveform changes with age, so comparisons between our study should be done with care; and finally, even if central BP and AIx do not depend upon any distance measurements, they are somewhat operator-dependent and require a tonometric skill set of the operator,²⁶⁸ which should be underlined in comparison with our results, which were obtained from multiple centers and different operators. Having stated this, one example of a comparison that should be done with care is the finding of negative AIx, such as we had in LOVE-COARCT, is common in children, but not in adults.⁴¹⁷

5. BP PHENOTYPE

To achieve a detailed characterization of the BP profile, we assessed BP with four different approaches. We used the manual auscultation technique to measure the right arm office BP while the patient is resting and sitting. This was followed by supine four extremity oscillometric BP measurement to assess for reCoA (section 1). Subsequently, we used ABPM to measure the circadian BP profile. And finally, our patients performed an EST to assess the BP response to exercise and exercise-induced arm to leg BP gradient, exercise tolerance, HR response to exercise, and functional capacity parameters.

5.1. Office BP

In LOVE-COARCT, we found no differences of office BP measurements between treatment groups. A pilot, retrospective study from our group, compared the BP response to EST

VI. DISCUSSION

between the three CoA treatment types, BD (12 patients), stent implantation (8 patients) and surgery (4 end-to-end, and 8 subclavian flap), and found that BD patients had a less exaggerated BP response and less arm to leg gradient, in comparison with the other two types of treatment.³⁷⁸ There is only one prior study that reported a comparison between the three treatment types (350 surgery, BD, and stent patients; 36 institutions) of BP phenotype long-term outcomes.¹³⁰ Here, it was described that, in the intermediate follow up, there may be more normotensive patients treated by BD (72%) vs. surgery (96%) and stent (82%), but this falls short of reaching statistical significance (p = 0.09); and in a subgroup analysis (age 6 to 12 yo), the short term results show that patients have less anti HTN medication, however the values of SBP do not differ between the three groups. These values need to be interpreted with care, since this is a retrospective study with 36 contributing institutions, distinct methods to acquire BP, and a different definition of office HTN than the one we used in LOVE-COARCT. Three retrospective studies compared the influence of surgical technique on BP outcomes: a small study (10 end-to-end anastomosis; 11 subclavian flap);³⁸⁶ a midsized study (21 end-to-end anastomosis; 22 subclavian flap),³⁸⁵ and a large study (137 endto-end anastomosis; 118 polytetrafluoroethylene patch aortoplasty).¹¹⁹ All reported that end-to-end anastomosis, has less HTN than the other surgical approaches.

Overall, 44% of our patients had pre-HTN and 9% had either Stage 1 or Stage 2 office HTN. The prevalence of HTN on office measurement were within the range of prior reports (12-65%).^{130, 154, 166, 177, 203-215} Most studies do not publish the methodology of the measurement of BP (seated or lying down, method to choose the size of cuff, the number of measurements taken, and in how many clinic visits). Consequently, comparisons need to be done carefully. Additionally, these reports differ significantly in their definition of HTN, which can be in children from a SBP > 90 percentile (in older studies),²⁰⁵ SBP or DBP \ge 95 percentile,²⁰⁷ or SBP \geq 97.5 percentile of normal subjects (age and sex adjusted);¹³⁰ in adults a value of SBP > 140 or DBP > 90;²⁰⁷ and in any age group, the use antihypertensive drug treatment, HTN at ABPM, or during exercise.²¹³ This latter study is, in fact, the largest, single center study on HTN in CoA (Coarctation Long-term Assessment (COALA) Study), which reports that only 43% of 404 patients had a normal BP profile. Another factor to take into consideration when comparing our overall results with other studies is the length of follow up, because, age (in the general population) and time from treatment (in patients with CoA)⁸⁹ are both associated with increased incidence of HTN. Our cohort has a younger age than most of the above mentioned studies. Despite all existent epidemiologic data on BP in repaired CoA, we still don't fully understand the mechanisms underlying HTN in these patients.⁴¹⁸ One study described that HTN, and not CoA itself, was an independent risk factor for CV complications in these patients.⁴¹⁹

5.2. ABPM

In LOVE-COARCT, there were no differences between treatment groups with respect to the prevalence of HTN on ABPM, or the average 24-hour systolic or diastolic BP. However, we did find that BD patients demonstrated lower night-time systolic and diastolic BP, and more physiologic nighttime dipping in BP, compared to the surgery and stent groups. This improved BP phenotype in the BD group, in comparison to the other two treatment groups, has not been previously reported and is in line with our study hypothesis. The only previous comparison of ABPM results between treatment types are a two small studies (one with 43,³⁸⁵ and another with 39 patients)²³⁰ that showed end-to-end anastomosis to have better 24-hour SBP and DBP, and daytime and nighttime SBP during ambulatory monitoring than patients repaired with subclavian flap technique). Our finding of blunted nighttime dipping and lower nighttime BP has been previously linked to the development and progression of end-organ disease in patients with essential HTN, diabetes mellitus, obesity, and black race.⁴²⁰ Nevertheless, the impact of this finding on long-term outcomes in CoA patients deserves further study.

Overall, 36% of the LOVE-COARCT patients were either on an anti-hypertensive medication or had HTN/masked HTN based on ABPM results. ABPM may be superior to office BP measurement in its ability to distinguish patients at the highest risk for target-organ damage,⁴⁰² and identifies patients with vascular disfunction such as increased arterial stiffness⁴²¹ and endothelial dysfunction.⁴²² In prior studies in patients with CoA, the diagnosis of HTN based on ABPM was between 30-59%.^{72, 75, 213, 216-225} As was said for office HTN, the definitions of HTN on ABMP studies vary between studies and therefore, and therefore any detailed comparisons between LOVE-COARCT and these studies should be done with care.

5.3. EST

In LOVE-COARCT, the EST results showed that the BD group showed a less exaggerated BP elevation to exercise, compared to the surgery and stent groups. There is only one study

VI. DISCUSSION

that compared CoA treatments with regard to EST, already mentioned above. It reported exclusively on two surgical techniques, and showed that end-to-end anastomosis has less systolic BP at peak exercise when compared to subclavian flap.³⁸⁵ In the general population, exercise-induced HTN has been shown to be predictive of future development of resting HTN,⁴²³ and an independent risk factor for cardiovascular events and mortality.⁴²⁴ This finding also aligns with our study hypothesis and requires further study to assess its clinical impact, currently unknown in a population of treated CoA patients.

We did not calculate overall measurements for the entire LOVE-COARCT cohort (please refer to Methods, section 6.4.3). However, the abnormal BP profile with exercise that persists after treatment for CoA has been abundantly demonstrated in the last decades, with all treatment techniques, with exercise-induced HTN (10-47%)^{210-217, 220, 327-332} or intolerance ^{332, 425, 426} and exaggerated BP response to exercise correlated with LV mass.⁴²⁷ However, a few studies were unable to show HTN response compared to controls.^{214, 221, 428} As previously stated, comparisons need to be done carefully, due to different methodologies applied in different studies. For example, HTN during exercise can be defined when the peak SBP is greater than two standard deviations more than the age- and work load–dependent reference value,²¹³ when the peak SBP higher than 220 mmHg in men and higher than 190 mmHg in women,²¹⁶ or if the SBP has an increase higher than the 95th percentile for their age and sex.²¹⁵

6. LV MASS AND AORTIC MORPHOMETRICS

6.1. LV Mass

In LOVE-COARCT, despite some differences in BP phenotype and other indices of vascular function, we found that LV end-diastolic volume, LV mass and LV ejection fraction were similar across treatment groups. Furthermore, these values were normal when compared to previously reported values in healthy subjects.⁴²⁹ There are no studies comparing treatment types with regard to LV volumes, mass, and function. However, The increased pressure afterload after repair has been shown to increase LV mass, both by echocardiogram^{217, 221, 227-232} or CMR,^{75, 231, 233-236} which may justify the finding of a normal or increased global LV function based on echocardiography,^{221, 237-241} or CMR^{369, 430} but not accurately reflect myocardial

performance. Recent studies, including tissue Doppler, speckle tracking and strain imaging have also shown abnormal regional fiber shortening^{225, 229, 230, 232, 234, 235, 238, 242-246} and diastolic dysfunction.^{230, 232, 238, 244, 247, 248} The Framingham Study has shown that the incidence of left ventricular hypertrophy is strongly related to high BP and carries a grave prognosis for cardiac events.⁴³¹

Overall, our results contrast with this evidence of previously reported increased LV mass values in patients with repaired CoA.²³³ In effect, our LV mass values were lower compared to this prior report but are similar to the values reported in a more recent publication, which had a similar age at enrollment as our sample.²²⁶ One possible explanation for the absence of significant LV hypertrophy in LOVE-COARCT may be related to the relatively young age of our patients, and good blood-pressure control in our population, in comparison to most of the studies that were previously published, in adult populations, with more HTN. To prove this point, there is one previous work that studied a group of treated children with a young age (mean age 6.4 ± 3.0) who had compromised elastic properties of the ascending aorta after successful surgical coarctoplasty compared to controls, but similar LV mass compared to our LOVE-COARCT study.⁴³²

6.2. Aortic Morphometrics

In LOVE-COARCT, we did not see any difference in the size or shape of the aortic arch between the three treatment groups. Several papers, mostly from the same research group, have described that the shape of the aortic arch impacts the vascular function, namely age-related decrease in curvature⁴³³ or (conversely) a gothic arch is a predictor of both resting^{208, 371} and exercise-induced HTN³⁷² as well as increased aortic stiffness.³⁵⁰, ³⁷³ However, these later results were unconfirmed in studies from different groups.^{434, 435} Despite these controversial findings, the congenital heart community is now aware that the arch shape may impact blood flow hemodynamics and potentially vascular function.⁴³⁶
7. BIOMARKERS

7.1. Endothelial function

In LOVE-COARCT, there were no differences in NOx or ADMA levels between treatment groups, consistent with the lack of difference in endothelial function using Endo-PAT. NOx and ADMA are biomarkers related to endothelial function, and their levels have been correlated with the risk of atherosclerosis due to endothelium-dependent NO regulation of smooth muscle-derived vascular tone, in the general population.⁴³⁷ There are no studies comparing treatment types, but recent insights are being gained regarding these biochemical and molecular pathways in repaired CoA patients. However, studies are small and often present contradictory results. Biomarkers of the nitric oxide-mediated endothelial function were found to be altered in animal models³⁶⁵ and patients with repaired CoA, including evidence of enhanced NO inactivation,^{347, 366} and increased ADMA levels. ³⁴⁷A different study did not find altered NO in CoA patients.³⁴⁷

7.2. Inflammation

In our study, BD patients had lower levels of hs-CRP, which supports our initial hypothesis. Inflammation is a second aspect that relates to vascular dysfunction.³⁰⁹ There are numerous markers of systemic inflammation, such as interleukins and hs-CRP, which act on the vascular endothelium to upregulate a number of adhesion molecules that reflect vascular wall function such as VCAM, with a crucial role in atherogenesis.^{315, 438} There are no comparisons of inflammation biomarkers between treatment types, and prior results of inflammatory biomarkers in patients with CoA are inconclusive. Inflammatory biomarkers such as TNF- α ³⁶⁷, IL-1 β ,³⁶⁰ IL-6^{349, 367, 439} and IL-10^{364, 367} or e-selectin are increased in repaired CoA. However, other studies showed no change in TNF- α ,³⁶⁴ IL-6,^{360, 364} e-selectin,^{367, 368} or high sensitivity C reactive protein (hs-CRP) in CoA patients.^{367, 368}

Three interesting studies, from the same group of investigators, explored the role of inflammation and its response to medication, in patients with repaired CoA. A randomized, cross-over, controlled trial study reported that, after treatment with ramipril for 4 weeks in 20 patients, there was an improvement in endothelial function and decrease in serum levels

of IL-6 and sVCAM-1, which was independent of the BP lowering.³⁸² A similar study, from the same group of investigators, showed that after 4 weeks of atorvastatin, CoA patients had reduced circulating levels of IL-1b and sVCAM-1, but no change in IL-6 levels.³⁸³ A third, and very recent study, performed an innovative assessment of the aortic wall inflammation with positron emission tomography/computed tomography with 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose,⁴²⁸ which is the gold-standard imaging modality to noninvasively assess vascular inflammation in vivo. In this pilot study (15 patients), they found that patients with surgically repaired CoA have increased aortic wall inflammation.

There is a strong association between hs-CRP and risk of cardiovascular disease, but, despite multiple larger population trials, there remains a lack of consensus regarding its clinical use, namely the cutoff value for increased risk, since this protein is influenced by sex, traditional CV risk factor such as HTN and lipids.⁴⁴⁰

7.3. Vascular remodeling

The third set of biomarkers that we assessed were the ones involved in a ortic wall remodeling. In LOVE-COARCT, values of both TFG-β1 and MMP-9 were elevated in the patients with CoA treated with BD, in comparison to the two other treatment types. There are no previous studies comparing CoA treatments in respect to vascular wall remodeling biomarkers in CoA, but patients with repaired CoA have altered biomarkers of the vascular wall function such as increased TGF-β,³⁴⁹ or adhesion molecules (sICAM-1, sVCAM-1).^{360, 364, 368} However, these results were unconfirmed in a different study where it was found, in contrary, that sICAM-1 and sVCAM-1 did not differ between CoA patients vs. controls.³⁶⁷ A recent study explored the expression of genes of aortic wall remodeling and stiffness, as well as the pathological examination of the aortic wall itself, in an animal model of experimental stent treatment for CoA.⁴⁴¹ They found that an increased expression of MMP-9 genes in the ascending, but not the descending, aorta which points to molecular mechanisms of aortic wall remodeling in stented CoA. TGF-β1, and the family of metalloproteinases (such as MMP-2, and MMP-9) are biomarkers related to fibrotic remodeling such as the aortic remodeling that occurs in response to hemodynamic changes.⁴⁴² Elevated circulating levels have been reported in dilated aortas in patients with inherited aortopathy,³¹⁷ and are biomarkers for the presence and risk of rupture of an aortic aneurysm.³²⁰ Experimental studies showed that increased aortic wall motion is associated with a higher risk of aneurism formation.⁴⁴³ This may explain our results in BD, who have an increased AAO strain and higher MMP-9 values The clinical implications of these findings are unclear and further research is needed to evaluate whether these biomarkers are related to the risk of aneurysm formation in the BD group, which has been a concern in this patient group.^{111, 154, 200-202}

8. IDEAL CV HEALTH

In LOVE-COARCT, there were no differences in the lifestyle characteristics of our three treatment groups (eating habits, exercise, smoking) or in the hereditary risk factors for CV disease (HTN, diabetes, obesity). The baseline metabolic assessment was also not different between the three treatment groups. The only minor finding was that BD patients ate more at home with the family than the other two treatment groups. Cultural differences may explain this finding, but our study was not designed to answer that question. Overall, these results are important to exclude the contribution of well-known risk factors in our LOVE-COARCT cohort and underline the validity of our other findings reported above. A growing body of literature in the general population has demonstrated that risk of cardiometabolic disease and accelerated atherosclerosis is mitigated by ideal cardiovascular health (ICVH),⁴⁰⁵ defined as having optimal levels of health factors (BP, total cholesterol, plasma glucose) and behaviors (smoking, body mass index, physical activity, and diet). All these factors have been well documented as risk factors for CV events, such as BMI (strongly linked to CV events in, as has been shown in a metanalysis of 239 prospective studies),⁴⁴⁴or lipid metabolism.⁴⁴⁵

To the best of our knowledge, the prevalence of ICVH in patients late after repair of coarctation, including the composite ICVH score and individual elements of ICVH, in unknown. LOVE-COARCT is the first study to report on ICVH in patients with CoA. This is important, since these patients experience increased CVD compared to the general population. Therefore, the control of traditional cardiovascular risk factors and knowledge of family history is particularly important.

9. STUDY LIMITATIONS

As previous authors have noted, research in CoA is challenging. ^{446, 447} There are several limitations to our study.

The first limitation of our study is related to the patient selection criteria. CoA is a heterogeneous disease, ranging from a simple discrete stenosis to a long tubular narrowing accompanied by aortic arch hypoplasia, and can occur as an isolated anomaly or coexist with other congenital heart defects. The choice of treatment modality is dictated by the age of presentation, the morphology of the CoA, the anatomy of the arch, the initial response to treatment (valid for percutaneous BD vs stent), and the associated anomalies. Some of these factors may play a role in vascular function outcome. Our restrictive inclusion and exclusion criteria excluded a significant subset of patients, namely those that required treatment in infancy or have anatomies that were not amenable to all treatment with all techniques. Therefore, our results reflect vascular function in isolated, discrete CoA and may not be representative of the population of CoA as a group. Specifically, our results may not be generalizable to neonatal and infantile CoA, which is on the one hand more severe at presentation but also on the other has an earlier treatment.

Our plan was to compare three treatment modalities, and, despite our attempted frequencymatching to balance the treatment groups with respect to key confounding variables, our groups were not perfectly matched for age at treatment. However, surprisingly, multivariable analyses (**Table 28**, **Table 29**, and **Table 30**) showed that these potential confounding variables (including age at repair) did not significantly affect the comparison of key variables between treatment groups.

Despite a multicenter design, our study is limited by a relatively low sample size. However, based on sample size estimates, the study had sufficient statistical power to detect group differences in CMR PWV. The multicenter design carries some other limitations. Retrospectively gathered data from medical records (e.g., surgical notes, original anatomy) of multiple centers makes it more likely that data may be missing for some participants. Variation in antihypertensive medication protocols between different institutions may also affect vascular parameters. Because some centers did not have a cycle ergometer, we chose the treadmill for the exercise test, which hinders the acquisition of metabolic data associated with anaerobic metabolism and makes the measurements of exercise BPs less reliable than those obtained with the cycle ergometer.

VI. DISCUSSION

We recognize that there is no single marker of vascular dysfunction and that large vessel and small vessel functions interact mechanistically and in terms of outcomes. Additionally, the study of the impact of treatment on the aortic wall in patients with CoA is challenging because these patients show a congenitally altered aortic wall compliance. Therefore, we studied both small and large arteries, BP phenotype, biomarkers and cardiovascular health status to comprehensively model cardiovascular event risk feature differences among the three treatment groups. This wide approach carried the intrinsic limitations of each specific test. To overcome this limitation, we standardized all methodologies, to reduce the variability of the study testing measures, and institute Core Laboratories where a single researcher is responsible for the interpretation and sometimes, as for the biomarkers, the execution of the technique. We prescribed a low-NO diet and non-smoking indication for participants but had no way of measuring the compliance with this diet other than the patient's assertion.

And, finally, we compared the vascular function after treatment but have no such pretreatment assessment of our patients. Consequently, despite our best efforts to create three treatment groups that do not differ with regard to the main confounders, the vascular function assessment of our patients does not take into consideration the baseline vascular dysfunction of each patient.

VII. CONCLUSIONS

CoA, a narrowing of the proximal descending aorta, is one of the most common congenital heart defects. There are several percutaneous and surgical techniques that may be equality effective ate relieving the stenosis. The persistence significant late cardiovascular morbidity and mortality showed that CoA is not a simple lesion that is "cured" with the relief of the anatomic narrowing but as a complex arterial syndrome that requires lifelong follow-up. As a recent editorialist wrote, "Simple CoA is an example of a disease process requiring us as clinicians to understand the interaction of inherent risk (genetic determinants, intrinsic arteriopathy) with superimposed anatomic (native and intervened aortic), physiological (compliance, BP, flow) and environmental (smoking, overweight, diabetes, sedentary lifestyle) modifiers, in a longitudinal construct".³⁸¹

With this quote as background, it was highlighted the emphasis has been placed in recent years on the long-term morbidity due to systemic vascular dysfunction in successfully treated CoA patients. The association between vascular dysfunction and cardiovascular events is well established in the general population. There is ample evidence to suggest that CoA is a systemic arterial disease and not merely a focal stenosis of the aortic isthmus. Despite this, the current management paradigm is often guided not only by CoA anatomy and patient age but often by anecdotal, personal and institutional preference, with the primary goal of alleviating the anatomic stenosis.

We aimed to clarify if the treatment modality could contribute to the well-known vascular dysfunction that exists late after CoA treatment. It was hypothesized that BD would be associated with the best vascular outcome since it is the approach that best preserves the arterial wall integrity. The LOVE-COARCT study was designed as a multicenter, prospective, observational trial to answer this question and constitutes the bulk of the present PhD dissertation thesis written by the candidate. This work will be the first systematic, focused and comprehensive comparison of vascular function between three different treatment modalities in CoA patients.

This PhD thesis dissertation compared the three treatments with well-established indices of vascular health. It was found that there was no difference between the three treatment groups in the most robust indices vascular function including the prevalence of systemic HTN, global aortic stiffness, endothelial function, and LV mass. However, we did find that the BD group showed a somewhat better vascular function phenotype with more physiologic nocturnal dipping in BP, a more distensible AAO and aortic arch, a lower peak SBP during

exercise, and lower blood levels of pro-inflammatory biomarkers. These results may be viewed as hypothesis generating basis for a randomized control trial, or a prospective, pre- and post-treatment vascular function assessment. The LOVE-COARCT database holds potential for several secondary analysis that may be performed in further studies.

To conclude, the LOVE-COARCT results suggest that the treatment modality may impact on (at least some indices) of vascular function and some merit to our initial hypothesis, that the introduction of a non-distensible stent or surgical scar may have more deleterious effects on late vascular function than simple BD. A lot needs to be clarified, including if the hard vascular outcomes, which were unchanged in our young sample will be affected in the long-term and what is the compromise in the conduit and cushioning aortic function in CoA. Further studies are required to confirm these results and to confirm that LOVE-COARCT may contribute to refining the CoA treatment paradigm by adding to the goals of therapy the preservation of vascular function when two or more treatment techniques are applicable.

VIII. REFERENCES

- 1. Townsend RR. Arterial Stiffness: Recommendations and Standardization. *Pulse (Basel)*. 2017;4:3-7.
- 2. Triedman JK and Newburger JW. Trends in Congenital Heart Disease: The Next Decade. *Circulation.* 2016;133:2716-33.
- 3. Celermajer DS and Greaves K. Survivors of coarctation repair: fixed but not cured. *Heart.* 2002;88:113-4.
- 4. Wiedemann HR. Earliest description by Johann Friedrich Meckel, Senior (1750) of what is known today as Lutembacher syndrome (1916). *Am J Med Genet.* 1994;53:59-64.
- 5. Shumacker HB, Jr., Nahrwold DL, King H and Waldhausen JA. Coarctation of the aorta. *Curr Probl Surg.* 1968:1-64.
- 6. Abbottt ME. Coarctation of the aorta of the adult type. Am Heart J. 1928;3.
- 7. Blalock A and Park EA. The surgical treatment of experimental coarctation (atresia) of the aorta. *Ann Surg.* 1944;119:445–456.
- 8. Gross RE and Hufnagel CA. Coarctation of the aorta: Experimental studies regarding its surgical correction. *New Eng J Med.* 1945;233.
- 9. Crafoord C and Nylin G. Congenital coarctation of the aorta and its surgical treatment. *J Thorac Surg.* 1945:347-61.
- 10. Vossschulte K. Surgical correction of coarctation of the aorta by an "isthmusplastic" operation. *Thorax.* 1961;16:338-45.
- 11. Waldhausen JA and Nahrwold DL. Repair of coarctation of the aorta with a subclavian flap. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 1966;51:532-3.
- 12. Singer MI, Rowen M and Dorsey TJ. Transluminal aortic balloon angioplasty for coarctation of the aorta in the newborn. *Am Heart J.* 1982;103:131-2.
- 13. Lock JE, Bass JL, Amplatz K, Fuhrman BP and Castaneda-Zuniga W. Balloon dilation angioplasty of aortic coarctations in infants and children. *Circulation.* 1983;68:109-16.
- 14. Palmaz JC, Windeler SA, Garcia F, Tio FO, Sibbitt RR and Reuter SR. Atherosclerotic rabbit aortas: expandable intraluminal grafting. *Radiology.* 1986;160:723-6.
- 15. Grifka RG, Vick GW, 3rd, O'Laughlin MP, Myers TJ, Morrow WR, Nihill MR, Kearney DL and Mullins CE. Balloon expandable intravascular stents: aortic implantation and late further dilation in growing minipigs. *Am Heart J.* 1993;126:979-84.

- 16. Suarez de Lezo J, Pan M, Romero M, Medina A, Segura J, Pavlovic D, Martinez C, Tejero I, Perez Navero J, Torres F and et al. Balloon-expandable stent repair of severe coarctation of aorta. *Am Heart J.* 1995;129:1002-8.
- 17. Lindesmith GG, Stanton RE, Stiles QR, Meyer BW and Jones JC. Coarctation of the thoracic aorta. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1971;11:482-97.
- 19. Xu J, Kochanek KD, Murphy SL and Tejada-Vera B. Deaths: final data for 2007. *National vital statistics reports : from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System.* 2010;58:1-135.
- 20. Organization WH. Word Healt Organization Child Causes of Death, 2000-2016. 2016.
- 21. Fyler DC, Buckley LP, Hellenbrand WE and Cohn HE. Report of the New England Regional Infant Cardiac Program. *Pediatrics.* 1980;65:375-461.
- 22. Mitchell SC, Korones SB and Berendes HW. Congenital heart disease in 56,109 births. Incidence and natural history. *Circulation*. 1971;43:323-32.
- 23. Samanek M, Slavik Z, Zborilova B, Hrobonova V, Voriskova M and Skovranek J. Prevalence, treatment, and outcome of heart disease in live-born children: a prospective analysis of 91,823 live-born children. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 1989;10:205-11.
- 24. Hoffman JI and Kaplan S. The incidence of congenital heart disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2002;39:1890-900.
- 25. Bjornard K, Riehle-Colarusso T, Gilboa SM and Correa A. Patterns in the prevalence of congenital heart defects, metropolitan Atlanta, 1978 to 2005. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol.* 2013;97:87-94.
- 26. Campbell M and Polani PE. The aetiology of coarctation of the aorta. *Lancet.* 1961;1:463-8.
- 27. Wollins DS, Ferencz C, Boughman JA and Loffredo CA. A population-based study of coarctation of the aorta: comparisons of infants with and without associated ventricular septal defect. *Teratology.* 2001;64:229-36.
- 28. McBride KL, Pignatelli R, Lewin M, Ho T, Fernbach S, Menesses A, Lam W, Leal SM, Kaplan N, Schliekelman P, Towbin JA and Belmont JW. Inheritance analysis of congenital left ventricular outflow tract obstruction malformations: Segregation, multiplex relative risk, and heritability. *Am J Med Genet A.* 2005;134A:180-6.

- 29. McBride KL, Zender GA, Fitzgerald-Butt SM, Koehler D, Menesses-Diaz A, Fernbach S, Lee K, Towbin JA, Leal S and Belmont JW. Linkage analysis of left ventricular outflow tract malformations (aortic valve stenosis, coarctation of the aorta, and hypoplastic left heart syndrome). *Eur J Hum Genet*. 2009;17:811-9.
- Tagariello A, Breuer C, Birkner Y, Schmidt S, Koch AM, Cesnjevar R, Ruffer A, Dittrich S, Schneider H, Winterpacht A, Sticht H, Dotsch J and Toka O. Functional null mutations in the gonosomal homologue gene TBL1Y are associated with non-syndromic coarctation of the aorta. *Curr Mol Med.* 2012;12:199-205.
- 31. Lalani SR, Ware SM, Wang X, Zapata G, Tian Q, Franco LM, Jiang Z, Bucasas K, Scott DA, Campeau PM, Hanchard N, Umana L, Cast A, Patel A, Cheung SW, McBride KL, Bray M, Craig Chinault A, Boggs BA, Huang M, Baker MR, Hamilton S, Towbin J, Jefferies JL, Fernbach SD, Potocki L and Belmont JW. MCTP2 is a dosage-sensitive gene required for cardiac outflow tract development. *Hum Mol Genet. 2013;22:4339-48.*
- 32. Quintero-Rivera F, Xi QJ, Keppler-Noreuil KM, Lee JH, Higgins AW, Anchan RM, Roberts AE, Seong IS, Fan X, Lage K, Lu LY, Tao J, Hu X, Berezney R, Gelb BD, Kamp A, Moskowitz IP, Lacro RV, Lu W, Morton CC, Gusella JF and Maas RL. MATR3 disruption in human and mouse associated with bicuspid aortic valve, aortic coarctation and patent ductus arteriosus. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2015;24:2375-89.
- Freylikhman O, Tatarinova T, Smolina N, Zhuk S, Klyushina A, Kiselev A, Moiseeva O, Sjoberg G, Malashicheva A and Kostareva A. Variants in the NOTCH1 gene in patients with aortic coarctation. *Congenit Heart Dis.* 2014;9:391-6.
- 34. Francis CM. Coarctation of the aorta: are genes relevant? *J Cardiovasc Surg (Torino)*. 2016;57:546-56.
- 35. Gotzsche CO, Krag-Olsen B, Nielsen J, Sorensen KE and Kristensen BO. Prevalence of cardiovascular malformations and association with karyotypes in Turner's syndrome. *Arch Dis Child*. 1994;71:433-6.
- 36. Barry A. The aortic arch derivatives in human adult. *Anat Rec.* 1951;111:221-38.
- 37. Craigie D. Instance of obliteration of the aorta beyond the arch illustrated by similar cases and observations. *Edinburgh Med & Surg J* 1841;56.
- 38. Skoda J. Protokoll der Sektions-Sitzung fur Physiologie und Pathologie, am 19. Okt kaiserlichkoniglichen Gesellschft der Aerzte zu Wien 1855:710-722.
- 39. Irvine AD. Coarctation of the Aorta. Can Med Assoc J. 1942;46:436-41.

- 40. Ho SY and Anderson RH. Coarctation, tubular hypoplasia, and the ductus arteriosus. Histological study of 35 specimens. *Br Heart J.* 1979;41:268-74.
- 41. Rosenberg HS. Coarctation of the aorta: morphology and pathogenetic considerations. *Perspect Pediatr Pathol.* 1973;1:339-68.
- 42. Yokoyama U, Ishiwata R, Jin MH, Kato Y, Suzuki O, Jin H, Ichikawa Y, Kumagaya S, Katayama Y, Fujita T, Okumura S, Sato M, Sugimoto Y, Aoki H, Suzuki S, Masuda M, Minamisawa S and Ishikawa Y. Inhibition of EP4 signaling attenuates aortic aneurysm formation. *PLoS One.* 2012;7:e36724.
- 43. Iwaki R, Matsuhisa H, Hoshino M and Oshima Y. Three-dimensional evaluation of ductal tissue in coarctation of the aorta using X-ray phase-contrast tomography. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2016;152:1454-1456.
- 44. Callahan PF, Quivers ES, Bradley LM, Sell JE and Martin GR. Echocardiographic evidence for a ductal tissue sling causing discrete coarctation of the aorta in the neonate: case report. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 1998;19:182-4.
- 45. Rudolph AM, Heymann MA and Spitznas U. Hemodynamic considerations in the development of narrowing of the aorta. *Am J Cardiol*. 1972;30:514-25.
- 46. Hu N, Christensen DA, Agrawal AK, Beaumont C, Clark EB and Hawkins JA. Dependence of aortic arch morphogenesis on intracardiac blood flow in the left atrial ligated chick embryo. *Anat Rec (Hoboken).* 2009;292:652-60.
- 47. Reifenstein GH, Levine SA and Gross RE. Coarctation of the aorta; a review of 104 autopsied cases of the adult type, 2 years of age or older. *Am Heart J.* 1947;33:146-68.
- 48. Campbell M. Natural history of coarctation of the aorta. *Br Heart J.* 1970;32:633-40.
- 49. Peng DM, Punn R, Maeda K and Selamet Tierney ES. Diagnosing Neonatal Aortic Coarctation in the Setting of Patent Ductus Arteriosus. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2016;101:1005-10.
- 50. Becker AE, Becker MJ and Edwards JE. Anomalies associated with coarctation of aorta: particular reference to infancy. *Circulation*. 1970;41:1067-75.
- 51. Roos-Hesselink JW, Scholzel BE, Heijdra RJ, Spitaels SE, Meijboom FJ, Boersma E, Bogers AJ and Simoons ML. Aortic valve and aortic arch pathology after coarctation repair. *Heart*. 2003;89:1074-7.
- 52. Connolly HM, Huston J, 3rd, Brown RD, Jr., Warnes CA, Ammash NM and Tajik AJ. Intracranial aneurysms in patients with coarctation of the aorta: a prospective magnetic resonance angiographic study of 100 patients. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2003;78:1491-9.

- 53. Jimenez M, Daret D, Choussat A and Bonnet J. Immunohistological and ultrastructural analysis of the intimal thickening in coarctation of human aorta. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1999;41:737-45.
- 54. Edwards JE, Christensen NA and et al. Pathologic considerations of coarctation of the aorta. *Proc Staff Meet Mayo Clin.* 1948;23:324-32.
- 55. Sehested J, Baandrup U and Mikkelsen E. Different reactivity and structure of the prestenotic and poststenotic aorta in human coarctation. Implications for baroreceptor function. *Circulation.* 1982;65:1060-5.
- 56. Isner JM, Donaldson RF, Fulton D, Bhan I, Payne DD and Cleveland RJ. Cystic medial necrosis in coarctation of the aorta: a potential factor contributing to adverse consequences observed after percutaneous balloon angioplasty of coarctation sites. *Circulation*. 1987;75:689-95.
- 57. Niwa K, Perloff JK, Bhuta SM, Laks H, Drinkwater DC, Child JS and Miner PD. Structural abnormalities of great arterial walls in congenital heart disease: light and electron microscopic analyses. *Circulation*. 2001;103:393-400.
- 58. Kim JE, Kim EK, Kim WH, Shim GH, Kim HS, Park JD, Bae EJ, Kim BI, Noh CI and Choi JH. Abnormally extended ductal tissue into the aorta is indicated by similar histopathology and shared apoptosis in patients with coarctation. *Int J Cardiol.* 2010;145:177-82.
- 59. Nistri S, Sorbo MD, Basso C and Thiene G. Bicuspid aortic valve: abnormal aortic elastic properties. *J Heart Valve Dis.* 2002;11:369-73; discussion 373-4.
- 60. Hom JJ, Ordovas K and Reddy GP. Velocity-encoded cine MR imaging in aortic coarctation: functional assessment of hemodynamic events. *Radiographics*. 2008;28:407-16.
- 61. O'Rourke MF. The arterial pulse in health and disease. *Am Heart J.* 1971;82:687-702.
- 62. Taylor SH and Donald KW. Circulatory studies at rest and during exercise in coarctation of the aorta before and after operation. *Br Heart J.* 1960;22:117-39.
- LaDisa JF, Jr., Bozdag S, Olson J, Ramchandran R, Kersten JR and Eddinger TJ. Gene Expression in Experimental Aortic Coarctation and Repair: Candidate Genes for Therapeutic Intervention? *PLoS One.* 2015;10:e0133356.
- 64. Qu J, Zhou J, Yi XP, Dong B, Zheng H, Miller LM, Wang X, Schneider MD and Li F. Cardiac-specific haploinsufficiency of beta-catenin attenuates cardiac hypertrophy but enhances fetal gene expression in response to aortic constriction. *J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2007;43:319-26.*
- Peterson RT, Shaw SY, Peterson TA, Milan DJ, Zhong TP, Schreiber SL, MacRae CA and Fishman MC. Chemical suppression of a genetic mutation in a zebrafish model of aortic coarctation. *Nat Biotechnol.* 2004;22:595-9.

- 66. Menon A, Eddinger TJ, Wang H, Wendell DC, Toth JM and LaDisa JF, Jr. Altered hemodynamics, endothelial function, and protein expression occur with aortic coarctation and persist after repair. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* 2012;303:H1304-18.
- 67. Hager A, Bildau J, Kreuder J, Kaemmerer H and Hess J. Impact of genomic polymorphism on arterial hypertension after aortic coarctation repair. *Int J Cardiol.* 2011;151:63-8.
- 68. Hager A, Bildau J, Kreuder J, Schreiber C, Kaemmerer H and Hess J. Exercise capacity after coarctation repair relates to the c.46A > G genomic polymorphism of the ss2-adrenoreceptor and the c.704T > C angiotensinogen polymorphism. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*. 2012;19:199-204.
- 69. Kuehl K, Loffredo C, Lammer EJ, Iovannisci DM and Shaw GM. Association of congenital cardiovascular malformations with 33 single nucleotide polymorphisms of selected cardiovascular disease-related genes. *Birth Defects Res A Clin Mol Teratol.* 2010;88:101-10.
- Parker FB, Jr., Streeten DH, Farrell B, Blackman MS, Sondheimer HM and Anderson GH, Jr. Preoperative and postoperative renin levels in coarctation of the aorta. *Circulation*. 1982;66:513-4.
- 71. Sanchez G, Posadas C, Millan A, Kuri J and Serrano PA. [The renin angiotensin system in the pathology of arterial hypertension of aortic coarctation]. *Arch Inst Cardiol Mex.* 1977;47:412-8.
- 72. Roegel JC, Heinrich E, De Jong W, Stephan D, Charpentier A, Eisenmann B and Imbs JL. Vascular and neuroendocrine components in altered blood pressure regulation after surgical repair of coarctation of the aorta. *J Hum Hypertens.* 1998;12:517-25.
- 73. Moltzer E, Mattace Raso FU, Karamermer Y, Boersma E, Webb GD, Simoons ML, Danser AH, van den Meiracker AH and Roos-Hesselink JW. Comparison of Candesartan versus Metoprolol for treatment of systemic hypertension after repaired aortic coarctation. *Am J Cardiol.* 2010;105:217-22.
- 74. Simsolo R, Grunfeld B, Gimenez M, Lopez M, Berri G, Becu L and Barontini M. Long-term systemic hypertension in children after successful repair of coarctation of the aorta. *Am Heart J.* 1988;115:1268-73.
- 75. Pedersen TA, Pedersen EB, Munk K, Hjortdal VE, Emmertsen K and Andersen NH. High pulse pressure is not associated with abnormal activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in repaired aortic coarctation. *J Hum Hypertens.* 2015;29:268-73.
- 76. Bailie MD, Donoso VS and Gonzalez NC. Role of the renin-angiotensin system in hypertension after coarctation of the aorta. *J Lab Clin Med.* 1984;104:553-62.
- 77. Guenthard J, Zumsteg U and Wyler F. Arm-leg pressure gradients on late follow-up after coarctation repair. Possible causes and implications. *Eur Heart J.* 1996;17:1572-5.

- 78. Beekman RH, Katz BP, Moorehead-Steffens C and Rocchini AP. Altered baroreceptor function in children with systolic hypertension after coarctation repair. *Am J Cardiol.* 1983;52:112-7.
- Polson JW, McCallion N, Waki H, Thorne G, Tooley MA, Paton JF and Wolf AR. Evidence for cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction in neonates with coarctation of the aorta. *Circulation*. 2006;113:2844-50.
- 80. Kenny D, Polson JW, Martin RP, Paton JF and Wolf AR. Normalization of autonomic function in children with coarctation of the aorta after surgical correction in infancy. *Hypertension*. 2009;54:e21-2.
- 81. Igler FO, Boerboom LE, Werner PH, Donegan JH, Zuperku EJ, Bonchek LI and Kampine JP. Coarctation of the aorta and baroreceptor resetting. A study of carotid baroreceptor stimulus-response characteristics before and after surgical repair in the dog. *Circ Res.* 1981;48:365-71.
- 82. Ungerleider RM, Pasquali SK, Welke KF, Wallace AS, Ootaki Y, Quartermain MD, Williams DA and Jacobs JP. Contemporary patterns of surgery and outcomes for aortic coarctation: an analysis of the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Congenital Heart Surgery Database. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2013;145:150-7; discussion 157-8.
- 83. Strafford MA, Griffiths SP and Gersony WM. Coarctation of the aorta: a study in delayed detection. *Pediatrics.* 1982;69:159-63.
- 84. Ward KE, Pryor RW, Matson JR, Razook JD, Thompson WM and Elkins RC. Delayed detection of coarctation in infancy: implications for timing of newborn follow-up. *Pediatrics*. 1990;86:972-6.
- 85. Ing FF, Starc TJ, Griffiths SP and Gersony WM. Early diagnosis of coarctation of the aorta in children: a continuing dilemma. *Pediatrics.* 1996;98:378-82.
- 86. Ziegler RF. The genesis and importance of the electrocardiogram in coarctation of the aorta. *Circulation*. 1954;9:371-80.
- 87. Sinha SN, Kardatzke ML, Cole RB, Muster AJ, Wessel HU and Paul MH. Coarctation of the aorta in infancy. *Circulation*. 1969;40:385-98.
- 88. Shinebourne EA, Tam AS, Elseed AM, Paneth M, Lennox SC and Cleland WP. Coarctation of the aorta in infancy and childhood. *Br Heart J*. 1976;38:375-80.
- 89. Prisant LM, Mawulawde K, Kapoor D and Joe C. Coarctation of the aorta: a secondary cause of hypertension. *J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich)*. 2004;6:347-50, 352.
- 90. Sharland GK, Chan KY and Allan LD. Coarctation of the aorta: difficulties in prenatal diagnosis. Br Heart J. 1994;71:70-5.
- 91. Jowett V, Aparicio P, Santhakumaran S, Seale A, Jicinska H and Gardiner HM. Sonographic predictors of surgery in fetal coarctation of the aorta. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol.* 2012;40:47-54.

- 92. Liberman RF, Getz KD, Lin AE, Higgins CA, Sekhavat S, Markenson GR and Anderka M. Delayed diagnosis of critical congenital heart defects: trends and associated factors. *Pediatrics*. 2014;134:e373-81.
- Brown KL, Ridout DA, Hoskote A, Verhulst L, Ricci M and Bull C. Delayed diagnosis of congenital heart disease worsens preoperative condition and outcome of surgery in neonates. *Heart*. 2006;92:1298-302.
- 94. Allan LD, Chita SK, Anderson RH, Fagg N, Crawford DC and Tynan MJ. Coarctation of the aorta in prenatal life: an echocardiographic, anatomical, and functional study. *Br Heart J.* 1988;59:356-60.
- 95. Hornberger LK, Weintraub RG, Pesonen E, Murillo-Olivas A, Simpson IA, Sahn C, Hagen-Ansert S and Sahn DJ. Echocardiographic study of the morphology and growth of the aortic arch in the human fetus. Observations related to the prenatal diagnosis of coarctation. *Circulation.* 1992;86:741-7.
- 96. Pasquini L, Mellander M, Seale A, Matsui H, Roughton M, Ho SY and Gardiner HM. Z-scores of the fetal aortic isthmus and duct: an aid to assessing arch hypoplasia. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol.* 2007;29:628-33.
- 97. Franklin O, Burch M, Manning N, Sleeman K, Gould S and Archer N. Prenatal diagnosis of coarctation of the aorta improves survival and reduces morbidity. *Heart.* 2002;87:67-9.
- 98. Sahn DJ, Allen HD, McDonald G and Goldberg SJ. Real-time cross-sectional echocardiographic diagnosis of coarctation of the aorta: a prospective study of echocardiographic-angiographic correlations. *Circulation*. 1977;56:762-9.
- 99. Marx GR and Allen HD. Accuracy and pitfalls of Doppler evaluation of the pressure gradient in aortic coarctation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1986;7:1379-85.
- 100. Carvalho JS, Redington AN, Shinebourne EA, Rigby ML and Gibson D. Continuous wave Doppler echocardiography and coarctation of the aorta: gradients and flow patterns in the assessment of severity. *Br Heart J.* 1990;64:133-7.
- 101. Dijkema EJ, Leiner T and Grotenhuis HB. Diagnosis, imaging and clinical management of aortic coarctation. *Heart.* 2017;103:1148-1155.
- 102. Nie P, Wang X, Cheng Z, Duan Y, Ji X, Chen J and Zhang H. The value of low-dose prospective ECG-gated dual-source CT angiography in the diagnosis of coarctation of the aorta in infants and children. *Clin Radiol.* 2012;67:738-45.
- 103. Nielsen JC, Powell AJ, Gauvreau K, Marcus EN, Prakash A and Geva T. Magnetic resonance imaging predictors of coarctation severity. *Circulation*. 2005;111:622-8.

- 104. Frydrychowicz A, Markl M, Hirtler D, Harloff A, Schlensak C, Geiger J, Stiller B and Arnold R. Aortic hemodynamics in patients with and without repair of aortic coarctation: in vivo analysis by 4D flow-sensitive magnetic resonance imaging. *Invest Radiol.* 2011;46:317-25.
- 105. Riesenkampff E, Fernandes JF, Meier S, Goubergrits L, Kropf S, Schubert S, Berger F, Hennemuth A and Kuehne T. Pressure fields by flow-sensitive, 4D, velocity-encoded CMR in patients with aortic coarctation. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2014;7:920-6.
- 106. Xu J, Zhao H, Wang X, Bai Y, Liu L, Liu Y, Wei M, Li J and Zheng M. Accuracy, image quality, and radiation dose of prospectively ECG-triggered high-pitch dual-source CT angiography in infants and children with complex coarctation of the aorta. *Acad Radiol.* 2014;21:1248-54.
- 107. Budoff MJ, Shittu A and Roy S. Use of cardiovascular computed tomography in the diagnosis and management of coarctation of the aorta. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2013;146:229-32*.
- 108. Baumgartner H, Bonhoeffer P, De Groot NM, de Haan F, Deanfield JE, Galie N, Gatzoulis MA, Gohlke-Baerwolf C, Kaemmerer H, Kilner P, Meijboom F, Mulder BJ, Oechslin E, Oliver JM, Serraf A, Szatmari A, Thaulow E, Vouhe PR, Walma E, Task Force on the Management of Grown-up Congenital Heart Disease of the European Society of C, Association for European Paediatric C and Guidelines ESCCfP. ESC Guidelines for the management of grown-up congenital heart disease (new version 2010). *Eur Heart J.* 2010;31:2915-57.
- 109. Warnes CA, Williams RG, Bashore TM, Child JS, Connolly HM, Dearani JA, del Nido P, Fasules JW, Graham TP, Jr., Hijazi ZM, Hunt SA, King ME, Landzberg MJ, Miner PD, Radford MJ, Walsh EP and Webb GD. ACC/AHA 2008 Guidelines for the Management of Adults with Congenital Heart Disease: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (writing committee to develop guidelines on the management of adults with congenital heart disease). *Circulation.* 2008;118:e714-833.
- 110. Silversides CK, Kiess M, Beauchesne L, Bradley T, Connelly M, Niwa K, Mulder B, Webb G, Colman J and Therrien J. Canadian Cardiovascular Society 2009 Consensus Conference on the management of adults with congenital heart disease: outflow tract obstruction, coarctation of the aorta, tetralogy of Fallot, Ebstein anomaly and Marfan's syndrome. *Can J Cardiol*. 2010;26:e80-97.
- 111. Suradi H and Hijazi ZM. Current management of coarctation of the aorta. *Glob Cardiol Sci Pract.* 2015;2015:44.
- 112. Coceani F, Olley PM and Bodach E. Lamb ductus arteriosus: effect of prostaglandin synthesis inhibitors on the muscle tone and the response to prostaglandin E2. *Prostaglandins*. 1975;9:299-308.
- 113. Heymann MA, Berman W, Jr., Rudolph AM and Whitman V. Dilatation of the ductus arteriosus by prostaglandin E1 in aortic arch abnormalities. *Circulation*. 1979;59:169-73.

- 114. Backer CL, Mavroudis C, Zias EA, Amin Z and Weigel TJ. Repair of coarctation with resection and extended end-to-end anastomosis. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1998;66:1365-70; discussion 1370-1.
- 115. Omeje I, Poruban R, Sagat M, Nosal M and Hraska V. Surgical treatment of aortic coarctation. Images Paediatr Cardiol. 2004;6:18-28.
- 116. Meier MA, Lucchese FA, Jazbik W, Nesralla IA and Mendonca JT. A new technique for repair of aortic coarctation. Subclavian flap aortoplasty with preservation of arterial blood flow to the left arm. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 1986;92:1005-12.
- 117. Hart JC and Waldhausen JA. Reversed subclavian flap angioplasty for arch coarctation of the aorta. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1983;36:715-7.
- 118. Backer CL, Paape K, Zales VR, Weigel TJ and Mavroudis C. Coarctation of the aorta. Repair with polytetrafluoroethylene patch aortoplasty. *Circulation*. 1995;92:II132-6.
- 119. Walhout RJ, Lekkerkerker JC, Oron GH, Hitchcock FJ, Meijboom EJ and Bennink GB. Comparison of polytetrafluoroethylene patch aortoplasty and end-to-end anastomosis for coarctation of the aorta. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2003;126:521-8.
- 120. Heikkinen L, Sariola H, Salo J and Ala-Kulju K. Morphological and histopathological aspects of aneurysms after patch aortoplasty for coarctation. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1990;50:946-8.
- 121. Yousif A, Kloppenburg G, Morshuis WJ and Heijmen R. Repair of adult aortic coarctation by resection and interposition grafting. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* 2016;23:526-30.
- 122. Wang R, Sun LZ, Hu XP, Ma WG, Chang Q, Zhu JM, Liu YM and Yu CT. Treatment of complex coarctation and coarctation with cardiac lesions using extra-anatomic aortic bypass. *J Vasc Surg.* 2010;51:1203-8.
- 123. Moffett BS and Penny DJ. Variability in Treatment of Post-coarctectomy Hypertension: A Multicenter Study. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2016;37:772-7.
- 124. Roeleveld PP and Zwijsen EG. Treatment Strategies for Paradoxical Hypertension Following Surgical Correction of Coarctation of the Aorta in Children. *World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg.* 2017;8:321-331.
- 125. Tabbutt S, Nicolson SC, Dominguez TE, Wells W, Backer CL, Tweddell JS, Bokesch P and Schreiner M. Perioperative course in 118 infants and children undergoing coarctation repair via a thoracotomy: a prospective, multicenter experience. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2008;136:1229-36.
- 126. Sahu MK, Manikala VK, Singh SP, Bisoi AK and Chowdhury UK. Use of dexmedetomidine as an adjunct in the treatment of paradoxical hypertension after surgical repair of coarctation of the aorta in infants. *Ann Card Anaesth.* 2015;18:437-40.

- 127. Quaegebeur JM, Jonas RA, Weinberg AD, Blackstone EH and Kirklin JW. Outcomes in seriously ill neonates with coarctation of the aorta. A multiinstitutional study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1994;108:841-51; discussion 852-4.
- 128. Mery CM, Guzman-Pruneda FA, Trost JG, Jr., McLaughlin E, Smith BM, Parekh DR, Adachi I, Heinle JS, McKenzie ED and Fraser CD, Jr. Contemporary Results of Aortic Coarctation Repair Through Left Thoracotomy. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2015;100:1039-46.
- 129. Torok RD, Campbell MJ, Fleming GA and Hill KD. Coarctation of the aorta: Management from infancy to adulthood. *World J Cardiol.* 2015;7:765-75.
- 130. Forbes TJ, Kim DW, Du W, Turner DR, Holzer R, Amin Z, Hijazi Z, Ghasemi A, Rome JJ, Nykanen D, Zahn E, Cowley C, Hoyer M, Waight D, Gruenstein D, Javois A, Foerster S, Kreutzer J, Sullivan N, Khan A, Owada C, Hagler D, Lim S, Canter J, Zellers T and Investigators C. Comparison of surgical, stent, and balloon angioplasty treatment of native coarctation of the aorta: an observational study by the CCISC (Congenital Cardiovascular Interventional Study Consortium). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58:2664-74.
- 131. Fawzy ME, Fathala A, Osman A, Badr A, Mostafa MA, Mohamed G and Dunn B. Twenty-two years of follow-up results of balloon angioplasty for discreet native coarctation of the aorta in adolescents and adults. *Am Heart J.* 2008;156:910-7.
- 132. Tynan M, Finley JP, Fontes V, Hess J and Kan J. Balloon angioplasty for the treatment of native coarctation: results of Valvuloplasty and Angioplasty of Congenital Anomalies Registry. *Am J Cardiol.* 1990;65:790-2.
- Fletcher SE, Nihill MR, Grifka RG, O'Laughlin MP and Mullins CE. Balloon angioplasty of native coarctation of the aorta: midterm follow-up and prognostic factors. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1995;25:730-4.
- 134. Rao PS, Galal O, Smith PA and Wilson AD. Five- to nine-year follow-up results of balloon angioplasty of native aortic coarctation in infants and children. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1996;27:462-70.
- 135. Rodes-Cabau J, Miro J, Dancea A, Ibrahim R, Piette E, Lapierre C, Jutras L, Perron J, Tchervenkow CI, Poirier N, Dahdah NS and Houde C. Comparison of surgical and transcatheter treatment for native coarctation of the aorta in patients > or = 1 year old. The Quebec Native Coarctation of the Aorta study. Am Heart J. 2007;154:186-92.
- 136. Harris KC, Du W, Cowley CG, Forbes TJ, Kim DW and Congenital Cardiac Intervention Study C. A prospective observational multicenter study of balloon angioplasty for the treatment of native and recurrent coarctation of the aorta. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2014;83:1116-23.
- 137. Benson L. Transcatheter Treatment of Coarctation of the Aorta. CCISC 2017 Update. *The Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions Society (SCAI) Sientific Sessions*. 2017.

- 138. Oliver JM, Gallego P, Gonzalez A, Aroca A, Bret M and Mesa JM. Risk factors for aortic complications in adults with coarctation of the aorta. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2004;44:1641-7.
- 139. Lock JE, Castaneda-Zuniga WR, Bass JL, Foker JE, Amplatz K and Anderson RW. Balloon dilatation of excised aortic coarctations. *Radiology*. 1982;143:689-91.
- Ho SY, Somerville J, Yip WC and Anderson RH. Transluminal balloon dilation of resected coarcted segments of thoracic aorta: histological study and clinical implications. *Int J Cardiol.* 1988;19:99-105.
- 141. Lock JE, Niemi T, Burke BA, Einzig S and Castaneda-Zuniga WR. Transcutaneous angioplasty of experimental aortic coarctation. *Circulation*. 1982;66:1280-6.
- 142. Mendelsohn AM, Lloyd TR, Crowley DC, Sandhu SK, Kocis KC and Beekman RH, 3rd. Late followup of balloon angioplasty in children with a native coarctation of the aorta. *Am J Cardiol.* 1994;74:696-700.
- Ovaert C, McCrindle BW, Nykanen D, MacDonald C, Freedom RM and Benson LN. Balloon angioplasty of native coarctation: clinical outcomes and predictors of success. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000;35:988-96.
- 144. Munayer Calderon J, Zabal Cerdeira C, Ledesma Velazco M, Aldana Perez T, Ramirez Reyes H, Lazaro Castillo JL, Attie F, Alva Espinoza C, Buendia Hernandez A, Jimenez Zepeda D, Martinez Rios MA, Jimenez Arteaga S, Luis Miranda RS, Calderon Colmenero J, Martinez Sanchez A, Maza Juarez G, Gomez FD, Ortegon Cardenas J, Garcia Montes JA, Quintero LR, Campos Gomez A and Sanchez Soberanes A. Balloon angioplasty in aortic coarctation: a multicentric study in Mexico. Arch Cardiol Mex. 2002;72:20-8.
- 145. Hassan W, Awad M, Fawzy ME, Omrani AA, Malik S, Akhras N and Shoukri M. Long-term effects of balloon angioplasty on left ventricular hypertrophy in adolescent and adult patients with native coarctation of the aorta. Up to 18 years follow-up results. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2007;70:881-6.
- 146. Walhout RJ, Suttorp MJ, Mackaij GJ, Ernst JM and Plokker HW. Long-term outcome after balloon angioplasty of coarctation of the aorta in adolescents and adults: Is aneurysm formation an issue? *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2009;73:549-56.
- 147. Saul JP, Keane JF, Fellows KE and Lock JE. Balloon dilation angioplasty of postoperative aortic obstructions. *Am J Cardiol.* 1987;59:943-8.
- 148. Hijazi ZM, Fahey JT, Kleinman CS and Hellenbrand WE. Balloon angioplasty for recurrent coarctation of aorta. Immediate and long-term results. *Circulation*. 1991;84:1150-6.
- 149. Yetman AT, Nykanen D, McCrindle BW, Sunnegardh J, Adatia I, Freedom RM and Benson L. Balloon angioplasty of recurrent coarctation: a 12-year review. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1997;30:811-6.

- 150. Zeltser I, Menteer J, Gaynor JW, Spray TL, Clark BJ, Kreutzer J and Rome JJ. Impact of recoarctation following the Norwood operation on survival in the balloon angioplasty era. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2005;45:1844-8.
- Reich O, Tax P, Bartakova H, Tomek V, Gilik J, Lisy J, Radvansky J, Matejka T, Tlaskal T, Svobodova I, Chaloupecky V and Skovranek J. Long-term (up to 20 years) results of percutaneous balloon angioplasty of recurrent aortic coarctation without use of stents. *Eur Heart J.* 2008;29:2042-8.
- 152. Hellenbrand WE, Allen HD, Golinko RJ, Hagler DJ, Lutin W and Kan J. Balloon angioplasty for aortic recoarctation: results of Valvuloplasty and Angioplasty of Congenital Anomalies Registry. *Am J Cardiol.* 1990;65:793-7.
- 153. McCrindle BW, Jones TK, Morrow WR, Hagler DJ, Lloyd TR, Nouri S and Latson LA. Acute results of balloon angioplasty of native coarctation versus recurrent aortic obstruction are equivalent. Valvuloplasty and Angioplasty of Congenital Anomalies (VACA) Registry Investigators. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1996;28:1810-7.
- 154. Egan M and Holzer RJ. Comparing balloon angioplasty, stenting and surgery in the treatment of aortic coarctation. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther.* 2009;7:1401-12.
- 155. Chisolm JL, Hill SL, Holzer R and Cheatham JP. Stent Implantation in Neonates and Small Children With Coarctation of the Aorta. *Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn.* 2007;69:S8.
- 156. Ewert P, Peters B, Nagdyman N, Miera O, Kuhne T and Berger F. Early and mid-term results with the Growth Stent--a possible concept for transcatheter treatment of aortic coarctation from infancy to adulthood by stent implantation? *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2008;71:120-6.
- 157. Mohan UR, Danon S, Levi D, Connolly D and Moore JW. Stent implantation for coarctation of the aorta in children <30 kg. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* 2009;2:877-83.
- 158. Chessa M, Carrozza M, Butera G, Piazza L, Negura DG, Bussadori C, Bossone E, Giamberti A and Carminati M. Results and mid-long-term follow-up of stent implantation for native and recurrent coarctation of the aorta. *Eur Heart J.* 2005;26:2728-32.
- 159. Suarez de Lezo J, Pan M, Romero M, Segura J, Pavlovic D, Ojeda S, Algar J, Ribes R, Lafuente M and Lopez-Pujol J. Percutaneous interventions on severe coarctation of the aorta: a 21-year experience. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2005;26:176-89.
- 160. Forbes TJ, Garekar S, Amin Z, Zahn EM, Nykanen D, Moore P, Qureshi SA, Cheatham JP, Ebeid MR, Hijazi ZM, Sandhu S, Hagler DJ, Sievert H, Fagan TE, Ringewald J, Du W, Tang L, Wax DF, Rhodes J, Johnston TA, Jones TK, Turner DR, Pedra CA, Hellenbrand WE and Congenital Cardiovascular Interventional Study C. Procedural results and acute complications in stenting native and recurrent coarctation of the aorta in patients over 4 years of age: a multi-institutional study. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2007;70:276-85.

- 161. Qureshi AM, McElhinney DB, Lock JE, Landzberg MJ, Lang P and Marshall AC. Acute and intermediate outcomes, and evaluation of injury to the aortic wall, as based on 15 years experience of implanting stents to treat aortic coarctation. *Cardiol Young.* 2007;17:307-18.
- 162. Thanopoulos BV, Eleftherakis N, Tzanos K, Skoularigis I and Triposkiadis F. Stent implantation for adult aortic coarctation. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;52:1815-6.
- Suarez de Lezo J, Pan M, Romero M, Medina A, Segura J, Lafuente M, Pavlovic D, Hernandez E, Melian F and Espada J. Immediate and follow-up findings after stent treatment for severe coarctation of aorta. *Am J Cardiol.* 1999;83:400-6.
- 164. Marshall AC, Perry SB, Keane JF and Lock JE. Early results and medium-term follow-up of stent implantation for mild residual or recurrent aortic coarctation. *Am Heart J.* 2000;139:1054-60.
- 165. Hamdan MA, Maheshwari S, Fahey JT and Hellenbrand WE. Endovascular stents for coarctation of the aorta: initial results and intermediate-term follow-up. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2001;38:1518-23.
- 166. Johnston TA, Grifka RG and Jones TK. Endovascular stents for treatment of coarctation of the aorta: acute results and follow-up experience. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv. 2004;62:499-505.*
- 167. Shah L, Hijazi Z, Sandhu S, Joseph A and Cao QL. Use of endovascular stents for the treatment of coarctation of the aorta in children and adults: immediate and midterm results. *J Invasive Cardiol.* 2005;17:614-8.
- 168. Forbes TJ, Garekar S, Amin Z, Zahn EM, Nykanen D, Moore P, Qureshi SA, Cheatham JP, Ebeid MR, Hijazi ZM, Sandhu S, Hagler DJ, Sievert H, Fagan TE, Ringewald J, Du W, Tang L, Wax DF, Rhodes J, Johnston TA, Jones TK, Turner DR, Pedra CA and Hellenbrand WE. Procedural results and acute complications in stenting native and recurrent coarctation of the aorta in patients over 4 years of age: a multi-institutional study. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2007;70:276-85.
- 169. Ringel RE, Vincent J, Jenkins KJ, Gauvreau K, Moses H, Lofgren K and Usmani K. Acute outcome of stent therapy for coarctation of the aorta: results of the coarctation of the aorta stent trial. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2013;82:503-10.
- 170. Forbes T, Matisoff D, Dysart J and Aggarwal S. Treatment of coexistent coarctation and aneurysm of the aorta with covered stent in a pediatric patient. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2003;24:289-91.
- 171. Gunn J, Cleveland T and Gaines P. Covered stent to treat co-existent coarctation and aneurysm of the aorta in a young man. *Heart*. 1999;82:351.
- Pedra CA, Fontes VF, Esteves CA, Arrieta SR, Braga SL, Justino H, Kambara AM, Moreira SM and Sousa JE. Use of covered stents in the management of coarctation of the aorta. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2005;26:431-9.

- 173. Tzifa A, Ewert P, Brzezinska-Rajszys G, Peters B, Zubrzycka M, Rosenthal E, Berger F and Qureshi SA. Covered Cheatham-platinum stents for aortic coarctation: early and intermediate-term results. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2006;47:1457-63.
- 174. Butera G, Piazza L, Chessa M, Negura DG, Rosti L, Abella R, Delogu A, Condoluci C, Magherini A and Carminati M. Covered stents in patients with complex aortic coarctations. *Am Heart J.* 2007;154:795-800.
- 175. Butera G, Manica JL, Marini D, Piazza L, Chessa M, Filho RI, Sarmento Leite RE and Carminati M. From bare to covered: 15-year single center experience and follow-up in trans-catheter stent implantation for aortic coarctation. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2014;83:953-63.
- 176. Forbes TJ, Moore P, Pedra CA, Zahn EM, Nykanen D, Amin Z, Garekar S, Teitel D, Qureshi SA, Cheatham JP, Ebeid MR, Hijazi ZM, Sandhu S, Hagler DJ, Sievert H, Fagan TE, Ringwald J, Du W, Tang L, Wax DF, Rhodes J, Johnston TA, Jones TK, Turner DR, Pass R, Torres A and Hellenbrand WE. Intermediate follow-up following intravascular stenting for treatment of coarctation of the aorta. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2007;70:569-77.
- 177. Holzer R, Qureshi S, Ghasemi A, Vincent J, Sievert H, Gruenstein D, Weber H, Alday L, Peirone A, Zellers T, Cheatham J, Slack M and Rome J. Stenting of aortic coarctation: acute, intermediate, and long-term results of a prospective multi-institutional registry--Congenital Cardiovascular Interventional Study Consortium (CCISC). *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv.* 2010;76:553-63.
- 178. Hu ZP, Wang ZW, Dai XF, Zhan BT, Ren W, Li LC, Zhang H and Ren ZL. Outcomes of surgical versus balloon angioplasty treatment for native coarctation of the aorta: a meta-analysis. *Ann Vasc Surg.* 2014;28:394-403.
- 179. Baker E. Controversy about coarctation. Cardiol Young. 2008;18:361-2.
- 180. Fiore AC, Fischer LK, Schwartz T, Jureidini S, Balfour I, Carpenter D, Demello D, Virgo KS, Pennington DG and Johnson RG. Comparison of angioplasty and surgery for neonatal aortic coarctation. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2005;80:1659-64; discussion 1664-5.
- 181. Adjagba PM, Hanna B, Miro J, Dancea A, Poirier N, Vobecky S, Dery J, Lapierre C and Dahdah N. Percutaneous angioplasty used to manage native and recurrent coarctation of the aorta in infants younger than 1 year: immediate and midterm results. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2014;35:1155-61.
- 182. Rao PS, Jureidini SB, Balfour IC, Singh GK and Chen SC. Severe aortic coarctation in infants less than 3 months: successful palliation by balloon angioplasty. *J Invasive Cardiol.* 2003;15:202-8.
- 183. Fruh S, Knirsch W, Dodge-Khatami A, Dave H, Pretre R and Kretschmar O. Comparison of surgical and interventional therapy of native and recurrent aortic coarctation regarding different age groups during childhood. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2011;39:898-904.

- 184. Dijkema EJ, Sieswerda GT, Takken T, Leiner T, Schoof PH, Haas F, Strengers JLM and Slieker MG. Long-term results of balloon angioplasty for native coarctation of the aorta in childhood in comparison with surgery. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2018;53:262-268.
- 185. Zhang H, Ye M, Chen G, Liu F, Wu L and Jia B. A comparison of balloon angioplasty of native coarctation versus surgical repair for short segment coarctation associated with ventricular septal defect-a single-center retrospective review of 92 cases. *J Thorac Dis.* 2016;8:2046-52.
- 186. Hernandez-Gonzalez M, Solorio S, Conde-Carmona I, Rangel-Abundis A, Ledesma M, Munayer J, David F, Ortegon J, Jimenez S, Sanchez-Soberanis A, Melendez C, Claire S, Gomez J, Teniente-Valente R and Alva C. Intraluminal aortoplasty vs. surgical aortic resection in congenital aortic coarctation. A clinical random study in pediatric patients. *Arch Med Res.* 2003;34:305-10.
- 187. Zehr KJ, Gillinov AM, Redmond JM, Greene PS, Kan JS, Gardner TJ, Reitz BA and Cameron DE. Repair of coarctation of the aorta in neonates and infants: a thirty-year experience. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1995;59:33-41.
- 188. Merrill WH, Hoff SJ, Stewart JR, Elkins CC, Graham TP, Jr. and Bender HW, Jr. Operative risk factors and durability of repair of coarctation of the aorta in the neonate. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1994;58:399-402; discussion 402-3.
- Conte S, Lacour-Gayet F, Serraf A, Sousa-Uva M, Bruniaux J, Touchot A and Planche C. Surgical management of neonatal coarctation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 1995;109:663-74; discussion 674-5.
- 190. Kappetein AP, Zwinderman AH, Bogers AJ, Rohmer J and Huysmans HA. More than thirtyfive years of coarctation repair. An unexpected high relapse rate. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 1994;107:87-95.
- 191. Messmer BJ, Minale C, Muhler E and von Bernuth G. Surgical correction of coarctation in early infancy: does surgical technique influence the result? *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1991;52:594-600; discussion 601-3.
- 192. Pandey R, Jackson M, Ajab S, Gladman G and Pozzi M. Subclavian flap repair: review of 399 patients at median follow-up of fourteen years. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2006;81:1420-8.
- 193. Barreiro CJ, Ellison TA, Williams JA, Durr ML, Cameron DE and Vricella LA. Subclavian flap aortoplasty: still a safe, reproducible, and effective treatment for infant coarctation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2007;31:649-53.
- 194. Shaddy RE, Boucek MM, Sturtevant JE, Ruttenberg HD, Jaffe RB, Tani LY, Judd VE, Veasy LG, McGough EC and Orsmond GS. Comparison of angioplasty and surgery for unoperated coarctation of the aorta. *Circulation*. 1993;87:793-9.

- 195. Cowley CG, Orsmond GS, Feola P, McQuillan L and Shaddy RE. Long-term, randomized comparison of balloon angioplasty and surgery for native coarctation of the aorta in childhood. *Circulation*. 2005;111:3453-6.
- 196. Wong D, Benson LN, Van Arsdell GS, Karamlou T and McCrindle BW. Balloon angioplasty is preferred to surgery for aortic coarctation. *Cardiol Young*. 2008;18:79-88.
- 197. Feltes TF, Bacha E, Beekman RH, 3rd, Cheatham JP, Feinstein JA, Gomes AS, Hijazi ZM, Ing FF, de Moor M, Morrow WR, Mullins CE, Taubert KA, Zahn EM, American Heart Association Congenital Cardiac Defects Committee of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Y, Council on Clinical C, Council on Cardiovascular R, Intervention and American Heart A. Indications for cardiac catheterization and intervention in pediatric cardiac disease: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2011;123:2607-52.
- 198. Yeaw X, Murdoch DJ, Wijesekera V, Sedgwick JF, Whight CM, Pohlner PG, Raffel OC and Walters DL. Comparison of surgical repair and percutaneous stent implantation for native coarctation of the aorta in patients >/= 15 years of age. *Int J Cardiol.* 2016;203:629-31.
- 199. Walhout RJ, Lekkerkerker JC, Oron GH, Bennink GB and Meijboom EJ. Comparison of surgical repair with balloon angioplasty for native coarctation in patients from 3 months to 16 years of age. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2004;25:722-7.
- 200. Salcher M, Naci H, Law TJ, Kuehne T, Schubert S, Kelm M and Cardioproof C. Balloon Dilatation and Stenting for Aortic Coarctation: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* 2016;9.
- 201. Wheatley GH, 3rd, Koullias GJ, Rodriguez-Lopez JA, Ramaiah VG and Diethrich EB. Is endovascular repair the new gold standard for primary adult coarctation? *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2010;38:305-10.
- 202. Gelpi G, Mangini A and Antona C. Is endovascular repair for patients with primary adult coarctation, bicuspid aortic valve, dilated ascending aorta and hypertension the new gold standard? *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2011;40:1032; author reply 1032-3.
- 203. Magee AG, Brzezinska-Rajszys G, Qureshi SA, Rosenthal E, Zubrzycka M, Ksiazyk J and Tynan M. Stent implantation for aortic coarctation and recoarctation. *Heart.* 1999;82:600-6.
- 204. Thanopoulos BD, Hadjinikolaou L, Konstadopoulou GN, Tsaousis GS, Triposkiadis F and Spirou
 P. Stent treatment for coarctation of the aorta: intermediate term follow up and technical considerations. *Heart.* 2000;84:65-70.
- 205. Nanton MA and Olley PM. Residual hypertension after coarctectomy in children. *Am J Cardiol.* 1976;37:769-72.

- 206. Kappetein PA, Guit GL, Bogers AJ, Weeda HW, Zwinderman KH, Schonberger JP and Huysmans HA. Noninvasive long-term follow-up after coarctation repair. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1993;55:1153-9.
- 207. Brown ML, Burkhart HM, Connolly HM, Dearani JA, Cetta F, Li Z, Oliver WC, Warnes CA and Schaff HV. Coarctation of the aorta: lifelong surveillance is mandatory following surgical repair. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;62:1020-5.
- 208. Padang R, Dennis M, Semsarian C, Bannon PG, Tanous DJ, Celermajer DS and Puranik R. Detection of serious complications by MR imaging in asymptomatic young adults with repaired coarctation of the aorta. *Heart Lung Circ.* 2014;23:332-8.
- 209. Harrison DA, McLaughlin PR, Lazzam C, Connelly M and Benson LN. Endovascular stents in the management of coarctation of the aorta in the adolescent and adult: one year follow up. *Heart*. 2001;85:561-6.
- 210. Eicken A, Pensl U, Sebening W, Hager A, Genz T, Schreiber C, Lang D, Kaemmerer H, Busch R and Hess J. The fate of systemic blood pressure in patients after effectively stented coarctation. *Eur Heart J.* 2006;27:1100-5.
- Martins JD, Thomas B, Jalles N and Pinto FF. Aortic arch geometry in repaired coarctation: systematic review of a consecutive series by magnetic ressonance imaging *Rev Port Cardiol*. 2012;31:403-404.
- Peres A, Martins JD, Parames F, Gil R, Matias C, Franco J, Freitas I, Trigo C, Fragata J and Pinto FF. Isolated aortic coarctation: experience in 100 consecutive patients. *Rev Port Cardiol.* 2010;29:23-35.
- 213. Hager A, Kanz S, Kaemmerer H, Schreiber C and Hess J. Coarctation Long-term Assessment (COALA): significance of arterial hypertension in a cohort of 404 patients up to 27 years after surgical repair of isolated coarctation of the aorta, even in the absence of restenosis and prosthetic material. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2007;134:738-45.
- Pedersen TA, Munk K, Andersen NH, Lundorf E, Pedersen EB, Hjortdal VE and Emmertsen K. High long-term morbidity in repaired aortic coarctation: weak association with residual arch obstruction. *Congenit Heart Dis.* 2011;6:573-82.
- 215. Musto C, Cifarelli A, Pucci E, Paladini S, De Felice F, Fiorilli R and Violini R. Endovascular treatment of aortic coarctation: long-term effects on hypertension. *Int J Cardiol.* 2008;130:420-5.
- 216. Bocelli A, Favilli S, Pollini I, Bini RM, Ballo P, Chiappa E and Zuppiroli A. Prevalence and longterm predictors of left ventricular hypertrophy, late hypertension, and hypertensive response to exercise after successful aortic coarctation repair. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2013;34:620-9.

- 217. Meyer AA, Joharchi MS, Kundt G, Schuff-Werner P, Steinhoff G and Kienast W. Predicting the risk of early atherosclerotic disease development in children after repair of aortic coarctation. *Eur Heart J.* 2005;26:617-22.
- 218. de Divitiis M, Pilla C, Kattenhorn M, Donald A, Zadinello M, Wallace S, Redington A and Deanfield J. Ambulatory blood pressure, left ventricular mass, and conduit artery function late after successful repair of coarctation of the aorta. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2003;41:2259-65.
- 219. O'Sullivan JJ, Derrick G and Darnell R. Prevalence of hypertension in children after early repair of coarctation of the aorta: a cohort study using casual and 24 hour blood pressure measurement. *Heart.* 2002;88:163-6.
- 220. Hauser M, Kuehn A and Wilson N. Abnormal responses for blood pressure in children and adults with surgically corrected aortic coarctation. *Cardiol Young*. 2000;10:353-7.
- 221. Leandro J, Smallhorn JF, Benson L, Musewe N, Balfe JW, Dyck JD, West L and Freedom R. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring and left ventricular mass and function after successful surgical repair of coarctation of the aorta. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1992;20:197-204.
- 222. Eroglu AG and Oztunc EF. Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring after successful repair of coarctation of the aorta at mid-term follow-up. *Jpn Heart J.* 2000;41:49-58.
- Bald M and Neudorf U. Arterial hypertension in children and adolescents after surgical repair of aortic coarctation defined by ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. *Blood Press Monit.* 2000;5:163-7.
- 224. Chen SS, Donald AE, Storry C, Halcox JP, Bonhoeffer P and Deanfield JE. Impact of aortic stenting on peripheral vascular function and daytime systolic blood pressure in adult coarctation. *Heart*. 2008;94:919-24.
- 225. Di Salvo G, Castaldi B, Baldini L, Gala S, del Gaizo F, D'Andrea A, Limongelli G, D'Aiello AF, Scognamiglio G, Sarubbi B, Pacileo G, Russo MG and Calabro R. Masked hypertension in young patients after successful aortic coarctation repair: impact on left ventricular geometry and function. *J Hum Hypertens.* 2011;25:739-45.
- 226. Quennelle S, Powell AJ, Geva T and Prakash A. Persistent Aortic Arch Hypoplasia After Coarctation Treatment Is Associated With Late Systemic Hypertension. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2015;4.
- 227. Ong CM, Canter CE, Gutierrez FR, Sekarski DR and Goldring DR. Increased stiffness and persistent narrowing of the aorta after successful repair of coarctation of the aorta: relationship to left ventricular mass and blood pressure at rest and with exercise. *Am Heart J.* 1992;123:1594-600.
- 228. Lam YY, Mullen MJ, Kaya MG, Gatzoulis MA, Li W and Henein MY. Left ventricular and ascending aortic function after stenting of native coarctation of aorta. *Am J Cardiol.* 2010;105:1343-7.

- 229. Lam YY, Mullen MJ, Kaya MG, Gatzoulis MA, Li W and Henein MY. Left ventricular long axis dysfunction in adults with "corrected" aortic coarctation is related to an older age at intervention and increased aortic stiffness. *Heart.* 2009;95:733-9.
- 230. Sarkola T, Redington AN, Slorach C, Hui W, Bradley T and Jaeggi E. Assessment of vascular phenotype using a novel very-high-resolution ultrasound technique in adolescents after aortic coarctation repair and/or stent implantation: relationship to central haemodynamics and left ventricular mass. *Heart.* 2011;97:1788-93.
- 231. Pacileo G, Pisacane C, Russo MG, Crepaz R, Sarubbi B, Tagliamonte E and Calabro R. Left ventricular remodeling and mechanics after successful repair of aortic coarctation. *Am J Cardiol.* 2001;87:748-52.
- 232. Moskowitz WB, Schieken RM, Mosteller M and Bossano R. Altered systolic and diastolic function in children after "successful" repair of coarctation of the aorta. *Am Heart J.* 1990;120:103-9.
- 233. Ou P, Celermajer DS, Jolivet O, Buyens F, Herment A, Sidi D, Bonnet D and Mousseaux E. Increased central aortic stiffness and left ventricular mass in normotensive young subjects after successful coarctation repair. Am Heart J. 2008;155:187-93.
- 234. Kutty S, Rangamani S, Venkataraman J, Li L, Schuster A, Fletcher SE, Danford DA and Beerbaum
 P. Reduced global longitudinal and radial strain with normal left ventricular ejection fraction
 late after effective repair of aortic coarctation: a CMR feature tracking study. *Int J Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2013;29:141-50.
- Shang Q, Sarikouch S, Patel S, Schuster A, Steinmetz M, Ou P, Danford DA, Beerbaum P and Kutty
 S. Assessment of ventriculo-vascular properties in repaired coarctation using cardiac magnetic resonance-derived aortic, left atrial and left ventricular strain. *Eur Radiol.* 2017;27:167-177.
- 236. Ou P, Celermajer DS, Raisky O, Jolivet O, Buyens F, Herment A, Sidi D, Bonnet D and Mousseaux
 E. Angular (Gothic) aortic arch leads to enhanced systolic wave reflection, central aortic stiffness, and increased left ventricular mass late after aortic coarctation repair: evaluation with magnetic resonance flow mapping. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2008;135:62-8.
- 237. Gentles TL, Sanders SP and Colan SD. Misrepresentation of left ventricular contractile function by endocardial indexes: clinical implications after coarctation repair. *Am Heart J.* 2000;140:585-95.
- 238. Chen CK, Cifra B, Morgan GJ, Sarkola T, Slorach C, Wei H, Bradley TJ, Manlhiot C, McCrindle BW, Redington AN, Benson LN and Mertens L. Left Ventricular Myocardial and Hemodynamic Response to Exercise in Young Patients after Endovascular Stenting for Aortic Coarctation. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2016;29:237-46.
- 239. Carpenter MA, Dammann JF, Watson DD, Jedeikin R, Tompkins DG and Beller GA. Left ventricular hyperkinesia at rest and during exercise in normotensive patients 2 to 27 years after coarctation repair. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1985;6:879-86.

- 240. Kimball BP, Shurvell BL, Houle S, Fulop JC, Rakowski H and McLaughlin PR. Persistent ventricular adaptations in postoperative coarctation of the aorta. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1986;8:172-8.
- 241. Kimball TR, Reynolds JM, Mays WA, Khoury P, Claytor RP and Daniels SR. Persistent hyperdynamic cardiovascular state at rest and during exercise in children after successful repair of coarctation of the aorta. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1994;24:194-200.
- Vitarelli A, Conde Y, Cimino E, D'Orazio S, Stellato S, Battaglia D, Padella V, Caranci F, Continanza G, Dettori O and Capotosto L. Assessment of ascending aorta distensibility after successful coarctation repair by strain Doppler echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2008;21:729-36.
- 243. Florianczyk T and Werner B. Assessment of left ventricular systolic function using tissue Doppler imaging in children after successful repair of aortic coarctation. *Clin Physiol Funct Imaging.* 2010;30:1-5.
- 244. Li VW and Cheung YF. Arterial-left ventricular-left atrial coupling late after repair of aortic coarctation and interruption. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2015;16:771-80.
- 245. di Salvo G, Pacileo G, Limongelli G, Verrengia M, Rea A, Santoro G, Gala S, Castaldi B, D'Andrea A, Caso P, Giovanna Russo M and Calabro R. Abnormal regional myocardial deformation properties and increased aortic stiffness in normotensive patients with aortic coarctation despite successful correction: an ABPM, standard echocardiography and strain rate imaging study. *Clin Sci (Lond).* 2007;113:259-66.
- 246. Jashari H, Lannering K, Ibrahimi P, Djekic D, Mellander M, Rydberg A and Henein MY. Persistent reduced myocardial deformation in neonates after CoA repair. *Int J Cardiol.* 2016;221:886-91.
- 247. Lombardi KC, Northrup V, McNamara RL, Sugeng L and Weismann CG. Aortic stiffness and left ventricular diastolic function in children following early repair of aortic coarctation. *Am J Cardiol.* 2013;112:1828-33.
- 248. Florianczyk T and Werner B. Assessment of left ventricular diastolic function in children after successful repair of aortic coarctation. *Clin Res Cardiol.* 2011;100:493-9.
- 249. Therrien J, Thorne SA, Wright A, Kilner PJ and Somerville J. Repaired coarctation: a "costeffective" approach to identify complications in adults. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2000;35:997-1002.
- 250. Toro-Salazar OH, Steinberger J, Thomas W, Rocchini AP, Carpenter B and Moller JH. Long-term follow-up of patients after coarctation of the aorta repair. *Am J Cardiol.* 2002;89:541-7.
- 251. Koller M, Rothlin M and Senning A. Coarctation of the aorta: review of 362 operated patients. Long-term follow-up and assessment of prognostic variables. *Eur Heart J.* 1987;8:670-9.

- 252. Choudhary P, Canniffe C, Jackson DJ, Tanous D, Walsh K and Celermajer DS. Late outcomes in adults with coarctation of the aorta. *Heart*. 2015;101:1190-5.
- 253. Hoimyr H, Christensen TD, Emmertsen K, Johnsen SP, Riis A, Hansen OK and Hjortdal VE. Surgical repair of coarctation of the aorta: up to 40 years of follow-up. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2006;30:910-6.
- 254. Mandalenakis Z, Rosengren A, Lappas G, Eriksson P, Hansson PO and Dellborg M. Ischemic Stroke in Children and Young Adults With Congenital Heart Disease. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2016;5.
- 255. Pickard SS, Gauvreau K, Gurvitz M, Gagne JJ, Opotowsky AR, Jenkins KJ and Prakash A. Stroke in Adults With Coarctation of the Aorta: A National Population-Based Study. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2018;7.
- 256. Swan L, Lupton M, Anthony J, Yentis SM, Steer PJ and Gatzoulis MA. Controversies in pregnancy and congenital heart disease. *Congenit Heart Dis.* 2006;1:27-34.
- 257. Beauchesne LM, Connolly HM, Ammash NM and Warnes CA. Coarctation of the aorta: outcome of pregnancy. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2001;38:1728-33.
- 258. Saidi AS, Bezold LI, Altman CA, Ayres NA and Bricker JT. Outcome of pregnancy following intervention for coarctation of the aorta. *Am J Cardiol.* 1998;82:786-8.
- 259. Diav-Citrin O, Shechtman S, Halberstadt Y, Finkel-Pekarsky V, Wajnberg R, Arnon J, Di Gianantonio E, Clementi M and Ornoy A. Pregnancy outcome after in utero exposure to angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers. *Reprod Toxicol.* 2011;31:540-5.
- 260. Dzau VJ, Antman EM, Black HR, Hayes DL, Manson JE, Plutzky J, Popma JJ and Stevenson W. The cardiovascular disease continuum validated: clinical evidence of improved patient outcomes: part I: Pathophysiology and clinical trial evidence (risk factors through stable coronary artery disease). *Circulation.* 2006;114:2850-70.
- 261. Dzau VJ, Antman EM, Black HR, Hayes DL, Manson JE, Plutzky J, Popma JJ and Stevenson W. The cardiovascular disease continuum validated: clinical evidence of improved patient outcomes: part II: Clinical trial evidence (acute coronary syndromes through renal disease) and future directions. *Circulation. 2006;114:2871-91*.
- 262. Dzau V and Braunwald E. Resolved and unresolved issues in the prevention and treatment of coronary artery disease: a workshop consensus statement. *Am Heart J.* 1991;121:1244-63.
- 263. Vierordt K. [The pictorial representation of the human arterial pulse]. *Arch Physiol Heilk.* 1854;13:284-87.
- 264. Vlachopoulos C, Aznaouridis K and Stefanadis C. Prediction of cardiovascular events and allcause mortality with arterial stiffness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2010;55:1318-27.

- 265. Nichols WW, O'Rourke MF and Vlachopoulos C. Properties of the aortic wall: theory. In: W. W. Nichols, M. F. O'Rourke and C. Vlachopoulos, eds. *McDonald's blood flow in arteries: theoretic, experimental, and clinical principles.* 6th ed. London: Hodder Arnold; 2011: 55-109.
- 266. Laurent S, Cockcroft J, Van Bortel L, Boutouyrie P, Giannattasio C, Hayoz D, Pannier B, Vlachopoulos C, Wilkinson I, Struijker-Boudier H and European Network for Non-invasive Investigation of Large A. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: methodological issues and clinical applications. *Eur Heart J.* 2006;27:2588-605.
- 267. Townsend RR, Wilkinson IB, Schiffrin EL, Avolio AP, Chirinos JA, Cockcroft JR, Heffernan KS, Lakatta EG, McEniery CM, Mitchell GF, Najjar SS, Nichols WW, Urbina EM, Weber T and American Heart Association Council on H. Recommendations for Improving and Standardizing Vascular Research on Arterial Stiffness: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Hypertension*. 2015;66:698-722.
- 268. Savant JD, Furth SL and Meyers KE. Arterial Stiffness in Children: Pediatric Measurement and Considerations. *Pulse (Basel)*. 2014;2:69-80.
- 269. O'Rourke MF, Staessen JA, Vlachopoulos C, Duprez D and Plante GE. Clinical applications of arterial stiffness; definitions and reference values. *Am J Hypertens.* 2002;15:426-44.
- 270. Mattace-Raso FU, van der Cammen TJ, Hofman A, van Popele NM, Bos ML, Schalekamp MA, Asmar R, Reneman RS, Hoeks AP, Breteler MM and Witteman JC. Arterial stiffness and risk of coronary heart disease and stroke: the Rotterdam Study. *Circulation.* 2006;113:657-63.
- 271. Willum-Hansen T, Staessen JA, Torp-Pedersen C, Rasmussen S, Thijs L, Ibsen H and Jeppesen J. Prognostic value of aortic pulse wave velocity as index of arterial stiffness in the general population. *Circulation*. 2006;113:664-70.
- Mitchell GF, Hwang SJ, Vasan RS, Larson MG, Pencina MJ, Hamburg NM, Vita JA, Levy D and Benjamin EJ. Arterial stiffness and cardiovascular events: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2010;121:505-11.
- 273. Mitchell GF, van Buchem MA, Sigurdsson S, Gotal JD, Jonsdottir MK, Kjartansson O, Garcia M, Aspelund T, Harris TB, Gudnason V and Launer LJ. Arterial stiffness, pressure and flow pulsatility and brain structure and function: the Age, Gene/Environment Susceptibility--Reykjavik study. *Brain*. 2011;134:3398-407.
- McEniery CM, Spratt M, Munnery M, Yarnell J, Lowe GD, Rumley A, Gallacher J, Ben-Shlomo Y, Cockcroft JR and Wilkinson IB. An analysis of prospective risk factors for aortic stiffness in men: 20-year follow-up from the Caerphilly prospective study. *Hypertension*. 2010;56:36-43.
- 275. Townsend RR, Wimmer NJ, Chirinos JA, Parsa A, Weir M, Perumal K, Lash JP, Chen J, Steigerwalt SP, Flack J, Go AS, Rafey M, Rahman M, Sheridan A, Gadegbeku CA, Robinson NA and Joffe M. Aortic PWV in chronic kidney disease: a CRIC ancillary study. *Am J Hypertens*. 2010;23:282-9.

- 276. Asmar R, Benetos A, Topouchian J, Laurent P, Pannier B, Brisac AM, Target R and Levy BI. Assessment of arterial distensibility by automatic pulse wave velocity measurement. Validation and clinical application studies. *Hypertension*. 1995;26:485-90.
- 277. van der Heijden-Spek JJ, Staessen JA, Fagard RH, Hoeks AP, Boudier HA and van Bortel LM.
 Effect of age on brachial artery wall properties differs from the aorta and is gender dependent:
 a population study. *Hypertension*. 2000;35:637-42.
- 278. Cruickshank K, Riste L, Anderson SG, Wright JS, Dunn G and Gosling RG. Aortic pulse-wave velocity and its relationship to mortality in diabetes and glucose intolerance: an integrated index of vascular function? *Circulation*. 2002;106:2085-90.
- 279. Ibrahim el SH, Johnson KR, Miller AB, Shaffer JM and White RD. Measuring aortic pulse wave velocity using high-field cardiovascular magnetic resonance: comparison of techniques. *J Cardiovasc Magn Reson.* 2010;12:26.
- 280. Tan I, Butlin M, Liu YY, Ng K and Avolio AP. Heart rate dependence of aortic pulse wave velocity at different arterial pressures in rats. *Hypertension*. 2012;60:528-33.
- Reusz GS, Cseprekal O, Temmar M, Kis E, Cherif AB, Thaleb A, Fekete A, Szabo AJ, Benetos A and Salvi P. Reference values of pulse wave velocity in healthy children and teenagers. *Hypertension*. 2010;56:217-24.
- 282. Van Bortel LM, Laurent S, Boutouyrie P, Chowienczyk P, Cruickshank JK, De Backer T, Filipovsky J, Huybrechts S, Mattace-Raso FU, Protogerou AD, Schillaci G, Segers P, Vermeersch S, Weber T, Artery S, European Society of Hypertension Working Group on Vascular S, Function and European Network for Noninvasive Investigation of Large A. Expert consensus document on the measurement of aortic stiffness in daily practice using carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity. J Hypertens. 2012;30:445-8.
- 283. McEniery CM, Yasmin, Hall IR, Qasem A, Wilkinson IB, Cockcroft JR and Investigators A. Normal vascular aging: differential effects on wave reflection and aortic pulse wave velocity: the Anglo-Cardiff Collaborative Trial (ACCT). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005;46:1753-60.
- 284. Reference Values for Arterial Stiffness C. Determinants of pulse wave velocity in healthy people and in the presence of cardiovascular risk factors: 'establishing normal and reference values'. *Eur Heart J.* 2010;31:2338-50.
- 285. Mackenzie IS, Wilkinson IB and Cockcroft JR. Assessment of arterial stiffness in clinical practice. *QJM*. 2002;95:67-74.
- 286. Chirinos JA and Segers P. Noninvasive evaluation of left ventricular afterload: part 2: arterial pressure-flow and pressure-volume relations in humans. *Hypertension*. 2010;56:563-70.
- 287. Agabiti-Rosei E, Mancia G, O'Rourke MF, Roman MJ, Safar ME, Smulyan H, Wang JG, Wilkinson IB, Williams B and Vlachopoulos C. Central blood pressure measurements and antihypertensive therapy: a consensus document. *Hypertension*. 2007;50:154-60.
- 288. Wilkinson IB, MacCallum H, Flint L, Cockcroft JR, Newby DE and Webb DJ. The influence of heart rate on augmentation index and central arterial pressure in humans. *J Physiol. 2000;525 Pt 1:263-70.*
- 289. McEniery CM, Cockcroft JR, Roman MJ, Franklin SS and Wilkinson IB. Central blood pressure: current evidence and clinical importance. *Eur Heart J.* 2014;35:1719-25.
- 290. Moncada S and Higgs A. The L-arginine-nitric oxide pathway. *N Engl J Med.* 1993;329:2002-12.
- 291. Fleming I and Busse R. Molecular mechanisms involved in the regulation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* 2003;284:R1-12.
- 292. Pohl U, Holtz J, Busse R and Bassenge E. Crucial role of endothelium in the vasodilator response to increased flow in vivo. *Hypertension*. 1986;8:37-44.
- 293. Anderson EA and Mark AL. Flow-mediated and reflex changes in large peripheral artery tone in humans. *Circulation*. 1989;79:93-100.
- 294. Gnasso A, Carallo C, Irace C, De Franceschi MS, Mattioli PL, Motti C and Cortese C. Association between wall shear stress and flow-mediated vasodilation in healthy men. *Atherosclerosis.* 2001;156:171-6.
- 295. Cai H and Harrison DG. Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases: the role of oxidant stress. *Circ Res.* 2000;87:840-4.
- 296. Harrison DG. Endothelial function and oxidant stress. *Clin Cardiol.* 1997;20:II-11-7.
- 297. Lerman A and Zeiher AM. Endothelial function: cardiac events. *Circulation*. 2005;111:363-8.
- 298. Deanfield JE, Halcox JP and Rabelink TJ. Endothelial function and dysfunction: testing and clinical relevance. *Circulation*. 2007;115:1285-95.
- Ludmer PL, Selwyn AP, Shook TL, Wayne RR, Mudge GH, Alexander RW and Ganz P. Paradoxical vasoconstriction induced by acetylcholine in atherosclerotic coronary arteries. *N Engl J Med.* 1986;315:1046-51.
- 300. Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Gooch VM, Spiegelhalter DJ, Miller OI, Sullivan ID, Lloyd JK and Deanfield JE. Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. *Lancet.* 1992;340:1111-5.
- 301. Patvardhan EA, Heffernan KS, Ruan JM, Soffler MI, Karas RH and Kuvin JT. Assessment of vascular endothelial function with peripheral arterial tonometry: information at your fingertips? *Cardiol Rev.* 2010;18:20-8.

- 302. Kuvin JT, Patel AR, Sliney KA, Pandian NG, Sheffy J, Schnall RP, Karas RH and Udelson JE. Assessment of peripheral vascular endothelial function with finger arterial pulse wave amplitude. *Am Heart J.* 2003;146:168-74.
- 303. Bonetti PO, Pumper GM, Higano ST, Holmes DR, Jr., Kuvin JT and Lerman A. Noninvasive identification of patients with early coronary atherosclerosis by assessment of digital reactive hyperemia. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2004;44:2137-41.
- Selamet Tierney ES, Newburger JW, Gauvreau K, Geva J, Coogan E, Colan SD and de Ferranti SD. Endothelial pulse amplitude testing: feasibility and reproducibility in adolescents. *J Pediatr.* 2009;154:901-5.
- 305. Brant LC, Barreto SM, Passos VM and Ribeiro AL. Reproducibility of peripheral arterial tonometry for the assessment of endothelial function in adults. *J Hypertens.* 2013;31:1984-90.
- 306. Hamburg NM, Keyes MJ, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Schnabel R, Pryde MM, Mitchell GF, Sheffy J, Vita JA and Benjamin EJ. Cross-sectional relations of digital vascular function to cardiovascular risk factors in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation. 2008;117:2467-74.*
- 307. Rubinshtein R, Kuvin JT, Soffler M, Lennon RJ, Lavi S, Nelson RE, Pumper GM, Lerman LO and Lerman A. Assessment of endothelial function by non-invasive peripheral arterial tonometry predicts late cardiovascular adverse events. *Eur Heart J.* 2010;31:1142-8.
- 308. Cooke JP. Asymmetrical dimethylarginine: the Uber marker? *Circulation.* 2004;109:1813-8.
- 309. Ross R. Atherosclerosis--an inflammatory disease. N Engl J Med. 1999;340:115-26.
- 310. Rader DJ. Inflammatory markers of coronary risk. N Engl J Med. 2000;343:1179-82.
- 311. Yasmin, McEniery CM, Wallace S, Mackenzie IS, Cockcroft JR and Wilkinson IB. C-reactive protein is associated with arterial stiffness in apparently healthy individuals. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2004;24:969-74.
- 312. Wilson PW, Pencina M, Jacques P, Selhub J, D'Agostino R, Sr. and O'Donnell CJ. C-reactive protein and reclassification of cardiovascular risk in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes.* 2008;1:92-7.
- Barbaro NR, Fontana V, Modolo R, De Faria AP, Sabbatini AR, Fonseca FH, Anhe GF and Moreno H. Increased arterial stiffness in resistant hypertension is associated with inflammatory biomarkers. *Blood Press.* 2015;24:7-13.
- 314. Schumacher W, Cockcroft J, Timpson NJ, McEniery CM, Gallacher J, Rumley A, Lowe G, Smith GD, Wilkinson IB and Ben-Shlomo Y. Association between C-reactive protein genotype, circulating levels, and aortic pulse wave velocity. *Hypertension*. 2009;53:150-7.

- 315. Tousoulis D, Antoniades C, Koumallos N and Stefanadis C. Pro-inflammatory cytokines in acute coronary syndromes: from bench to bedside. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 2006;17:225-33.
- 316. Xu C, Lee S, Singh TM, Sho E, Li X, Sho M, Masuda H and Zarins CK. Molecular mechanisms of aortic wall remodeling in response to hypertension. *J Vasc Surg.* 2001;33:570-8.
- 317. Matt P, Schoenhoff F, Habashi J, Holm T, Van Erp C, Loch D, Carlson OD, Griswold BF, Fu Q, De Backer J, Loeys B, Huso DL, McDonnell NB, Van Eyk JE, Dietz HC and Gen TACC. Circulating transforming growth factor-beta in Marfan syndrome. *Circulation*. 2009;120:526-32.
- 318. Sepetiene R, Patamsyte V, Zukovas G, Jariene G, Stanioniene Z, Benetis R and Lesauskaite V. Blood Plasma TGF- beta1 Concentration in Sporadic Dilatative Pathology of Ascending Aorta: More Questions than Answers. *PLoS One.* 2015;10:e0129353.
- 319. Spinale FG. Matrix metalloproteinases: regulation and dysregulation in the failing heart. *Circ Res.* 2002;90:520-30.
- 320. Takagi H, Manabe H, Kawai N, Goto SN and Umemoto T. Circulating matrix metalloproteinase-9 concentrations and abdominal aortic aneurysm presence: a meta-analysis. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* 2009;9:437-40.
- 321. van den Horn GJ, Westerhof N and Elzinga G. Interaction of heart and arterial system. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 1984;12:151-62.
- 322. Kass DA and Kelly RP. Ventriculo-arterial coupling: concepts, assumptions, and applications. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 1992;20:41-62.
- 323. Cholley B and Le Gall A. Ventriculo-arterial coupling: the comeback? *J Thorac Dis.* 2016;8:2287-2289.
- 324. Chen CH, Nakayama M, Nevo E, Fetics BJ, Maughan WL and Kass DA. Coupled systolicventricular and vascular stiffening with age: implications for pressure regulation and cardiac reserve in the elderly. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 1998;32:1221-7.
- 325. Saba PS, Cameli M, Casalnuovo G, Ciccone MM, Ganau A, Maiello M, Modesti PA, Muiesan ML, Novo S, Palmiero P, Sanna GD, Scicchitano P, Pedrinelli R and Gruppo di Studio Ipertensione PeRSIdC. Ventricular-vascular coupling in hypertension: methodological considerations and clinical implications. *J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown)*. 2014;15:773-87.
- 326. Kelly RP, Ting CT, Yang TM, Liu CP, Maughan WL, Chang MS and Kass DA. Effective arterial elastance as index of arterial vascular load in humans. *Circulation*. 1992;86:513-21.
- 327. Markham LW, Knecht SK, Daniels SR, Mays WA, Khoury PR and Knilans TK. Development of exercise-induced arm-leg blood pressure gradient and abnormal arterial compliance in patients with repaired coarctation of the aorta. *Am J Cardiol.* 2004;94:1200-2.

- 328. Guenthard J and Wyler F. Exercise-induced hypertension in the arms due to impaired arterial reactivity after successful coarctation resection. *Am J Cardiol.* 1995;75:814-7.
- 329. James FW and Kaplan S. Systolic hypertension during submaximal exercise after correction of coarctation of aorta. *Circulation*. 1974;50:II27-34.
- 330. Cyran SE, Grzeszczak M, Kaufman K, Weber HS, Myers JL, Gleason MM and Baylen BG. Aortic "recoarctation" at rest versus at exercise in children as evaluated by stress Doppler echocardiography after a "good" operative result. *Am J Cardiol*. 1993;71:963-70.
- 331. Carano N, Agnetti A, Barone A, Squarcia M and Squarcia U. Exercise test in detecting anomalous behaviour of blood pressure in patients successfully operated on for coarctation of the aorta. *Pediatr Med Chir.* 1999;21:105-9.
- 332. Hager A, Kanz S, Kaemmerer H and Hess J. Exercise capacity and exercise hypertension after surgical repair of isolated aortic coarctation. *Am J Cardiol.* 2008;101:1777-80.
- 333. Pressler A, Esefeld K, Scherr J, Ali M, Hanssen H, Kotliar K, Lanzl I, Halle M, Kaemmerer H, Schmidt-Trucksass A and Hager A. Structural alterations of retinal arterioles in adults late after repair of aortic isthmic coarctation. *Am J Cardiol.* 2010;105:740-4.
- 334. Vlodaver Z and Neufeld HN. The coronary arteries in coarctation of the aorta. *Circulation*. 1968;37:449-54.
- 335. Cohen M, Fuster V, Steele PM, Driscoll D and McGoon DC. Coarctation of the aorta. Long-term follow-up and prediction of outcome after surgical correction. *Circulation*. 1989;80:840-5.
- 336. Jenkins NP and Ward C. Coarctation of the aorta: natural history and outcome after surgical treatment. *QJM.* 1999;92:365-71.
- 337. Clarkson PM, Nicholson MR, Barratt-Boyes BG, Neutze JM and Whitlock RM. Results after repair of coarctation of the aorta beyond infancy: a 10 to 28 year follow-up with particular reference to late systemic hypertension. *Am J Cardiol.* 1983;51:1481-8.
- 338. Maron BJ, Humphries JO, Rowe RD and Mellits ED. Prognosis of surgically corrected coarctation of the aorta. A 20-year postoperative appraisal. *Circulation*. 1973;47:119-26.
- Presbitero P, Demarie D, Villani M, Perinetto EA, Riva G, Orzan F, Bobbio M, Morea M and Brusca A.
 Long term results (15-30 years) of surgical repair of aortic coarctation. *Br Heart J.* 1987;57:462-7.
- 340. Brouwer RM, Erasmus ME, Ebels T and Eijgelaar A. Influence of age on survival, late hypertension, and recoarctation in elective aortic coarctation repair. Including long-term results after elective aortic coarctation repair with a follow-up from 25 to 44 years. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 1994;108:525-31.

- Stewart AB, Ahmed R, Travill CM and Newman CG. Coarctation of the aorta life and health 20-44 years after surgical repair. *Br Heart J.* 1993;69:65-70.
- 342. Verheugt CL, Uiterwaal CS, Grobbee DE and Mulder BJ. Long-term prognosis of congenital heart defects: a systematic review. *Int J Cardiol.* 2008;131:25-32.
- 343. Bambul Heck P, Pabst von Ohain J, Kaemmerer H, Ewert P and Hager A. Survival and cardiovascular events after coarctation-repair in long-term follow-up (COAFU): Predictive value of clinical variables. *Int J Cardiol.* 2017;228:347-351.
- 344. Rosenthal E. Stent implantation for aortic coarctation: the treatment of choice in adults? *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2001;38:1524-7.
- 345. de Divitiis M, Pilla C, Kattenhorn M, Zadinello M, Donald A, Leeson P, Wallace S, Redington A and Deanfield JE. Vascular dysfunction after repair of coarctation of the aorta: impact of early surgery. *Circulation*. 2001;104:I165-70.
- Guerin P, Jimenez M, Vallot M, Thambo JB and Gosse P. [Arterial rigidity of patients operated successfully for coarctation of the aorta without residual hypertension]. *Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss*. 2005;98:557-60.
- 347. Mizia-Stec K, Trojnarska O, Szczepaniak-Chichel L, Gabriel M, Bartczak A, Cieplucha A, Chudek J, Grajek S, Tykarski A and Gasior Z. Asymmetric dimethylarginine and vascular indices of atherosclerosis in patients after coarctation of aorta repair. *Int J Cardiol.* 2012;158:364-9.
- 348. Trojnarska O, Szczepaniak-Chichel L, Mizia-Stec K, Gabriel M, Bartczak A, Grajek S, Gasior Z, Kramer L and Tykarski A. Vascular remodeling in adults after coarctation repair: impact of descending aorta stenosis and age at surgery. *Clin Res Cardiol.* 2011;100:447-55.
- 349. Brili S, Antonopoulos AS, Oikonomou E, Kalampogias A, Papamikroulis GA, Chrysochoou C, Mourouzis K, Nihoyanopoulos P and Tousoulis D. Impairment of arterial elastic properties and elevated circulating levels of transforming growth factor-beta in subjects with repaired coarctation of aorta. *Int J Cardiol.* 2016;207:282-3.
- 350. Ou P, Celermajer DS, Mousseaux E, Giron A, Aggoun Y, Szezepanski I, Sidi D and Bonnet D. Vascular remodeling after "successful" repair of coarctation: impact of aortic arch geometry. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007;49:883-90.
- 351. Aggoun Y, Sidi D and Bonnet D. [Arterial dysfunction after treatment of coarctation of the aorta]. Arch Mal Coeur Vaiss. 2001;94:785-9.
- 352. Kuhn A, Baumgartner D, Baumgartner C, Horer J, Schreiber C, Hess J and Vogt M. Impaired elastic properties of the ascending aorta persist within the first 3 years after neonatal coarctation repair. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2009;30:46-51.

- 353. Vogt M, Kuhn A, Baumgartner D, Baumgartner C, Busch R, Kostolny M and Hess J. Impaired elastic properties of the ascending aorta in newborns before and early after successful coarctation repair: proof of a systemic vascular disease of the prestenotic arteries? *Circulation*. 2005;111:3269-73.
- 354. Agnoletti G, Bonnet C, Bonnet D, Sidi D and Aggoun Y. Mid-term effects of implanting stents for relief of aortic recoarctation on systemic hypertension, carotid mechanical properties, intimal medial thickness and reflection of the pulse wave. *Cardiol Young*. 2005;15:245-50.
- 355. Xu J, Shiota T, Omoto R, Zhou X, Kyo S, Ishii M, Rice MJ and Sahn DJ. Intravascular ultrasound assessment of regional aortic wall stiffness, distensibility, and compliance in patients with coarctation of the aorta. *Am Heart J.* 1997;134:93-8.
- 356. Brili S, Dernellis J, Aggeli C, Pitsavos C, Hatzos C, Stefanadis C and Toutouzas P. Aortic elastic properties in patients with repaired coarctation of aorta. *Am J Cardiol.* 1998;82:1140-3, A10.
- Trojnarska O, Mizia-Stec K, Gabriel M, Szczepaniak-Chichel L, Katarzynska-Szymanska A, Grajek S, Tykarski A, Gasior Z and Kramer L. Parameters of arterial function and structure in adult patients after coarctation repair. *Heart Vessels.* 2011;26:414-20.
- 358. Swan L, Kraidly M, Vonder Muhll I, Collins P and Gatzoulis MA. Surveillance of cardiovascular risk in the normotensive patient with repaired aortic coarctation. *Int J Cardiol.* 2010;139:283-8.
- 359. Gardiner HM, Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Georgakopoulos D, Robinson J, Thomas O and Deanfield JE. Arterial reactivity is significantly impaired in normotensive young adults after successful repair of aortic coarctation in childhood. *Circulation*. 1994;89:1745-50.
- 360. Brili S, Tousoulis D, Antoniades C, Aggeli C, Roubelakis A, Papathanasiu S and Stefanadis C. Evidence of vascular dysfunction in young patients with successfully repaired coarctation of aorta. *Atherosclerosis*. 2005;182:97-103.
- 361. Samanek M, Goetzova J, Fiserova J and Skovranek J. Differences in muscle blood flow in upper and lower extremities of patients after correction of coarctation of the aorta. *Circulation.* 1976;54:377-81.
- 362. Radke RM, Diller GP, Duck M, Orwat S, Hartmann D, Thum T and Baumgartner H. Endothelial function in contemporary patients with repaired coarctation of aorta. *Heart.* 2014;100:1696-701.
- 363. Cuypers J, Leirgul E, Larsen TH, Berg A, Omdal TR and Greve G. Assessment of vascular reactivity in the peripheral and coronary arteries by Cine 3T-magnetic resonance imaging in young normotensive adults after surgery for coarctation of the aorta. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2013;34:661-9.
- 364. Moutafi AC, Alissafi T, Chamakou A, Chryssanthopoulos S, Thanopoulos V, Dellos C, Xanthou G, Tousoulis D, Stefanadis C, Gatzoulis MA and Davos CH. Neurohormonal activity and vascular properties late after aortic coarctation repair. Int J Cardiol. 2012;159:211-6.

- 365. Barton CH, Ni Z and Vaziri ND. Effect of severe aortic banding above the renal arteries on nitric oxide synthase isotype expression. *Kidney Int.* 2001;59:654-61.
- 366. Barton CH, Ni Z and Vaziri ND. Enhanced nitric oxide inactivation in aortic coarctation-induced hypertension. *Kidney Int.* 2001;60:1083-7.
- Moutafi AC, Alissafi T, Chryssanthopoulos S, Thanopoulos V, Tousoulis D, Stefanadis C and Davos CH. Neurohormones, cytokines, and aortic function in children with repaired coarctation of the aorta. *Int J Cardiol.* 2014;172:e26-7.
- 368. Osmancik P, Bocsi J, Hambsch J, Schneider P and Tarnok A. Soluble endothelial adhesion molecule concentration in patients with aortic coarctation. *Endothelium*. 2006;13:353-8.
- 369. Dijkema EJ, Slieker MG, Leiner T and Grotenhuis HB. Arterioventricular interaction after coarctation repair. *Am Heart J.* 2018;201:49-53.
- 370. Yokoyama U, Ichikawa Y, Minamisawa S and Ishikawa Y. Pathology and molecular mechanisms of coarctation of the aorta and its association with the ductus arteriosus. *J Physiol Sci.* 2017;67:259-270.
- 371. Ou P, Bonnet D, Auriacombe L, Pedroni E, Balleux F, Sidi D and Mousseaux E. Late systemic hypertension and aortic arch geometry after successful repair of coarctation of the aorta. *Eur Heart J.* 2004;25:1853-9.
- 372. Ou P, Mousseaux E, Celermajer DS, Pedroni E, Vouhe P, Sidi D and Bonnet D. Aortic arch shape deformation after coarctation surgery: effect on blood pressure response. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2006;132:1105-11.
- 373. Pabittei DR, Heger M, Simonet M, van Tuijl S, van der Wal AC, Beek JF, Balm R and de Mol BA. Biodegradable polymer scaffold, semi-solid solder, and single-spot lasing for increasing solder-tissue bonding in suture-free laser-assisted vascular repair. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. 2012;6:803-12.
- 374. Lee MGY, Hemmes RA, Mynard J, Lambert E, Head GA, Cheung MMH, Konstantinov IE, Brizard CP, Lambert G and d'Udekem Y. Elevated sympathetic activity, endothelial dysfunction, and late hypertension after repair of coarctation of the aorta. *Int J Cardiol.* 2017;243:185-190.
- 375. Heger M, Willfort A, Neunteufl T, Rosenhek R, Gabriel H, Wollenek G, Wimmer M, Maurer G and Baumgartner H. Vascular dysfunction after coarctation repair is related to the age at surgery. *Int J Cardiol*. 2005;99:295-9.
- 376. Wessel A, von Samson-Himmelstjerna MC, Ruschewski W and Bursch JH. [Effects of age in the correction of isthmus stenosis on postoperative stiffness of the aorta]. *Z Kardiol.* 1995;84:237-42.

- 377. Seirafi PA, Warner KG, Geggel RL, Payne DD and Cleveland RJ. Repair of coarctation of the aorta during infancy minimizes the risk of late hypertension. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 1998;66:1378-82.
- 378. Martins JD, Franco J, Freitas I, Trigo C, Pinto FF and kaku S. Blood Pressure Response to Exercise: a New Paradigm of Success of Coarctation of the Aorta Treatment? *Rev Port Cardiol.* 2008;27:122.
- 379. Vriend JW, Zwinderman AH, de Groot E, Kastelein JJ, Bouma BJ and Mulder BJ. Predictive value of mild, residual descending aortic narrowing for blood pressure and vascular damage in patients after repair of aortic coarctation. *Eur Heart J.* 2005;26:84-90.
- Lee MGY, Allen SL, Koleff J, Brink J, Konstantinov IE, Cheung MMH, Brizard CP and d'Udekem
 Y. Impact of arch reobstruction and early hypertension on late hypertension after coarctation repair. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg.* 2017.
- 381. Bhatt AB and Defaria Yeh D. Long-term outcomes in coarctation of the aorta: an evolving story of success and new challenges. *Heart.* 2015;101:1173-5.
- 382. Brili S, Tousoulis D, Antoniades C, Vasiliadou C, Karali M, Papageorgiou N, Ioakeimidis N, Marinou K, Stefanadi E and Stefanadis C. Effects of ramipril on endothelial function and the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules in young normotensive subjects with successfully repaired coarctation of aorta: a randomized cross-over study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;51:742-9.
- 383. Brili S, Tousoulis D, Antonopoulos AS, Antoniades C, Hatzis G, Bakogiannis C, Papageorgiou N and Stefanadis C. Effects of atorvastatin on endothelial function and the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules in young subjects with successfully repaired coarctation of aorta. *Heart.* 2012;98:325-9.
- 384. O'Rourke MF and Cartmill TB. Influence of aortic coarctation on pulsatle hemodynamics in the proximal aorta. *Circulation*. 1971;44:281-92.
- 385. Giordano U, Giannico S, Turchetta A, Hammad F, Calzolari F and Calzolari A. The influence of different surgical procedures on hypertension after repair of coarctation. *Cardiol Young.* 2005;15:477-80.
- 386. Kenny D, Polson JW, Martin RP, Wilson DG, Caputo M, Cockcroft JR, Paton JF and Wolf AR. Surgical approach for aortic coarctation influences arterial compliance and blood pressure control. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2010;90:600-4.
- 387. Bassareo PP, Marras AR, Manai ME and Mercuro G. The influence of different surgical approaches on arterial rigidity in children after aortic coarctation repair. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2009;30:414-8.
- 388. McGinnis JM, Olsen L, Aisner D, Bradley P, O'Neill D and Bottner K. Learning What Works Best: The Nation's Need for Evidence on Comparative Effectiveness in Health Care. *The Learning Helth System Series*. 2011:60-70.

- 389. McGlynn EA, Asch SM, Adams J, Keesey J, Hicks J, DeCristofaro A and Kerr EA. The quality of health care delivered to adults in the United States. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;348:2635-45.
- 390. Mitchell GF, Wang N, Palmisano JN, Larson MG, Hamburg NM, Vita JA, Levy D, Benjamin EJ and Vasan RS. Hemodynamic correlates of blood pressure across the adult age spectrum: noninvasive evaluation in the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2010;122:1379-86.
- 391. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N and Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inform.* 2009;42:377-81.
- 392. Colan SD. Normal echocardiographic values for cardiovascular structures. In: W. W. Lai, M. S. Cohen, T. Geva and L. Mertens, eds. *Echocardiography in Pediatric and Congenital Heart Disease* West Sussex, UK: Wiley-Blackwell; 2009: Appendix 1, pp 765-785.
- 393. Kelly R and Fitchett D. Noninvasive determination of aortic input impedance and external left ventricular power output: a validation and repeatability study of a new technique. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1992;20:952-63.
- 394. Quaal SJ. Interpreting the arterial pressure waveform in the intra-aortic balloon-pumped patient. *Prog Cardiovasc Nurs.* 2001;16:116-8, 125.
- 395. Prakash A, Adlakha H, Rabideau N, Hass CJ, Morris SA, Geva T, Gauvreau K, Singh MN and Lacro RV. Segmental Aortic Stiffness in Children and Young Adults With Connective Tissue Disorders: Relationships With Age, Aortic Size, Rate of Dilation, and Surgical Root Replacement. *Circulation*. 2015;132:595-602.
- 396. Grotenhuis HB, Westenberg JJ, Steendijk P, van der Geest RJ, Ottenkamp J, Bax JJ, Jukema JW and de Roos A. Validation and reproducibility of aortic pulse wave velocity as assessed with velocity-encoded MRI. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. 2009;30:521-6.
- 397. Huybrechts SA, Devos DG, Vermeersch SJ, Mahieu D, Achten E, de Backer TL, Segers P and van Bortel LM. Carotid to femoral pulse wave velocity: a comparison of real travelled aortic path lengths determined by MRI and superficial measurements. J Hypertens. 2011;29:1577-82.
- 398. Sun HY, Stauffer KJ, Nourse SE, Vu C and Selamet Tierney ES. Peripheral Endothelial Function After Arterial Switch Operation for D-looped Transposition of the Great Arteries. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2017.
- 399. Sabri MR, Daryoushi H and Gharipour M. Endothelial function state following repair of cyanotic congenital heart diseases. *Cardiol Young.* 2015;25:222-7.
- 400. National High Blood Pressure Education Program Working Group on High Blood Pressure in C and Adolescents. The fourth report on the diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics.* 2004;114:555-76.

- 401. Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, Izzo JL, Jr., Jones DW, Materson BJ, Oparil S, Wright JT, Jr., Roccella EJ, Joint National Committee on Prevention DE, Treatment of High Blood Pressure. National Heart L, Blood I and National High Blood Pressure Education Program Coordinating C. Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. Hypertension. 2003;42:1206-52.
- 402. Flynn JT, Daniels SR, Hayman LL, Maahs DM, McCrindle BW, Mitsnefes M, Zachariah JP, Urbina EM, American Heart Association Atherosclerosis H and Obesity in Youth Committee of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Y. Update: ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in children and adolescents: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Hypertension*. 2014;63:1116-35.
- 403. Pickering TG, Hall JE, Appel LJ, Falkner BE, Graves J, Hill MN, Jones DW, Kurtz T, Sheps SG and Roccella EJ. Recommendations for blood pressure measurement in humans and experimental animals: part 1: blood pressure measurement in humans: a statement for professionals from the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research. *Circulation*. 2005;111:697-716.
- 404. Pickering TG, Hall JE, Appel LJ, Falkner BE, Graves J, Hill MN, Jones DW, Kurtz T, Sheps SG, Roccella EJ, Subcommittee of P and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure R. Recommendations for blood pressure measurement in humans and experimental animals: Part 1: blood pressure measurement in humans: a statement for professionals from the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research. *Hypertension*. 2005;45:142-61.
- 405. Lloyd-Jones DM, Hong Y, Labarthe D, Mozaffarian D, Appel LJ, Van Horn L, Greenlund K, Daniels S, Nichol G, Tomaselli GF, Arnett DK, Fonarow GC, Ho PM, Lauer MS, Masoudi FA, Robertson RM, Roger V, Schwamm LH, Sorlie P, Yancy CW, Rosamond WD, American Heart Association Strategic Planning Task F and Statistics C. Defining and setting national goals for cardiovascular health promotion and disease reduction: the American Heart Association's strategic Impact Goal through 2020 and beyond. *Circulation*. 2010;121:586-613.
- 406. Nistri S, Grande-Allen J, Noale M, Basso C, Siviero P, Maggi S, Crepaldi G and Thiene G. Aortic elasticity and size in bicuspid aortic valve syndrome. *Eur Heart J.* 2008;29:472-9.
- 407. Walhout RJ. Assessment of proximal and distal aortic properties with magnetic resonance after successful coarctation management in adults. *Advances in the management and surveillance of patients with aortic coarctation*. 2009/06/26 ed.: Universiteit Amsterdam; 2009: 122-30.
- 408. Ou P, Bonnet D, Auriacombe L, Pedroni E, Balleux F, Sidi D and Mousseaux E. Late systemic hypertension and aortic arch geometry after successful repair of coarctation of the aorta. *Eur Heart J.* 2004;25:1853-1859.

- 409. Vriend JW, Engelfriet PM, de Groot E, Elsen BM, Kastelein JJ and Mulder BJ. Age at repair and left ventricular mass in patients after repair of aortic coarctation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg.* 2005;130:896-7.
- 410. Avolio AP, Deng FQ, Li WQ, Luo YF, Huang ZD, Xing LF and O'Rourke MF. Effects of aging on arterial distensibility in populations with high and low prevalence of hypertension: comparison between urban and rural communities in China. *Circulation*. 1985;71:202-10.
- 411. Mitchell GF, Parise H, Benjamin EJ, Larson MG, Keyes MJ, Vita JA, Vasan RS and Levy D. Changes in arterial stiffness and wave reflection with advancing age in healthy men and women: the Framingham Heart Study. *Hypertension*. 2004;43:1239-45.
- 412. Okada M and Yakata M. [Normal ranges of pulse wave velocity and the changes with age]. *Rinsho Byori.* 1989;37:215-8.
- 413. Groenink M, de Roos A, Mulder BJ, Verbeeten B, Jr., Timmermans J, Zwinderman AH, Spaan JA and van der Wall EE. Biophysical properties of the normal-sized aorta in patients with Marfan syndrome: evaluation with MR flow mapping. *Radiology*. 2001;219:535-40.
- 414. Voges I, Jerosch-Herold M, Hedderich J, Pardun E, Hart C, Gabbert DD, Hansen JH, Petko C, Kramer HH and Rickers C. Normal values of aortic dimensions, distensibility, and pulse wave velocity in children and young adults: a cross-sectional study. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson. 2012;14:77.
- 415. Mohiaddin RH, Underwood SR, Bogren HG, Firmin DN, Klipstein RH, Rees RS and Longmore DB. Regional aortic compliance studied by magnetic resonance imaging: the effects of age, training, and coronary artery disease. *Br Heart J.* 1989;62:90-6.
- 416. Williams B, Lacy PS, Thom SM, Cruickshank K, Stanton A, Collier D, Hughes AD, Thurston H, O'Rourke M, Investigators C, Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial I, Committee CS and Writing C. Differential impact of blood pressure-lowering drugs on central aortic pressure and clinical outcomes: principal results of the Conduit Artery Function Evaluation (CAFE) study. *Circulation*. 2006;113:1213-25.
- 417. Urbina EM, Khoury PR, McCoy C, Daniels SR, Kimball TR and Dolan LM. Cardiac and vascular consequences of pre-hypertension in youth. *J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich)*. 2011;13:332-42.
- 418. Mascherbauer J. Mechanisms underlying arterial hypertension in contemporary patients with repaired aortic coarctation: do we know enough? *Heart.* 2014;100:1657-8.
- 419. Roifman I, Therrien J, Ionescu-Ittu R, Pilote L, Guo L, Kotowycz MA, Martucci G and Marelli AJ. Coarctation of the aorta and coronary artery disease: fact or fiction? *Circulation*. 2012;126:16-21.

- 420. Wilson DK, Sica DA and Miller SB. Ambulatory blood pressure nondipping status in salt-sensitive and salt-resistant black adolescents. *Am J Hypertens.* 1999;12:159-65.
- 421. Lekakis JP, Zakopoulos NA, Protogerou AD, Papaioannou TG, Kotsis VT, Pitiriga V, Tsitsirikos MD, Stamatelopoulos KS, Papamichael CM and Mavrikakis ME. Arterial stiffness assessed by pulse wave analysis in essential hypertension: relation to 24-h blood pressure profile. *Int J Cardiol.* 2005;102:391-5.
- 422. Ward NC, Croft KD, Hodgson J, Rich L, Beilin LJ and Puddey IB. Brachial artery vasomotor function is inversely associated with 24-h ambulatory blood pressure. *J Hypertens*. 2004;22:967-72.
- 423. Singh JP, Larson MG, Manolio TA, O'Donnell CJ, Lauer M, Evans JC and Levy D. Blood pressure response during treadmill testing as a risk factor for new-onset hypertension. The Framingham heart study. *Circulation*. 1999;99:1831-6.
- 424. Schultz MG, Otahal P, Cleland VJ, Blizzard L, Marwick TH and Sharman JE. Exercise-induced hypertension, cardiovascular events, and mortality in patients undergoing exercise stress testing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Hypertens.* 2013;26:357-66.
- 425. Rhodes J, Geggel RL, Marx GR, Bevilacqua L, Dambach YB and Hijazi ZM. Excessive anaerobic metabolism during exercise after repair of aortic coarctation. *J Pediatr.* 1997;131:210-4.
- 426. Chen SS, Dimopoulos K, Alonso-Gonzalez R, Liodakis E, Teijeira-Fernandez E, Alvarez-Barredo M, Kempny A, Diller G, Uebing A, Shore D, Swan L, Kilner PJ, Gatzoulis MA and Mohiaddin RH. Prevalence and prognostic implication of restenosis or dilatation at the aortic coarctation repair site assessed by cardiovascular MRI in adult patients late after coarctation repair. *Int J Cardiol.* 2014;173:209-15.
- 427. Krieger EV, Clair M, Opotowsky AR, Landzberg MJ, Rhodes J, Powell AJ, Colan SD and Valente AM. Correlation of exercise response in repaired coarctation of the aorta to left ventricular mass and geometry. *Am J Cardiol.* 2013;111:406-11.
- 428. Swan L, Goyal S, Hsia C, Hechter S, Webb G and Gatzoulis MA. Exercise systolic blood pressures are of questionable value in the assessment of the adult with a previous coarctation repair. *Heart.* 2003;89:189-92.
- 429. Alfakih K, Plein S, Thiele H, Jones T, Ridgway JP and Sivananthan MU. Normal human left and right ventricular dimensions for MRI as assessed by turbo gradient echo and steady-state free precession imaging sequences. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. 2003;17:323-9.
- 430. Voges I, Kees J, Jerosch-Herold M, Gottschalk H, Trentmann J, Hart C, Gabbert DD, Pardun E, Pham M, Andrade AC, Wegner P, Kristo I, Jansen O, Kramer HH and Rickers C. Aortic stiffening and its impact on left atrial volumes and function in patients after successful coarctation repair: a multiparametric cardiovascular magnetic resonance study. *J Cardiovasc Magn Reson*. 2016;18:56.

- 431. Kannel WB, Gordon T and Offutt D. Left ventricular hypertrophy by electrocardiogram. Prevalence, incidence, and mortality in the Framingham study. *Ann Intern Med.* 1969;71:89-105.
- 432. Kim GB, Kang SJ, Bae EJ, Yun YS, Noh CI, Lee JR, Kim YJ and Lee JY. Elastic properties of the ascending aorta in young children after successful coarctoplasty in infancy. *Int J Cardiol.* 2004;97:471-7.
- 433. Redheuil A, Yu WC, Mousseaux E, Harouni AA, Kachenoura N, Wu CO, Bluemke D and Lima JA. Age-related changes in aortic arch geometry relationship with proximal aortic function and left ventricular mass and remodeling. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2011;58:1262-70.
- 434. Lashley D, Curtin J, Malcolm P, Clark A and Freeman L. Aortic arch morphology and late systemic hypertension following correction of coarctation of aorta. *Congenit Heart Dis.* 2007;2:410-5.
- 435. Ntsinjana HN, Biglino G, Capelli C, Tann O, Giardini A, Derrick G, Schievano S and Taylor AM. Aortic arch shape is not associated with hypertensive response to exercise in patients with repaired congenital heart diseases. *J Cardiovasc Magn Reson.* 2013;15:101.
- 436. Martins JD, Thomas B, Tavares NJ and Pinto FF. [Aortic arch geometry after aortic coarctation repair: systematic magnetic resonance study in a consecutive series of patients]. *Rev Port Cardiol.* 2012;31:403-4.
- 437. Gryglewski RJ, Chlopicki S, Swies J and Niezabitowski P. Prostacyclin, nitric oxide, and atherosclerosis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1995;748:194-206; discussion 206-7.
- 438. Emerging Risk Factors C, Kaptoge S, Di Angelantonio E, Pennells L, Wood AM, White IR, Gao P, Walker M, Thompson A, Sarwar N, Caslake M, Butterworth AS, Amouyel P, Assmann G, Bakker SJ, Barr EL, Barrett-Connor E, Benjamin EJ, Bjorkelund C, Brenner H, Brunner E, Clarke R, Cooper JA, Cremer P, Cushman M, Dagenais GR, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Dankner R, Davey-Smith G, Deeg D, Dekker JM, Engstrom G, Folsom AR, Fowkes FG, Gallacher J, Gaziano JM, Giampaoli S, Gillum RF, Hofman A, Howard BV, Ingelsson E, Iso H, Jorgensen T, Kiechl S, Kitamura A, Kiyohara Y, Koenig W, Kromhout D, Kuller LH, Lawlor DA, Meade TW, Nissinen A, Nordestgaard BG, Onat A, Panagiotakos DB, Psaty BM, Rodriguez B, Rosengren A, Salomaa V, Kauhanen J, Salonen JT, Shaffer JA, Shea S, Ford I, Stehouwer CD, Strandberg TE, Tipping RW, Tosetto A, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Wennberg P, Westendorp RG, Whincup PH, Wilhelmsen L, Woodward M, Lowe GD, Wareham NJ, Khaw KT, Sattar N, Packard CJ, Gudnason V, Ridker PM, Pepys MB, Thompson SG and Danesh J. C-reactive protein, fibrinogen, and cardiovascular disease prediction. *N Engl J Med*. 2012;367:1310-20.
- 439. Brili S, Oikonomou E, Antonopoulos AS, Pianou N, Georgakopoulos A, Koutagiar I, Kafouris P, Stroumpouli E, Dounis C, Metaxas M, Spyrou G, Anagnostopoulos CD and Tousoulis D. 18F-Fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography/Computed Tomographic Imaging Detects Aortic Wall Inflammation in Patients With Repaired Coarctation of Aorta. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2018;11:e007002.

- 440. Yousuf O, Mohanty BD, Martin SS, Joshi PH, Blaha MJ, Nasir K, Blumenthal RS and Budoff MJ. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein and cardiovascular disease: a resolute belief or an elusive link? *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2013;62:397-408.
- 441. Maschietto N, Semplicini L, Ceolotto G, Cattelan A, Poser Dvm H, Iacopetti I, Gerardi G, De Benedictis GM, Pilla T, Bernardini D, Aresu L, Rizzo S, Basso C, Semplicini A and Milanesi O. Aortic stenting in the growing sheep causes aortic endothelial dysfunction but not hypertension: Clinical implications for coarctation repair. *Congenit Heart Dis.* 2017;12:74-83.
- 442. Lakatta EG. Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part III: cellular and molecular clues to heart and arterial aging. *Circulation*. 2003;107:490-7.
- 443. Goergen CJ, Johnson BL, Greve JM, Taylor CA and Zarins CK. Increased anterior abdominal aortic wall motion: possible role in aneurysm pathogenesis and design of endovascular devices. *J Endovasc Ther.* 2007;14:574-84.
- 444. Global BMIMC, Di Angelantonio E, Bhupathiraju Sh N, Wormser D, Gao P, Kaptoge S, Berrington de Gonzalez A, Cairns BJ, Huxley R, Jackson Ch L, Joshy G, Lewington S, Manson JE, Murphy N, Patel AV, Samet JM, Woodward M, Zheng W, Zhou M, Bansal N, Barricarte A, Carter B, Cerhan JR, Smith GD, Fang X, Franco OH, Green J, Halsey J, Hildebrand JS, Jung KJ, Korda RJ, McLerran DF, Moore SC, O'Keeffe LM, Paige E, Ramond A, Reeves GK, Rolland B, Sacerdote C, Sattar N, Sofianopoulou E, Stevens J, Thun M, Ueshima H, Yang L, Yun YD, Willeit P, Banks E, Beral V, Chen Z, Gapstur SM, Gunter MJ, Hartge P, Jee SH, Lam TH, Peto R, Potter JD, Willett WC, Thompson SG, Danesh J and Hu FB. Body-mass index and all-cause mortality: individual-participant-data meta-analysis of 239 prospective studies in four continents. *Lancet*. 2016;388:776-86.
- 445. Emerging Risk Factors C, Di Angelantonio E, Gao P, Pennells L, Kaptoge S, Caslake M, Thompson A, Butterworth AS, Sarwar N, Wormser D, Saleheen D, Ballantyne CM, Psaty BM, Sundstrom J, Ridker PM, Nagel D, Gillum RF, Ford I, Ducimetiere P, Kiechl S, Koenig W, Dullaart RP, Assmann G, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Dagenais GR, Cooper JA, Kromhout D, Onat A, Tipping RW, Gomez-de-la-Camara A, Rosengren A, Sutherland SE, Gallacher J, Fowkes FG, Casiglia E, Hofman A, Salomaa V, Barrett-Connor E, Clarke R, Brunner E, Jukema JW, Simons LA, Sandhu M, Wareham NJ, Khaw KT, Kauhanen J, Salonen JT, Howard WJ, Nordestgaard BG, Wood AM, Thompson SG, Boekholdt SM, Sattar N, Packard C, Gudnason V and Danesh J. Lipid-related markers and cardiovascular disease prediction. *JAMA*. 2012;307:2499-506.
- 446. Hanley FL. The various therapeutic approaches to aortic coarctation: is it fair to compare? *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1996;27:471-2.
- 447. Marshall AC and Lock JE. Leaving neverland: a randomized trial for coarctation shows pediatric interventional cardiology is growing up. *Circulation*. 2005;111:3347-8.

IX. ACKNOWLEGMENTS

LOVE-COARCT Study

In this work, I learned that there are many challenges associated with rigorous clinical research. Here's my acknowledgement to the many individuals and institutions that made it possible.

To Fátima F. Pinto, MD, PhD, Head of my Pediatric Cardiology Dept, and José Fragata, MD, PhD, Vice Rector of NOVA University and Chair of HSM's Cardiovascular & Lung Department. Without their seminal encouragement, personal involvement, full support, and their research-committed leadership, this work would not have been possible. I am indebted to them.

To Fundação Millennium BCP, who has a remarkable and patriotic track record in social responsability, in Portugal. I am deeply grateful to António Monteiro, Chairman of Millennium BCP Bank and Fernando Nogueira, Head of Fundação Millennium BCP Foundation, for daring to believe in this project. This would not have happened without them.

To Fundação Luso-Americada para o Desenvolvimento (FLAD). They are one of the most important stakeholders of scientific research in Portugal, and their initial support was instrumental, and seed money, for completing funding of the rest of the project. A special appreciation for Dr. Fernando Durão, former President of the Executive Council.

To Dr. Teresa Sustelo, former Head of the Board of Administration of CHLC, and Dra. Vanessa Rodrigues, former Delegate Administrator for Hospital de Santa Marta, for enthusiastically creating the environment that supported this study.

To Manuela Lima, MD, PhD, and Fernando Tomás, respectively Head and Treasurer of Liga dos Amigos do Hospital de Santa Marta, for the management of the grant funds.

To my Pediatric Cardiology colleagues in Hospital de Santa Marta, for the comradeship and inspiration. Their friendship soothes the stormy waters.

To Mário Duque, RN, Head nurse of my Pediatric Cardiology Dept and his team, for drawing blood in our patients.

To Mafalda Selas, RN, Coordinator of the Office for Clinical Research of the Cardiology Dept, and Claudia Freixo, RN, for handling of blood samples and research coordination.

LOVE-COARCT Study

To Anabela Pimentel and Sandra Mendes, Pediatric Cardiology Dept secretaries, for their relentless and high-spirited work in contacting patients and organizing clinical files.

To the cardiopulmonary techniques Lurdes Medroa and Teresa Mateus, for performing applanation tonometry, Endo-PAT, BP measurements, ABPM, and EST. Their competence and cooperation were vital.

To Alvaro Laranjeira, MD, for the wonderful drawings of the surgical techniques.

To Luis Pereira da Silva, MD, PhD, Coordinator of the Research Center of CHLC, Daniel Virella, MD, MScEpi, co-coordinator of its Statistics Epidemiologic Analysis Section, for their help in the international registration of the LOVE-COARCT trial.

To all the LOVE-COARCT researchers credited as authors in the LOVE-COARCT papers goes my deepest gratitude. Your remarkable work speaks for itself. But I want to acknowledge your commitment, that went beyond the job: Diana Oliveira, MSc, for fast digitalization of all the SphygmoCor carotid pressure curves; Kimberlee Gauvreau, ScD, for all the iterations in statistical work; Eduardo Castela, MD, and António Marinho, MD, for making their patients available to come to Lisbon for the LOVE-COARCT procedures; Marta António, MD, Boban Thomas, MD, and Nuno Jalles, MD, for an amazing and thorough performance of all Portuguese patients CMRs, while accommodating the challenging scheduling of patient visits; and Maria Guarino, for the amazing ability and perseverance to successfully navigate through the complexities of international shipping of blood products and airport customs.

To all the center coordinators, Ashwin Prakash, Elif Seda Selamet Tierney, Justin Zachariah, Sarah de Ferranti, Shaine Morris. Shelby Kutty, and Uyen Truong. The LOVE-COARCT collaboration was forged with thousands of emails, 70+ conference monthly calls, and three in-person meetings, over seven years. Looking back, I am proud and thankful to recognize that a true team was built.

To Ashwin Prakash, for being the unremitting, up-front, and knowledgeable partner. I am honored to benefit from his friendship.

To Jim Lock, MD, I am indebted for making possible the collaboration with Boston, and for all insightful contributions. He shaped my career as a fellow and never stopped since.

To Tal Geva, MD, the co-mentor of this thesis. His enthusiastic support from the get-go, his continued wise and erudite comments, and his motivation supported this work.

To Miguel Mota Carmo, MD, PhD, the mentor of this thesis. He steered this work, kept me focused, and had an unrelenting effort to improve this thesis, up to the last minute.

To my friends and family, for their unconditional support.

To my parents, for leading the way.

To my children, for their love.

To my wife, for everything.

LOVE-COARCT Study

X. APENDIXES

LOVE-COARCT Study

1. PUBLISHED PAPERS

Document downloaded from http://www.elsevier.es, day 02/09/2018. This copy is for personal use. Any transmission of this document by any media or format is strictly prohibited.

Rev Port Cardiol. 2012;31(5):403-404



IMAGE IN CARDIOLOGY

Aortic arch geometry after aortic coarctation repair: Systematic magnetic resonance study in a consecutive series of patients^{\star}

Geometria do arco aórtico em coartações da aorta corrigidas: estudo sistemático por ressonância magnética numa série consecutiva de doentes

José Diogo Ferreira Martins^{b,*}, Boban Thomas^a, Nuno Jalles Tavares^a, Fatima F. Pinto^b

^a Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica, Hospital de Santa Marta, Lisboa, Portugal ^b Ressonância Magnética, Caselas, Lisboa, Portugal

Received 26 October 2011; accepted 31 October 2011

Systemic hypertension at rest or during exercise persists in a significant number of patients after early repair of coarctation of the aorta (CoA). Recoarctation explains only a small percentage of these cases, and recent studies have suggested intrinsic anomalies in aortic arch geometry (''gothic arch'') as a possible cause, irrespective of whether the repair was surgical or percutaneous.^{1,2}

We retrospectively assessed all magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies in a consecutive series of patients followed in our institution, analyzing the prevalence of the various types of aortic arch geometry: gothic, romanesque and crenel. All the studies were performed using a Signa 1.5T (GE Medical Systems, Milwaukee, WI, USA). Anatomical types were classified by two physicians experienced in MRI (>1500 exams between them), based on images acquired using black blood, cine or angiographic techniques.

The type of aortic arch could be classified in 59 of the 77 consecutive patients with corrected CoA. Those with recoarctation or other significant aortic arch abnormalities, such as arch hypoplasia in the context of hypoplastic left

E-mail address: jdferreiramartins@gmail.com (J.D. Ferreira Martins).

heart syndrome, were excluded. The results showed the following distribution of types: romanesque (n = 22; Figure 1), gothic (n = 20; Figure 2) and crenel (n = 17; Figure 3), which is similar to the distribution described for international series reported in the literature.



Figure 1Romanesque arch geometry.

2174-2049/\$ - see front matter © 2011 Sociedade Portuguesa de Cardiologia. Published by Elsevier España, S.L. All rights reserved.

^{*} Please cite this article as: Martins, JD. Geometria do arco aórtico em coarctações da aorta corrigidas: estudo sistemático por ressonância magnética numa série consecutiva de doentes. Rev Port Cardiol. 2012. doi:10.1016/j.repce.2012.03.006

^{*} Corresponding author.

Document downloaded from http://www.elsevier.es, day 02/09/2018. This copy is for personal use. Any transmission of this document by any media or format is strictly prohibited.

J.D. Ferreira Martins et al.



Figure 2 Gothic arch geometry.



Figure 3 Crenel geometry.

A significant proportion of our series of patients with corrected CoA had aortic arch geometry that predisposes to hypertension at rest or during exercise. Besides screening for anatomical and physiological signs of recoarctation, magnetic resonance study after aortic coarctation repair should also assess aortic arch geometry, since this has a significant impact on the management and prognosis of these patients.

Conflicts of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Ou P, Bonnet D, Auriacombe L, et al. Late systemic hypertension and aortic arch geometry after successful repair of coarctation of the aorta. Eur Heart J. 2004;25:1853–9.
- Ou P, Celermajer DS, Raisky OJ. Angular (gothic) aortic arch leads to enhanced systolic wave reflection, central aortic stiffness, and increased left ventricular mass late after aortic coarctation repair: evaluation with magnetic resonance flow mapping. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2008;135:62–8.

2. PAPERS ACCEPTED FOR PUBLICATION

APC_64_18R2

Ratio	nale ar	nd design of Long-te	rm Outcomes and Vascular	
Evalu	ation a	ifter Successful Coa	rctation of the Aorta Treatment study	
Jose D M Sarah D Kimberlee Department Texas Childre Hospital, Sta Children's He Harvard Mece Engineering	dartins, Jus de Ferrant e Gauvreau of Pediatric Ca en's Hospital, B nford Universi ospital and Mee lical School, Bo Department, In	tin Zachariah ¹ , Elif Seda Selame ti ⁵ , Jonathan Rhodes ⁵ , Marta A ⁵ , Nuno Jalles ⁷ , Tal Geva ⁵ , Miguel Irdiology, Hospital de Santa Marta, Centro H Jaylor College of Medicine, Houston, ² Divisio ty, Palo Alto, ³ Division of Pediatric Cardiolog dical Center University of Nebraska College e Joston, USA, ⁴ CEDOC Chronic Diseases, Nova nstituto Superior Técnico, Lisbon, Portugal	et Tierney ² , Uyen Truong ³ , Shaine A Morris ¹ , Shelby Kutty ⁴ ntonio, Maria Guarino ⁶ , Boban Thomas ⁷ , Diana Oliveira ⁶ Carmo ⁶ , Ashwin Prakash ⁵ ospitalar de Lisboa Central, Lisbon, Portugal, 'Division of Pediatric Cardiology, n of Pediatric Cardiology, Department of Pediatrics, Lucile Packard Children ^s y, Children's Hospital Colorado, Aurora, ⁴ Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology of Medicine Omaha, ⁵ Department of Cardiology, Boston Children's Hospital, Medical School, Lisbon, ⁷ Caselas, Ressonância Magnética, S. A. Lisbon, ⁸ Biomedica	
AB	STRACT			
Bao	rkground	: Coarctation of the aorta (CoA stent implantation. Although modalities, long-term cardiova due to persistently abnormal long-term vascular function re vascular function in this pat modalities.	.) can be treated using surgery, balloon angioplasty, or short-term results are excellent with all three treatment ascular (CV) morbidity and mortality remain high, likely vascular function. The effects of treatment modality on emain uncharacterized. The goal of this study is to assess ient population for comparison among the treatment	
Me	thods	: We will prospectively assess multiple noninvasive modaliti patients previously treated us after frequency matching for co assessment protocol has been arterial stiffness measured by been carefully established afte size has been calculated for th	We will prospectively assess vascular Afunction in large and small arteries fusing multiple noninvasive modalities and compare the results among the three groups of CoA patients previously treated using surgery, balloon angioplasty, or stent implantation after frequency matching for confounding variables. A comprehensive vascular function assessment protocol has been created to be used in 7 centers. Our primary outcome is arterial stiffness measured by arterial tonometry. Inclusion and exclusion criteria have been carefully established after consideration of several potential confounders. Sample size has been calculated for the primary outcome variable.	
Co	nclusion	: Treatment modalities for Co. vascular function. The results that is associated with the mo term, may reduce CV risk.	A may have distinct impact on large and small arterial of this study will help identify the treatment modality st optimal level of vascular function, which, in the long	
Ke	ywords	: Arterial stiffness, cardiac magn long-term outcomes, pulse way	etic resonance imaging, coarctation of the aorta, re velocity, vascular function	
Current t	reatment t	techniques are equally effective	at This is an open access journal, and articles are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike	
cininati	Acc	ess this article online	4.0 License, which allows others to remix, tweak, and build upon the	
Quick F	Response Code:		new creations are licensed under the identical terms.	
	疑湖県	www.annalspc.com	For reprints contact: reprints@medknow.com	
		DOI: 10.4103/apc.APC_64_18	How to cite this article: Martins JD, Zachariah J, Tierney ES, Truong U, Morris SA, Kutty S. et al. Rationale and design of Long-term Outcomes and Vascular Evaluation after Successful Coarctation of the Aorta Treatment study. Ann Pediatr Card 2018;XX:XX-XX.	

Address for correspondence: Dr. José D Martins, Department of Pediatric Cardiology, Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central, Hospital de Santa Marta, Rua de Santa Marta, 50, 1150-024, Lisbon, Portugal. E-mail: jdferreiramartins@gmail.com

282

 \circledast 2018 Annals of Pediatric Cardiology \mid Published by Wolters Kluwer - Medknow

2

good anatomical result does not preclude late systemic hypertension in office visits (12%-65%),^[1-6] at peak exercise (10%-47%),^[3-5,7,8] or during ambulatory blood pressure (BP) monitoring (30%-59%).^[7-10] Furthermore, treated patients have reduced life expectancy [Figure 1],^[2] mostly due to cardiovascular (CV) complications^[2,11-14] and stroke.^[15]

Successfully treated CoA patients have stiffer large arteries^[16-21] and compromised vascular reactivity in small arteries^[8,10,22-26] their arterial pressure waveform is altered,^[9,10,23,27,28] have imbalances in vascular function biomarkers,^[24,25,27,293,0] and increased left ventricular (LV) mass.^[8,9,19-21,26,31,32] Vascular dysfunction is associated with older age at treatment,^[2,19,22,29,31,33] but early treatment does not guarantee normal vascular function.^[16,22]

Different treatment modalities may have varying effects on the stiffness of the repaired arterial segment:^[34] Surgical repair results in a focal scar in the anastomosis; stenting creates a short, rigid segment; and balloon dilation (BD) produces a controlled tear of the intima and part of the media. Although it is possible that these differences translate into differences in vascular dysfunction, this has not been systematically compared. The largest, albeit observational and nonrandomized, comparison between the three modalities showed a lower BP in patients treated with BD versus those treated with stenting or surgery.^[1] A small retrospective study showed less frequent exercise-induced hypertension in BD patients compared with other treatment types.[33] Conclusions drawn from these prior studies are hampered by methodological limitations and limited focus. In the general population, arterial stiffness is associated with major CV events.[35] Thus, choosing the CoA treatment option that optimizes vascular function is crucial for long-term outcomes in CoA.

Aim and hypothesis

The Long-term Outcomes and Vascular Evaluation after Successful Coarctation of the Aorta Treatment study



Figure 1: Survival after treatment of coarctation of the aorta. Survival curves of 819 surgical patients for over 60 years (reprinted with permission from Elsevier, license number 4131890880395) Martins, et al.: LOVE-COARCT study rationale and design

1

2 3

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

aims to determine whether surgery, BD, and stenting are associated with differences in arterial stiffness in optimally treated patients. Our hypothesis is that patients who underwent successful BD will have better vascular function than patients who underwent successful surgical repair or stenting since this modality may least likely damage the biomechanical properties of the aortic wall.

METHODS

Study overview

This study is a cross-sectional prospective observational study of patients with CoA previously treated using one of three treatment modalities. Patients will be recruited at seven large pediatric cardiac centers from Europe and the United States of America [Appendix 1]. The study procedures will occur in a 1- or 2-day visit [Figure 2].

Recruitment

Selection criteria are depicted in Table 1. The study protocol was approved by Institutional Review Boards. Recruitment occurred between June 2013 and December 2017. The study data are collected and managed using REDCap software, hosted at Children's Hospital Boston.^[36]

Study procedures

A list with the main clinical and study tests variables are depicted in Tables 2 and 3. The comprehensive list of study variables is in Appendix 7

Arterial stiffness

CoA treatments alter the biomechanics of the isthmus and may increase arterial stiffness. The velocity of the pulse wave velocity (PWV) travel in the arterial tree increases with arterial stiffness. Carotid-femoral PWV (cfPWV) is extensively validated in large studies a marker of aortic stiffness, and an independent predictor of CV events. ^[37] We will measure cfPWV with applanation tonometry, using either the NIHem (CV Engineering, Inc., Norwood, MA USA) or the SphygmoCor (AtCor Medical, West Ryde, NSW. Australia) devices.^[37] This technique assumes a homogenous stiffness across the aorta and may potentially not accurately estimate the true carotid-to-femoral artery length. Cardiovascular magnetic resonance (CMR) measurements of PWV, on the other way, enables the detection of more subtle changes in segmental aortic PWV, above versus below the CoA site, and uses real aortic travel paths.^[38] We will also use CMR to measure aortic area change during the cardiac cycle, paired with BP measurements, to quantify local arterial strain, compliance, distensibility, and the β-stiffness index [Appendix 2a and b].

Endothelial function

In CoA, the loss of central aortic pulsatility, which buffers systole, generates chronic shear stress

hyperlipidemia (triglycerides ≥ 250 mg/dl; fasting LDL ≥ 190 mg/dl; HDL ≤ 30 mg/dl, currently taking statins or first degree relatives with familial hypercholesterolemia); smoking Legend: y=years; BP=blood pressure; CoA=coarctation of the aorta; LDL=low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL=high-density lipoprotein cholester *using highest lower extremity systolic blood pressure; 'using previously published normative values ^(sr)
Genetic syndromes with diffuse Examples: Williams syndrome, juvenile rheumatoid arthritis arteriopathy Severe obesity (body mass index >95% for age and sex in children and >40 Kg/m² for adults; diabetes (fasting plasma glucose ≥ 126 mg/dl or random (non-fasting) glucose ≥200 mg/dl);
Use of two treatment modalities for CoA History of known vasculopathy with vascular dysfunction
Treatment of CoA at ge <1y A more severe disease subset, essentially amenable to surgery Clinically significant associated cardiac defects that may affect independently vascular function Witral stenosis (echocardiographic mean inflow Doppler gradient >6 mmHg) aortic stenosis (echocardiographic mean Doppler gradient >20 mmHg); ventricular septal defect (>3 mm in diameter); atrial septal defect (required surgical or percutaneous closure other than a patent foramen ovale); other cardiac lesions that required medical, surgical or interventional treatme
Residual CoA Systolic upper-to-lower extremity BP gradient >20 mmHg.* Residual gradient is a confounder since it impacts vascular function. 8 Atypical CoA Mid-thoracic or abdominal coarctation.
Inclusion criteria Coarctation of the aorta Current age 8-35 years Treatment for CoA after 1994 Exclusion criteria
Criteria Definitions and comments

48 49 50 51 52 53 54 downstream in smaller arteries, creating endothelial dysfunction, which is associated with CV events.^[39] We will measure endothelial function with the reactive hyperemia index using endothelial pulse amplitude tonometry (endo-PAT), a novel noninvasive and reproducible technique that measures changes in pulsatile arterial volume with a fingertip probe.^[40]

augmentation index (AIx; ratio of the amplitude of the reflected wave in the ascending aorta and the $\ensuremath{\text{PP}}\xspace.^{[37]}$ CAP, PP, and AIx can be measured noninvasively using applanation tonometry (and Endo-PAT for AIx), calibrated by the peripheral diastolic and mean arterial pressure.^[37] There is a lack of consensus regarding the optimal method to estimate the CAP with tonometry. The NIHem system assumes that carotid artery pulse waveform accurately

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

Table 3. List of main study	test variables
-----------------------------	----------------

Variables	Comments o definitions
Applanation tonometry	
Central systolic blood pressure	mmHg
Central pulse pressure	mmHg
Carotid-femoral PWV	meters/second
Augmentation index at HR75	%
CMR	
Left ventricular mass indexed to BSA	g/m ²
Ascending Ao - Descending Ao	Meters/second
PWV (Ascending Ao to proximal, mid	
and distal descending Ao)	
Type of arch	Romanesque;
	Gothic; Crenel
Aortic strain	
(Ascending, Proximal, Mid and Distal Ao)	
Aortic Distensibility	mmHg-1
(Ascending, Proximal, Mid and Distal Ao)	
Endo-PAT	
Reactive hyperemia index (RHI)	
Augmentation index at 75 bpm	%
ABPM	
24 h Average systolic and diastolic BP	mmHg
24 h systolic and diastolic load	%
Exercise test	
Pre-Exercise SBP gradient	mmHg
Peak exercise BP	mmHg
Biomarkers	
NUX	ug/ml
	ng/L
High Sensitivity CRP	mg/L
VCAM-1	ng/ml
IL-IB	pg/mi
TFG-β	
MMP-2/Gelatinase A	ng/ml
WIVIP-9/Gelaunase D	ng/ml

pressure; BP=Blood Pressure; BSA=Body Surface Area; CMR=Cardiac magnetic resonance; DBP=Diastolic Blood Pressure; HDL=High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; Hs-CRP=High sensitivity: C-Reactive Protein; IL-1 β = Interleukin 1 beta; LDL=Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; MMP-2=Matrix Metalloproteinase-2; MMP-9=Matrix Metalloproteinase-9; NOx=Nitric Oxide; PWV=Pulse Wave Velocity; LV=Left Ventricle; SBP=Systolic Blood Pressure; TFG- β = Transforming Growth Factor beta; VCAM-1=Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1; * using previously published normative values¹⁵⁷

reflects the central aortic waveform and the pulsed wave analysis is automatically calculated from the carotid waveform. The SphygmoCor device uses a generalized transform function to generate a central aortic PP curve from the radial or carotid pressure tracings, which has not been validated in children. Considering our largely pediatric group and need to maintain consistency between data acquired on each device, we use the nonprocessed, signal-averaged SphygmoCor carotid tracing as the central aortic tracing which will be then digitized to calculate the CAP, following previously published approach [Appendixes 2a and 3].^[41]

Blood pressure phenotype

BP phenotype is abnormal despite successful treatment of CoA. Office hypertension is a known risk factor for CV disease and the BP response during the ET is predictive

Annals of Pediatric Cardiology / Volume 11 / Issue 3 / September-December 2018

Martins, et al.: LOVE-COARCT study rationale and design

of future development of resting hypertension in the general population.^[42] Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM) is superior to the office measurement in its ability to distinguish patients at the highest risk for target-organ damage.^[43] We will assess BP phenotype with the manual auscultation technique to measure the right arm office BP; supine four extremity oscillometric BP measurement to assess for residual coarctation; ABPM to measure the circadian BP profile; and ET to assess the BP response to exercise and exercise-induced arm to leg BP gradient. Based on the office BP and ABPM results, we will classify our patients according to Table 4 [Appendix 4].

Biomarkers

We will measure asymmetric dimetilarginine (ADMA; NO's inhibitor) [44] and nitrite and nitrate (NOx. stable by-product of NO), biomarkers of endothelial function. Arterial stiffness is associated with increased systemic inflammation markers, which we will quantify with high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) and local inflammatory cytokines of vascular wall function vascular adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) and interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 β).^[25,45] We will finally assess the molecular mechanisms of aortic wall response to vascular dysfunction, with matrix metalloproteases (MMP-2 and MMP-9),^[46] and transforming growth factor beta-1 (TGF-β1, a smooth cell growth-modulating factor involved in the arterial wall response to hypertension).[30] NOx will be determined by chemiluminescence (Sievers NOAnalyzer 280i) and all remaining measurements will be performed with enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kits: ADMA (Sunred Biological Technology, Shanghai, China); hs-CRP (BoosterBio, Pleasanton, USA); VCAM-1; IL-16; matrix metalloproteases (MMP)-9; MMP-2; and TGFβ-1 (RayBiotech, Inc. Norcross, USA) [Appendix 5].

Left ventricular mass

The altered BP phenotype that persists after CoA treatment represents an increase in afterload that leads to LV hypertrophy, strongly related to high BP and carrying a grave prognosis for cardiac events.^[47] We will quantify LV mass by CMR, a well-established method for its calculation [Appendix 2b].

Cardiovascular health assessment

Patients with CoA experience increased CV disease compared to the general population. Literature in the general population has demonstrated that risk of cardiometabolic disease and accelerated atherosclerosis is mitigated by ideal CV health (ICVH),^[48] defined as having optimal levels of health factors (BP, total cholesterol, and plasma glucose) and behaviors (smoking, body mass index, physical activity, and diet). We will implement a questionnaire to assess family history of CV disease and ICVH according to the guidelines of the American Heart Association [Appendix 6].^[48]

3

4

5

6 7 8

9

10

11

12 13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

47

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

Martins, et al.: LOVE-COARCT study rationale and design

3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
1	(
1	1
1	2
1	3
1	4
1	5
1	6
1	7
1	8
1	C

20

21 22

23 24

25

26 27

28

29

30

31

32

33

35

37

39

41

42

43

44

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

1

Table 4: Classification of BP Phenotype by ABPM			
Classification	Office BP SBP or DBP*	24h Mean ABPM SBP or DBP [†]	
Non-hypertensive	Pediatric: <95th %tile	Pediatric: <95th %tile	
	Adults: <140/90 mmHg	Adults: <135/85 mmHg	
White Coat	Pediatric: ≥95 th %tile	Pediatric: <95th %tile	
Hypertension	Adults: >140/90 mmHg	Adults: <135/85 mmHg	
Masked	Pediatric: <95th %tile	Pediatric: >95 th %tile	
Hypertension	Adults: <140/90 mmHg	Adults: >135/85 mmHg	
Ambulatory	Pediatric: >95th %tile	Pediatric: >95 th %tile	
Hypertension	Adults: >140/90 mmHg	Adults: >135/85 mmHg	
Legend: AMBP=Am	bulatory blood pressure moni	toring; BP=Blood Pressure;	

ABPM=Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring; Pediatric patients have age ABP=Miashibulatory blood Pressure Monitoring, rediating patients have age <18yo and adult patients age ≥18yo; %tile=percentile; BP=blood pressure; DBP=diastolic blood pressure; and SBP=systolic blood pressure. *For pediatric patients, based on the National High Blood Pressure Education Program Task Force normative data^[54]; for adult patients, based on the Joint National Committee on the Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure report.^[55] 'For pediatric patients, based on normative pediatric ABPM values from the American Heart Association Atherosclerosis, Hypertension and Obesity in Youth Committee of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young;^{43]} for adult patients, based on the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research report^[5]

Statistical considerations

Adjustment for confounders

We will adjust our treatment groups for three main documented confounders: (a) age at treatment; (b) current age; and (c) bicuspid aortic valve (associated with impaired aortic elasticity).^[49] During recruitment, we will attempt to frequency match the three treatment groups. During analysis, the treatment groups will be compared for each of these three confounding variables and adjustments will be made using multivariable modeling with linear and logistic regression models.

Analytic plan

Our primary outcome variable will be cfPWV assessed by 34 tonometry. Differences across groups will be explored using one-way analysis of variance. If differences in 36 matching variables are detected among the groups, adjustment will be made using analysis of covariance. 38 Post hoc analyses will be performed as necessary. Sample size estimates were obtained based on prior data that 40 show that arch PWV measured by CMR is 3.3 \pm 0.6 m/s in normal patients and 4.7 \pm 1.1 m/sec after CoA surgery.^[20,50] Sample size estimates for comparison of PVW between three equal-sized treatment groups (assuming overall significance level = 0.05 and power = 0.8) are 45 shown in Table 5. We plan on recruiting 24-30 patients 46 in each group for a total sample size of 72-90.

DISCUSSION

Methodological considerations

We chose a multicenter design to overcome recruitment challenges secondary to restrictive enrollment criteria (particularly the lower treatment age limit of 1 year, which excludes a majority of CoA patients that

286

present in infancy, mostly managed by surgery) and need for matching treatment groups for confounders.

cfPWV is our primary outcome variable because it is validated as an accurate and reproducible measure of arterial stiffness with proven association to hard CV outcomes that can be reliably measured by applanation tonometry and CMR. We chose other parameters to complete a complementary and comprehensive assessment of vascular function in small and large arteries.

Importance of knowledge to be gained

This work will be the first systematic and comprehensive comparison of vascular function between three different treatment modalities in CoA patients. We postulate that the integrity of the arterial wall is best preserved with balloon dilatation, compared to stenting or surgery. We are aware that our population is highly selected, but believe that this is the only way to compare the three treatment types. The results of our selected population may be relevant when several modalities are applicable to one patient. Currently, the preservation of vascular function is not considered when choosing between treatment modalities. Ultimately, the results of our study may help clinicians choose treatment modalities based not only on relief of anatomic stenosis but also on their ability to preserve long-term vascular health.

Study limitations

Our results will reflect vascular function in a selected group of optimally treated CoA patients and may not be generalizable to all CoA patients. We will compare vascular function after treatment but not before the treatment. Variation in antihypertensive medication protocols between different institutions may affect vascular parameters.

CONCLUSION

There is ample evidence to suggest that CoA is a systemic arterial disease and not merely a focal stenosis of the aortic isthmus. However, the current management paradigm continues to focus on alleviating the anatomic stenosis. Our study aims to refine this treatment paradigm by adding the preservation of vascular function to the goals of successful treatment. The strengths of this study include its multicenter design and the use of multiple noninvasive modalities to perform a comprehensive and prospective assessment of vascular function and CV health.

Financial support and sponsorship

The study was supported by two grants, from the Millennium Foundation BCP (awarded on December 18, 2012) and the Fundação Luso-Americana para o Desenvolvimento (Proj A-1 287/2012).

2

3 4 5

6

7

8

Q

10

11

12 13

14

16

17

18

19

20

21 22

23

24 24 25

26 27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50 51

52

53

54

Smallest mean PWV (m/s)	Largest mean PWV (m/s)	Standard deviation	Sample size for	Total sample
among groups	among groups		each group	size
4.0	4.8	1.0	30	90
4.0	4.8	1.1	36	108
4.0	4.8	1.2	43	129
4.4	5.3	1.0	24	72
4.4	5.3	1.1	29	87
4.4	5.3	1.2	34	102

Legend: PWV=Pulse wave velocity

Conflicts of interest

There are no conflicts of interest.

AQ1 REFERENCES

- Forbes TJ, Kim DW, Du W, Turner DR, Holzer R, Amin Z, et al. Comparison of surgical, stent, and balloon angioplasty treatment of native coarctation of the aorta: An observational study by the CCISC (Congenital Cardiovascular Interventional Study Consortium). J Am Coll Cardiol 2011:58:2664-74.
- Brown ML, Burkhart HM, Connolly HM, Dearani JA, Cetta F, Li Z, et al. Coarctation of the aorta: Lifelong surveillance is mandatory following surgical repair. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013;62:1020-5.
- Martins JD, Thomas B, Jalles N, Pinto FF. Aortic arch geometry in repaired coarctation: Systematic review of a consecutive series by magnetic ressonance imaging. Rev Port Cardiol 2012;31:403-4.
- Peres A, Martins JD, Paramés F, Gil R, Matias C, Franco J, et al. Isolated aortic coarctation: Experience in 100 consecutive patients. Rev Port Cardiol 2010;29:23-35.
- Hager A, Kanz S, Kaemmerer H, Schreiber C, Hess J. Coarctation long-term assessment (COALA): Significance of arterial hypertension in a cohort of 404 patients up to 27 years after surgical repair of isolated coarctation of the aorta, even in the absence of restenosis and prosthetic material. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2007;134:738-45.
- Quennelle S, Powell AJ, Geva T, Prakash A. Persistent aortic arch hypoplasia after coarctation treatment is associated with late systemic hypertension. J Am Heart Assoc 2015;4. pii: e001978.
- Bocelli A, Favilli S, Pollini I, Bini RM, Ballo P, Chiappa E, et al. Prevalence and long-term predictors of left ventricular hypertrophy, late hypertension, and hypertensive response to exercise after successful aortic coarctation repair. Pediatr Cardiol 2013;34:620-9.
- Meyer AA, Joharchi MS, Kundt G, Schuff-Werner P, Steinhoff G, Kienast W, *et al.* Predicting the risk of early atherosclerotic disease development in children after repair of aortic coarctation. Eur Heart J 2005;26:617-22.
- Pedersen TA, Pedersen EB, Munk K, Hjortdal VE, Emmertsen K, Andersen NH, et al. High pulse pressure is not associated with abnormal activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in repaired aortic coarctation. J Hum Hypertens 2015;29:268-73.

Martins, et al.: LOVE-COARCT study rationale and design

1 2 3

4

10

11

12

13

14 15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24 25

26 27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

- 10. Chen SS, Donald AE, Storry C, Halcox JP, Bonhoeffer P, Deanfield JE, *et al.* Impact of aortic stenting on peripheral vascular function and daytime systolic blood pressure in adult coarctation. Heart 2008;94:919-24.
- Toro-Salazar OH, Steinberger J, Thomas W, Rocchini AP, Carpenter B, Moller JH, et al. Long-term follow-up of patients after coarctation of the aorta repair. Am J Cardiol 2002;89:541-7.
- 12. Koller M, Rothlin M, Senning A. Coarctation of the aorta: Review of 362 operated patients. Long-term follow-up and assessment of prognostic variables. Eur Heart J 1987;8:670-9.
- 13. Choudhary P, Canniffe C, Jackson DJ, Tanous D, Walsh K, Celermajer DS, *et al.* Late outcomes in adults with coarctation of the aorta. Heart 2015;101:1190-5.
- 14. Hoimyr H, Christensen TD, Emmertsen K, Johnsen SP, Riis A, Hansen OK, *et al.* Surgical repair of coarctation of the aorta: Up to 40 years of follow-up. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2006;30:910-6.
- 15. Mandalenakis Z, Rosengren A, Lappas G, Eriksson P, Hansson PO, Dellborg M, *et al.* Ischemic stroke in children and young adults with congenital heart disease. J Am Heart Assoc 2016;5. pii: e003071.
- 16. Vogt M, Kühn A, Baumgartner D, Baumgartner C, Busch R, Kostolny M, *et al.* Impaired elastic properties of the ascending aorta in newborns before and early after successful coarctation repair: Proof of a systemic vascular disease of the prestenotic arteries? Circulation 2005;111:3269-73.
- 17. Li VW, Cheung YF. Arterial-left ventricular-left atrial coupling late after repair of aortic coarctation and interruption. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging 2015;16:771-80.
- Agnoletti G, Bonnet C, Bonnet D, Sidi D, Aggoun Y. Mid-term effects of implanting stents for relief of aortic recoarctation on systemic hypertension, carotid mechanical properties, intimal medial thickness and reflection of the pulse wave. Cardiol Young 2005;15:245-50.
- 19. Lam YY, Mullen MJ, Kaya MG, Gatzoulis MA, Li W, Henein MY, *et al.* Left ventricular long axis dysfunction in adults with "corrected" aortic coarctation is related to an older age at intervention and increased aortic stiffness. Heart 2009;95:733-9.
- 20. Ou P, Celermajer DS, Jolivet O, Buyens F, Herment A, Sidi D, et al. Increased central aortic stiffness and left ventricular mass in normotensive young subjects after successful coarctation repair. Am Heart J 2008;155:187-93.
- 21. Shang Q, Sarikouch S, Patel S, Schuster A, Steinmetz M, Ou P, *et al.* Assessment of ventriculo-vascular properties in repaired coarctation using cardiac magnetic resonance-derived aortic, left atrial and left ventricular strain. Eur Radiol 2017;27:167-77.
- 22. de Divitiis M, Pilla C, Kattenhorn M, Zadinello M, Donald A, Leeson P, *et al.* Vascular dysfunction after repair of coarctation of the aorta: Impact of early surgery. Circulation 2001;104:I165-70.
- 23. Trojnarska O, Szczepaniak-Chicheł L, Mizia-Stec K, Gabriel M, Bartczak A, Grajek S, *et al.* Vascular

287

2

3

4

5

6 7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26 27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

47

43

44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

Martins, et al.: LOVE-COARCT study rationale and design

remodeling in adults after coarctation repair: Impact of descending aorta stenosis and age at surgery. Clin Res Cardiol 2011;100:447-55.

- 24. Mizia-Stec K, Trojnarska O, Szczepaniak-Chicheł L, Gabriel M, Bartczak A, Ciepłucha A, et al. Asymmetric dimethylarginine and vascular indices of atherosclerosis in patients after coarctation of aorta repair. Int I Cardiol 2012:158:364-9.
- 25. Brili S, Tousoulis D, Antoniades C, Aggeli C, Roubelakis A, Papathanasiu S, et al. Evidence of vascular dysfunction in young patients with successfully repaired coarctation of aorta. Atherosclerosis 2005;182:97-103.
- 26. Jesus CA, Assef JE, Pedra SR, Ferreira WP, Davoglio TA, Petisco AC, et al. Serial assessment of arterial structure and function in patients with coarctation of the aorta undergoing stenting. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2016:32:729-39.
- 27. Moutafi AC Alissafi T Chamakou A Chryssanthopoulos S Thanopoulos V, Dellos C, *et al.* Neurohormonal activity and vascular properties late after aortic coarctation repair. Int J Cardiol 2012;159:211-6.
- 28. Swan L, Kraidly M, Vonder Muhll I, Collins P, Gatzoulis MA. Surveillance of cardiovascular risk in the normotensive patient with repaired aortic coarctation. Int J Cardiol 2010;139:283-8.
- 29. Brili S, Antonopoulos AS, Oikonomou E, Kalampogias A, Papamikroulis GA, Chrysochoou C, et al. Impairment of arterial elastic properties and elevated circulating levels of transforming growth factor-beta in subjects with repaired coarctation of aorta. Int J Cardiol 2016.207:282-3
- 30. Xu C. Lee S. Singh TM, Sho E. Li X, Sho M, et al. Molecular mechanisms of aortic wall remodeling in response to hypertension. J Vasc Surg. 2001;33:570-8.
- 31. Sarkola T, Redington AN, Slorach C, Hui W, Bradley T, Jaeggi E, et al. Assessment of vascular phenotype using a novel very-high-resolution ultrasound technique in adolescents after aortic coarctation repair and/or stent implantation: Relationship to central haemodynamics and left ventricular mass. Heart 2011;97:1788-93.
- 32. Kutty S, Rangamani S, Venkataraman J, Li L, Schuster A Fletcher SE, et al. Reduced global longitudinal and radial strain with normal left ventricular ejection fraction late after effective repair of aortic coarctation: A CMR feature tracking study. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging 2013;29:141-50.
- 33. Martins JD, Franco J, Freitas I, Trigo C, Pinto FF, Kaku S. Blood pressure response to exercise: A new paradigm of success of coarctation of the aorta treatment? Rev Port Cardiol 2008;27:I22.
- 34. Egan M, Holzer RJ. Comparing balloon angioplasty, stenting and surgery in the treatment of aortic coarctation. Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 2009;7:1401-12.
- 35. Vlachopoulos C. Aznaouridis K. Stefanadis C. Prediction of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality with arterial stiffness: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010;55:1318-27.
- 36. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG, *et al.* Research electronic data capture (REDCap) – A metadata-driven methodology and

workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. J Biomed Inform 2009;42:377-81.

- 37. Townsend RR, Wilkinson IB, Schiffrin EL, Avolio AP, Chirinos IA, Cockcroft IR, et al. Recommendations for improving and standardizing vascular research on arterial stiffness: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Hypertension 2015;66:698-722.
- 38. Grotenhuis HB, Westenberg JJ, Steendijk P, van der Geest RJ, Ottenkamp J, Bax JJ, *et al.* Validation and reproducibility of aortic pulse wave velocity as assessed with velocity-encoded MRI. J Magn Reson Imaging 2009;30:521-6.
- 39. Lerman A, Zeiher AM. Endothelial function: Cardiac events. Circulation 2005;111:363-8.
- 40. Selamet Tierney ES, Newburger JW, Gauvreau K, Geva J, Coogan E, Colan SD, et al. Endothelial pulse amplitude testing: Feasibility and reproducibility in adolescents. J Pediatr 2009;154:901-5.
- 41. Kelly R, Fitchett D. Noninvasive determination of aortic input impedance and external left ventricular power output: A validation and repeatability study of a new technique. J Am Coll Cardiol 1992;20:952-63
- 42. Singh JP, Larson MG, Manolio TA, O'Donnell CJ, Lauer M, Evans JC, et al. Blood pressure response during treadmill testing as a risk factor for new-onset hypertension. The framingham heart study. Circulation 1999;99:1831-6.
- Flynn JT, Daniels SR, Hayman LL, Maahs DM, McCrindle BW, Mitsnefes M, *et al.* Update: Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in children and adolescents: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Hypertension 2014;63:1116-35.
- 44. Cooke IP. Asymmetrical dimethylarginine: The uber marker? Circulation 2004;109:1813-8.
- 45. Barbaro NR. Fontana V. Modolo R. De Faria AP. Sabbatini AR, Fonseca FH, et al. Increased arterial stiffness in resistant hypertension is associated with inflammatory biomarkers. Blood Press 2015;24:7-13.
- Takagi H, Manabe H, Kawai N, Goto SN, Umemoto T, 46 Circulating matrix metalloproteinase-9 concentrations and abdominal aortic aneurysm presence: A meta-analysis. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2009;9:437-40.
- 47. Kannel WB, Gordon T, Offutt D. Left ventricular hypertrophy by electrocardiogram. Prevalence, incidence, and mortality in the framingham study. Ann Intern Med 1969;71:89-105.
- 48. Lloyd-Jones DM, Hong Y, Labarthe D, Mozaffarian D, Appel LJ, Van Horn L, *et al.* Defining and setting national goals for cardiovascular health promotion and disease reduction: The American Heart Association's strategic impact goal through 2020 and beyond. Circulation 2010;121:586-613.
- 49. Nistri S, Grande-Allen J, Noale M, Basso C, Siviero P, Maggi S, et al. Aortic elasticity and size in bicuspid aortic valve syndrome. Eur Heart J 2008;29:472-9.
- 50. Walhout RJ. Assessment of proximal and distal aortic properties with magnetic resonance after successful coarctation management in adults. Advances in the Management and Surveillance of Patients with Aortic

Annals of Pediatric Cardiology / Volume 11 / Issue 3 / September-December 2018

2

3

4

5

6 7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

38

39 40

41 42

43 44 45

46 47

> 48 49

> 50 51

52

53

54

ğ

 Martins, et al.: LOVE-COARCT study rationale and design

56. Pickering TG, Hall JE, Appel LJ, Falkner BE, Graves J, Coarctation. 26 June, 2009. Universiteit Amsterdam; 2009. p. 122-30. Hill MN, et al. Recommendations for blood pressure measurement in humans and experimental animals: part 51. Quaal SJ. Interpreting the arterial pressure waveform 1: blood pressure measurement in humans: a statement in the intra-aortic balloon-pumped patient. Prog Cardiovasc Nurs. 2001;16:116-8. for professionals from the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association 52. Prakash A, Adlakha H, Rabideau N, Hass CJ, Morris SA, Council on High Blood Pressure Research, Circulation, Geva T, et al. Segmental Aortic Stiffness in Children and Young Adults With Connective Tissue Disorders: 2005;111:697-716. 57. Colan SD. Normal echocardiographic values for Relationships With Age, Aortic Size, Rate of Dilation, and cardiovascular structures. In: W. W. Lai, M. S. Cohen, T. Surgical Root Replacement. Circulation. 2015;132:595-Geva and L. Mertens, eds. Echocardiography in Pediatric 602. and Congenital Heart Disease West Sussex, UK: Wiley-53. Ou P, Bonnet D, Auriacombe L, Pedroni E, Balleux F, Sidi D Blackwell; 2009: Appendix 1, pp 765-785. and Mousseaux E. Late systemic hypertension and aortic 58. Mitchell GF, Wang N, Palmisano JN, Larson MG, Hamburg NM, Vita JA, Levy D, Benjamin EJ and Vasan arch geometry after successful repair of coarctation of the aorta. Eur Heart J. 2004;25:1853-9. RS. Hemodynamic correlates of blood pressure across 54. National High Blood Pressure Education Program the adult age spectrum: noninvasive evaluation in the Working Group on High Blood Pressure in C and Framingham Heart Study. Circulation. 2010;122:1379-86. Adolescents. The fourth report on the diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure in 59. Pickering TG, Hall JE, Appel LJ, Falkner BE, Graves J, Hill MN, et al. Subcommittee of P and Public Education children and adolescents. Pediatrics. 2004;114:555-76. of the American Heart Association Council on High 55. Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Blood Pressure R. Recommendations for blood pressure Green LA, Izzo JL, et al. Joint National Committee on Prevention DE, Treatment of High Blood Pressure. measurement in humans and experimental animals: Part 1: blood pressure measurement in humans: a statement National Heart L, Blood I and National High Blood Pressure Education Program Coordinating C. Seventh for professionals from the Subcommittee of Professional report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. Hypertension. 2003;42:1206-52. and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research. Hypertension. 2005;45:142-61. Author Ouerv??? AQ1: Kindly provide reference citation58 in text part.

Annals of Pediatric Cardiology / Volume 11 / Issue 3 / September-December 2018

.

Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL Department of Cardiology Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA USA Site Investigators of the LOVE Pediatric Consortium Institution Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL Department of Cardiology Department of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Schon Children's Hospital Stanford University Department of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Stanford University Department of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Stanford University Department of Pediatric Cardiology Department of Pediatric Cardiology Department of Pediatric Cardiology Department of Pediatric Cardiology Department of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatrica School Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Institution Cardia Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Disbon, Portugal Division of Pediatr	
Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL Department of Cardiology Children's Hospital de Santa Marta Ashwin Prakash, M Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA USA Site Investigators of the LOVE Pediatric Consortium Institution Name Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL Subon, PORTUGAL Department of Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL Steiner School Boston Marta António, MD Lurdes Medroa Teresa Mateus Mafalda Selas, RN Ashwin Prakash, M Boston Children's Hospital Boston, USA Department of Cardiology Boston, USA Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Carter University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University Paio Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Stanford University Paio Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Joustin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Children's Hospital Disbon, PORTUGAL Biomedical School Lisbon, PORTUGAL Biomedical Engineering Department Institution Cardine Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Institution Cardine Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Cardine Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab	
Lisbon, PO ^T TUGAL Department of Cardiology Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA USA Site Investigators of the LOVE Pediatric Consortium Institution Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL Department of Cardiology Department of Cardiology Department of Cardiology Department of Cardiology Boston Children's Hospital Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School Boston, USA Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Boston, USA Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Cara Hass, BS (Sth. Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Cara Hass, BS (Sth. Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Department of Pediatrics Angela Chen Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Berviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Evision of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Evision of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Celorado Aurora, USA Evision of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Evision of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Niguel Mota Cardon Nova Medical School Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Tecnico Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Tecnico Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Tecnico Lisbon, Portugal	·
Department of Cardiology Ashwin Prakash, M Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA USA Site Investigators of the LOVE Pediatric Consortium Institution Name Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL Department of Cardiology Department of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Petchman (U) Jame Newburger, N Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Ped	
Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA USA Site Investigators of the LOVE Pediatric Consortium Institution Name Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL José Du Marta António, MD Lurdes Medroa Teresa Mateus Mafalda Selas, RN Boston Children's Hospital Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School Boston, USA Tale Geva, MD Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James Newburger, M Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James Newburger, M Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James Newburger, M Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James Newburger, M Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James Newburger, M Jonathan Rhodes, J. Cara Laboratoris M Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Institution Caratios (Acharia Brakes) Care Laboratories Care Lab)
Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA USA Site Investigators of the LOVE Pediatric Consortium Institution Name Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta José D. Martins, M. Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Harvard Medical School Lisbon, PORTUGAL Marta António, MD Department of Cardiology Ashwin Prakash, M. Boston Children's Hospital Sarah de Ferranti, I. Harvard Medical School Kimberlee Gauvrea Boston, USA Tal Geva, MD Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Shelby Kuty, MD (James E. Lock, MD Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Shelby Kuty, MD (James E. Lock, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Shelby Kuty, MD (James E. Lock, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Lif Seda Selamet 1 Angela Chen Angela Chen Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Antonio Marinho, M Stalion of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Children's Hospital Colorado Antonio Marinho, M Aurora, USA Shaine Morris, MD Serviço de Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Division of P	
Site Investigators of the LOVE Pediatric Consortium Institution Name Institution José D. Martins, Mi Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central José D. Martins, Mi Lisbon, PORTUGAL Marta António, MU Department of Cardiology Marta António, MU Department of Cardiology Marta António, MU Department of Cardiology Marta António, MU Boston Children's Hospital Sarah de Ferranti, 1 Harvard Medical School Kimberlee Gauvree Boston, USA Jane Newburger, M Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Cara Hass, BS (St. Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Shelby Kutty, MD (Division of Pediatric Cardiology Life Feda Selamet T Angela Chen Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Cardiologia Pediatrica António Marinho, M Mospital Pediatric Cardiology Shain	
Institution Name Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL Marta António, MD Lurdes Medroa Teresa Mateus Mafatda Selas, RN Department of Cardiology Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School Boston, USA Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Lurdes Medroa Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Department of Pediatric Cardiology Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Department of Pediatric Cardiology Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Division of Pediatric Cardiology Diston Division of	
Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta José D. Martins, MI Fatima F. Pinto, MI Lisbon, PORTUGAL Finto, MI Lisbon, PORTUGAL Rate Santa Marta José D. Martins, MI Lisbon, PORTUGAL Kimberlee Gauree Department of Cardiology Boston Children's Hospital Ashwin Prakash, M Soston Children's Hospital Sarah de Ferranti, I Harvard Medical School Kimberlee Gauree Boston, USA Sarah de Ferranti, I Jonathan Rhodes, I Carat Hass, BS (Stu. Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, I Carat Hass, BS (Stu. Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, I Carat Hass, BS (Stu. Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jane Newburger, M Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Department of Pediatrics Lock (Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Autora, USA Colimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Caratic Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Lisbon PORTUGAL Biomedical Engineering Department Isbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Biomedical Engineering Department Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab	
Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, PORTUGAL Marta António, MD Lurdes Medroa Teresa Mateus Mafalda Selas, RN Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School Boston, USA Department of Cardiology Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School Boston, USA Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Department of Pediatrics Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Colege of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Lisbon PORTUGAL Biomedical Engineering Department Isbons, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Isbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab Institution Cardiar Magnetic Reseasen (Ashwin Reskash) Department of Cardiology Cardiar Magnetic Reseasen (Ashwin Reskash) Department of Cardiology Cardiar Magnetics, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Diana Cruz Oliveira Diana Cruz Oliveira Institution Cardiar Magnetic Reseasen (Ashwin Reskash)	(Study PI, Site PI)
Lisboh, FORTOCAL Lurdes Metro Lurdes Metroa Teresa Mateus Mafalda Selas, RN Ashwin Prakash, M Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School Boston, USA Tal Geva, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stt. Jaffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jane Newburger, M Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica António Marinho, M Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Jaylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Nova Medicial School Lisbon, PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Institution Core Lab Core Lab Institution Cardia Pacific Reseasene (Ashvin Prakash, M Sonatora ISA Cardiology Cardia School Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Institution Cardia Magnétic Reseasene (Ashvin Prakash) Department of Cardiology	, PhD (Study Advisor)
Teresa Mateus Mafalda Selas, RN Ashwin Prakash, M Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School Boston, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Cara Hass, BS (Str. Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MC Jane Newburger, M Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Department of Pediatrics Angela Chen Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Children's Hospital Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Hospital Pediátrico de Coimbra Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Jaylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medicia School Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Spacesone (Ashwin Brakash) Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Spacesone (Ashwin Brakash) Division Partugal	
Mafalda Selas, RN Department of Cardiology Ashwin Prakash, M Boston Children's Hospital Sarah de Ferranti, I Harvard Medical School Kimberlee Gauvree Boston, USA Jonathan Rhodes, I Cara Hass, BS (St. Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jane Newburger, M Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Shelby Kutty, MD (Sc. Cara Hass, BS (St. Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Elif Seda Selamet 1 Division of Pediatric Cardiology Elif Seda Selamet 1 Angela Chen Jange Newburger, M Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Angela Chen Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Children's Hospital Justin Zachariah, M Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica António Marinho, M Hospital Pediátrico a Coimbra Eduardo Castela, M Ceimbra, PORTUGAL Justin Zachariah, M Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Dison PORTUGAL<	
Department of Cardiology Ashwin Prakash, M Boston Children's Hospital Harvard Medical School Kimberlee Gauvrea Boston, USA Tal Geva, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD James E. Lock, MD Jane Newburger, M Hell Y (Sta Stalane) Shelly Kutty, MD (C Stala Chorado Aurora, USA Come Lab Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Decodment (Achwin Brakash) Decodment of Corricol	
Boston Children's Hospital Sarah de Ferranti, I Harvard Medical School Tal Geva, MD Jonathan Rhodes, I Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, ME Jane Newburger, M Shelby Kutty, MD (Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Division of Pediatrics and Lock and Shelby Kutty, MD (Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatrics and Lock and Shelby Kutty, MD (Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatrics and Lock and Shelby Kutty, MD (Center University Shelp Shell Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Shelby Kutty, MD (Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Serviço de Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Combra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmor Nova Medical School Lisbon, POrtUGAL Ressonància Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Institution Cardiao Magnétic Reseasance (Achwin Brakaph)) (Study PI, Site PI)
Harvard Medical School Kimberlee Gauvree Boston, USA Tal Geva, MD Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, ME Jane Newburger, M Shelby Kutty, MD (Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Elif Seda Selamet 1 Angela Chen Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site 1 Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Mildren's Hospital Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Mildren's Hospital Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Division of Pediatric Cardiology Mildren's Hospital Division of Pediatric Cardiology Mildren's Hospital Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD EceDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmor Nova Medical School Maria Guarino, MD Biomedical Engineering Department Disbon, Portugal Marta António, MD Boban Thomas, ME Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Institution Cardia Magnetic Reseance (Achwin Brakaph) Department of Carri	1D
Boston, USA Jonathan Rhodes, i Jonathan Rhodes, i Cara Hass, BS (Stu Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, MD Jane Newburger, M Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Elif Seda Selamet ^T Angela Chen Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica António Marinho, M Eduardo Castela, M Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Nova Medical School Lisbon, PORTUGAL Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Core Lab Cardia Magnetic Reseance (Achwin Brakaph) Department of Cardione Magnetic Reseance (Achwin Brakaph)	ı, ScD
Jonatman Photoes, Cara Hass, BS (Stu James E. Lock, MU James E. Lock, MU Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Institution Cardiao Magnetic Resease (Achwin Brakaph) Department of Cardionan	4D
Jeffrey Reichman (James E. Lock, ME Jane Newburger, M Shelby Kutty, MD (Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Department of Pediatrics Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiology Serviço de Cardiology Serviço de Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Joistion of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Niguel Mota Carmor Nova Medical School Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Cardia Magnetic Reseages (Achwin Brakaph) Department of Corr	ישי dv Coordinator)
James E. Lock, ML Jane Newburger, M Shelby Kutty, MD (? Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Department of Pediatrics Angela Chen Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Combra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Nova Medical School Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonáncia Magnética, S.A. Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Core Lab Cardiao Magnétic Resease (Achwin Brakaph) Department of Cardion	Study Coordinator)
Jane Newburger, N Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Department of Pediatrics Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site I Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Musopital Pediátrico de Coimbra Eduardo Castela, N Coimbra, PORTUGAL Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Nova Medical School Lisbon, PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Core Lab Marta António Rariab, Marta António, MD Boban Thomas, ME Diana Cruz Oliveira Institution Cardiao Magnétic Active Packaph) Department of Cardione Institution	(Study Advisor)
Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Department of Pediatrics Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Hospital Pediátrico de Coimbra Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Saylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Nova Medical School Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Core Lab Cardia Magnetic Resconance (Achwin Brakach) Cardia Magnetic Resconance (Achwin Brakach)	D, MPH (Study Advisor)
Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Elif Seda Selamet [–] Angela Chen Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica António Marinho, M Eduardo Castela, M Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Boy College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Lisbon, PORTUGAL Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Core Lab Margadi Resconance (Achwin Brakach) Department of Cardio Cardio Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Justin Zachariah, M Biomedical Engineering Department Institution Core Lab Core Lab	ite PI)
Division of Pediatric Cardiology Line Seda Selatrici Lucile Packard Children's Hospital Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica António Marinho, M Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Eduardo Castela, N Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Lisbon, PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Marta António, MD Boban Thomas, ME Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Core Lab Institution	
Department of Pedatures Angela Crient Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Palo Alto, USA Uyen Truong (Site Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site Children's Hospital Colorado António Marinho, M Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica António Marinho, M Bospital Pediátrico de Coimbra Eduardo Castela, N Coimbra, PORTUGAL Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Justin Zachariah, M Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Maria Guarino, MD Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonáncia Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Diana Cruz Oliveira Diana Cruz Oliveira Institutio Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Diana Cruz Oliveira Core Laboratories Institution Corecompany	lerney, MD (Site PI)
Stanford University Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica Hospital Pediátrico de Coimbra Eduardo Castela, M Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Texas Children's Hospital Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Nova Medical School Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Core Lab Core Lab Core Caster State S	
Palo Alto, USA Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica António Marinho, M Hospital Pediátrico de Coimbra Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Nova Medical School Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Core Lab Cardiao Magnétic Reseases Miguel Mota Carmo Maria Guarino, MD Biomedical Engineering Department Institution Core Lab Core Lab	
Division of Pediatric Cardiology Uyen Truong (Site Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica António Marinho, M Eduardo Castela, M Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Mata António, MD Boban Thomas, MI Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Institution Cardiao Magnétic Reseages (Achurin Brakaph)	
Children's Hospital Colorado Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica António Marinho, M Hospital Pediátrico de Coimbra Eduardo Castela, N Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Maria Guarino, MD Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Marta António, MD Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Lab Core Lab Institution Cardiao Magnétic Reseagee (Achurin Brakaph)	וי)
Aurora, USA Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica António Marinho, M Hospital Pediátrico de Coimbra Eduardo Castela, M Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Mata António, MD Boban Thomas, ME Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Core Lab Institution Cardiao Magnétic Resease (Achurin Brakaph)	
Antonio Wainino, W Hospital Pediatrico de Coimbra Coimbra, PORTUGAL Division of Pediatric Cardiology Exas Children's Hospital Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Nova Medical School Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Biomedical Engineering Department Instituto Superior Técnico Core Lab Core Lab Core Caboratories Core Caboratories Core Caboratories Cardiao Magnética Reseasance (Achuria Parkach) Diana Craz Oliveira	D (Sito PI)
Institution Example Coimbra, PORTUGAL Example Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Justin Zachariah, M Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Justin Zachariah, M Houston, USA Miguel Mota Carmo CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Maria Guarino, MD Lisbon POTTUGAL Maria Guarino, MD Bisbon POTTUGAL Marta António, MD Biomedical Engineering Department Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Institution Cardiae Magnetic Reseases (Achuria Brakach) Department of Cardio	D
Division of Pediatric Cardiology Shaine Morris, MD Texas Children's Hospital Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Marta António, MD Biomedical Engineering Department Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab Institution	-
Texas Children's Hospital Justin Zachariah, M Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Maria Guarino, MD Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Marta António, MD Boban Thomas, MI Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab Institution	Site PI)
Baylor College of Medicine Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Maria Guarino, MD Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Marta António, MD Boban Thomas, ME Biomedical Engineering Department Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab Institution	D
Houston, USA CEDOC Chronic Diseases Miguel Mota Carmo Nova Medical School Maria Guarino, MD Lisbon PORTUGAL Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Marta António, MD Biomedical Engineering Department Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab Institution Cardiao Magnetic Reseases (Achuein Brakash)	
Nova Medical School Maria Guarino, MD Lisbon PORTUGAL Maria Guarino, MD Lisbon PORTUGAL Nuno Jalles Tavare Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Boban Thomas, MD Biomedical Engineering Department Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Institution Core Lab Institution	MD BbD (Director)
Note a Construction Maria Odalino, MD Lisbon PORTUGAL Nuno Jalles Tavare Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Marta António, MD Biomedical Engineering Department Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Institution Core Lab Institution	PhD
Ressonância Magnética, S.A. Nuno Jalles Tavare Lisbon, Portugal Marta António, MD Boban Thomas, ME Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab Institution Cardiag Magnetic Reseance (Activitin Brakach) Dependment of Card	
Lisbon, Portugal Marta António, MD Boban Thomas, MI Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab Institution Cardiag Magnetic Reseases (Activity Brakash)	s (Director)
Biomedical Engineering Department Boban Thomas, MI Diana Cruz Oliveire Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab Institution	
Biomeancal Engineering Department Diana Cruz Oliveira Instituto Superior Técnico Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab Institution	MDU
Lisbon, Portugal Core Laboratories Core Lab Core	MPH
Core Laboratories Core Lab Cor	
Core Laboratories Core Laboratories Core Laboratories Institution Cardiag Magnetic Reseases (Achurin Prekash) Department of Core	
Cardiae Magnetic Besseance (Achwin Brakash) Department of Card	
	iology
Preventive Cardiology (Sarah de Ferranti) Boston Children's F	ospital
Biostatistics (Kimberlee Gauvreau) Harvard Medical Sc	hool Boston, USA
. ,	

290

Core Laboratories	
Institution	Name
Tonometry and BP Assessment (Justin Zachariah)	Division of Pediatric Cardiology
	Texas Children's Hospital
	Baylor College of Medicine
	Houston, USA
Biomarkers (Maria Guarino)	CEDOC Chronic Diseases
	Nova Medical School
	Lisbon PORTUGAL
Endothelial Function (Elif Seda Selamet Tierney)	Division of Pediatric Cardiology
	Department of Pediatrics
	Lucile Packard Children's Hospital
	Stanford University
	Palo Alto, USA
Data Coordination	
Data Coordination (Jose Martins, Ashwin Prakash, Cara Hass,	Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta
Jeffrey Reichman)	Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central
	Lisbon, PORTUGAL
	and
	Department of Cardiology Children's Hospital Boston
	Harvard Medical School Boston, USA

Funding

 This study was made possible with grants from the Millennium Foundation BCP (signed Dec 18, 2012) and the Fundação Luso-Americana para o Desenvolvimento (Proj A-1 287/2012).

Appendix 2a: Applanation tonometry manual of operations

For applanation tonometry, some centers will use the NIHem system (Cardiovascular Engineering, Inc., Norwood, MA USA) and others the SphygmoCor device (AtCor Medical, West Ryde, NSW, Australia). The technology is similar and the results comparable.

The patient demographics and brachial blood pressure (BP) are entered into the system. First, the tonometer is placed over the right carotid artery, just lateral to the thyroid cartilage. The location is adjusted and pressure applied as needed to optimize waveform. After ensuring that the tracings are optimal, the tracing is recorded. The carotid site is marked. Then, the tonometer is placed over the right femoral artery and the same process for obtaining an optimal curve recording is followed. The femoral site is marked. Finally, in the centers that use the SphygmoCor device, a third recording of the radial artery is performed, in the same fashion. A caliper is used to measure the distance from the suprasternal notch to the carotid site and from the suprasternal notch to the femoral site. Both distances are entered in the system.

For pulse wave velocity and augmentation index calculation, both systems analyze the curves and supply the data with the proprietary software package, without any input from the examiner.

For pulse wave analysis (central aortic pressure and pulse pressure), the analysis procedure differed slightly between systems. The analysis from the NIHem system is done by the system's software. In the centers that used SphygmoCor, the signal averaged carotid pulse wave is digitalized and calibrated according to a published approach:^[41,51] The brachial diastolic and mean pressures are used and the same diastolic and mean pressures are assigned to the averaged carotid pulse. Moreover, the radial pressure waveform is used to retrieve the correspondent time instants of diastolic and mean pressures. Given the two pressure values and the correspondent time instants, it is possible to calibrate each averaged carotid pressure waveform. This process allows a quantitative analysis of the pulse waveform.

Appendix 2b: Cardiac magnetic resonance imaging manual of operations

Cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) will be performed using commercially available whole-body 1.5 T scanners (Achieva; Philips Healthcare, Best, the Netherlands; Signa 1.5T or GE Medical Systems, Milwaukee, WI, USA). Electrocardiography (ECG)-gated steady-state free precision (SSFP) localizers will be used in sagittal, coronal, and axial planes during free breathing. Ventricular function will be assessed from short-axis stack to cover ventricles from base to apex, acquired using the following imaging parameters: slice thickness 5–8 mm, slice gap 0–1 mm, slice number 12–14, cardiac phases 30, retrospective gating with breath-holding. In patients unable to breath-hold 3 signal

Annals of Pediatric Cardiology / Volume 11 / Issue 3 / September-December 2018

7

22

27

averages during free-breathing will be used. SSFP cine imaging will also be performed in two orthogonal long-axis planes of the left ventricular outflow tract (during breath-hold), short axis of the ascending aorta (AAO), and in the long axis of the aortic arch (free-breathing, used as reference for pulse wave velocity measurements), proximal descending aorta (DAO, 2-3 cm distal to the isthmus, sufficiently distal to dephasing jets), mid-DAO (diaphragmatic level), and distal DAO (just above iliac bifurcation). ECG-gated through-plane phase-contrast flow measurements will be performed at the AAO (5 mm distal to the sinotubular junction) and in proximal-, mid-, and distal-DAO segments (matched to location of the cine SSFP acquisitions) using the following imaging parameters: signal averages = 2, cardiac phases 100 (TFE factor/views per segment/ = 1 [to maximize temporal resolution]), and velocity encoding 200-250 cm/s (higher if needed to avoid aliasing). ECG and respiratory navigator-gated three-dimensional SSFP MRA of the aortic arch will be performed in the sagittal plane.

The patient's right arm BP while on scanner table and length of time since last meal and content of last meal will be recorded. Images will be analyzed by a single observer (A.P.) in the CMR core lab using a commercial computer workstation (Extended Workstation; Philips Healthcare) and using commercially available analysis software (OMass and OFlow, Medis, The Netherlands). Ventricular function and mass will be calculated using standard techniques. Cross-sectional areas of the AAO and proximal, mid, and distal DAO will be directly planimetered at peak systole and mid-diastolic frames to calculate parameters of segmental aortic stiffness as previously described.^[52] Pulse wave velocity will be measured using the transit-time method.^[20] Pulse wave velocity will be calculated for the entire aorta (AAO to distal DAO), as well as in the following segments: AAO to proximal DAO, proximal DAO to mid-DAO, and mid-DAO to distal DAO. Aortic arch shape will be classified and the aortic arch index calculated as previously described.^[53]

Appendix 3: Endothelial pulse amplitude testing manual of operations

The testing room will be arranged to provide a quiet, restful environment with a comfortable temperature of 22°C to 23°C. Before testing, patients will be asked to fast overnight for 12 h, except for the consumption of water. Unless the patients are taking a daily vitamin, they will be asked to refrain from taking vitamin pills and over-the-counter medications; in the case that an over-the-counter medication is used, it will be documented.

The Endo-PAT (Itamar Medical Ltd, Caesarea, Israel) testing $protocol^{[40]}$ will be performed in the morning (starting time between 8 and 11 am) and fasting. Any restrictive clothing that could interfere with blood flow to the arms or fingers will be removed, including heavy coats or clothes with thick sleeves, watches or rings or other jewelry on the hands and fingers, and long fingernails shortened with a fingernail clipper.

Noninvasive pneumatic probes will be placed on the index fingers of both hands. The pulse wave amplitude will be recorded continuously from both index fingers. Reactive hyperemia will be performed by achieved by occlusion of the brachial artery of one arm with a BP cuff for 5 min (to 200-220 mmHg). The tracing in the nonoccluded arm will serve as a control for changes in overall physiologic state. The Endo-PAT data will be analyzed with the proprietary software package, without any input from the examiner. The Endo-PAT index is defined as the ratio of the average pulse amplitude during the 1 minute period beginning after exactly 90 s of reactive hyperemia compared with the average pulse amplitude during the 210-s preocclusion baseline period.

Appendix 4a: Right arm, auscultatory blood pressures measurement manual of operations

The patient will be seated with the feet flat on the floor, with the knees at 90° and the back supported. After 5 min of resting quietly, with no conversation or television, the auscultatory BP will be obtained in the right arm. For cuff choice, the length of the bladder encircled no <80% and no more than 100%, of the bicep and the width of bladder encircled no <40% and no more than 50%, of the circumference of patient's arm circumference, measured at the widest area of bicep, midway between the tip of the patient's shoulder and the tip of the patient's elbow. The patient's right arm will be at placed at heart level, supported at the level of the nipple by resting arm on a table or chair arm or propped on a pillow.

The stethoscope's bell will be placed over patient's brachial pulse. The cuff will be inflated up to 140 mmHg and deflated slowly while listening for the Korotkoff sounds, systole being number when the sound is first heard consistently and diastole when the last pulsation is heard or when it muffles. If pulsations are immediately audible, the cuff will be deflated entirely and the patient allowed to sit quietly for 1 minute. Then, the cuff will be again inflated to 160 mmHg (or higher) and the steps above will be followed. This procedure will be repeated until the 51 blood pressure (BP) is not immediately audible.

Three BPs will be obtained, allowing 1 min between deflation and reinflation of cuff for each measurement. The average of the 2nd and 3rd measurements will be considered the final right arm BP and interpreted according to the published guidelines for children^[54] and adults.^[55]

Annals of Pediatric Cardiology / Volume 11 / Issue 3 / September-December 2018

Martins, et al.: LOVE-COARCT study rationale and design

Appendix 4b: Four extremity, automated blood pressures (Dinamap) measurement manual of operations

While the patient is supine, two sets of four extremity blood pressure (BP) will be measured, with the automated BP monitor (Dinamap).

The BP pressure gradient will be registered, between the second systolic right arm measurement and the highest of the two legs systolic second measurements. In the presence of an aberrant right subclavian artery that originates distal to the Coarctation of the aorta site, seen by cardiovascular magnetic resonance, we will use the second left systolic arm measurement for the residual gradient.

Appendix 4c: Ambulatory blood pressure (BP) monitor methods of operations

The patient data will be recorded. The choice of the cuff will follow the same guidelines described for manual auscultation of right arm BP. Cuff inflation will be programmed for 15–20-min intervals. During nighttime, intervals are wider, but not fewer than one per hour and preferably more. The patient will record the sleep time, wake time, and any periods of vigorous exercise. The patient will be instructed to avoid direct contact of the monitor with water and participation in activities that could damage it.

The study will be considered adequate if there is a record of at least 1 reading per hour, i.e., no more than 1 h between consecutive readings for a full 24-h study. If less than 12 h are recorded, the ambulatory blood pressure monitoring data will be considered inadequate. Diurnal pattern will be determined by the patient diary. Vigorous exercise periods will be excluded.

The data on 24-h systolic BP load, 24-h diastolic BP load, diurnal systolic dipping, diastolic dipping and 24 h, daytime and nighttime mean systolic BP, and mean diastolic BP will be recorded. Patients will be staged as having ambulatory hypertension, masked hypertension, white coat hypertension or normotensive, according to the age-based normative tables based on statements for children and adolescents^[43] and adults,^[56] Patients currently on antihypertensive medication are also classified into the hypertensive group [Table 4].

Appendix 4d: Exercise test: Manual of operations

The patient information will be entered per equipment specification and the study identifier on the datasheet and the date of the test. For patient safety issues, medical history, medications, activity level, and symptoms will be reviewed and the exercise stress test protocol wil be explained. Antihypertensive medications will be continued the day of testing.

The patient will be asked to lay supine, and a right arm and right or left leg blood pressure measured using a commercial oscillometric and appropriate sized cuff bladders and recorded as preexercise blood pressure (BP) values and gradient. The patient then will step onto the treadmill and instructed to hold the handlebar throughout the test. We will use the standard Bruce treadmill protocol and, when available, a Met Cart. As the patient exercises, their symptoms and electrocardiography (ECG) will be continuously monitored. At 2-min of each stage, a BP will be taken in the right arm by having the patient take their hand off the treadmill and hold onto the arm of the person performing the test. The test will be terminated when the patient can no longer continue the exercise, reaches a systolic BP higher than 240 mmHg, has clinically relevant symptoms or ECG changes. Immediately after the exercise ended, BP in the right arm and the left leg will be recorded in a supine position. For the recovery period, the patient will sit upright in a chair, and right arm BP will be recorded at 1, 3, 5, and 7 min of recovery, at which time the test is ended.

The data on exercise duration, baseline and exercise right arm BP, pre- and post-exercise systolic BP gradient, patient symptoms, ECG changes and, when available, cardiorespiratory physiological data will be documented. We will label exercise-induced hypertension when the systolic BP is \geq 220 mmHg.

Appendix 5: Biomarkers manual of operations

The patients will follow a low-nitrate diet for 3 days before the blood sample collection, which avoids of a list of foods with a high content in nitrites that influence nitric oxide determination, including bacon, beets, broccoli, canned food, cauliflower, celery, Chinese cabbage, corned beef, ham, hot dogs, lettuce, old cheese, radish, salami, sausages, smoked fish, spinach, and turnip. After an overnight fast (for 12 h), samples will be collected by venipuncture from catheters maintained with saline only, since heparin interferes with accuracy of the biomarkers assessed. The first 5–10 mL of blood will be discarded and 2.7 ml of venous blood will be collected into 3.2% sodium citrate (light-blue) tubes (BD Vacutainer*), and into plastic microtubes (Safe-Lock Eppendorf). Within 3 h of collection, samples will be centrifuged for 20 minutes at 3000g (4°C). Aliquots of 250 μ l of the supernatant will be collected into 14 labeled microtubes of 1.5 ml and immediately stored at – 80°C until shipping to the Biomarkers Core Laboratory.

Aliquots for NOx analysis will be deproteinized using cold ethanol precipitation methodology. Ethanol will be refrigerated to 0°C and added to the plasma sample in a 1:3 proportion. After letting it stand at 0°C for 30 min, the sample will

Annals of Pediatric Cardiology / Volume 11 / Issue 3 / September-December 2018
19

27

30

Martins, et al.: LOVE-COARCT study rationale and design

be centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant will be then removed for analysis. The quantification of plasma NO levels will be carried out using a nitric oxide analyzer, the Sievers Instruments NOA 280i[™], a high sensitivity detector of that allows determination of NO based on a chemiluminescence reaction between NO and ozone.

Plasma asymmetric dimetilarginine (ADMA); vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1); high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) interleukin-1-beta (IL-1β); MMP-2 and MMP-9 will be quantified using the following double-antibody sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay ELISA kits: Human asymmetrical dimethylarginine, ADMA (Sunred Biological Technology, Shangai, China); hs-CRP (BoosterBio, Pleasanton, USA); VCAM-1; IL-1β; MMP-9/Gelatinase A; MMP-2/Gelatinase B; and transforming growth factor beta (RayBiotech, Inc. Norcross, USA).

Appendix 6: Cardiovascular health assessment manual of operations

The following questionnaires will be used.

Lifestyle questionnaire:

5

7 8

22

24

27 28

30

4

4 4

555

- On an average weekday, how many hours do you watch TV?
- On an average weekday, how many hours do you play video/computer games or use a computer for something that is not school/work related?
- In the past week, how many days were you/was your child physically active for a total of at least 30 min/day?
- In the past week, how many days did you/your child eat breakfast? In the past week, how many days did you/your child eat food from a fast food restaurant?
- In the past week, how many days did all or most of your family sit down and eat dinner at home?
- On an average weekday, how many hours of sleep do you get a night?
- Have you smoked one or more cigarettes in the past month? If yes, please quantify.
- Were you previously a smoker?
- Do you live in a household with a smoker?

Family history questionnaire:

For all the following questions, the possible answers will be "no," "parents/siblings," "grandparents/aunts/uncles," and "both"

- Biological relatives of you/your child with overweight/obesity
- Biological relatives of you/your child with type 2 diabetes
- Biological relatives of you/your child with high blood pressure
- Biological relatives of you/your child with high cholesterol
- Biological relatives of you/your child with heart disease/stroke
- All answers had the following options: Parents/siblings/grandparents/aunts/uncles.

Appendix 7. Comprehensive List of Study Variables

	Variables	Comments or Definitions
Medical History	BSA at Initial Echocardiogram	using Haycock's Formula; m ²
	Minimum Transverse Arch Diameter Z-score on Initial Echo	Calculated with Boston z-scores
	Isthmus z score on Initial Echo	Calculated with Boston z-scores
	Initial Doppler coarctation gradient	mmHg
	Bicuspid/Bicommisural Aortic Valve?	Yes/No
	Initial arm-leg systolic BP gradient	mmHg
	Type of Initial Treatment	Balloon/Stent/Surgery
	Currently daily medications?	Yes/No. If yes, please specify.
Local blood results	Total Cholesterol	mg/dL
	LDL	mg/dL
	HDL	mg/dL
	Triglycerides	mg/dL
	Plasma Glucose	mg/dL
	Insulin	uIU/mL
	Hemoglobin A1C	%
Applanation tonometry	Central Systolic Blood Pressure	mmHg
	Central Pulse Pressure	mmHg
	Heart Rate	bpm
	Carotid Femoral PWV	meters/second
	Augmentation Index (%)	%
	Augmentation Index at HR75	%

Contd...

Annals of Pediatric Cardiology / Volume 11 / Issue 3 / September-December 2018

Martins	et al · LOVE-COARCT	study rational	e and design
iviaruno,		Study rational	s and acoign

	Variables	Comments or Definitions
CMR	LV End-Diastolic Volume indexed to BSA	ml/m ²
	LV End-Systolic Volume indexed to BSA	ml/m ²
	LV Ejection Fraction	%
	LV Mass indexed to BSA	g/m²
	Ascending Ao - Descending Ao PWV (Ascending Ao to	Distance (Asc Ao to Desc Ao)
	proximal, mid and distal descending Ao)	Time Delay (Asc Ao to Desc Ao)
	True of each	meters/second
	lype of arch	Romanesque; Gotnic; Crenei
	Aonic diameter (According, Broving), Mid and Distal Ac)	mm/mm-
	Ascending, Floxiniai, Mid and Distal A0)	
	(Ascending, Provimal, Mid and Distal Ao)	Sistolic Area - Diastolic Area
	(Ascending, Proximal, wild and Distar A0)	Diastolic Area
	Aortic compliance	Ao Area Sist - Ao Area Diast
	(Ascending, Proximal, Mid and Distal Ao)	SBP_DBP
		cm ² /mmHg
	Aortic Distensibility	Ao strain
	(Ascending, Proximal, Mid and Distal Ao)	SBP-DBP mmHq-1
	Aortic stiffness B index	
	(Ascending, Provimal, Mid and Distal Ao)	In (SBP / DBP)
	noonalig, i ioninai, miu allu Distai Aoj	Strain
	Loss of pulse amplitude	flow (AscAo - DescAo)
		100 x (AscAo)
		llow (ASCAO)
	Aorta Young's modulus	(SBP - DBP) Ao diameter diastole
	(Ascending, Proximal, Mid and Distal Ao)	An diameter (systele - diastele) An wall thickness
		Ao diameter (systole - diastole) Ao wait thickness
	Arterial elastance (Ea)	End Systolic Pressure
		Sroke Volume
	L) (and evetelie electence (Fee)	mmHg/mi
	LV end-systolic elastance (Ees)	End Systolic Pressure
		LV end Systolic Volume mmHg/ml
Endo-PAT	Reactive Hyperemia Index (RHI)	inin iginin
	Augmentation Index	%
	Augmentation Index at 75 bpm	%
BP during the patient's visit	Residual SBP gradient (between right arm and highest of	Supine. Automated. Two sets of measurements; mmH
	the legs)	
	Right arm BP	Seated. Manual. Three sets of measurements; mmHg
ABPM	24 Average Systolic BP	mmHg
	24 Hour Average Diastolic BP	mmHg
	Daytime Average Systolic BP	mmHg
	Nichttime Average Diastolic BP	mmHg
	Nighttime Average Systolic BP	mmHq
	24h systelia load	0/
	24h diastolic load	/8 %
	Diurnal Systolic Variation	%
	Diurnal Diastolic Variation	%
Exercise test	Exercise Duration	Minutes
	Pre-exercise right arm BP	mmHg
	Pre-exercise leg BP	mmHg
	Pre-Exercise SBP gradient	mmHg
	Post-exercise right arm BP	mmHg
	Post-exercise leg BP	mmHg
	Pre-Exercise SBP gradient	mmHg
	Peak exercise BP	mmHg
Biomarkers	NOx	ug/ml
		ng/L
	High Sensitivity CRP	mg/L
	VCAM-1	ng/mi
	IL-IDEIA	pg/mi

Annals of Pediatric Cardiology / Volume 11 / Issue 3 / September-December 2018

Martins, et al.: LOVE-COARCT study rationale and design

TFG-Beta MMP-2/Gelatinase A MMP-3/Gelatinase B ng/ t: ADMA = Asymmetric Dimetilarginine; Ao = Aorta; BP = blood pressure; BP = Blood Pres tic resonance; DBP = Diastolic Blood Pressure; HDL = High-density lipoprotein cholesteroc eukin 1 beta; LDL = Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; MMP-2 = Matrix Metalloproteinas bide; PWV = Pulse Wave Velocity; LV = Left Ventricle; SBP = Systolic Blood Pressure; T ar Cell Adhesion Molecule 1; † using previously published normative data. ¹⁸⁷¹	nl ml ssure; BSA= Body Surface Area; CMR = Cardiac I; Hs-CRP = High sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; IL-1 e-2; MMP-9 = Matrix Metalloproteinase-9; NOx = -G-β = Transforming Growth Factor beta; VCAM-1 =
MMP-2/Gelatinase A ng/ mg/ it: ADMA = Asymmetric Dimetilarginine; Ao = Aorta; BP = blood pressure; BP = Blood Presure; tic resonance; DBP = Diastolic Blood Pressure; NDL = High-density lipoprotein cholestero eukin 1 beta; LDL = Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; MMP-2 = Matrix Metalloproteinas kide; PVW = Pulse Wave Velocity; LV = Left Ventricle; SBP = Systolic Blood Pressure; T ar Cell Adhesion Molecule 1; † using previously published normative data. ¹⁹⁷¹	nl sure; BSA= Body Surface Area; CMR = Cardiac I; Hs-CRP = High sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; IL-1 fe-2; MMP-9 = Matrix Metalloproteinase-9; NOx = "G-β = Transforming Growth Factor beta; VCAM-1 =
MMP-9/Gelatinase B ng/ I: ADMA = Asymmetric Dimetilarginine; Ao = Aorta; BP = blood pressure; BP = Blood Pres tic resonance; DBP = Diastolic Blood Pressure; HDL = High-density lipoprotein cholestero eukin 1 beta; LDL = Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; MMP-2 = Matrix Metalloproteinas bxide; PWV = Pulse Wave Velocity; LV = Left Ventricle; SBP = Systolic Blood Pressure; T ar Cell Adhesion Molecule 1; † using previously published normative data. ^[97]	ml sure; BSA= Body Surface Area; CMR = Cardiac I; Hs-CRP = High sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; IL-1 $\beta = 2$; MMP-9 = Matrix Metalloproteinase-9; NOx = $-G_{-}\beta = Transforming Growth Factor beta; VCAM-1 =$
t: ADMA = Asymmetric Dimetilarginine; Ao = Aorta; BP = blood pressure; BP = blood Pres tic resonance; DBP = Diastolic Blood Pressure; HDL = High-density lipoprotein cholestero cukin 1 beta; LDL = Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; MMP-2 = Matrix Metalloproteinas ixide; PWV = Pulse Wave Velocity; LV = Left Ventricle; SBP = Systolic Blood Pressure; T ar Cell Adhesion Molecule 1; † using previously published normative data. ¹⁹⁷¹	ssure; BSA= Body Surface Area; CMR = Cardiac I; Hs-CRP = High sensitivity C-Reactive Protein; IL-1β e-2; MMP-9 = Matrix Metalloproteinase-9; NOx = FG-β = Transforming Growth Factor beta; VCAM-1 =

3. PAPERS SUBMITTED FOR PUBLICATION

Martins JD, Zachariah MD, Selamet Tierney ES, Truong U, Morris SA, Kutty S, MD, PhD, de Ferranti SD, Guarino M, Thomas B, Oliveira D, Marinho A, António M, Gauvreau K, Jalles N, Geva T, Carmo MM, Prakash A, Lock JE for the LOVE-COARCT Study. **Comparison of Vascular Function Between Transcatheter Treatments in Coarctation of the Aorta** [submitted for publication].

TITLE PAGE

Full title: Impact of Treatment Modality on Vascular Function in Coarctation of the Aorta: the LOVE-COARCT study

First author's surname: Martins

Short title: Vascular function after CoA treatment

Authors: Jose D. Martins, MD, MSc,¹ Justin Zachariah MD, MPH,² Elif Seda Selamet Tierney, MD,³ Uyen Truong, MD,⁴ Shaine A. Morris,² MD, MPH, Shelby Kutty, MD, PhD, MHCM⁵ Sarah D. de Ferranti, MD, MPH,⁶ Maria Guarino MD, PhD,⁷ Boban Thomas, MD,⁸ Diana Oliveira, MSc,⁹ António Marinho, MD¹⁰ Marta António, MD¹ Kimberlee Gauvreau, ScD,⁶ Nuno Jalles, MD,⁸ Tal Geva, MD,⁶ James E. Lock, MD,⁶ Miguel M. Carmo, MD, PhD,⁷ and Ashwin Prakash, MD⁶ for the LOVE-COARCT Study.

Total word count (including the title page, abstract, text, references, tables, and figures legends): 8297 words

Total word count (text only): 3910 words

Correspondence:

José D. Martins, MD, MSc Department of Pediatric Cardiology Hospital de Santa Marta, Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central Lisbon, Portugal Telephone: + 351 918 338 690; Fax: +351 213 594 034 Email: jdferreiramartins@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Background: Optimally treated patients with coarctation of the aorta (CoA) remain at risk for late vascular dysfunction. The effect of treatment modality on vascular function is unknown. We compared vascular function in patients with CoA treated with surgery, balloon dilation (BD) or stent implantation.

Methods: In successfully repaired CoA patients, we prospectively compared aortic stiffness by applanation tonometry and cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR); endothelial function by endothelial pulse amplitude testing; blood pressure (BP) phenotype by office BP, ambulatory BP monitoring, and BP response to exercise; left ventricular (LV) mass by CMR; and blood biomarkers of endothelial function, inflammation, vascular wall function, and extracellular matrix.

Results: Participants included 75 patients treated with surgery (n=28), BD (n=23), or stent (n=24). Groups had similar age at enrollment, CoA severity, residual gradient, and metabolic profile but differed by age at treatment. Systemic hypertension, aortic stiffness, endothelial function, and LV mass were similar among groups. However, BD had more distensible ascending aortas, lower peak systolic BP during exercise, less impairment in diurnal BP variation, and lower inflammatory biomarkers. The results were unchanged after adjustment for potential confounders, including age at treatment.

Conclusions: Treatment modality was not associated with systemic hypertension, global aortic stiffness, and endothelial function. However, BD patients had a better vascular phenotype profile characterized by higher ascending aorta distensibility, lower night-time BP, lower peak exercise BP and lower levels of inflammatory markers. Further research on the association of our findings with long-term clinical outcomes may help improve treatment guidelines.

Clinical Trial Registration: URL: <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov.</u> Unique identifiers: NCT03262753

KEYWORDS: Coarctation of the aorta (CoA), long-term outcomes, vascular function, arterial stiffness, pulse wave velocity, cardiac magnetic resonance imaging.

LOVE-COARCT Study

Current surgical and percutaneous techniques for treatment of coarctation of the aorta (CoA) are equally effective at eliminating the narrowing of the aortic isthmus (except in infants and young children, in whom surgery is preferred) ¹. However, despite optimal anatomical results, late morbidity is significant with high rates of systemic hypertension.¹ Secondary abnormalities including increased left ventricular (LV) mass,²⁻⁵ and impaired systolic^{3, 5} and diastolic function⁶ have also been reported. Furthermore, treated patients have reduced life expectancy, due to premature cardiovascular complications and stroke.⁷⁻⁹ Vascular dysfunction is common after CoA treatment and may contribute to these adverse outcomes.10, 11 Patients with successfully treated CoA have been reported to have stiffer large arteries,³⁻⁵, ¹¹ impaired endothelial function,^{2, 10, 12, 13} and imbalances in biochemical and molecular pathways associated with vascular function.¹²⁻¹⁷ Although vascular dysfunction is driven by important pre-treatment factors including abnormalities in the renin-angiotensin system¹⁸ and baroreceptor function, ¹⁹ several treatment-related factors have been associated with worse vascular dysfunction, such as older age at treatment,^{3, 10, 15} longer length of follow-up, and residual narrowing at the site of CoA repair.²

It is possible that treatment modality affects vascular function by different effects on the stiffness of the repaired arterial segment: surgical repair creates a focal scar at the site of the surgical anastomosis; stenting creates a rigid, noncompliant aortic segment; and balloon dilation (BD) produces a controlled tear of the aortic intima and part of the media without affecting the adventitia.²⁰ However, the effect of treatment modality on vascular function has not been systematically compared, and management is often guided by physician or institutional preference with the primary goal of alleviating the anatomic narrowing. Our study aims to refine this treatment paradigm by adding to the goals of therapy the preservation of vascular function. We hypothesized that patients with CoA treated using balloon dilation will demonstrate the most optimal level of vascular function because this modality is least likely to impact the biomechanical properties of the aortic wall. Using a prospective observational study design, we compared patients treated with surgery, balloon dilation, or stent implantation to examine whether treatment modality is associated with parameters of vascular function and LV remodeling after repair.

METHODS

STUDY DESIGN AND SUBJECTS

This was a multicenter cross-sectional prospective observational study. Patients were recruited at 7 large pediatric cardiac centers in Europe and North America between June 2013 and April 2017. We included patients with (a) isthmic CoA; (b) age at recruitment 8-35 years, and (c) CoA treatment after 1994. We excluded patients with (a) residual CoA defined as a systolic upper-to-lower extremity systolic BP (SBP) gradient >20 mm Hg; (b) co-morbidities including complex congenital heart disease (such as tricuspid atresia), vasculopathy, or genetic syndrome; (c) CoA treatment using > 1 modality; (d) severe hypoplasia of the transverse aortic arch (z-score <-4); (e) other cardiac defects requiring intervention (such as ventricular or atrial septal defect, valvar mitral or aortic stenosis); and (f) treatment under 1 year of age (because these patients are treated almost exclusively with surgery). We attempted to frequency-match the 3 treatment groups on age at initial repair, and age at enrollment. Study data was collected and managed centrally using REDCap electronic data capture tools.²¹ The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board or Institutional Ethics Committee at each participating center. Written consent was obtained from each participant or parent, as appropriate.

STUDY TESTS

All study tests occurred during a one- or two-day visit. Vascular function was assessed comprehensively by several modalities. Testing included assessment of (a) arterial stiffness by applanation tonometry and cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR), (b) endothelial function by endothelial pulse amplitude testing (Endo-PAT), and (c) BP phenotype using office BP measurement, ambulatory BP monitoring (ABPM) and BP response during peak exercise, and blood biomarkers related to endothelial function, systemic inflammation and vascular remodeling.

APPLANATION TONOMETRY

Studies were performed using the NIHem (Cardiovascular Engineering, Inc., Norwood, MA USA) or the SphygmoCor device (AtCor Medical, West Ryde, NSW, Australia) to calculate carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (PWV) using standard technique as previously described.²² The NIHem system determines central aortic pressure as equivalent to measured carotid pulse waveform as calibrated by the brachial waveform to the brachial diastolic and mean BP. For tracings obtained using the SphygmoCor device, the signal averaged carotid pulse wave was digitalized and calibrated according to a previously published approach to allow a quantitative analysis of the pulse waveform.²³ Comparability of the two approaches as described above has been previously established.²⁴

CMR

Examinations were performed using commercially available whole-body 1.5 T scanners (Achieva; Philips Healthcare, Best, the Netherlands; Signa 1.5T or GE Medical Systems, Milwaukee, WI, USA). Images were analyzed by a single observer (A.P.) in the CMR core lab using a commercial computer workstation (Extended Workstation; Philips Healthcare) and commercially available analysis software (QMass and QFlow, Medis, The Netherlands). Right brachial artery BP was measured before the examination in the supine position by using commercial oscillometric BP recorders. LV function and mass were measured using ECG-gated steady state free precision image in the ventricular short axis as previously described.²² Segmental aortic stiffness (strain, distensibility, and β stiffness index) were calculated using cine steady state free precision images in the short axis of the ascending aorta (AAO), proximal descending aorta (DAO, 2-3 cm distal to the isthmus, sufficiently distal to dephasing jets), mid DAO (diaphragmatic level) and distal DAO (just above iliac bifurcation) using previously described methodology.²² Global and segmental PWV were calculated using the transit-time method using ECG-gated through-plane phase-contrast flow measurements at the AAO, and proximal, mid and distal DAO segments (matched to location of the cine steady state free precision acquisitions) as previously described.²² Temporal resolution was maximized by reconstructing 100 cardiac phases and using a turbo factor/views-per-segment setting of 1. ECG and respiratory navigator-gated 3-D steady state free precision magnetic resonance angiography of the aortic arch was performed in the sagittal plane. Aortic arch shape and the aortic arch index were obtained as previously described.²²

ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION

Flow-dependent, endothelium-mediated vasodilation was assessed using endothelial pulse amplitude testing (Endo-PAT; Itamar Medical, Caesarea, Israel) as previously described.²² Endo-PAT is a novel non-invasive and reproducible technique that measures changes in pulsatile arterial volume with a fingertip probe. Analysis of the pulse waveform allows for automated calculation of endothelial function in one arm, while the contra-lateral serves as control.

BP PHENOTYPE

The seated right arm office BP was measured after 5 minutes of quiet rest using the manual auscultation technique with arm supported and feet flat on the floor. Three recordings were obtained, allowing one minute between deflation and re-inflation of the cuff. The BP was recorded as the average of the 2nd and 3rd measurements. BP was classified according to the 4th Task Force report for children²⁵ and the 7th Report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure for adults (Table I in the online-only Data Supplement).²⁶ Supine, oscillometric four extremity BP was used to assess for residual coarctation defined as the difference between the right arm SBP and the highest SBP in either leg.

Home ABPM was performed using previously described technique.²² The examination was considered adequate if the recording lasted > 12 hours. BP averages and proportion of elevated readings (load) were calculated and categorized according to the age-based normative guidelines previously established for children²⁷ and adults²⁸ and patients were staged as having ambulatory hypertension, masked hypertension, white coat hypertension or normotensive (Table II in the online-only Data Supplement).

Patients performed an exercise stress test using the standard Bruce treadmill protocol to assess the BP response to exercise, as previously described.²² Baseline and peak arm-leg SBP differences and the increase in right arm BP with peak exercise were recorded. Gas-exchange during exercise was assessed in a subset of patients, when feasible.

BLOOD BIOMARKERS

The patients followed a low-nitrate diet for three days and fasted for 12 hours prior to sample collection. We measured biomarkers of nitrate metabolism as regulators of endothelial function (nitrite/nitrate, NOx; and asymmetric dimethylarginine, ADMA);^{29, 30} systemic inflammation (high sensitivity C-reactive protein, hs-CRP; and interleukin 1 beta, IL-1 β);^{31, 32} vascular wall function (vascular adhesion molecule 1, VCAM-1);³¹ and extracellular matrix remodeling (matrix metalloproteases MMP-2 and MMP-9; and transforming growth factor beta-1, TGF- β 1).³³ NOx was determined by chemiluminescence (Sievers NOAnalyzer 280i) and all remaining measurements were performed using commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay kits: ADMA (Sunred Biological Technology, Shanghai, China); hs-CRP (BoosterBio, Pleasanton, USA); VCAM-1; IL-1 β ; MMP-9; MMP-2 and TGFb-1 (RayBiotech, Inc. Norcross, USA). All measurements were performed as previously described,²² at the central biomarker laboratory in Lisbon.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Sample size estimates were obtained based on prior reports of arch PWV measured by CMR in normal subjects $(3.3\pm0.6 \text{ m/s})$ and in patients with CoA $(4.7\pm1.1 \text{ m/s})$.^{4, 34} Sample size estimates for comparison of CMR PWV between three equal sized treatment groups (assuming an overall significance level of 0.05 and power of 0.8) are shown in Table III in the online-only Data Supplement). Using these estimates, we planned on recruiting 24-30 patients in each treatment group.

Categorical patient characteristics, clinical variables, and outcomes were summarized as frequencies and percentages, and compared across the three treatment groups using Fisher's exact test. Continuous variables which were approximately normally distributed were summarized using means and standard deviations and compared using one-way analysis of variance; continuous variables which were not normally distributed were summarized using medians and ranges and compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test. Age at treatment and presence of a bicuspid aortic valve were thought to be possible confounding variables and were observed to differ by treatment group; therefore, linear and logistic regression models were used to adjust for confounding when comparing selected outcome variables across treatment groups. In these models, the surgical group was used as the reference category against which balloon dilation and stent were compared. Each model adjusted for age at treatment as a continuous variable, and presence of a bicuspid aortic valve as a binary variable. Analyses were performed in SAS (version 9.4, Cary, NC, USA)

RESULTS

STUDY SUBJECTS

Patient characteristics by treatment group are summarized in Table 1. At study enrollment, the treatment groups were similar with respect to baseline characteristics including age and body mass index at enrollment, residual coarctation severity, and metabolic profile. Among pre-treatment characteristics, the treatment groups were similar with respect to coarctation severity (including size of the aortic arch and isthmus, non-invasive BP and echoDoppler estimated gradient), sex distribution, and the prevalence of bicuspid aortic valve. However, patients treated with a stent were older at the time of treatment compared to those treated with surgery or balloon dilation.

AORTIC STIFFNESS

Results of aortic stiffness assessment by CMR and applanation tonometry are summarized in Table 2 and Figure 1. At comparable distending pressures (Table 3), overall PWV was similar among the treatment groups by both CMR and applanation tonometry (Figure 1). On segmental PWV measurements by CMR, aortic arch PWV was lowest in the balloon dilation group, but the difference did not reach statistical significance (Figure 1). Among CMR segmental aortic stiffness parameters, balloon dilation patients had the most distensible AAO, while stent patients had the least distensible AAO, with surgical patients demonstrating intermediate values (Figure 1). Compared to stent patients, balloon dilation patients showed 48% higher AAO distensibility and 27% lower aortic arch PWV. Segmental stiffness parameters were mostly similar across treatment groups at the DAO (proximal, mid, and distal), except for distal DAO strain, which was lowest in the stent group. No differences were seen across treatment groups in measurements of central SBP or central pulse pressure by tonometry. Augmentation index at heart rate 75 bpm was similar among groups.

To assess for potential confounding by age at treatment or bicuspid aortic valve (known to be associated with impaired aortic elasticity)³⁵ on the relationship between treatment modality and aortic stiffness, we used multivariable modeling for key stiffness parameters. The univariate relationships shown in Table 2 remained unchanged in the multivariable models after adjustment for the potential confounding variables (age at treatment, and bicuspid aortic valve) (Supplemental Table VI).

ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION

Endothelial function assessed using the Endo-PAT index was similar across treatment groups (Table 2 and Figure 1). The univariate relationships shown in Table 2 remained unchanged in the multivariable models after adjustment for the potential confounding variables (age at treatment, and bicuspid aortic valve) (Supplemental Table VI).

BP PHENOTYPE

Results of office BP measurements and ABPM are summarized in Table 3. There were no significant differences across treatment groups with respect to the prevalence of hypertension by office measurements or ABPM, and average systolic and diastolic BP by ABPM. However, the balloon dilation group showed lower nighttime BP and less impairment in diurnal variation, compared to the stent and surgery groups (Figure 1). On exercise stress test (Table 4), there were no significant differences between the treatment groups with respect to exercise duration, peak VO₂, VE/VCO₂ slope, or upper-lower extremity SBP gradient. However, the peak SBP during exercise was lower in the balloon dilation group (Figure 1) and this relationship persisted after adjustment for potential confounding variables (age at treatment, and bicuspid aortic valve) (Supplemental Table VI).

LV AND AORTIC MORPHOMETRICS

The treatment groups were similar with respect to LV size, ejection fraction, and mass (Table 5 and Figure 1). Aortic dimensions, including those of the transverse aortic arch were similar between the treatment groups. Isthmic dimensions were slightly smaller in the balloon di-

lation group compared to the surgical group but could not be measured in stented patients due to ferromagnetic artifact from the stent. Arch shape distribution was also similar between the treatment groups, assessed both qualitatively and quantitatively (using the arch shape index).³⁶

BLOOD BIOMARKERS

Patients in the balloon dilation group had lower levels of hs-CRP, and higher levels of MMP-9 and TGF- β 1 (Table 6 and Figure 1). These differences persisted after adjustment for potential confounders (Table VI in the online-only Data Supplement). Levels of other blood biomarkers were similar across the treatment groups.

ADJUSTMENT FOR POTENTIAL CONFOUNDERS

As seen in Table 1, despite efforts at frequency matching, there were differences between the treatment groups with respect to potential confounding variables including age at treatment and the presence of a bicuspid aortic valve (known to be associated with impaired aortic elasticity).³⁵ Analyses to assess the impact of these confounding variables are summarized in the Supplemental Tables IV, V and VI. As seen in Table IV in the online-only Data Supplement, age at treatment was significantly associated with AAO strain, Endo-PAT index, right arm diastolic BP, and 24-hour diastolic BP but not with other key outcome variables. As seen in Table V in the online-only Data Supplement, the presence of bicuspid aortic valve was significantly associated with AAO strain but not with other outcome variables. Table VI in the online-only Data Supplement groups while adjusting for these co-founding variables (age at treatment and presence of bicuspid aortic valve). Adjusted and unadjusted models did not differ significantly for these key outcome variables, suggesting that the impact of these potential confounding variables on our study measurements was not significant.

DISCUSSION

In this multicenter, prospective, comprehensive comparison of optimally treated patients with CoA treated with surgery, balloon dilation, or stenting, we found that the treatment groups were similar with respect to several parameters of vascular function including the prevalence of systemic hypertension, global aortic stiffness, central BP, endothelial function, and LV mass. However, despite adjustment for potential confounding variables (including age at repair), the balloon dilation group showed a better vascular phenotype characterized by a more distensible AAO, a lower peak SBP during exercise, and less impairment in diurnal BP variation.

AORTIC STIFFNESS

Global aortic stiffness assessed using cfPWV by tonometry, or using total aortic PWV by CMR, was higher than published normal values but was similar among treatment groups.³⁷ However, in segmental assessment of PWV and other distensibility measures by CMR (strain, distensibility and β stiffness index), differences emerged between treatment groups. Proximal aortic (AAO and aortic arch), stiffness was lowest in balloon dilation patients and highest in stent patients. Surgical patients had intermediate values of stiffness. AAO distensibility in balloon dilation patients was similar to values reported in normal controls, while patients in the stent and surgery groups had lower values.³⁸ These findings were limited to the AAO, which is in line with previous studies that show that the aortic elastic properties have been found to be altered above, but not below, the CoA site, compared to normals.⁵ Increased proximal aortic stiffness evidenced by an elevated PWV and lower than normal distensibility have been previously reported in patients with CoA.^{4, 10, 11} However, our study is the first to systematically compare aortic stiffness across treatment modalities. The mechanism leading to a more distensible proximal aorta in balloon dilation patients remains unclear. It is possible that the absence of a surgical scar or rigid stent at the isthmus contributes to a lower stiffness at the CoA site. We acknowledge that the balloon dilation group underwent treatment at a younger age, however differences in AAO stiffness persisted after adjustment for age at treatment.

ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION

Flow-dependent, endothelium-mediated vasodilation was assessed using Endo-PAT. Results of prior studies of endothelial function in patients with CoA have been mixed. Some studies showed impaired endothelium-dependent vascular reactivity,^{10, 39, 40} while others showed preserved vascular reactivity.^{41, 42} Our results showed that the Endo-PAT index was similar across treatment groups, and suggest that endothelial function is preserved after CoA treatment, compared to previously reported values in healthy controls.⁴³ Values obtained in our cohort are comparable to those reported using a similar technique in patients with CoA.⁴¹

BP PHENOTYPE

The prevalence of hypertension on office measurement and ABPM were similar to prior reports.^{1, 44-46} On office BP measurements, 44% patients had pre-hypertension and 9% had hypertension. Overall, 33% were either on an anti-hypertensive medication or had hypertension. On ABPM, 36% patients were either on an anti-hypertensive medication, or had hypertension/masked hypertension. There were no differences between treatment groups with respect to the prevalence of hypertension (on office measurements and ABPM), or the average 24-hour systolic or diastolic BP. However, balloon dilation patients demonstrated lower night-time systolic and diastolic BP, and more physiologic nighttime dipping in BP, compared to the surgery and stent groups. Our results are consistent with a prior report which found lower BP in balloon dilation patients.¹ Blunted nighttime dipping in BP has been previously linked to the development and progression of end-organ disease in patients with essential hypertension, diabetes mellitus, obesity, and black race.⁴⁷ The impact of this finding on long-term outcomes in CoA patients deserves further study.

The balloon dilation group showed a less exaggerated BP elevation to exercise, compared to the surgery and stent groups. Exercise induced hypertension has been previously documented in patients with treated CoA,⁴⁸ and exaggerated BP response to exercise correlated with LV mass.⁴⁹ In the general population, exercise-induced hypertension has been shown to be predictive of future development of resting hypertension,⁵⁰ and an independent risk factor for cardiovascular events and mortality.⁵¹

LV MASS

Despite differences in BP phenotype, LV mass was similar across treatment groups and values were normal compared to previously reported values in healthy subjects.⁵² Increased LV mass has been previously reported in patients with CoA.⁴ Our LV mass values were lower compared to this prior report but are similar to a more recent publication.⁴⁶ The absence of significant LV hypertrophy may be related to the relatively young age of our patients, and good blood-pressure control in our population.

BLOOD BIOMARKERS

NOx and ADMA are biomarkers related to endothelial function and their levels have been correlated with the risk of atherosclerosis due to endothelial dependent nitric oxide regulation of smooth muscle-derived vascular tone.²⁹ There were no difference in NOx or ADMA levels between treatment groups, consistent with the lack of difference in endothelial function using Endo-PAT. Prior studies in patients with CoA found increased ADMA but unchanged NOx in CoA, compared to controls.¹²

IL-1 β and hs-CRP are biomarkers of systemic inflammation, which act on the vascular endothelium to upregulate a number of adhesion molecules such as VCAM, with a crucial role in atherogenesis.^{31, 32} Prior results of inflammatory biomarkers in patients with CoA are inconclusive.^{53, 54} In our study, balloon dilation patients had lower levels of hs-CRP.

TFG- β1, MMP-2, and MMP-9 are biomarkers related to fibrotic remodeling such as the aortic remodeling that occurs in response to hemodynamic changes.³³ Elevated circulating levels have been reported in dilated aortas in patients with inherited aortopathy,⁵⁵ and are biomarkers for the presence and risk of rupture of aortic aneurysm.⁵⁶ As previously reported in patients with CoA, values of both TFG-β1and MMP-9 were elevated in our study.^{15,} ⁵⁷ Balloon dilation patients showed the highest levels of these biomarkers. The clinical implications of these findings are unclear and further research is needed to evaluate whether these biomarkers are related to the risk of aneurysm formation in the BD group.

STUDY LIMITATIONS

There are several limitations to our study. Firstly, despite a multicenter design, our study is limited by a relatively low sample size. However, based on sample size estimates, the study had sufficient statistical power to detect group differences in CMR PWV. Secondly, although we attempted to perform frequency-matching to balance the treatment groups with respect to key confounding variables, our groups were not perfectly matched for these variables (especially age at treatment). However, surprisingly, multivariable analyses (Table VI in the online-only Data Supplement) showed that these potential confounding variables (including age at repair) did not significantly affect the comparison of key variables between treatment groups. Finally, we only included adequately treated CoA patients and these results are not generalizable to patients with significant residual CoA.

CONCLUSIONS

In this comprehensive multicenter prospective comparison of vascular function in patients with CoA adequately treated with surgery, balloon dilation, or stenting we found that the treatment groups were similar with respect to several indicators of vascular function including the prevalence of systemic hypertension, global aortic stiffness, endothelial function, and LV mass. However, the balloon dilation group showed a somewhat better vascular function phenotype with more physiologic nocturnal dipping in BP, a more distensible AAO and aortic arch, a lower peak SBP during exercise, and lower blood levels of pro-inflammatory biomarker. A possible explanation of these findings is that the introduction of a non-distensible stent or surgical scar may have deleterious effects on late vascular function. In particular, our results may suggest a cautious approach when considering aggressive primary stenting in a patient with other available treatment options, since stented patients had the worse vascular profile in our cohort. However, the benefits of a slightly improved vascular function profile after balloon dilation will need to be balanced against a higher risk of aneurysm formation and reintervention.^{58, 59} Further research is needed to study whether these findings are associated with long-term clinical outcomes and if the treatment paradigm focused on gradient reduction should be refined by adding the goal of preservation of vascular function to the goals of treatment. To our knowledge, these results represent the most comprehensive prospective comparison of late vascular function between treatment modalities for CoA. Further research is needed to study whether these findings are associated with long-term clinical outcomes.

SOURCES OF FUNDING

This study was made possible with grants from the Millennium Foundation BCP (signed Dec 18, 2012) to Dr. Martins; Fundação Luso-Americana para o Desenvolvimento (Proj A-1 287/2012) to Dr. Martins; and National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (award number K23HL127266) to Dr. Morris

DISCLOSURES

None

AFFILIATIONS

Department of Pediatric Cardiology, Hospital de Santa Marta, Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central, Lisbon, PORTUGAL (J.D.M., M.A.), Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Department of Pediatrics, Texas Children's Hospital and Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, USA (J.Z., S.A.M.), Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Department of Pediatrics, Lucile Packard Children's Hospital and Stanford University, Palo Alto, USA (E.S.S.T.), Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Children's Hospital Colorado, Denver, USA (U.T.), Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Children's Hospital and Medical Center, and University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA (S.K.), Department of Cardiology, Boston Children's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA (S.D.d.F., K.G., T.G., J.E.L, A.P.), CEDOC Chronic Diseases, Nova Medical School, Lisbon, PORTUGAL (M.G., M.M.C.), Ressonância Magnética Caselas, S.A. Lisbon, PORTUGAL (B.T., N.J.), Biomedical Engineering Department, Instituto Superior Técnico, Lisbon, PORTUGAL (D.O.), Pediatric Cardiology Department, Hospital Pediátrico de Coimbra, Coimbra, PORTUGAL (A.M.)

REFERENCES

- Forbes TJ, Kim DW, Du W, Turner DR, Holzer R, Amin Z, Hijazi Z, Ghasemi A, Rome JJ, Nykanen D, Zahn E, Cowley C, Hoyer M, Waight D, Gruenstein D, Javois A, Foerster S, Kreutzer J, Sullivan N, Khan A, Owada C, Hagler D, Lim S, Canter J, Zellers T and Investigators C. Comparison of surgical, stent, and balloon angioplasty treatment of native coarctation of the aorta: an observational study by the CCISC (Congenital Cardiovascular Interventional Study Consortium). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;58:2664-74.
- 2. Meyer AA, Joharchi MS, Kundt G, Schuff-Werner P, Steinhoff G and Kienast W. Predicting the risk of early atherosclerotic disease development in children after repair of aortic coarctation. *Eur Heart J.* 2005;26:617-22.
- 3. Lam YY, Mullen MJ, Kaya MG, Gatzoulis MA, Li W and Henein MY. Left ventricular long axis dysfunction in adults with "corrected" aortic coarctation is related to an older age at intervention and increased aortic stiffness. *Heart.* 2009;95:733-9.
- 4. Ou P, Celermajer DS, Jolivet O, Buyens F, Herment A, Sidi D, Bonnet D and Mousseaux E. Increased central aortic stiffness and left ventricular mass in normotensive young subjects after successful coarctation repair. *Am Heart J.* 2008;155:187-93.
- Shang Q, Sarikouch S, Patel S, Schuster A, Steinmetz M, Ou P, Danford DA, Beerbaum P and Kutty S. Assessment of ventriculo-vascular properties in repaired coarctation using cardiac magnetic resonance-derived aortic, left atrial and left ventricular strain. *Eur Radiol.* 2017;27:167-177.
- 6. Lombardi KC, Northrup V, McNamara RL, Sugeng L and Weismann CG. Aortic stiffness and left ventricular diastolic function in children following early repair of aortic coarctation. *Am J Cardiol.* 2013;112:1828-33.
- 7. Choudhary P, Canniffe C, Jackson DJ, Tanous D, Walsh K and Celermajer DS. Late outcomes in adults with coarctation of the aorta. *Heart*. 2015;101:1190-5.
- Brown ML, Burkhart HM, Connolly HM, Dearani JA, Cetta F, Li Z, Oliver WC, Warnes CA and Schaff HV. Coarctation of the aorta: lifelong surveillance is mandatory following surgical repair. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;62:1020-5.
- 9. Mandalenakis Z, Rosengren A, Lappas G, Eriksson P, Hansson PO and Dellborg M. Ischemic Stroke in Children and Young Adults With Congenital Heart Disease. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2016;5.
- 10. de Divitiis M, Pilla C, Kattenhorn M, Zadinello M, Donald A, Leeson P, Wallace S, Redington A and Deanfield JE. Vascular dysfunction after repair of coarctation of the aorta: impact of early surgery. *Circulation*. 2001;104:1165-70.

- Vogt M, Kuhn A, Baumgartner D, Baumgartner C, Busch R, Kostolny M and Hess J. Impaired elastic properties of the ascending aorta in newborns before and early after successful coarctation repair: proof of a systemic vascular disease of the prestenotic arteries? *Circulation*. 2005;111:3269-73.
- 12. Mizia-Stec K, Trojnarska O, Szczepaniak-Chichel L, Gabriel M, Bartczak A, Cieplucha A, Chudek J, Grajek S, Tykarski A and Gasior Z. Asymmetric dimethylarginine and vascular indices of atherosclerosis in patients after coarctation of aorta repair. *Int J Cardiol.* 2012;158:364-9.
- Brili S, Tousoulis D, Antoniades C, Aggeli C, Roubelakis A, Papathanasiu S and Stefanadis C. Evidence of vascular dysfunction in young patients with successfully repaired coarctation of aorta. *Atherosclerosis.* 2005;182:97-103.
- 14. Barton CH, Ni Z and Vaziri ND. Enhanced nitric oxide inactivation in aortic coarctation-induced hypertension. *Kidney Int.* 2001;60:1083-7.
- 15. Brili S, Antonopoulos AS, Oikonomou E, Kalampogias A, Papamikroulis GA, Chrysochoou C, Mourouzis K, Nihoyanopoulos P and Tousoulis D. Impairment of arterial elastic properties and elevated circulating levels of transforming growth factor-beta in subjects with repaired coarctation of aorta. *Int J Cardiol.* 2016;207:282-3.
- Moutafi AC, Alissafi T, Chamakou A, Chryssanthopoulos S, Thanopoulos V, Dellos C, Xanthou G, Tousoulis D, Stefanadis C, Gatzoulis MA and Davos CH. Neurohormonal activity and vascular properties late after aortic coarctation repair. *Int J Cardiol.* 2012;159:211-6.
- 17. Xu C, Lee S, Singh TM, Sho E, Li X, Sho M, Masuda H and Zarins CK. Molecular mechanisms of aortic wall remodeling in response to hypertension. *J Vasc Surg.* 2001;33:570-8.
- Parker FB, Jr., Streeten DH, Farrell B, Blackman MS, Sondheimer HM and Anderson GH, Jr. Preoperative and postoperative renin levels in coarctation of the aorta. *Circulation*. 1982;66:513-4.
- 19. Beekman RH, Katz BP, Moorehead-Steffens C and Rocchini AP. Altered baroreceptor function in children with systolic hypertension after coarctation repair. *Am J Cardiol.* 1983;52:112-7.
- 20. Lock JE, Niemi T, Burke BA, Einzig S and Castaneda-Zuniga WR. Transcutaneous angioplasty of experimental aortic coarctation. *Circulation*. 1982;66:1280-6.
- 21. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N and Conde JG. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)--a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inform.* 2009;42:377-81.

- 22. Martins JD, Zachariah J, E.S. ST, Truong U, Morris SA, Kutty S, de Ferranti SD, Rhodes J, Antonio M, Guarino M, Thomas B, Oliveira D, Gauvreau K, Jalles N, Geva T, Carmo MM and Prakash A. Rationale and Design of LOVE-COARCT study: Long-term Outcomes and Vascular Evaluation After Successful Coarctation of the Aorta Treatment. *Ann Pediatr Cardiol.* 2018;[accepted for publication].
- 23. Kelly R and Fitchett D. Noninvasive determination of aortic input impedance and external left ventricular power output: a validation and repeatability study of a new technique. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1992;20:952-63.
- 24. Reference Values for Arterial Stiffness C. Determinants of pulse wave velocity in healthy people and in the presence of cardiovascular risk factors: 'establishing normal and reference values'. *Eur Heart J.* 2010;31:2338-50.
- 25. National High Blood Pressure Education Program Working Group on High Blood Pressure in C and Adolescents. The fourth report on the diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics.* 2004;114:555-76.
- 26. Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, Izzo JL, Jr., Jones DW, Materson BJ, Oparil S, Wright JT, Jr., Roccella EJ, Joint National Committee on Prevention DE, Treatment of High Blood Pressure. National Heart L, Blood I and National High Blood Pressure Education Program Coordinating C. Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. *Hypertension.* 2003;42:1206-52.
- 27. Flynn JT, Daniels SR, Hayman LL, Maahs DM, McCrindle BW, Mitsnefes M, Zachariah JP, Urbina EM, American Heart Association Atherosclerosis H and Obesity in Youth Committee of the Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Y. Update: ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in children and adolescents: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Hypertension.* 2014;63:1116-35.
- 28. Pickering TG, Hall JE, Appel LJ, Falkner BE, Graves J, Hill MN, Jones DW, Kurtz T, Sheps SG and Roccella EJ. Recommendations for blood pressure measurement in humans and experimental animals: part 1: blood pressure measurement in humans: a statement for professionals from the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research. *Circulation*. 2005;111:697-716.
- 29. Gryglewski RJ, Chlopicki S, Swies J and Niezabitowski P. Prostacyclin, nitric oxide, and atherosclerosis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1995;748:194-206; discussion 206-7.
- 30. Cooke JP. Asymmetrical dimethylarginine: the Uber marker? *Circulation*. 2004;109:1813-8.
- 31. Tousoulis D, Antoniades C, Koumallos N and Stefanadis C. Pro-inflammatory cytokines in acute coronary syndromes: from bench to bedside. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* 2006;17:225-33.

- 32. Emerging Risk Factors C, Kaptoge S, Di Angelantonio E, Pennells L, Wood AM, White IR, Gao P, Walker M, Thompson A, Sarwar N, Caslake M, Butterworth AS, Amouyel P, Assmann G, Bakker SJ, Barr EL, Barrett-Connor E, Benjamin EJ, Bjorkelund C, Brenner H, Brunner E, Clarke R, Cooper JA, Cremer P, Cushman M, Dagenais GR, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Dankner R, Davey-Smith G, Deeg D, Dekker JM, Engstrom G, Folsom AR, Fowkes FG, Gallacher J, Gaziano JM, Giampaoli S, Gillum RF, Hofman A, Howard BV, Ingelsson E, Iso H, Jorgensen T, Kiechl S, Kitamura A, Kiyohara Y, Koenig W, Kromhout D, Kuller LH, Lawlor DA, Meade TW, Nissinen A, Nordestgaard BG, Onat A, Panagiotakos DB, Psaty BM, Rodriguez B, Rosengren A, Salomaa V, Kauhanen J, Salonen JT, Shaffer JA, Shea S, Ford I, Stehouwer CD, Strandberg TE, Tipping RW, Tosetto A, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Wennberg P, Westendorp RG, Whincup PH, Wilhelmsen L, Woodward M, Lowe GD, Wareham NJ, Khaw KT, Sattar N, Packard CJ, Gudnason V, Ridker PM, Pepys MB, Thompson SG and Danesh J. C-reactive protein, fibrinogen, and cardiovascular disease prediction. *N Engl J Med*. 2012;367:1310-20.
- 33. Lakatta EG. Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part III: cellular and molecular clues to heart and arterial aging. *Circulation*. 2003;107:490-7.
- 34. Walhout RJ. Assessment of proximal and distal aortic properties with magnetic resonance after successful coarctation management in adults. *Advances in the management and surveillance of patients with aortic coarctation*. 2009/06/26 ed.: Universiteit Amsterdam; 2009: 122-30.
- 35. Nistri S, Grande-Allen J, Noale M, Basso C, Siviero P, Maggi S, Crepaldi G and Thiene G. Aortic elasticity and size in bicuspid aortic valve syndrome. *Eur Heart J.* 2008;29:472-9.
- 36. Ou P, Bonnet D, Auriacombe L, Pedroni E, Balleux F, Sidi D and Mousseaux E. Late systemic hypertension and aortic arch geometry after successful repair of coarctation of the aorta. *Eur Heart J.* 2004;25:1853-1859.
- Voges I, Jerosch-Herold M, Hedderich J, Pardun E, Hart C, Gabbert DD, Hansen JH, Petko C, Kramer HH and Rickers C. Normal values of aortic dimensions, distensibility, and pulse wave velocity in children and young adults: a cross-sectional study. *J Cardiovasc Magn Reson.* 2012;14:77.
- 38. Voges I, Jerosch-Herold M, Hedderich J, Pardun E, Hart C, Gabbert DD, Hansen JH, Petko C, Kramer H-H and Rickers C. Normal values of aortic dimensions, distensibility, and pulse wave velocity in children and young adults: a cross-sectional study. *Journal of cardiovascular magnetic resonance: official journal of the Society for Cardiovascular Magnetic Resonance.* 2012;14:77.
- 39. Ou P, Celermajer DS, Mousseaux E, Giron A, Aggoun Y, Szezepanski I, Sidi D and Bonnet D. Vascular remodeling after "successful" repair of coarctation: impact of aortic arch geometry. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2007;49:883-90.

- 40. Guenthard J and Wyler F. Exercise-induced hypertension in the arms due to impaired arterial reactivity after successful coarctation resection. *Am J Cardiol.* 1995;75:814-7.
- 41. Radke RM, Diller GP, Duck M, Orwat S, Hartmann D, Thum T and Baumgartner H. Endothelial function in contemporary patients with repaired coarctation of aorta. *Heart.* 2014;100:1696-701.
- 42. Cuypers J, Leirgul E, Larsen TH, Berg A, Omdal TR and Greve G. Assessment of vascular reactivity in the peripheral and coronary arteries by Cine 3T-magnetic resonance imaging in young normotensive adults after surgery for coarctation of the aorta. *Pediatr Cardiol.* 2013;34:661-9.
- Selamet Tierney ES, Gal D, Gauvreau K, Baker AL, Trevey S, O'Neill SR, Jaff MR, de Ferranti S, Fulton DR, Colan SD and Newburger JW. Vascular health in Kawasaki disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2013;62:1114-21.
- 44. Hager A, Kanz S, Kaemmerer H, Schreiber C and Hess J. Coarctation Long-term Assessment (COALA): significance of arterial hypertension in a cohort of 404 patients up to 27 years after surgical repair of isolated coarctation of the aorta, even in the absence of restenosis and prosthetic material. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*. 2007;134:738-45.
- 45. O'Sullivan JJ, Derrick G and Darnell R. Prevalence of hypertension in children after early repair of coarctation of the aorta: a cohort study using casual and 24 hour blood pressure measurement. *Heart.* 2002;88:163-6.
- 46. Quennelle S, Powell AJ, Geva T and Prakash A. Persistent Aortic Arch Hypoplasia After Coarctation Treatment Is Associated With Late Systemic Hypertension. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2015;4.
- 47. Wilson DK, Sica DA and Miller SB. Ambulatory blood pressure nondipping status in salt-sensitive and salt-resistant black adolescents. *Am J Hypertens*. 1999;12:159-65.
- 48. James FW and Kaplan S. Systolic hypertension during submaximal exercise after correction of coarctation of aorta. *Circulation*. 1974;50:II27-34.
- 49. Krieger EV, Clair M, Opotowsky AR, Landzberg MJ, Rhodes J, Powell AJ, Colan SD and Valente AM. Correlation of exercise response in repaired coarctation of the aorta to left ventricular mass and geometry. *Am J Cardiol.* 2013;111:406-11.
- 50. Singh JP, Larson MG, Manolio TA, O'Donnell CJ, Lauer M, Evans JC and Levy D. Blood pressure response during treadmill testing as a risk factor for new-onset hypertension. The Framingham heart study. *Circulation.* 1999;99:1831-6.
- 51. Schultz MG, Otahal P, Cleland VJ, Blizzard L, Marwick TH and Sharman JE. Exercise-induced hypertension, cardiovascular events, and mortality in patients undergoing exercise stress testing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Hypertens.* 2013;26:357-66.

LOVE-COARCT Study

- 52. Alfakih K, Plein S, Thiele H, Jones T, Ridgway JP and Sivananthan MU. Normal human left and right ventricular dimensions for MRI as assessed by turbo gradient echo and steady-state free precession imaging sequences. *J Magn Reson Imaging*. 2003;17:323-9.
- 53. Moutafi AC, Alissafi T, Chryssanthopoulos S, Thanopoulos V, Tousoulis D, Stefanadis C and Davos CH. Neurohormones, cytokines, and aortic function in children with repaired coarctation of the aorta. *Int J Cardiol.* 2014;172:e26-7.
- 54. Osmancik P, Bocsi J, Hambsch J, Schneider P and Tarnok A. Soluble endothelial adhesion molecule concentration in patients with aortic coarctation. *Endothelium*. 2006;13:353-8.
- 55. Matt P, Schoenhoff F, Habashi J, Holm T, Van Erp C, Loch D, Carlson OD, Griswold BF, Fu Q, De Backer J, Loeys B, Huso DL, McDonnell NB, Van Eyk JE, Dietz HC and Gen TACC. Circulating transforming growth factor-beta in Marfan syndrome. *Circulation.* 2009;120:526-32.
- 56. Takagi H, Manabe H, Kawai N, Goto SN and Umemoto T. Circulating matrix metalloproteinase-9 concentrations and abdominal aortic aneurysm presence: a meta-analysis. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* 2009;9:437-40.
- 57. Maschietto N, Semplicini L, Ceolotto G, Cattelan A, Poser Dvm H, Iacopetti I, Gerardi G, De Benedictis GM, Pilla T, Bernardini D, Aresu L, Rizzo S, Basso C, Semplicini A and Milanesi O. Aortic stenting in the growing sheep causes aortic endothelial dysfunction but not hypertension: Clinical implications for coarctation repair. *Congenit Heart Dis.* 2017;12:74-83.
- 58. Hu ZP, Wang ZW, Dai XF, Zhan BT, Ren W, Li LC, Zhang H and Ren ZL. Outcomes of surgical versus balloon angioplasty treatment for native coarctation of the aorta: a meta-analysis. *Ann Vasc Surg.* 2014;28:394-403.
- 59. Salcher M, Naci H, Law TJ, Kuehne T, Schubert S, Kelm M and Cardioproof C. Balloon Dilatation and Stenting for Aortic Coarctation: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* 2016;9.

X. APENDIXES

FIGURES

Figure 1:



FIG. 1. COMPARISON OF KEY VASCULAR FUNCTION PARAMETERS BETWEEN GROUPS

AAO = ascending aorta; BSA = body surface area; CMR = cardiac magnetic resonance; Endo-PAT = endothelial pulse amplitude testing; hs-CRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein; IL-1 β = interleukin 1 beta; LV = left ventricle; MMP-9 = matrix metalloprotease 9; PWV = pulse wave velocity; SBP = systolic blood pressure; TGF- β 1 = transforming growth factor beta-1

TABLES

TABLE 1. PATIENT CHARACTERISTICS

	Surgery (n=28)	BD (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p Value
Pre-treatment data				
Age at treatment (years)	6 (1, 26)	5 (1, 17)	15 (7, 26)	<0.001
SBP gradient (mm Hg)	43.7 ± 19.3	34.6 ± 15.0	38.4 ± 21.0	0.29
TAA diameter z-score	-1.9 ± 1.0	-1.5 ± 1.4	-1.9 ± 0.8	0.38
Isthmus diameter z-score	-3.59 ± 1.21	-3.92 ± 0.89	-3.31 ± 1.37	0.32
Initial Doppler gradient (mmHg)	48.0 ± 14.7	47.9 ± 14.8	52.5 ± 20.3	0.60
Male sex	79%	74%	75%	0.94
Bicuspid aortic valve	71%	45%	50%	0.13
Age at enrollment (years)	15 (8, 33)	17 (11, 26)	20 (9, 33)	0.12
BMI at enrollment	22 (15, 32)	21 (16, 33)	23 (16, 38)	0.69
SBP gradient (mm (Hg)	-7.1 ± 14.0	-3.0 ± 12.3	-3.7 ± 14.5	0.52
NYHA class				0.37
Class I	89%	100%	92%	
Class II	11%	0%	8%	
Metabolic Profile				
Total cholesterol, mg/dL	159 (112, 210)	153 (123, 229)	152 (108, 227)	0.59
LDL, mg/dL	86 (53, 145)	81 (59, 179)	85 (44, 130)	0.66
HDL, mg/dL	53 (34, 90)	48 (31, 90)	51 (32, 88)	0.99
Triglycerides, mg/dL	76 (29, 224)	52 (29, 149)	74 (29, 167)	0.07
Plasma glucose, mg/dL	82 (74, 98)	81 (59, 93)	86 (63, 108)	0.15
Insulin, uIU/mL	6 (3, 44)	6 (3, 17)	7 (2, 20)	0.86
Hemoglobin A1c, %	5.3 (4.1, 5.7)	5.3 (4.4 <i>,</i> 5.7)	5.3 (4.8 <i>,</i> 5.9)	0.60
Anti-HTN Medication	14%	26%	33%	0.14

Values are mean ± standard deviation, median (minimum, maximum), or percent. BSA = body surface area; BMI = body mass index (weight (kg)/ height (m)²); HTN = hypertension; LDL = low density lipoprotein; HDL = high density lipoprotein; NYHA = New York Heart Association; SBP = systolic blood pressure; TAA = transverse aortic arch

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
CMR Parameters				
PWV (m/s)				
Total	4.0 ± 0.5	4.2 ± 0.9	4.2 ± 0.7	0.72
Aortic arch	4.7 ± 1.5	4.0 ± 1.2	5.5 ± 3.8	0.12
Mid DAO	3.8 ± 0.9	4.0 ± 1.3	3.9 ± 1.4	0.87
Distal DAO	4.4 ± 1.6	4.8 ± 1.7	4.5 ± 1.5	0.70
Strain				
AAO	0.38 ± 0.14	0.51 ± 0.25	0.36 ± 0.19	0.02
Proximal DAO	0.27 ± 0.09	0.31 ± 0.13	0.30 ± 0.15	0.47
Mid DAO	0.37 ± 0.11	0.36 ± 0.10	0.36 ± 0.16	0.97
Distal DAO	0.37 ± 0.14	0.40 ± 0.12	0.30 ± 0.12	0.04
Distensibility (10 ⁻³ mm Hg ⁻¹)				
AAO	7.8 ± 3.6	9.8 ± 5.2	6.6 ± 4.3	0.05
Proximal DAO	5.6 ± 2.1	6.1 ± 3.3	5.6 ± 2.7	0.71
Mid DAO	7.5 ± 2.5	6.9 ± 3.3	6.8 ± 3.4	0.67
Distal DAO	7.8 ± 4.1	7.5 ± 3.1	5.9 ± 3.2	0.15
β stiffness index				
AAO	1.76 ± 0.73	1.59 ± 1.15	2.49 ± 1.48	0.02
Proximal DAO	2.53 ± 1.59	2.63 ± 1.89	2.50 ± 0.96	0.96
Mid DAO	1.75 ± 0.76	1.93 ± 0.75	2.15 ± 1.11	0.26
Distal DAO	1.84 ± 0.91	1.72 ± 0.68	2.98 ± 3.70	0.11
Applanation Tonometry				
cfPWV (m/s)	5.2 ± 0.9	5.3 ± 1.1	5.0 ± 0.9	0.64
AI at HR 75 bpm (%)	-14 ± 13	-13 ± 21	-6 ± 18	0.24
Central SBP (mm Hg)	114 ± 18	109 ± 14	112 ± 21	0.60
Central PP (mm Hg)	50 ± 20	46 ± 13	45 ± 19	0.49
Endo-PAT				
Endo-PAT index	2.15 ± 0.77	2.00 ± 0.78	2.25 ± 0.68	0.51

TABLE 2. AORTIC STIFFNESS AND ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION

Values are mean ± standard deviation. AAO = ascending aorta; AI = augmentation index; aortic arch PWV = AAO to proximal DAO pulse wave velocity; cfPWV = carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity; DAO = descending aorta; Endo-PAT = endothelial pulse amplitude testing; HR = heart rate; PP = Pulse pressure; SBP = Systolic blood pressure; total PWV = AAO to distal DAO pulse wave velocity

TABLE 3. BLOOD PRESSURE PHENOTYPE

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon	Stent	
		Dilation (n=23)	(n=24)	p value
Office BP				0.20
Normal	15 (54%)	13 (57%)	7 (29%)	
Pre-HTN	10 (36%)	8 (35%)	15 (63%)	
Stage 1 HTN	3 (11%)	2 (9%)	1 (4%)	
Stage 2 HTN	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	1 (4%)	
ABPM				
24-hr average SBP (mm Hg)	123 ± 13	118 ± 9	124 ± 10	0.19
24-hr average DBP (mm Hg)	68 ± 8	66 ± 6	68 ± 8	0.77
Day average SBP (mm Hg)	125 ± 13	122 ± 10	127 ± 10	0.34
Day average DBP (mm Hg)	69 ± 9	69 ± 7	71 ± 9	0.82
Night average SBP (mm Hg)	116 ± 12	106 ± 10	113 ± 10	0.005
Night average DBP (mm Hg)	60 ± 7	56 ± 5	59 ± 4	0.05
% SBP readings above diurnal threshold	32 ± 29	19 ± 19	30 ± 27	0.19
% DBP readings above diurnal threshold	16 ± 20	13 ± 14	14 ± 16	0.72
Diurnal systolic variation (%)	7 ± 7	13 ± 6	11 ± 6	0.01
Diurnal diastolic variation (%)	13 ± 10	19 ± 6	16 ± 7	0.06
Non-dippers (%)	17 (65%)	7 (32%)	12 (55%)	0.08
Classification by ABPM				0.76
No HTN	16 (59%)	18 (82%)	15 (68%)	
White coat HTN	3 (11%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	
Masked HTN	6 (22%)	2 (9%)	5 (23%)	
HTN	2 (7%)	1 (5%)	1 (5%)	
Classification including medication use				
HTN/masked HTN, or anti-HTN medication	8 (30%)	9 (39%)	10 (45%)	0.49

Values are mean ± standard deviation, or number (percent). ABPM = ambulatory blood pressure measurement; BP = blood pressure; DBP = diastolic blood pressure; Dippers = ni-ght-time BP dipping ≥10%, non-dippers = night-time BP dipping <10%; HTN = hypertension; SBP = systolic blood pressure

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
Exercise duration (minutes)	12 (7,21)	11 (9, 21)	13 (5,17)	0.45
Pre-exercise SBP gradient (mm Hg)	-3 ± 21	1 ± 9	6 ± 18	0.17
Peak-exercise SBP gradient (mm Hg)	32 ± 30	33 ± 22	26 ± 27	0.64
Peak right arm SBP (mm Hg)	177 ± 35	157 ± 27	177 ± 33	0.05
Peak right arm DBP (mm Hg)	71 ± 13	75 ± 9	73 ± 11	0.50
VO2 Max (ml/Kg/min)	41 ± 11	32 ± 27	41 ± 11	0.30
VE/CO2 slope	26 ± 4	26 ± 5	26 ± 6	0.98

TABLE 4. EXERCISE STRESS TEST

Values are mean ± standard deviation, or median (minimum, maximum). DBP = diastolic blood pressure; SBP systolic blood pressure; VO2 Max = peak exercise oxygen consumption; VE/CO2 = relationship between ventilation and CO2 output

TABLE 5. CMR LV AND AORTIC MEASUREMENTS

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
LV Measurements				
EDV (ml/m²)	71 ± 13	76 ± 17	73 ± 18	0.64
Ejection fraction (%)	63 ± 6	61 ± 5	62 ± 5	0.52
Mass (g/m²)	56 ± 13	58 ± 9	57 ± 13	0.83
Aortic Diameters (mm/BSA ^{0.5})				
Ascending aorta	19.1 ± 3.0	20.6 ± 3.2	20.7 ± 3.4	0.18
Proximal transverse arch	12.6 ± 1.2	12.8 ± 1.8	12.7 ± 2.9	0.96
Distal transverse arch	11.5 ± 1.7	11.2 ± 1.6	11.9 ± 2.1	0.45
Isthmus	12.6 ± 3.7	10.4 ± 2.8	N/A*	0.03
Descending aorta	12.4 ± 1.1	12.6 ± 1.8	12.5 ± 1.6	0.95
Arch Shape				0.33
Romanesque	11 (39%)	10 (43%)	10 (42%)	
Crenel	2 (7%)	5 (22%)	2 (8%)	
Gothic	14 (50%)	6 (26%)	12 (50%)	
Arch Shape Index	0.64 ± 0.14	0.65 ± 0.11	0.68 ± 0.13	0.64

Values are mean \pm standard deviation, or number (percent). * N/A = not available, due to presence of stent artifact. Arch Shape Index = aortic arch height divided by width; BSA = body surface area; EDV = end-diastolic volume

	Surgery (n=28)	Balloon Dilation (n=23)	Stent (n=24)	p value
NOx (ug/mL)	18 (12, 31)	20 (12, 37)	20 (10, 34)	0.18
ADMA (ng/L)	6 (1, 45)	7 (1, 51)	3 (0, 31)	0.20
hs-CRP (mg/L)	1.28 (0.74,	1.26 (0.66,	1.30 (0.95,	0.02
VCAM-1 (ng/mL)	1.49) 133 (66,	1.41) 134 (61,	1.46) 128 (66,	0.42
IL-1β (pg/mL)	203) 0.91 (0.04,	206) 1.06 (0.68,	168) 0.95 (0.06,	0.1
TGF- β1(ng/mL)	1.26) 0.35 (0.12 <i>,</i>	1.98) 0.64 (0.23,	1.49) 0.31 (0.05,	0.006
MMP-2/gelatinase A (ng/mL)	1.24) 1.14 (0.10,	3.21) 1.53 (0.00,	2.07) 0.62 (0.00,	0.26
MMP-9/gelatinase B (ng/mL)	3.37) 474 (91,	4.93) 738 (158,	3.62) 421(487,	0.01
	3157)	4453)	1739)	

TABLE 6. BLOOD BIOMARKERS

Values are median (minimum, maximum). ADMA = asymmetric dimethylarginine; hs-CRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein; IL-1 β = interleukin 1 beta; MMP = matrix metalloprotease; NOx = nitrite/nitrate; TGF- β 1 = transforming growth factor beta-1; VCAM-1 = vascular adhesion molecule 1

4. LIST OF LOVE-COARCT INVESTIGATORS

Table 31. LOVE-COARCT investigators

Institution	Name
Department of Pediatric Cardiology, Hospital de Santa Marta, Centro Hospitalar de Lisboa Central, Lisbon, PORTUGAL	António M, MD; Martins JD, MD (Study PI, Site PI); Mateus T, technician; Medroa L, technician; Pinto FF, MD, PhD; Selas M, RN
Department of Cardiology, Boston Children's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, USA	de Ferranti SD, MD; Gauvreau K, ScD; Geva T, MD (PhD co-mentor); Hass C, BS (Study Coordinator);Lock JE, MD; Newburger J, MD, MPH (Study Advisor); Prakash A, MD (Study PI, Site PI); Reichman J (Study Coordinator); Rhodes J, MD
Joint Division of Pediatric Cardiology Children's, Hospital and Medical Center University of Nebraska College of Medicine Omaha, USA	Kutty S, MD (Site PI)
Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Department of Pediatrics, Lucile Packard Children's Hospital, Stanford University, Palo Alto, USA	Chen A (Study Coordinator); Selamet Tierney ES, MD (Site PI)
Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Children's Hospital Colorado, Aurora, USA	Truong U (Site PI)
Serviço de Cardiologia Pediátrica, Hospital Pediátrico de Coimbra, Coimbra, PORTUGAL	Castela E, MD; Marinho A, MD (Site PI)
Division of Pediatric Cardiology, Texas Children's Hospital, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, USA	Morris SA, MD (Site PI); Zachariah J, MD
CEDOC Chronic Diseases, Nova Medical School, Lisbon PORTUGAL	Guarino M, MD PhD; Carmo MM, MD PhD (PhD mentor)
Ressonância Magnética, S.A., Lisbon, Portugal	António M, MD; Jalles NT ; Thomas B, MD
Biomedical Engineering Department, Instituto Superior Técnico, Lisbon, Portugal	Oliveira DC, MPH

LOVE-COARCT Study

I. INTRODUCTION

LOVE-COARCT Study